
COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

ELECTRONIC PUBLIC INFORMATION PACKAGE FOR  
COUNCIL MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 26, 2020 – 8:30 A.M. 
 



RHPA

Duties and Obiects of Colleges

Dufy of College
z.l It is the duty of the College to work in consultation with the Minister to ensure, as a

matter of public urterest, that the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of

qualified, iLitl"¿ and competent regulated health professionals' 2008' c' l8' s- l'

Objects of College
3. ( I ) The College has the following objects'

l. To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the members in accordance

with the healttr profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions

Act, I991 and the regulations and by-,laws'

2. To.develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification lor persons to be issued

certificates o f registration.

3. To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

qualify of the practice of the profession'

4. 'I-o develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and programs to

promoteãntinuing evaluation, competence and improvement among the members'

4.1 To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other Colleges, standards of

knowledgå, skill and judgment relating to the performance olcontrolled acts

"o-,ooriumong 
healih professions to enhance interprolessional collaboration, while

respecting the rinique character of individual health professions and their members'

5. To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the members'

6- To develop, establish and rnaintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their

rights under this Code and the Regulated Heatth Professions Act, ] 991 '

T.Toadminister the health profession Act, this code and the Regulated Health

professions Act, lggl as it relates to the profession and to perform the other duties

and exercise the other po\Ãiers that are imposed or conlened on the College'

g- To promote and enhance relations befween the College and its members, other

health profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the pubtic.

9. To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges'

10. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the ability

of members to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in

technolory and other emerging issues-

I l. Any other objects retating to human health care that the Council considers

desirable. t9é1, c. 18, SJrte¿. 2, s.3 (l); 2007, c- 10, Sched' M, s' l8; 2009, c'26'

s. 2a (l l)-

Dufy
(2) In carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serye and protect the public

interest. I991, c. 18, Sched. 2, s- 3 (2)'

.1



Version date: October 12, 2017 

 

 

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
MISSION, VISION, VALUES AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  

 
MISSION 
 
The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public 
interest to assure ethical and competent chiropractic care. 
 
VISION 
 
Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse 
Environment. 
 
VALUES 
 

• Integrity  
• Respect 
• Collaborative 
• Innovative 
• Transparent 
• Responsive 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
 

 
1. Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of 

CCO amongst all stakeholders. 
 

2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered. 
 

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while 
responding to emerging developments. 

 
4. Optimize the use of technology to facilitate regulatory functions and 

communications. 
 

5. Continue to meet CCO’s statutory mandate and resource priorities in a 
fiscally responsible manner. 
 

                                      Developed at the strategic planning session: September 2017  
 



CCO Gooe or CoruDUcr FoR CunneruT AND

Fonuen E¡-ecreD AND Puellc MeMeeRs oF
Cou n¡c r L AN D N o tt -G o u N c I L Colt¡ lvl ¡rrer M eM B E RS @Ð
Executive Committee
Approved by Gouncil: September 28,2012
Amended: February 23,2016, April 19, 20'16, September 15,2016
Re-Affirmed bv Council: November 29, 2018

Current and former elected and public members of Council and non-Council committee

members must, at all times, maintain high standards of integrity, honesty and loyalty
when discharging their College duties. They must act in the best interest of the College.

They shall:

l. be familiar and comply with the provisions of the Regulated Health Professions

Act, 1991 (RHPA),its regulations and the Health Professions Procedural Code,

the Chiropractic Act 1991, its regulations, and the by-laws and policies of the

College;

2. diligently take part in committee work and actively serve on committees as

elected and appointed by the Council;

3. regularly attend meetings on time and participate constructively in discussions;

4. offer opinions and express views on matters before the College, Council and

committee, when appropriate;

5. participate in all deliberations and communications in a respectful, courteous and

professional manner, recognizing the diverse background, skills and experience of
members on Council and committees;

6. uphold the decisions made by Council and committees, regardless of the level of
prior individual disagreement;

7. place the interests of the College, Council and committee above self-interests;

8. avoid and, where that is not possible, declare any appearance of or actual conflicts

of interestst;

9. refrain from including or referencing Council or committee positions held at the

College in any personal or business promotional materials, advertisements and

business cards;2

I There is a general assumption of real or perceived conflict unless confirmation of no conflict by the

Executive Committee and/or Council, which will be addressed promptly.
2 This section does not preclude the use ofprofessional biographies for professional involvement.



CCO Code of Conduct
November 29,2018

10. preserve conf,rdentiality of all information before Council or committee unless
disclosure has been authorized by Council or otherwise exempted under s. 36(1)
ofthe RHPA;

11. refrain from communicating to members, including other Council or committee
members, on statutory committees regarding registration, complaints, reports,
investigations, disciplinary or fitness to practise proceedings which coulã be
perceived as an attempt to influence a statutory committee or a breach of
confidentiality, unless he or she is a membcr of the panel or, where there is no
panel, of the statutory committee dealing with the matter;

12. rcfrain from communicating to members and stakeholdet' on behalf of CCO
including on social media, unless authorized by Councila;

13. respect the boundaries of staff whose role is not to report to or work for individual
Council or committee members; and

14. be respectful of others and not engage in behaviour that might reasonably be
perceived as verbal, physical or sexual abuse or harassment.

Potential Breaches of the Gode of Conduct

15. An elected or appointed member of Council or non-Council committee member
who becomes aware of any potential breach of this code of conduct should
immediately advise the President and Registrar, or if the potential breach involves
the President, advise the Vice President and Registrar; and,

16. Potential breaches will be addressed first through informal discussion with the
Council member(s) or non-Council committee member(s), and subsequently by
written communication expressing concerns and potential conseq.,"n"ir.

I, , Council member or non-Council committee member of the
College of Chiropractors of Ontario undertake to comply with the CCO Code of Conduct
for Current and Former Elected and Public Members of Council and Non-Council
Comrnittee Members, both during and follcrving rny term on CCo Council or a
committee

Signature Witness:

Date

3 Stakeholders include professional associations, societies, and other organizations related to the regulation,
education and practice of chiropractic.
a This does not preclude Council members from communicating about CCO, provided they are not
communicating on behalf of CCO.

2



1

2

Rules of Order of the Council of the
Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario

Approved by Gouncil: September 20, 2014

ln this Schedule, "member" means a council member

Each agenda topic will be introduced briefly by the person or committee
representative raising it. Members may ask questions of clarification, then the
person introducing the matter shall make a motion and another member must
second the motion before it can be debated.

When any member wishes to speak, he or she shall so indicate by raising his or
her hand and shall address the chair and confine himself or herself to the matter
under discussion.

Staff persons and consultants with expertise in a matter may be permitted by the
chair to answer specific questions about the matter.

5

6

Observers at a council meeting are not allowed to speak to a matter that is under
debate.

A member may not speak again on the debate of a matter until every council
member who wishes to speak to it has been given an opportunity to do so. The
only exception is that the person introducing the matter or a staff person may
answer questions about the matter. Members will not speak to a matter more
than twice without the permission of the chair.

A member may not speak longer than five minutes upon any motion except with
the permission of Council.

When a motion is under debate, no other motion can be made except to amend
it, to postpone it, to put the motion to a vote, to adjourn the debate of the council
meeting or to refer the motion to a committee.

A motion to amend the motion then under debate shall be disposed of first. Only
one motion to amend the motion under debate can be made at a time.

3

4

7

B

I

10 When a motion is on the floor, a member shall make every effort to be present
and to remain in the room.

When it appears to the chair that the debate in a matter has concluded, when
Council has passed a motion to vote on the motion or when the time allocated to
the debate of the matter has concluded, the chair shall put the motion to a vote
and no further debate is permitted.

11



Rules of Order of Council
Approved by Council: September 20, 2014

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

2

A member is not entitled to vote upon any motion in which he or she has a
conflict of interest, and the vote of any member so interested will be disallowed.

Any motion decided by the Council shall not be re-introduced during the same
session except by a two-thirds vote of the Council then present.

Whenever the chair is of the opinion that a motion offered to the Council is
contrary to these rules or the by-laws, he or she shall rule the motion out of order
and give his or her reasons for doing so.

The chair shall preserve order, etiquette and decorum, and shall decide
questions of order, which include addressing any distractions that interfere with
the business of the meeting, subject to an appeal to the Council without debate.

The above rules may be relaxed by the chair if it appears that greater informality
is beneficial in the particular circumstances unless the Council requires strict
adherence.

Members are not permitted to discuss a matter with observers while it is being
debated.

Members are to be respectful, courteous and professional while others are
speaking.

ln all cases not provided for in these rules or by other rules of Council, the
current edition of Robert's Rules of Order shall be followed so far as they may be
applicable.



List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
as at September 2017

Acronym Full Name

ADR Alternative Dispute Resolution
AFC Alliance For Chiropractic (formerly CAC)
BCCC British Columbia College of Chiropractors
BDC Board of Directors of Chiropractic
cAc Chiropractic Awareness Council
ccA Canadian Chiropractic Association
CCEB Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board
ccEc Council on Chiropractic Education (Canada)

SCERP Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Proptram

ccct Canadian Chiropractic Guideline lnitiative
cco Colleee of Chironractors of Ontario
CCPA Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association
CCRF Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation
Chiropractic Act Chiropractic Act. 1991

cMcc Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College
cNo College of Nurses of Ontario
Code Health Professions Procedurql Code, Schedule 2 to the RHPA

coNo College of Naturopaths of Ontario
CPGs Clinical Practice Guidelines
CPSO College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

cRc Chiropractic Review Committee
DAC Designated Assessment Centre

FCC Federation of Canadian Chiropractic
FCCOS(C) Fellow of the Colleee of Chiropractic Orthopaedic Specialists (Canada)

FCCR(C) Fellow of the Chiropractic College of Radiologists (Canada)

FCCPOR(C) Fellow of the Canadian Chiropractic College of Physical and Occupational
Rehabilitation (Canada)

FCCS(C) Fellow of the College of Chiropractic Sciences (Canada)

FRCCSS(C) Fellow of the Royal College of Chiropractic Sports Sciences (Canada)

FCLB Federation of Chiropractic Licensing Boards

FHRCO Federation of Health Regulatory Colleges of Ontario

HARP Healins Arts Radiation Protection Act
HIA Health Insurance Act
HPARB Health Professions Appeal and Review Board

HPRAC Health Professions Regulatory Advisory Council

tcRc Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Committee
LSUP Law Society of Upper Canada

MESPO Model for the Evaluation of Scopes of Practice in Ontario

MOHLTC Ministrv of Health and Long-Term Care

MTCU Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities

NBCE National Board of Chiropractic Examiners

ocA Ontario Chiropractic Association

ODP Office Development Proi ect

oFc Offrce of the Fairness Commissioner
OHIP Ontario Health Inswance Plan

PHIPA Personal Health Information Protection Act
PPA Protecting Patients Act, 2017
PIPEDA Personal Information and Protection of Electronic Documents Act
RHPA Regulated Health Professions Act, l99I
UQTR Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières
WHO World Health Organization
WSIB Workplace Safety and Insurance Board



 

 

 
 

AGENDA  
(Public) 1   

 
Wednesday, February 26, 2020 (8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m.)  2  

 
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800,  

Toronto, M4Y 0E7 
Council Room 

 
Breakfast – 7:45 a.m. – 8:30 a.m. (Members’ Lounge)  

 
Photo Day 3 

 
Invited Guests 

 
Beaconsfield, Government Relations Consultants, Presenting at 1:00 a.m.  

Karen Jones, Paliare Roland (available at 1:45 p.m.) 
Odette Soriano, Paliare Roland (available at 2:15 p.m.) 

 
Attendees 

 
Council members  

Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel 
Mr. Joel Friedman, Director of Policy and Research 

Ms Andrea Szametz, Recording Secretary 
 
 

SECTIONS 
OF THE 
CODE FOR 
IN-
CAMERA 
SESSIONS 
IF 
DIRECTED 
BY 
COUNCIL 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action 
By 

Priority 
Level 4 

Time 5 

       
  CALL TO ORDER    Mizel High 8:30 

a.m. 

 
1 If you would like the complete background documentation relating to any item on the agenda, please speak 
to Ms Willson (subject to confidentiality provisions). 
2 Subject to Council’s direction.  
3 Photographer will be at CCO to take photos of Council and committees for 2019 Annual Report.  
4 Subject to Council’s direction.   
5 Approximate (subject to Council’s direction). 



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   2 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 2 

SECTIONS 
OF THE 
CODE FOR 
IN-
CAMERA 
SESSIONS 
IF 
DIRECTED 
BY 
COUNCIL 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action 
By 

Priority 
Level 4 

Time 5 

       
  Parliamentarian 6  All 

members 
Medium  

       
  1. Consent Agenda Approve Council  High  
       
 9 1.1 Discipline Committee Report     
 10 1.1.1  CCO v Dr. Amalraj  

  Sivapathasuntharam  
  (Released, December 19, 
  2020) 

    

 16 1.2 Fitness to Practise Committee 
Report 

    

 17 1.3 Inquiries, Complaints and 
Reports Committee Report 
(ICRC)  

    

 18  1.3.1 Terri Fass and  
   Dr. Chris  
   Kraemer,  
   (HPARB  
   decision received 
   December 16,  
   2019)  

    

 39  1.3.2 Ryan Armstrong 
   and Dr. Kresimir 
   Jug, (HPARB  
   decision received, 
   December 17,  
   2019) 

    

 47  1.3.3 Ryan Armstrong 
   and Dr. Brian  
   Nantais, (HPARB
   decision received
   December 18,  
   2019) 
 
 

    

 
6 Council members to act as their own parliamentarian i.e. being familiar with and complying with the rules of 
order rather than formal appointment of Parliamentarian.  



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   3 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 3 

SECTIONS 
OF THE 
CODE FOR 
IN-
CAMERA 
SESSIONS 
IF 
DIRECTED 
BY 
COUNCIL 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action 
By 

Priority 
Level 4 

Time 5 

 
 57  1.3.4 Jordan Himel  

   and Dr. William 
   Edwards, (HPARB 
   decision,  
   January 10, 2020) 

    

       
 72 1.4 Registration Committee 

 Report 
    

       
  2. Adoption of Agenda  Adopt Council High  

       
  2.1 Conflict of Interest  Review/ 

Declare 
any real or 
perceived 
conflicts 
of interest 
as agenda 
item 
reached 

Council High  

       
  3. Adoption of Minutes 7      
       
 74 3.1 November 28 - 29, 2019  Approve Council High  
       
  4. Committee Reports      
       
 100 4.1 Executive Committee Report  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Report/ 
Approve 
Recom-
menda-
tions 
 

Mizel/ 
Council 
 
 
 

High 9:00 
a.m. 

 
7 Only members present at the meeting should approve the minutes.    



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   4 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 4 

SECTIONS 
OF THE 
CODE FOR 
IN-
CAMERA 
SESSIONS 
IF 
DIRECTED 
BY 
COUNCIL 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action 
By 

Priority 
Level 4 

Time 5 

  Old/Ongoing Business     
  Ministry of Health      
 136 4.1.4  CCO Link to Ministry 

  bulletins re: Coronavirus 
    

 143 4.1.5  Bulletin dated February 
  19, 2020 re: Premier’s 
  Council on Improving 
  Healthcare and Ending 
  Hallway Medicine  

FYI    

  Communications/Strategic 
Planning 

    

 151 4.1.7 President’s Message – 
  December 6, 2019 

Review    

 161 4.1.8  Various Feedback re:  
  President’s Message 

Review    

 171 4.1.9 President’s Message – 
  January 27, 2020 

Review    

 174 4.1.10 Various Feedback re;  
  President’s Message 

Review    

 182 4.1.11 CPSO Discipline decision 
  suspending member for 
  inappropriate social media 

FYI    

 194 4.1.12 Newspaper reports re: 
  suspensions for  
  inappropriate social media 

    

  Elections Verbal 
Report 

Willson Medium  

 202 4.1.13 Election Notice  
  (distributed January 21, 
  2020) 

    

 214 4.1.14  Memo dated February 14, 
  2020 re: Close of  
  Nominations  

    

 224 4.1.16 CV from Dan Faulkner  Verbal 
Report 
Election 
Review 
Committee 

Friedman Medium  



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   5 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 5 

SECTIONS 
OF THE 
CODE FOR 
IN-
CAMERA 
SESSIONS 
IF 
DIRECTED 
BY 
COUNCIL 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action 
By 

Priority 
Level 4 

Time 5 

 233 4.1.19 G-009: Code of Ethics 
  (current)  

FYI    

 237 4.1.20  CV from Hanno  
  Weinberger 

FYI    

  Governance/Training 
Opportunities 

Consider 
other 
opportune-
ities 

Council Medium  

 359 4.1.29  CTV News dated January 
  21, 2020 entitled “Animal 
  chiropractic becoming 
  more common place with 
  Canadian pet owners” 

    

  Chiropractic/Health Related 
Stakeholders 

Primarily 
FYI 
(subject to 
questions) 

   

  Federation of Canadian 
Chiropractic (FCC) 

    

 390 4.1.32 Communication from Dr. 
  Halowski dated January 
  13, 2020 re: Labour  
  Mobility Guide for  
  Canadian Regulators 

    

 396 4.1.34 Communication dated 
  February 12, 2020 re:  
  elimination of Billing  
  Arrangements in British 
  Columbia 8 

FYI    

  Canadian Chiropractic 
Examining Board (CCEB) 

    

 398 4.1.35 Communication dated 
  February 11, 2020 re:  
  speaking at CCO AGM 

Invite?    

 399 4.1.36 Notification dated January 
  6, 2020 re: Survey prize 
  winners 

FYI    

  Federation of Chiropractic 
Licensing Boards (FCLB) 

    



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   6 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 6 

 
8 Full information to be included with Quality Assurance Committee agenda for review.  



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   7 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 7 

SECTIONS 
OF THE 
CODE FOR 
IN-
CAMERA 
SESSIONS 
IF 
DIRECTED 
BY 
COUNCIL 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action 
By 

Priority 
Level 4 

Time 5 

 403 4.1.37 Information re: meeting 
  April 21 – 24, 2020 9  

FYI    

  Health Profession Regulators of 
Ontario (HPRO, formerly 
FHRCO) 

    

 412 4.1.38 Notification dated January 
  23, 2020 re: Novel  
  Coronavirus 

FYI    

 418 4.1.39  Notification re: Irwin  
  Glasberg, Fairness  
  Commissioner 

FYI    

 420 4.1.40 Legislative Update  
  (November, 2019,  
  December 2019, January 
  2020) 

FYI    

  Ontario Chiropractic Association Verbal 
Report re: 
Dinner 
Meeting 
January 
24, 2020 

Mizel/ 
MacKay
/ 
Willson 

Medium  

 444 4.1.43  Miscellaneous Bulletins FYI    
  Canadian Chiropractic 

Association 
    

 521 4.1.45 Various   
  bulletins/communiques 10 

FYI    

  Alliance for Chiropractic (AFC) Verbal 
Report re: 
teleconfer
ence call 
January 
29, 2020 
and 
Dinner 
meeting 
February 
25, 2020 

Mizel/ 
MacKay
/ 
Willson 
 

Medium  

 528 4.1.46 Various   
  bulletins/communiques 

FYI    



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   8 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 8 

SECTIONS 
OF THE 
CODE FOR 
IN-
CAMERA 
SESSIONS 
IF 
DIRECTED 
BY 
COUNCIL 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action 
By 

Priority 
Level 4 

Time 5 

  Canadian Chiropractic Protective 
Association (CCPA) 

    

 532 4.1.47 Communique dated  
  January 20, 2020 

FYI    

       
  

 
9 Ms Willson will be attending as CCO delegate. 
10 New direction includes reference to NMSK.  



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   9 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 9 

 

 

  Break (Members’ Lounge)  
 

   10:00 
a.m.    

       
 535 4.2  Advertising Committee 

  Report 
Report Budgell Medium 10:15 

a.m. 
 537 4.2.1  Advertising Committee 

  Handbook (draft –  
  February 26, 2020) 

FYI    

       
 560 4.3 Patient Relations Committee 

 Report 11 
Report/ 
Approve 
Recom-
mendations 

Bourdeau High 10:30 
a.m. 

 562 4.3.1 Exchange with Rolph  
  Schwartz 

FYI    

       
  Quality Assurance Committee 

Report in separate yellow binder 
    

       
 1 4.4 Quality Assurance Committee 

 Report 
Report/ 
Approve 
Recom-
mendations 

Peterson High 10:45 
a.m. 

  Re: Recommendation 1 (approve 
amendments to G-008: Business 
Practices) 

    

 6 4.4.1  G-008: Business Practices 
  (draft with changes  
  underlined/crossed out) 
 

Approve      

 16 4.4.2 G-008: Business Practices 
  (draft – clean copy) 

Approve    

 26 4.4.3 G-008: Business Practices 
  (current) 

FYI    

 33 4.4.4  Memo re: amendments to 
  G-008: Business Practices 
  - draft (if approved by 
  Council) 
 

Approve    

 
11 Time permitting, sample video will be shown. 



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   10 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 10 

 35 4.4.5 Memo dated June 2019 
  and G-008: Business  
  Practices (revisions  
  circulated to stakeholders 
  including members) 

FYI    

 45 4.4.6  Summary of feedback to 
  on line survey re:  
  proposed revisions to G-
  008: Business Practices 

Review    

 140 4.4.7  Miscellaneous feedback 
  re: proposed revisions to 
  G-008: Business Practices 
  12 

Review    

 284 4.4.8  Petitions from  
  public/patients re:  
  proposed revisions to G-
  008: Business Practices  

Review    

 697 4.4.9  Various feedback from 
  chiropractic organizations  

Review    

 725 4.4.10 Miscellaneous feedback 
  from members re: Block 
  Fees 

Review    

 733 4.4.11  Information from other 
  Canadian chiropractic 
  regulators re: Block  
  Fees/Payment Plans 

FYI    

 740 4.4.12  Information from other 
  Ontario health regulatory 
  colleges 

FYI    

 758 4.4.13  Extracts from CCO  
  Annual Reports re: ICRC 
  statistics 

FYI    

 761 4.4.14 Sample ICRC decisions 
  re: Block Fees/Payment 
  Plans 
 

FYI    

 828 4.4.15  Memos dated August 6, 
  2019 and September 19, 
  2019 from ICRC re: G-
  008: Business Practices 
 
 
 

FYI    

 
12 E-mail addresses have been redacted.  



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   11 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 11 

  Re: Recommendation 2: approve 
draft standard and guideline re: 
Health Care Claims etc. 

    

 830 4.4.16 S- ??? Health Care  
  Claims in Advertising, 
  Websites and Social  
  Media (draft) 

Approve 
for 
circulation 
and 
feedback 

   

 834 4.4.17 G-??? Health Care  
  Claims in Advertising, 
  Websites and Social  
  Media (draft) 

Approve 
for 
circulation 
and 
feedback 

   

 837 4.4.18  Memo re: draft Standard 
  and Guideline re: Health 
  Care Claims in  
  Advertising, Websites 
  and Social Media – draft 
  (if approved by Council) 
  with draft survey 

Approve    

 842 4.4.19  Information from other 
  Canadian chiropractic 
  regulators re: advertising, 
  websites and social media 

FYI    

 919 4.4.20 RFP re: website and  
  social media compliance 
  (March 27, 2019) 

FYI    

 922 4.4.21  Proposal from  
  Guaranteed SEO dated 
  May 3, 2019 

FYI    

 936 4.4.22  Feedback re: tool FYI    
 943 4.4.23  Feedback re: Peer  

  Assessor Workshop  
  (January 25, 2020) 

Review Council   

       
  Lunch (Members’ Lounge)  

 
   12:00 

Noon 
       
  Potential in camera items in 

separate red binder 
    

       



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   12 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 12 

Ss. 7 
(2)(a)
(b)(c)
(d)(e) 

 5. Potential In Camera Items 13    1:00 
p.m. 

  Move out of Camera and Ratify 
Decisions 

    

       
  Break If Required (Members’ 

Lounge) 
   2:30 

p.m. 
       
  6. New Business      
       
 566 6.1 Information re: FSRA – 

 FHRCO Collaboration 
 Discussion January 31, 2020 

Verbal 
Report 

Friedman Medium 2:45 
p.m. 

       
  7. For Your Information 14 FYI 

(subject to 
questions) 

   

 581 7.1 Bergquist, Life Chiropractic 
 College West, Perspective on 
 chiropractic Research in 
 Canada (2019)  
 

    

 585 7.2 Communication from Dr. 
 Simon re: Chiropractic 
 Report (2011), Dr. Brown 

    

  College of Medial Radiation and 
Imaging Technologists of Ontario 

    

 596 7.3 Announcement dated January 
 3, 2020 re: changes 

    

  Ontario College of Pharmacists     
 606 7.4 Briefing Note dated 

 September 2019 re: 
 competence-based 
 elections 

    

  Ontario College of Teachers 
(OCT) 

    

 
13 Subject to direction from Council. Council may go in camera to discuss items identified in Ss. 7 (2) of the 
Code, such as financial matters, property acquisitions, litigation and legal advice (including government 
relations). 
14 The FYI section has been pared down considerably. On a go forward, if members/individuals want 
information included for Council, they should include the public interest rationale i.e. how is the 
article/information relevant to CCO’s public interest mandate? 



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   13 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 13 

 610 7.5 OCT v Ahmed Bouragba 
 (2019) (Ont. Court of Appeal) 
 15 

    

 625 7.6 Extract from 2019 
 Auditor General’s Report  re: 
 Ministry of Health/CNO etc.16 

    

 683 7.7 Grey Areas – January 
 2020 The Trouble with 
 Awards 

    

 685 7.8 Canada (Minister of 
 Citizenship and 
 Immigration) v Vavilov 
 (2019) (SCC) 17 

    

 692 7.9 BMC, J. Keith Simpson, At-
 risk advertising by Australian 
 chiropractors and 
 physiotherapists (2019) 

    

 709 7.10 Council Member  
  Terms 

    

       
       
  DATE AND TIME OF MEETINGS 18      

 
15 The OCT sued a member and a former member of Council for defamation. The defendants’ motion to 
dismiss the statement of claim was dismissed (matter going to trial).  
16 Reflects government’s commitment to evaluating organizations to ensure performance is consistent with 
mandate.  
17 The standard of review is relevant to Discipline Committee decisions.  
18 Please mark your Calendar and Advise Rose Bustria ASAP if you are unable to attend any meetings.   
 
 
 
Executive Committee Meeting Dates to December 2020 
 
All Executive Committee meetings are at CCO and are scheduled from 8:30 a.m. – 4:00 p.m. unless otherwise 
noted.  
 

Year Date Time Event Location 
2020 Thursday, March 12 8:00 a.m. – 3 p.m.  Meeting CCO 

 Tuesday, May 12 8:30 a.m. – 4 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, August 14 8:30 a.m. – 4 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Tuesday, October 20 8:30 a.m. – 4 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 
 
 



Council Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   14 Council Meeting Agenda – February 26, 2020                                                                                                   Page 14 

       
  ADJOURNMENT    4:30 

p.m. 
 
 

 

 

 
 
Council Meeting Dates to December 2020 
 
All Council meetings are at CCO and are scheduled from 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. unless otherwise noted.  
 

Year Date Time Event Location 

2020 Wednesday, April 15 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Council Meeting CCO  

 Thursday, April 16 
(Council 
Orientation/Elections) 

8:30 a.m. – 2:00 p.m. Council Meeting CCO  

 Tuesday, June 16 6 p.m. – 9:30 p.m. Annual General 
Meeting 

CCO 

 Wednesday, June 17 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Council Meeting CCO 

 Friday, September 11 1:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Focused 
Meeting (in camera 
items) 

White Oaks Resort & Spa 
253 Taylor Road SS$ 
Niagara-on-the-Lake, Ontario 
L0S 1J0 
www.whiteoaksresort.com 
 

 Saturday, September 12 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Council Meeting White Oaks 

 Sunday, September 13 8:30 a.m. – 12 noon Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting (as 
required) 

White Oaks 

 Thursday, November 26 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Council Meeting CCO 

 Friday, November 27  8:30 a.m. - noon Council Training  CCO 

 Friday, November 27 Evening Holiday Party TBD 

 
 

http://www.whiteoaksresort.com/


ITEM 1.1
Generated Internally

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Discipline Gommittee Report to Gouncil
February 26,2020

I
Core Members: Ms Karoline Bourdeau, Chair

Dr. Paul Groulx
Dr. Steven Lester
Mr. Rob MacKay
Dr. Daniela Arciero, non-Council member
Dr. Liz Gabison, non-C ouncil member
Dr. Colin Goudreau, non-Council member
Dr. Colleen Pattrick, non-Council member
Dr. Brian Schut, non-Council member
Dr. G. Murray Townsend, non-Council member

Dr. Matt Tribe, non-Council member

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Since the last council meeting there have been no committee meetings or hearings.

The panel's decisions and reasons for the following hearing was released to the parties:

o Dr. Amalraj Sivapathasuntharam - received December 19,2019

The work of the Discipline Committee is vital to protecting the public interest and I
would like to thank the members of the Discipline Committee for their time and

dedication. In addition, I would also like to extend my thanks to all members of council
who are willing to serve on panels.

Respectfully submitted,
Karoline Bourdeau, Chair



Rose Bustria |TEM 1.1 .1

Jo-Ann Willson
Thursday, December 19,2019 1 1:21 AM

Rose Bustria

Joel Friedman; Madeline Cheng

FW: ln the matter of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario and Dr

Amalraj Sivapathasuntharam
Decision Dr. Amalraj Sivapathasuntharam 2019 1219
(01208593xC34D3).pdf

10
From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:

Subject:

Attachments:

Exec and Council etc

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W, LL.B.
Regishar & General Counsel
xNote Address Change

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail

and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy- Thank you.

From: Carolyn Raber <CRaber@swlawyers.ca>

Sent: Thursday, December 19, 2019 L1:19 AM

To: Chris Paliare (Chris.Paliare@paliareroland.com) <Chris.Paliare@paliareroland.com>; Karen Jones

(Karen.Jones@paliareroland.com)<Karen.Jones@paliareroland.com>;'Rebecca Young'

<ryoung@damienfrost.ca>
Cc: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>; Colin Stevenson <CStevenson@swlawyers.ca>

Subject: ln the matter of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario and Dr. Amalraj Sivapathasuntharam

Good morning,

Herewith the decision of the Discipline Committee, released this morning

Thank you.

ursrr v E N s o N 
)YT_E \T?_ry

Carolyn Raber Legal Assistant I Contact
Assistant to Colin P. Stevenson and Daniel McConville
416.599.7900 x841

Stevenson Wheiton LLP - Thisgmall message js intended for the person(s) to
whom it is addressed and may cbntain informaijon which js SOLICITOR-CLIENT
PRIVILEGED or CONFIDENTIAL. Any unauthorized use, disiribulion, copying or
djsciosure by any person other than the addressee(s) is strictly prohibited. It
you have received this email in error, please notify the sender immediately by
return emaii and deLete the message and any attachmenls from your system.

1



11
DISCIPI,INE COMMITTEE

or rllf {-{}LLfGf of cHlnoPR-dcT(}lts 0t'0sT-{Rro

PANEL:

BITWT.]":i

) Mr. Chris Paliare ar:d
I lls- Karera.lorx* l$r'dlc
a {ed$egn erflCldrugn'actors,*rf't...rs{rado

* :rntl -

Dr'" .ts'mairqi Sir npctfaarntknrs$r Us, trtetrrcfiL:s l'*wary

Heard: Ocfober 9,zBtg

Aii*c' presemt xti dnr lhr.;ur:irlg $srfre:

Mr. Colin Stevenson*-Independent Legal Counsel to the Panel
\ts. Jtr-,{nrr \f illsn***Rrryfsrar and {}rrrcral fiuux*L CCf}
\{:,. ll.s.,i,nia fak- foulr* Re6.rrrrrn*n

NECISION AND REASOhIS

T:YIXODI" CTIO\

A heariag into allegations of praf-essional misconduct against Dr. Amairaj Sivapathasuntharam
r'Dr- $irapathmrnthararn-- or {hr'il{snhtr'l rtxrli plne hedffs a panel of rhs $irifitim
Ciinnmnme'r (#tc '&Mrts{"'}} til{{ine {oiiJtryr arr'Cfuiiropv"acacr"i; $f d}m{a?riis {drc "Cr{lllrya* ,i.ud'"'CC(?"i} ,run

(ktobcr 9,2$19" '{}re Collegc has;e marxlate trr r.*gu{ate tix; prrticx of the chiropracric
profession and to govern its members and, in so doing, serve and protect the p,ublic interest.

Ms. Karoline Bourdeau, Chair

[k.. Paul (ireiulx

.\d:. fl{@-ul {irai\,dliic

llr- Collw* Ilattrick

Dr. Matt Tribe

Public lv{ember

Prnfessiruul \kmtrcr

Puh$ir€ ltcxniil*:

Protbssional llr"mbcr

Professional Member

CALLEGN OF CHIROPRACTOR.S OF
oxT:r}ilO

j

)

)l

it

)



12
THE ALLEGATIONS

i hn: *l$eg;:lliom; a,gailftrl dtm \!anllh',.T ;iiItrf, jd[ r:rrlttt iim dlrie \erxllc's 
'{r'd 

${a'ddm:a <&nt'*J )u[ay ]+- :l'tls
iirlcr.! ,' frfu{hia il- '! ji1..'irgarimg <,Ndh iiuu rellauissl to aths'fcrllfi*uri*E allllegnriioms

(allegations 2,3 and 4 were withdrawn)'

t." l.ule& tr$re crqmmriuaali frfe fift of fxtrl*r>ionat rssiiceud[Kt a; pr*,riu3crfl h1 r*ltx*ciicon

5li{tX{:}of nfrx $X*,nfithiFr*rf*r,sixoarrs ft$sd?drrrsrdl{o'r[rof nit*s i."llnitrarN{tttttiiu 4;r' ,:it{'vll-S-i:,.

lggl, c. 2[, as arnended, and parag-aph 112; of Onrari* Regrrlation 85]'93, ia thar during

the period March 2014 to November 2016, on one or more occasions, you contravened a

urur*fuo,t *{f gracrice cf g}re nrnilxsion *rr failesJ tei rlrainrain t}x: sandard of,grasLice

*Np$clq:d $li|figgy$lirlpf.+ qrrf dw prl-rr1gisnr'*l t'r:*ifi: rrcs;p*cg lq] c&sllm$. snnxr&'tcp ]llmmullufif, rmljl

;bir,rrpi{lg p!$lfi}&!e *iln senilces; tlinfit rlcsc rut prtrri<ikd-

S. You have cornmitte$ an act of professional misconduct as provided by subsecticn

_ctr(tr Xcl crf rtre |,[:atlh Pnrlixsions P6ps'durn! Code s f rhf {hiragrerctie -"lcr t991- S"$-

\.ffin - t 2 X . as, an*:yr,*r& mr,$ ptar,ry:r:aph t ti33 I or {mnanils ltryufiaaiioxl *5: 93 *m daan

d,rring rlx: prn$d lianrh 3314 trl Xovcmbcr l${6. rxl trrr.* .N'nxre {rscaslons- Sour

engaged in conduct or perforrrred an aet, that, having regard ro all the circumstances,
,*nuld reasonabll' be re-carded b1' nrcmbex as disgrxeful- dishrymrrable sr
mprCIfci,si*uu} lnirfu res;prarl [o y{i$r nulLarry clhirau; m Urutdife fill'ffirediff}cmcs {trag usxa

ruon prr'*n iirtrrd anrd,acclryltiirry Pnry'srltltffi itix ntinr cfiaimm.

l'or the reasons that follow the Fanel found that the Member engaged in prof'essional rniscontluct.

The Prurl trseped a joinr suhrni*si*n rxl penaltr and coE* and crded thar im rcrues fx
iiumg{l*mmnr*d..

AGR&N:D TACTS

g;r-... .i\rraafua-i $iragrratha*mdnmrn *-!lemtxr't thtsrlr lr nrcmfo'sr *lf &r Cr$leg*- of Chistil{:dr&t$.$

r$f'{xrg,imrio ti.'e'C'(,}-'* iirr"t }0rl L. flhc }.!srmhcr'fuins n*x ll'rrrn iliw sr!&li'stt oilu prr* urrurs fi}ii$elFiiiintK

Csmrnittw hearing"

'I he Member is currently enrolled in an educational program and is not practising chiropractic.

$)nrw.rrag r{r yxrier,if l,,ctm;rcq f{i}*4 no "grua** 3tl.rff 7- t*u: }l,srsher ccFc;qtrurili amd pnarniiso,.X clta}n"rpmretic

au &ldr tt*ad F$ ^'iaullg!."rp3 and lixx C iiimj,e im E]ramayxom- Ornu;ario q rt!f, "'L 0i;miic'" ]- '{'trc 
cr}s}resle$

cf the Cllnic. known as "S.1"," was not a regulated health professionai anel was a silent business

partner, "I he Member rras the "f'ceu of the Clinic so it appeared that be was its o\ltler operalor"

.1.; :aj1gfu a{{ rccsmts; $br {he C'$ird{ '{r{:fe sd up iun hr.s dritlrH- irx{axiing ar$eii$ ard a cnes:fuKl rn'ii&

infirrmation elegronically to insurem.

S.I. primarily focused on the day-to-day operations of the Clinic and of the Keruredy Road

Ffrysic'tfuerap] ilx! ['ax'N Clinic- trfiich slx alsro c{"}*t}unrtf rvi$u ailr lVlenabar-

2



13
l'he Member emplcyed a number of regulated health profbssionals- including registelcd massage

therapists and ragi*crce{ ptal:irxherapisa.s- ao px'*n'nfu trrl-?tareili ar rfi* {- linic- irmllnr,lnng

prulessiorurl &xsrm:otrxi ahc :cn i*x pnlride:r! Itrl c:ach pxaricnr- mrkt slhrr'ekrcun*olmritxr na; a&lh:Ji
to the patient's file. Patient files were maintained at fhe Clinic. Individual regulated health
pmfe*sionals riid rnt rctain cnsltxlr of ptient files-

ru[ foltPl-AtsT

On September 19, 2A17, Manulife reported 1o the CCO that it had reviewed electronic claims
suhmli{tell b1'the }lernher fiiorn t}n Clinic during ti** grri*t ltlaur}r lq- l0l-* tu \orcsnher {9-
:i'it *'. \{arrinl$rfe dml L;rsjk'd dur** rrr,iittlne $mltinlil earne grlraf'**i'rxwiis qsfikr ilusd worik,edi nfi" rt&re {Tmniic

di*iitg dw prcriirx$ trre com[rs&s w$ltx$qertit:t [m{ pmoniii'ffentr aliw {dLla{nssfis s{tg{ r*€re eiJai$}c'd, b tllE
Clinic via the Memh:els Teh:s portal. 'Ilre health care providers indicated that, in the 32 rnonth
audit period. ?6 clainrs marte try the Clinic on behalf of l3 patients over a period of l6 days r*ere
lits'$elrrl'ice; atcaa tra.J fii{ hnc!} trxux idcr$ *thc *['ajlsa 

C'&airns-l- llkrr a rt"la:a{ *f'$"?.'i*$-il|("1." lt{amuli-fe
iirad p'raid 

'{r*xd 
$ [ -955. t't* 'kw aln: $' ;rlls,r' C ihrimm qtirilu $ !1 .W},.ffi\r6 n$u,at affixx!$ils rhrfinry parid r,rn dtrre

Clinic and $165.00 to patients.

THE CCO INVASTIGATION

\t'&ffi: #H CC{J iinnur*lgtn{rad rffle,crornnpfi,ruim{" nr rrirunrr*:ncrri *h;: \{*r:mhar"v nnnviunrr dnr pnform filicir lfur
d'K fi3 parii*Ert* for sllixm! de C'liirlir) had m!:flfu F;nlse Cli$inrs- &lix l,lcmllfucrarrc"iislti tiirg irclirardii

closed the Clixic in June 2*17. FIe said that he Ieft the Clinic patient liles with S.L, anel he did
rmt know how io contact her or r*'here the gntient files were"

AII*I|SSI(}XS ru l,-,tl*s[ (.t-At.]t$ ]tAIt[.'TO ]tAf,t Ltru

Had the Member testified, he woutrd have said that he personally had not made the False Claims
nnd {rid n$t knorr thnt dre Clinic had nrde thcm" }lonerer- hc admits thsf the} $'ene modc arrdl
i;livl'ltfl$t, admdns dlan, as uixc ryarllarcu{ hr,a$& pnip!'i'ssiinNtra$ im cftargrc rrf thrr {-'litiluii:- fur nuas nlilaar'*sirslb

*cqlxxnx;iiibilc ttx 'crxuniiry altxun ellaiimrs mrilifr iic. tfsc' ;rtsiriiortr w{*e ac*$raw- .'\.s -.lssih- lirr;maery*s
responsibility for the False Claims"

!& particc.{&er- ttn ltera*ryr atirceits t}w he:

{ie} contrarctxd e s{anilhnl ert-praclk**f tlx pruf":srion nx'lailed to rnainliaim dt}E

stanclard expected of rnembers of the profession with respect to claims made to
Manulife and aecepting Fryment fcrr senices tlrat r*ereTrx provided- as descrilr*d
fu Alliegunir:rNl ii *rfi tlle -ru$oi(s *rt!'f-i":aglng &mrx! lfac :% fftllq r 

*,\{lf[*;]: 
arl,d

(h,, engaged in conduct or perfbrmed an act rhat, having regard tei all o{rhc
circumstances" rvould reasonably be regarded by rnembers as disgraceful.
dislxxmrable and unpnrrfesskxral wi& rcsgx\6"! t.} thr: alainrs nradc m }lansslif,a fi,:qr'

!&rgefn€fl]rl nrulf trrg]t'ir,,frd anriii *crcepiirryg prryn]fr]{i ;*or dr ckmrnu:. ,&s deslcna$urd in
Allryxricur j *l atira \1"l$*-

t



14
Based on these facts and the M*mber's admissions the CCO and the Mcrnber a-*ked the Panei tc)

ralalia linelings oi-gmnfcssionai slli:iccxrtlu{:{;ts J,'r'[ ofirl im ,{{lcgarleuas i ard ] of dx 5(}[-f-

l:{ Df;Pf \T}f:TiT LIG,IL ANY][ f

The Member acknowledged thaf he had received advice *om his counsel, Rebecca Young. pricr

aer ,erurrimgr into, lhi-q Rexrluriem '\srrrr:rnca*- I irc llernher egflsed {lw fte $as; cmtenng: iraw ailr*

lt::srorllrsrikm ..\g:r,cemr*emn aanrd sii.gniirry a*w .\g.lrc..c Sna*cwrruut of il'-arclLs [insrll,\. ilfiili vailumnarit3,.

DECISION AND ORDER.

Afiler'{naari.mgsutfi&is$iisil$t}aePms{rmct;rvxli"{*rf'{'c(ndmgeitrrcrs-R'aa$€sd*kttfuesefgtas

lhat the parties indted the Panel ro rnaflle. Consequently, we lbund thar ttre Memb'sr had engagr"rl

in the professional misconduct set o*t in allegations I and 5.

suBHli$l(}xs ol{ PE:tfAI-Tl" AliD {x}il5

After hearing submissions on penalty and eosts *om the panies and reviewing theioint *rinen

submissign i-fiI*d on consent as Exhihit 3) in which the Member again acknowledged having

ru.,.eiir.e'd adxice tiorm his cerunsr-N- \ls- l"rurnp. and tlmu rte bil{i sigFred therioinr. sl&rqdsricm o[}

nrcuxaJin' imidi ,csx,ils [1ne'e$3 a*rn v,oiluuutaml$ , tiirc Fanreli munlfu ufue ilblll!*ttiurg oxden:

1. requiring the Member ta appear before the panel to be reprimanded;

L direclilry rlx Ragd*r.ar and Crenen'a{ Courasef *-R.cgir,rmf ] {o ruspemrd rile

Mamttar'ls c":rrlsfiaara ol-xryi**r'adr-uxn ti?w al pernnxd qlif :s;&x nntn'mrikr i{'"Su*premrnvxl"';

wirh &e Suspension la rake elTect tls Ocrotrcr 9, 2CII9;

3. directing the Registrar to impose the fcllowing terms, conditions and limitations

c'Cffdi[ions'] on c$rc Hermlx/* cattlficare of uegistrariwr-

{ili} b f'ebrruary E ?{02{}- tftlc ${ersnhff &!*ri{-

(i) review and undsrtake in writing lo comply with all CCO

raguialio*s- slar*i.rmds *f gxislio*, pntricic* and grulide{i&e$-

irm:iiwil{irrqg ixa* ruw ilimiiU'ed [{:t *b* txu"iiru**s gxitcrii'rns,piortiiofi roil-uim:

tNil;ctrndcr;{ Rryslariion. CC f^-e {iuide{irc C{X}8- Brus.irxxis

Practices, CCO Standard of Practice 5-002: Record Keeping. CCO

Shndard of Practice S4l? Oxnership- Storagr' Securirl"ard
Fi"rs*nxli,rw. of R,clgqlr{,Ls i$il Fcrxlxnel X-X'i:ehi} fififs]m$iuili$,fiL amdi

(il., provide evidence that he has successfirlly complaed,4 his or+n

L*p***.1he l.egislation and Ethics Examination and the Record

Kntg.rtr *le 1\ ixi; -*lrop:

4



15

{h} requiring the }vfember to immediateiy noti$ the Registrar in writing if ire
practiscs chrr$fr{:tr{ic, iarrliuriiirng p6*r i.dirag tc*L' uurrrk';rni si.{rq:ss crl'bis,

'pii;n;* 
.,un' tpffitcliL]"-u:.

(c) requiring the Member to be peer ffssttssed at his own expense, within six
months of retuming to thc pnr:ticc of chinrpnactic-

n airrrrulrq dnr [iry:r:trar as,} $eliFrfil"ut lt${:} r$omr,lns of uXrc Sttsfurrr.lr,iNl it1 dw h[,emltr,*t

complctei; the Condirions sct ouL in paragraph 31a;, try Fcbruary. 9, 2020; and

requiring that the results af the proceeding be recorded in the putrlic portion of the
Regisrcr arrJ prublishd in {hc ;{nnalafl Repora $r txher prblicario*x al rtrr ciissetiwn
,*r-&e Crolillryla orf Cilnirrcrprurxcxs arrf $mrarii'o-

T'he panel also made the foilowing order regarding costs:

rerquirirry rlx lleurber r$ pa3'Sle-0fr6"CI# *r dre CCO lo Baniaill' rcirntrurse ia {?rr

las custs of &e ilxr'es{ignliom arrd &r scifts +rrl$ arpa$sies of afue kaanlurg amd of hni
counsel, to be paid by Drcernber 31, 2019 with post dated cheques lbr the atnount
to be provided to the Registrar at the hearing.

}lla pemll he{ileyq* ufum *ds ,mder,rss'i:s ffic gmh|rc irmsest b,' i{'ftrfmry ;e s{rordqg rm**xqgr,irilr
,ilim:emmca ln,hii&e alJsu iirnpxxrrry $flrlrcsfic rtsrmsriira$ finr&rrurc$ mu the lldsmliJrer"

RSPRIMANN ADMTNISTER-U D

[k- Sis,rydfiasuraa]rarann &mffulrx* &$& to oeeraij riar xx& jurdicna$ ff\irlt if lta;rcscpned- as nir
,rfuiJ- afta ioins ${dbr$itssi'rxr on pxrratrry *rvr{ cns{s, (rmrroiltxxl4 aE *$o: r:rmc}lursiicxu of drc iiwriing
the Panel adminisl.,ered th* reprimand required by paragraph 1 q:f the order.

$- Karc)$irn* Ilousdcam sis* this dccisitxr and rsn*ur" fir dlr deaismn f{rr &e dalcH$o;as c*Nais .irf;'

&i* Ffiisnip,{lirns flame{i.alri cNn [lu{nall0 {rf nlirc rnerrmf.'rens ipll-ifirf; fiIi:nc'ii$iirw Fr!rudl lfts&dd:a&mvrr.

December /f,2Al9

5.

MS. KAROLII\T, B0LRDEAL

5



ITEM 1.2
Generated Internally

Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Fitness to Practise Gommittee Report to Council
February 26,2019

16

Members: Dr. Steven Lester, Chair
Dr. Dennis Mizel
Ms Robyn Gravelle Michelutti

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy & Research

Committee Mandate

To hear and determine allegations of mental or physical incapacity referred to the
committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.

o To review applications for reinstatement following an incapacity finding.

I. Introduction and Recommendations

The Fitness to Practise Committee has no recommsndations at this time.

Since the last council meeting the committee has not held a meeting or hearing.

There are no acknowledgements at this time.

Respectfully submitted,

Dr. Steven Lester, Chair
Fitness to Practise Committee

o



ITEM 1.3 17
Submitted to CCO on February 10,2020

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
lnquiries, Gomplaints and Reports Gommittee Report to Council
February 26,2020

Members: Dr. David Starmer, Chair
Ms Georgia Allan, Public Member
Dr. Peter Amlinger, Council Member
Dr. Steve Gillis, non-Council Member
Mr. John Papadakis, Public Member, Alternate

Staff Support: Ms Christine McKeown,Investigations, Complaints & Reports Officer
Ms Tina Perryman, Manager, Inquiries, Complaints & Reports

Since the last Council meeting, the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC)
met on three occasions and reviewed 47 complaints and two reports. ICRC made decisions
on29 complaints. One sectionTl(a) and five section 75(c) investigator appointments were
requested by the ICRC. The Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB) upheld
four Committee decisions (attached).

As Chair, I would like to express my gratitude for the hard work of all the committee
members and staff support.

Respectfully submitted,

Dr. David Starmer, Chair
Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Committee



Health Professions
Appeal and Review
Board

La Commission
doappel et de r6vision
des professions de la sant6

ITEM 1.3.1

ECETVE

Ontario

CONFIDENTIALIn reply please quote: File # 18-CRV

December 16,2019
rl

n

fr
I

i:
t,

18
OEe I 6 20is

Terri Fass
C0L&EoE OF u'l1lR(}Ftr{Aci gRS

Applicant

RespondentChris Kraemer, D.C.
0ro{TilHO

Dear Ms. Fass and Dr. Kraemer

Rr: Connpr,nrNT RE\lIEw - CrunopR.q.crrc
Tnnnr Fass lNo Cnnrs Knanunn. D.C.

Enclosed herewith is a true copy of the Decision and Reasons of the Health Professions Appeal

and Review Board in the above-noted matter.

While your file is now closed, please note that parties to Complaint Reviews of the Health

Profesiions Appeal and Review Board have the right to request a judicial review of the Board's

decision. You may wish to consider obtaining legal advice to determine what options are

available to you. To request a judicial review contact the Divisional Court at 416-327-5100.

Yours sincerely,
HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARI)

Alpha Aberra
Case Officer

Encl: Decision dated December 16, 2019

cc College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCOPRA File # KRAEMER-18-MR-01)

151 Bloor Street West, 9rh Floor
Toronto, Ontario M5S I 54

Telfl6l6 416-327-8512
Toll free/Sans fraits I -866-282-217 9

TTYi ATS 41 6 -326 -7 T"l Y (889)
TTY Toll fiee/ATS sans frais l-877-301-0TTY(889)

Facsimiley'Tdldcopieur 116-327 -8524

I 5 l, nre Bloor ouest, 9" €tage

Toronto, Ontario M5S I 54



19
File # I8-CRV-0804

HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARD

PRESENT:

Katherine Ball, Designated Vice-Chair, Presiding

James Dault, Board Member
Timothy P. D. Bates, Board Member

Review held on June 13, 2019 in Ontario (by teleconference)

IN THE MATTER OF A COMPLAINT REVIEW UNDER SECTION 29(1) of the Healrh

Professions Proce&ral Code,schedule 2tothe Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991, Statutes

of Ontario, 1991, c.18, as amended

BETWEEN:
TERRI FASS

Applicant

CHRIS KRAEMERO DC
Respondent

Appearances:

The Applicant: Terri Fass (by teleconference)

For thebollege of Chiropractors of Ontario Tina Perryman (by teleconference)

DECISION AND REASONS

I. DECISION

It is the decision of the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board to confirm the

decision of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontario to take no further action.

2. This decision arises from a request made to the Health Professions Appeal and Review

Board (the Board) by Teni Fass (the Applicant) to review a decision of the Inquiries,

Complaints and Reports Cornmittee (the Committee) of the College of Chiropractors of

Ontario (the College). The decision concerned a complaint regarding the conduct and

actions of Chris Kraemer, DC (the Respondent). The Committee investigated the

complaint and decided to take no further action.

and

I



J

I BACKGROUND

The Applicant has a history of chronic plantar fasciitis. She initially received

physiotherapy for the pain in her feet from 2010 to 2012 but this did not provide any

relief.

ln20l2, the Applicant's pedorthist referred her to Dearborn Health and Wellness Centre

(the "Clinic") for treatment for her persistent plantar foot pain.

On October 22,2072,the Applicant attended at the Clinic and was examined and

assessed by the Respondent, a chiropractor. The Respondent recommended a treatment

plan that included shockwave therapy and Active Release Technique (ART) for a period

of 18-24 months, which the Respondent advised the Applicant was the length of time

healing often took.

The Applicant attended at the Clinic for weekly treatment with the Respondent from

October 22,2012 to February 24,2014.

After a break in treatment, the Applicant returned to the Clinic for weekly appointments

from April 7 to June 6,2014. During this second period of treatment, the Respondent also

treated the Applicant's vertigo and dizziness.

The Applicant received treatment from other health care professionals, including other

practitioners at the Clinic (another chiropractor, a massage therapist and a

physiotherapist) and also at other clinics (her family doctor, a naturopathic doctor, a

sports medicine specialist, a urologist, a physiotherapist and a rheumatologisQ.

At a treatment session with the Respondent on June 6,2014, the Applicant felt unwell

The Respondent called an ambulance and the Applicant was taken to Grand River

Hospital (GRH).

20

The June 6,2014 appointment with the Respondent was the Applicant's last session at

the Clinic. The Respondent discharged the Applicant from the Clinic shortly thereafter.

The Applicant continued to suffer with problems with her health and in 2015 was unable

to work and starting receiving disability benefits. In December 2016, the Applicant's

employment was terminated.

4

5.

6.

7

8

9

10.

2

11



21

The Complaint and the Response

In a letter dated February 6,2018, the Applicant cornplained to the College about the

conduct and actions of the Respondent. In the leffer of complaint, the Applicant set out

the detailed background to her interactions and appointments with the Respondent and

provided extensive information regarding her health issues and treatment she has

received from other health care providers.

13. Within her complaint, the Applicant stated how she had asked the Respondent to write a

letter to her family doctor about the treatment she was receiving from him. The Applicant

complained that she had to follow-up with the Respondent to provide the letter and

recommended that:

a) all recognized healthcare providers should be required to provide regular written

updates, including treatment to date, effectiveness, prognosis/expectations; and

b) patients/clients should be required to sign-off on these reports so that effors can be

"caught and corrected."

In the letter of complaint, the Applicant set out why she felt the Respondent was neither

qualified nor adequately experienced to do his job and that the way he "treated" patients

disqualified him as a professional. Within her letter, the Applicant identified a number of

concerns including, but not limited to, the following:

t2.

14.

o the Respondent's "professional misconduct" in rnanaging her care, especially

or/after June 6, 2014, his abruptly cancelling the Applicant's appointments at the

Clinic and inappropriately advising her regarding her serious health concerns;

the Respondent's willful negligence by knowingly inappropriately treating the

Applicant and knowingly and wrongfully attributing her symptoms to anxiety in an

attempt to "distract from his incompetence";

the Respondent's overall competency, as the Applicant questioned the

Respondent's suitability and fitness in being able to execute the responsibilities of a

doctor of chiropractic and his competency specific to the Applicant's health

situation given his failure to acknowledge the seriousness of her overall health;

a

J



a

a

a

22
the Respondent's poor communication style, lack of a communication policy and

his use of his personal social media account for business purposes;

the Respondent's 'oatrocious" medical record keeping and lack of "valuable

progress tracking" and consistent reporting;

the Respondent's lack ofprofessionalism and breaches ofprivacy and

confidentiality, especially regarding communications with the Applicant's farnily

doctor and also the Respondent's sharing of information with family members and

friends and the posting of remarks on social media;

the Respondent's nepotism regarding referrals and the quality of care provided by

other individuals within the Clinic and the lack of diagnosis or resolution of her

health concerns; and

anything else that the College might feel is appropriate and warranting discipline

after reading the letter of complaint.

a

a

15.

16.

t7

After the last appointment with the Respondent on June 6, 20l4,the Applicant wrote to

the Respondent recounting troubles she was having with her family doctor's office. The

Applicant complained that the Respondent wrote back to her telling her to see the

physiotherapist at the Clinic but then subsequently cancelled that appointment and wrote

that he did not have the "skills and facilities" to have the Applicant back at the Clinic.

In subsequent correspondence, the Respondent gave the Applicant the name of a

sourNellur whurn he rccurrunended.

In her letter of complaint, the Applicant set out the difficulties she had encountered in her

work and the demanding and stressful nature of her job. The Applicant stated that things

in her life have'ogotten worse" and she blames the Respondent for a large part of the

unfortunate situation in which she finds herself. The Applicant stated of the Respondent:

I was not looking for anything but help with my health issues, and I find him
completely ignorant and self-centered for his erroneous assumptions, whatever they
were as he, obviously, didn't have my health and wellness in mind when treating me.

4



23
The Applicant described in her letter of complaint that she has been exposed to

harassment and she "can connect [the Respondent] and his family to the people who have

been involved." The Applicant stated that the Respondent had harassed her on social

rnedia and posted confidential material about her, following conversations with her

family doctor. The Applicant provided copies of the screenshots from the Respondent's

social media accounts and the posts that she alleged relate to her situation and were

inappropriate and full of "intimidation, innuendo and criticism."

lg. At the end of her letter of complaint, the Applicant requested the following

. an acknowledgement of her correspondence;

. an acknowledgement of the legitirnacy and gravity of the health concerns that fell

within the boundaries of the Respondent's "expected responsibilities as a Doctor of

Chiropractic";

o a formal reprimand levied against the Respondent and publicly documented;

o information regarding any "corrective action" that is taken;

o for the Respondent to address his "incorrect diagnosis" of the Applicant's health

situation addressed to the Applicant in writing; and

o an acknowledgement from the College with regard to the Respondent's lack of

communications policy and conflicting use of social media.

The Committee summarized the Applicant's complaint as having raised the following

issues with regard to the care provided by the Respondent:

r8

20.

a

a

a

a

a

dismissing (not listening) / poor communication / atrocious records

misdiagnosis / lack of skill / failure to refer

dismissing (abandonment);

breach of confidentialityiprivacy/cell phone use/social media; and

repercussions / sabotage

5



21.

24
In a letter of response, dated May 8, 2018, the Respondent set out the treatment that he

provided to the Applicant from the first appointment on October 22,2A12 to June 6,2014

when an ambulance was called and the Applicant was taken to hospital for assessment.

The Respondent included a copy of the Applicant's patient file with his leffer and

addressed the concerns raised by the Applicant in her complaint. The Respondent stated

that:

he disagreed with the Applicant's characterization of his management of her

care and said that he managed her condition responsibly, reasonably and

profcssionally and that thc paticnt rccords supportcd his clinical mcthodology;

he did not cancel the Applicant's appoinfinents with him or any other

healthcare provider nor abandon his responsibilities or act in a reckless,

irresponsible or negligent manner;

he rnanaged his communications in a responsible and professional manner

having regard to the circumstances and applicable standards;

the Applicant's challenge to his qualifications was misplaced. The Respondent

set out his qualifications and chiropractic experience since he became licensed

in Ontario in 2001;

the Applicant's care was primarily focused on musculo-skeletal treatment.

Complementary recolnmendations and adjunctive therapies are both recognized

as conventional extensions of traditional treatment and fall within the overall

ambit of chiropractic care. The call for an ambulance on June 6,2014, was in

"an abundance of prudence" to rule out the uncertainty of a more serious

cardiac or neurological event;

he denied the Applicant's mischaracterization of his communication exchanges

and stated that in his office he maintained a professional decorum and tone in

discussions. In the context of social media, the Respondent stated that it was a

more relaxed envirorunent and form of exchange but his communications did

not blur professional lines;

O

a

o

o

6



a

a

a

25
his record keeping met or exceeded the applicable standards of the profession

and his notes were neither atrocious nor mistaken as the Applicant suggested.

While the Applicant may disagree with the content of the notes, his

determinations were based on testing and investigation and are a matter of

clinical opinion and judgment;

he disagreed that there had been any breach of the Applicant's privacy or

confidentiality;

he denied having unauthorized contact with any doctors or therapists or having

communicated anything to anyone regarding the Applicant without her

authorization and at no time did he post restricted information regarding the

Applicant on social media.

no one, including family and friends, had unauthorized access to the

Applicant's information for use on social media;

the Clinic is comprised of five chiropractors, three physiotherapists, five

massage therapists, a kinesiologist and a pedorthist, all of whom are well

qualified and have a demonstrated track record of providing service of the

utmost caliber. When referrals are indicated, the collaborative environment

benefits patients by enhancing accessibility and delivery ofpatient care; and

any familial relationship with referred specialists is coincidental and not a

factor in determining the merit of a referral. Patients are not compelled to use

service providers at the Clinic and are always at liberty to seek care from

outside providers of their own choosing. There is nothing unprofessional in this

model of health care service.

a

a

22 In an ernail dated June 4,2018 and a letter dated June 31, 2018, the Applicant

commented upon the Respondent's letter of response to the complaint. In her comments,

the Applicant reiterated her concerns regarding the Respondent's care.

The Commiffee's Decision

23. The Committee investigated the complaint and decided to take no further action.

7



24.

IV.

25.

26
IIr. REQUEST FOR REVTEW

In a letter dated December 4,2018, the Applicant requested that the Board review the

Committee's decision.

POWERS OF THE BOARD

After conducting a review of a decision of the Committee, the Board may do one or more

of the following:

a) confirm all or part of the Committee's decision;

b) make recommendations to the Committee;

c) require the Committee to exercise any of its powers other than to request a

Registrar's investigation.

26 The Board carurot recommend or require the Committee to do things outside its

jurisdiction, such as make a finding of misconduct or incompetence against the member,

or require the referral of allegations to the Discipline Committee that would not, if
proved, constitute either professional misconduct or incompetence.

V. ANALYSIS AND REASONS

Pursuant to section 33(l) of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code), being

Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991,*rc mandate of the Board in a

complaint review is to consider either the adequacy of the Committee's investigation, the

reasonableness of its decision, or both.

The Respondent did not attend the Review. There is no legal obligation upon a party to

participate in a Review and the Board draws no inference from the Respondent's decision

not to attend.

29 In her request for review, the Applicant stated that the Respondent had lied in his

response to her complaint and that she was deeply concerned that the Committee was not

able to find the Respondent at fault. The Applicant stated that she "quite emphatically

believed that [the Respondent] should be disciplined for his actions towards [her]."

27

28

8



30.

31.

32.

JJ

34.

35

27

In her letter of December 4,2018 requesting the review, the Applicant set out the

concerns that she had raised in her "very lengthy and very detailed" letter of complaint

and asked the Board to review the matter giving her an opporn:nity to highlight several

serious issues that she believed the Committee had overlooked or chosen to disregard.

In her letter, the Applicant told the Board that the Respondent put her at great risk when

he dismissed her as apatient in June 20l4.The Applicant stated that the medical notes

state that he did cancel the appointrnent made for her after June 6,2014 and he lied to the

Cornmittee in his letter of response. The Applicant told the Board that the Respondent

abandoned his care of her and the Cornmittee had been reckless in dismissing her

concerns.

The Applicant told the Board that she was seeking an appeal of the Committee's decision

because this was a case where there was 'oa great deal of dishonesty, breach of trust right

from the outset (e.g. abuse of client) or deliberate breach of a significant professional

value." The Applicant queried how the Committee measured "significant professional

value" and wrote that the statement by the Committee had led her to believe that the

Respondent's interests were being protected'

The Applicant wrote that the Respondent had lied and that the Committee should be able

to assess credibility despite its assertion that it was not their job to do so. In the

Applicant's view, a complaint of any kind always comes down to credibility.

The Applicant stated that the screen shots of the social media posts that she had sent to

the investigator were printed out in colour and were clear, not unclear as the Committee

had found in its decision.

In her oral submissions to the Board, the Applicant stated that she had nothing new to add

but that she wanted to reinforce her complaint and she repeated her assertion that the

treatment she received from the Respondent minimised her very serious health concerns.

9



28
36 Central to her submissions was the Applicant's concern that the Respondent had

discharged her without any referral to another health care provider. The Applicant told

the Board that, contrary to what the Committee said in its decision, she did not have a

network of people trying to help her. The Applicant reiterated that the Respondent had

deliberately abandoned his care of her and she felt alone and that there was no-one who

was trying to help her.

5t. The Applicant told the Board that in its decision the Committee's summary of her

complaint was "pleasing" but the decision itself had minimised the nature of her

complaint. The Applicant stated that her concerns were not serious like sexual assault or

other misconduct but they were serious to her and the Respondent's behaviour had

impacted her profoundly. The Applicant submitted that she had lost her job because of
the Respondent.

The Board has considered the Applicant's submissions, examined the Record of
Investigation (the Record), and reviewed the Committee's decision.

Adequacy of the Investigation

An adequate investigation does not need to be exhaustive. Rather, the Committee must

seek to obtain the essential information relevant to making an informed decision

regarding the issues raised in the complaint.

40. In the course of its investigation, the Committee obtained the following documents:

the Applicant's letter of complaint together with the enclosures that

included the letter referring the Applicant to the Clinic, a list of
appointments at the Clinic and at the Vestibular & Orthopaedic

Rehabilitation Clinic (VOR), sample copies of the Applicant's symptom

logs (spreadsheets) provided to the Respondent, email correspondence

between the parties during the periods of treatment, screen shots from the

Respondent's social media account and invoicing from the Clinic;

the Applicant's patient chart from the Respondent (provided by the

Applicant);

38.

39

o

10



29
a the Respondent's letter of response to the complaint together with

enclosures, including the Applicant's patient chart (provided by the

Respondent);

the Applicant's comments on the Respondent's letter of response to the

complaint;

subsequent correspondence tolfrom the parties during the course of the

investigation;

the College's Standard of Practice S-||9-Conflict of Interest in

C om mer c ial V entur e s ; and

the College's Guideline G-012-Use of Social Media;

a

o

a

a

41.

42

43

The Board notes that the Applicant's complaint encompasses the care provided by the

Respondent during the course of her treatment, his conduct outside the Clinic, including

his use of social media, and the Applicant's concems regarding the impact of the

Respondent's care on the termination of her employment.

The Board has reviewed the Record and notes that it includes the letter refening the

Applicant to the Clinic and her history of foot pain, the records relating to the assessment

and treatment provided by the Respondent, the communications between the parties

during and after the periods oftreafinent and correspondence from other health care

providers who assessed the Applicant. The Record also includes screen shots from the

Respondent's social media account, which were sent to the College by the Applicant and

formed part of her concerns.

The Applicant's records from the Clinic include the Respondent's notes from the

treafinent undergone by the Applicant and records of phone calls and covered the period

in June 2014 when the treatment ended and the context for the termination of the

Respondent's discharge from the Clinic.

t1



30
44 The Board notes the Applicant's submission that the Respondent had not been truthful

and the view she expressed that"a complaint of any kind always comes down to

credibility". When considering the Applicant's complaint, the Cornmittee is charged with

performing a screening function to determine whether the Applicant's specified

allegations of professional misconduct warrant referral to the Discipline Committee. In

the course of investigating the complaint, the Committee's review is primarily paper-

based and the Committee is limited in its ability to make determinations of credibility or

to decide which version of events is to be preferred, in cases where parties have differing

recollections.

45 The Board therefore finds that the Committee's role when investigating the Applicant's

concerns in this case did not include making a determination of either party's credibility

when they gave differing versions of events. The Board finds that the Committee

gathered the essential information for it to make an informed decision regarding the

Applicant's concerns raised in her complaint and to decide whether the complaint

warranted referral to the Discipline Committee.

There is no indication of additional information that, had it been before the Committee,

might reasonably be expected to have affected its decision.

47. Accordingly, the Board finds the Committee's investigation was adequate.

Reasonableness of the Decision

In considering the reasonableness of the Committee's decision, the question for the Board

is not whether it would arrive at the same decision as the Committee, but whether the

Committee's decision can reasonably be supported by the infonnation before it and can

withstand a somewhat probing examination. In doing so, the Board considers whether the

decision falls within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes that are defensible in

respect of the facts and the law.

49 As set out above, the concerns raised by the Applicant in her letter of complaint

encompassed many broad areas of the Respondent's practice. The Applicant reiterated

her concems in her letter to the Board requesting a review of the Committee's decision

and in her oral submissions. In its decision, the Committee summarized the Applicant's

concerns into the categories as set out above.

46.

48

t2



50

31

The Board has considered the extensive material submitted by the Applicant in her letter

of cornplaint to the College and her submissions at the Review and finds that the

Committee's summary of her concerns is reasonable. The Board finds that the summary

of concerns includes all the issues raised by the Applicant regarding the Respondent's

care when she was receiving treatment and her concerns regarding feeling abandoned

when she was discharged from the Clinic.

5l

52.

Dismissing (not listening) / poor communication / atrocious records

In its decision, the Committee found that the Respondent's records were thorough and

though many of the progress notes in the Applicant's chart were brief sunmaries of her

subjective condition on a particular day,they were sufficient. The Committee noted that

chiropractors are expected to exercise professional judgment about which information

was relevant.

The Board acknowledges the Applicant's concerns regarding the Respondent's poor

communications, that she felt he was dismissive, that he did not listen to her and that he

kept atrocious records. The Board has reviewed the Applicant's narrative around these

concerns and notes that on many occasions the Applicant provided information both

orally and in writing that she felt was relevant to her health and her ongoing care. In

addition, the Board notes that the Applicant was methodical in preparing a spreadsheet of

her symptoms and recording how her pain was affecting her daily activities.

53 As the Committee noted in its decision, the Applicant kept a daily log of her ongoing

health concerns that she provided to the Respondent. The log included notes regarding

her neck pain and the effect it had upon her head movements, her vertigo, the problem

identified by her optometrist relating to a "bundle of nerves" at the back of her neck, the

effect on her driving and her fear of losing her driver's licence, her worry that she was

not seeing lasting improvement in her feet, her fatigue and difficulty concentrating, the

pain in her right ankle, the concern regarding the Respondent's use of ART on her calves,

which was painful, areas of her body that were not healing after surgery and injury,

trouble the Applicant had swallowing, pneumonia, vision and hearing problems and other

matters that the Applicant felt were contributing to her problems.

t3



54.

55.

56

57

58

59.

32
The Board has reviewed the information in the Record, including extracts from the

Applicant's log, and notes that it is detailed and that the level of detail is not reflected in

the Applicant's patient chart and the progress notes made by the Respondent.

The Board finds that the Comrnittee's conclusion that the progress notes are brief

summaries of the Applicant's condition on a particular day is supported by the

information in the Record. In the Board's view, it was reasonable for the Committee to

find that the Respondent had exercised his professional judgment to decide what

information was relevant when making his notes.

In addition, the Board finds that the progress notes made during a consultation are, as the

Committee noted, a summary of how a patient presents on a particular day. The

Applicant's daily log of her symptoms, while helpful in informing the Respondent of the

irnpact of her health concems on her activities, could not form part of the Respondent's

observation and assessment of the Applicant during visits to the Clinic.

The Board notes that the Committee included in its decision a response to the Applicant's

question about "oversight of patient files" for chiropractors. The Committee stated that as

part of the College's ongoing Quality Assurance program all rnembers of the College are

peer reviewed and this peer review included record keeping.

In addition, the Board finds that it was reasonable for the Committee to conclude that

some of the infonnation recorded by the Applicant in the log was not related directly to

her chiropractic care but contributed to the Respondent's referrals and suggestions

regarding other health care providers. In its decision, the Committee found that these

referrals suggested that the Respondent was listening to the Applicant and trying to find

help for her.

The Board has reviewed the Applicant's patient chart and notes that it includes reports

from other health care providers at the Clinic and reports from investigations ordered by

the Respondent. The Board finds that the Committee's conclusions regarding the

Respondent trying to find help for the Applicant are therefore supported by the

information in the Record and are reasonable.

t4



60

6l

62.

63

33
From the Board's review of the patient chart and the letter of complaint, it appears that

the physician-patient relationship deteriorated following email correspondence between

the parties from May 2014. Around this time, the Applicant states that she expressed her

own frustration with her family life in an email to the Respondent and intended to convey

to him that she "had a challenging life" and that she wanted to have her health problems

sorted. The Applicant appears to have been displeased with the response that she received

from the Respondent and his lack of appreciation for the challenges she was facing.

Thereafter, it appears to the Board that there were difficulties in the parties'

communications.

In its decision, the Committee noted that communication affects many areas of practice

and are subjective, such that it would be difficult lor the Committee to assess. The Board

finds that this is a reasonable conclusion for the Committee to reach regarding this aspect

of the Applicant's complaint.

The Board notes that the Applicant entered into extensive email correspondence with the

Respondent and included information about health concems that were within the practice

of chiropractic care and information that was unrelated, sometimes relating to her private

life. Many of the Applicant's complaints about the Respondent's communication were

her interpretation of his responses to her emails, which are subjective. The Board

therefore finds it was reasonable for the Committee to consider the Respondent's

communication as a professional and the records he kept and information the Applicant

shared as the basis for his referrals to other health care providers.

The Board finds that the Committee's decision to take no further action on the

Applicant's complaint that the Respondent did not listen, communicated poorly and kept

atrocious records is therefore reasonable and based upon the information in the Record.

Misdiagnosis / Lack of Skill / Failure to Refer

In her complaint, the Applicant raised concerns regarding the Respondent's misdiagnosis,

lack of skill and his failure to refer her for treatment. In her submissions to the Board, the

Applicant stated that she could not understand how the Committee had overlooked the

issues she had raised regarding the Respondent's incompetence and deliberate

negligence.

64

15



34
65

66.

67

68

69

In its decision, the Committee noted that the Applicant was concerned that at a visit to the

physiotherapist at VOR, her neck was jerked and this was a significant event in her

medical history that the Respondent failed to recognize or respond to appropriately. The

Committee found that the Respondent did recognize something was wrong and he

responded.

The Board notes that in his response to the complaint, the Respondent states that in April

2014 when the Applicant relayed concerns related to dizziness or vertigo, for which she

had consulted others, he investigated the matter and decided on a cervicogenic

contribution which ART might alleviate. The Respondent then gave the Applicant a

number of ART treatments, which he noted had mixed results.

The Board notes that the Applicant also referred in her complaint to the Respondent

adjusting the crystals in her ears to treat her vertigo and the Record includes a report from

a neurologist from February 2017 diagnosing the Applicant's cervical radiculopathy,

which the Applicant included with her complaint.

In its decision, the Committee opined that the neurologist's opinion was consistent with

the treatment that the Respondent provided when the Applicant expressed concern

regarding vertigo and dizziness. The Committee concluded that the Respondent's

professional opinion regarding the Applicant's inner ear problem was reasonable based

upon the information before it.

Regarding the complaint that the Respondent failed to refer the Applicant, the Board has

noted above that the information provided to the Respondent in the Applicant's daily logs

of her symptoms led the Respondent to make referrals. The Applicant has expressed

concern that the Respondent had a conflict of interest where the referrals were to other

health care professionals at the Clinic. The Committee noted that the Applicant stated that

she received good care from other providers and opined that her health is complex and it

was in her best interest to have input from other professionals.

The Board has not found any information to support the suggestion that the Respondent

acted out of any interest other than assisting the Applicant with her health problems. The

Board notes that the Committee had before it the College Standard S-019: Conflict of
Interest in Commercial Ventures when considering the Applicant's concern.

70

l6



72

35

7t The Board finds that the Comrnittee's decision to take no further action on this aspect of

the Applicant's complaint is reasonable. The information in the Record supports the

Committee's finding that the Respondent acknowledged the Applicant's concem and

responded to it.

D is m is s in g (abandonment)

In its decision, the Committee noted that the parties' doctor-patient relationship ended in

Iune2}l4,following the Applicant's last appointment on June 6,20l4,when she

reported feeling unwell and the Respondent called an ambulance. Shortly thereafter, the

Respondent emailed the Applicant and advised her that he did not have the skills and

facilities to have the Applicant back at the Clinic.

The Applicant stated in her cornplaint that the Respondent's manner, tone and words

were "reckless and irresponsible" and it was negligent on his part and "humiliating and

degrading." In her submissions to the Board, the Applicant said that contrary to the

Committee's finding, she did not have a network of people trying to help her and she felt

that the Respondent had deliberately abandoned his care of her leaving her feeling alone

and without any help.

In its decision, the Committee stated that chiropractors are not required to seek the

permission from the College or from a patient's family physician before terminating the

doctor-patient relationship, nor are they required to inform the College that this has

happened. The Committee recognizedthe Applicant's statement in her complaint that she

felt that the "rug had been pulled from under her" when the Respondent decided he could

no longer have her as a patient.

t5

74.

75 The Committee found that the treatment the Respondent had provided the Applicant,

while it had been reasonable and somewhat beneficial, was not yielding the desired

results and that the Applicant, objectively, had a network of people who were trying to

help her.

The Board has reviewed the Record and notes that following the tennination of her care

at the Clinic, the Applicant continued to receive care frorn her family physician and other

health care professionals. For example, the Board notes the report from the neurologist in

2017 andthe diagnosis of cervical radiculopathy.

76

t7



77

78.

36
The Board finds the Committee's conclusion that the Applicant had a network of people

trying to help her is based upon the information in the Record and that it led the

Committee to conclude that the Respondent's termination of the doctor-patient

relationship, as he was entitled to do, was reasonable.

The Committee noted that the relationship between the parties was deteriorating and,

while the Applicant felt that she had been abandoned, the Committee found that,

objectively, this was not the case. The Board notes that in the Applicant's recount of
ernails exchanged during May and June2014, she describes her frustrations in her

personal life and her dissatisfaction at the Respondent's response leading her to book an

appointment with another chiropractor. In the Board's view, the Committee's findings are

supported by the information in the Record.

Breach of Confidentiality / Privacy / Cellphone Use / Social Media

The Committee decided to take no further action in regard to this aspect of the

Applicant's complaint. The concems regarding a patient "across the hall' listening to the

Applicant talking to the Respondent during appointments are noted by the Committee,

which stated that chiropractors should be cognizant of patient confidentiality and privacy

and having a private space available is reassuring for patients. The Board finds that in its

decision the Committee acknowledged the Applicant's concern and set out the standard

that is expected of the profession to maintain confidentiality and privacy, at the same

time recognizingthat offices can be busy spaces.

The Board finds this aspect of the decision is reasonable and supported by the

information in the Record.

8l Regarding the Respondent's use of the Applicant's personal information and posting of
remarks on social media, the Committee decided to take no further action on the concerns

raised by the Applicant but set out in its decision the relevant standard of practice from

the College Guideline G-012: Use of Social Media.

t9

80

l8



37
82.

83

84.

The Applicant provided screen shots from the Respondent's social media account and

referred to postings on his Twitter feed and said:

On its own, you would wonder what he was talking about; you would think this post

is benign. In context with my involvement with him and his family and friend - - or
rather their involvement with me because I do not know these people at all, yet they

have mucked-up my life something horrible - - it is anything but benign.

The Board finds that the information in the Record does not support the concern

expressed by the Applicant that the Respondent has shared her personal information on

social media.

The Board has reviewed the screen shots of social media posts and notes that most of

thelr post-date the Applicant's last appointment with the Respondent by nearly two years

and many of the posts are by individuals other than the Respondent. The Board can find

no reference to the Applicant in the posts and, as the Applicant stated, they are open to

interpretation.

llhe Board finds that the Cornmittee's decision to take no further action on this aspect of

the Applicant's complaint is reasonable and based upon the information in the Record.

Repercussions / Sabotage

In her complaint, the Applicant expresses concern that by expressing his opinion that the

Applicant was experiencing "anxiety" when she went to hospital on June 6,2Al4,the

Respondent sabotaged her relationships with a number of health care professions "to

distract from his incompetence." The Applicant expressed concern that the Respondent

was directly responsible for her benefits being cancelled and her job being terminated in

December 2016.

87 As set out above, the Committee found that there was no basis for the suggestion by the

Applicant that the Respondent lacked skill or competency in his provision of chiropractic

care. In light of its finding that the Respondent provided adequate care and treatment to

the Applicant, the Committee went on to state that there was no information that the

Respondent actively intervened to ruin any of the Applicant's other doctor-patient

relationships.

85

86

t9



88

89

90

38
The Board has reviewed the information in the Record and notes that while the

Respondent called an ambulance for the Applicant, with her consent, on June 6,2014,

there is no information to support the concern that the Respondent provided an opinion to

the hospital regarding the Applicant's health. There is no information in the Record

regarding the management of the Applicant's care following her discharge from the

Clinic.

The Board finds that the information in the Record supports the Committee's decision to

take no further action on the Applicant's concern that the Respondent sabotaged her

ongoing health care.

Accordingly, the Board finds that the Committee's investigation was adequate and its

decision to take no further action is reasonable and supported by the information in the

Record.

VI. DECISION

9t Pursuant to section 35(1) of the Code,the Board confirms the decision of the Committee

to take no further action.

ISSUED December 16, 2019

Ball

Dault

P Bates

20



39
trEM 1.3.2

File # 18-CRV-0783

HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARI)

PRESENT:

James Beamish, Designated Vice-Chair, Presiding

Maria Capulong, Board Member
Brenda Petryna, Board Member

Review held on June 12, 2019 in Ontario (by teleconference)

rN THE MATTER OF A COMPLAINT REVIEW UNDER SECTION 29(1) of the Health

Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2tothe Regulated Health Professions Act,1991, Statutes

of Ontario, 1991, c.18, as amended

BETWEEN:

RYAN ARMSTRONG
Applicant

KRESIMIR JUG, DC
Respondent

Appearances

and

The Applicant:
The Respondent:
For the Respondent:
For the College of Chiropractors of Ontario:

Ryan Armstrong
Kresimir Jug, DC
HenryNgan, Counsel
Tina Perryrman

DECISION AI\D REASONS

I. DECISION

It is the decision of the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board to confirm the

decision of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontario to take no further action.

I



2

40
This decision arises from a request made to the Health Professions Appeal and Review

Board (the Board) by Ryan Armstrong (the Applicant) to review a decision of the

Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (the Committee) of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontario (the College). The decision concerned a complaint regarding the

conduct and actions of Kresimir Jug, DC (the Respondent). The Committee investigated

the complaint and decided to take no further action.

II. BACKGROUNI)

The Respondent, a chiropractor who practices in London, Ontario, maintains a clinical

website in which he provides information regarding his practice and the benefits of
chiropractic.

Thc Complaint and thc Rcsponsc

4. The Applicant complained that:

the Respondent makes claims on his clinical website regarding conditions

that are outside the purview of chiropractic, including allergies, digestive

issues and the treatment of autoimmune;

the Respondent performs diagnostic techniques that are invalid and not

supportcd by crcdiblc cvidcncc including thc usc of an ear thcrmomctcr to

diagnose a condition (vertebral subluxation) that does not exist;

the Respondent cites studies in his video description that are not relevant

to the practice employed and that are misleading to the public; and

the Respondent disseminates misleading information regarding

vaccinations; he does not understand basic immunology and misleads his

audience on important matters of public health.

J

o

o

a

2



41
5. The Respondent responded to the complaint as follows

He has revised his website so that it no longer lists 17 conditions that are

outside the purview of chiropractic and changed the wording of his

disclaimer.

In his video, he was attempting to explain thermography, a procedure

within the scope his practice; he made no claims about the diagnosis or

treatment of subluxation; he acknowledged that he inadvertently mis-cited

one of the studies referenced in his video.

Regarding vaccination, he stated that he was speaking from a personal

perspective and was not offering clinical advice or commenting on the

effectiveness of vaccines.

Regarding the complaint that the Respondent made claims that are outside

the purview of the practice of chiropractic, the Committee noted that the

Respondent did not guarantee the results advertised but merely noted that

these are benefits that were reported by patients. The Committee further

noted that the Respondent had revised his website to remove any reference

to specific treatment benefits and added a more specific disclaimer that the

Committee found to be reasonable.

Regarding the complaint that the Respondent performed invalid diagnostic

techniques, the Committee noted that thermogr:aphy is a test commonly

used by chiropractors.

Regarding the complaint that the Respondent purports to diagnose and

treat acondition that does not exist (subluxation), the professional

O

o

a

The Committee's Decision

6. The Committee investigated the complaint and decided to take no further actron.

7. In reaching its decision, the committee made the following findings:

o

a

J



o

42
members of the Committee opined that the concept that subluxations may

contribute to visceral disorders is "biologically plausible but as yet

unconfirmed."

Regarding the complaint that the Respondent disseminated misleading

information about vaccinations, the Committee noted that the Respondent

stated that he advises patients that he did not comment on the effectiveness

of vaccines and that immunology is outside the scope of his chiropractic

practice. The Committee further noted that the Respondent had deleted the

videos in question and found that the Respondent's approach was

generally consistent with the College policy regarding general health-

related questions.

8

9

ilr. REQUEST F',OR REVTEW

In an email dated November 30, 2018, the Applicant requested that the Board review the

Committee's decision.

IV. POWERS OF THE BOARD

After conducting a review of a decision of the Committee, the Board may do one or more

of the following:

a) confirm all or part of the Committee's decision;

b) make recommendations to the Committee;

c) require the Committee to exercise any of its powers other than to request a

Registrar's investigation.

10. The Board cannot recommend or require the Committee to do things outside its

jurisdiction, such as make a finding of misconduct or incompetence against the member,

or require the referral of allegations to the Discipline Committee that would not, if
proved, constitute either professional misconduct or incompetence.

4



43
V. ANALYSIS AND REASONS

11. Pursuant to section 33(1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code),being

Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 199l,the mandate of the Board in a

complaint review is to consider either the adequacy of the Committee's investigation, the

reasonableness of its decision, or both.

T2 The Board has considered the submissions of the parties, examined the Record of

Investigation (the Record), and reviewed the Committee's decision.

Adequacy of the Investigation

l3 An adequate investigation does not need to be exhaustive. Rather, the Committee must

seek to obtain the essential information relevant to making an informed decision

regarding the issues raised in the complaint.

14. The Committee obtained the following information and documents:

the Applicant's letter of complaint;

the Respondent's letter of response; and

the College Standards of Practice regarding Chiropractic Scope of Practice

and Record Keeping and the College Guideline regarding the Use of Social

Media.

15. Neither party took issue with the adequacy of the investigation.

16. The Board finds that the information and documents listed in paragraph 14 above contain

the essential information relevant to making an informed decision regarding the issues

raised in the complaint. There is no indication of any further relevant information that the

Committee could have obtained and that might reasonably be expected to have affected

its decision.

a

a

o

5



44

18.

17. Accordingly, the Board finds the Committee's investigation to be adequate.

Reasonableness of the Decision

In considering the reasonableness of the Committee's decision, the question for the Board

is not whether it would arrive at the same decision as the Committee, but whether the

Committee's decision can reasonably be supported by the information before it and can

withstand a somewhat probing examination. In doing so, the Board considers whether the

decision falls within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes that are defensible in

respect of the facts and the law.

t9 The Applicant made the following submissions regarding the reasonableness of the

decision to take no further action:

There is no clinical evidence to support the claims that chiropractic can

assist any of the conditions listed on the Respondent's website nor is there

any evidence to establish that any of the reported benefits were due to

chiropractic treatment;

There is no clinical evidence to support the use of thermography as a

diagnostic tool or therapy; and

The Respondent's disclaimer and changes to his website were not

sufficient to overcome the misstatements on his website.

20 Counsel for the Respondent submitted that the Committee reached a reasonable decision

regarding all aspects of the Applicant's complaint. He noted that the Respondent took the

complaint seriously and took the time to provide a detailed response and to change his

website. He submitted that it was inappropriate for the Board to deal with the issue of the

science behind chiropractic.

a

a

a

6



45
2l

22

23

24.

25

The Board finds that the Committee's decision to take no further action falls within a

range of possible, acceptable outcomes and is reasonable.

The Board notes that where the Committee finds that a referral to the Discipline

Committee is not warranted, as was the case in these circumstances, the Committee's role

is educational and remedial to assist the Respondent to improve his practice and to

protect the public.

Regarding the Applicant's concerns about the conditions listed on the Respondent's

website, the Board notes that the Respondent described the listed conditions as

"secondary problems" that can only be helped by chiropractic if they are caused by a core

problem with the patient's spine. The Board further notes that the Respondent changed

his website to delete the information in question after receiving the complaint. The Board

finds that it was reasonable for the Committee to take no further action on this aspect of

the complaint.

Regarding the concerns that the Respondent was performing a diagnostic test

(thermography) that has no proven clinical value for a condition (subluxation) that does

not exist, it is not the role of the Board to assess the science (or lack thereof). From the

information available to the Board it appears that thermography is listed in the tests

commonly used by chiropractors and that subluxations are an unconfirmed but plausible

condition that is commonly used for treatment by chiropractors.

These concerns go to the very essence of the practice of chiropractic which is a regulated

health profession recognized under the Chiropractic Act, 1991. Sections 3 and 4 of that

statute describe the scope of practice of chiropractic and the authorized acts that may be

performed by members. It is beyond the role of the Board to determine whether any

particular test or condition that appears to be generally accepted by the profession is

invalid or non-existent.

7



46

26.

27.

The Board therefore finds that the Committee's decision to take no further action

regarding these aspects of the complaint is reasonable.

Regarding the concern that the Respondent was providing misleading information about

vaccinations, the Committee found that the Respondent's approach was consistent with

the College policy regarding controlled acts outside the scope of practice of

chiropractors. The Board finds this to be reasonable along with the Committee's decision

to take no further action.

VI. DECISION

Pursuant to section 35(1) of the Code, the Board confirms the Committee's decision to

take no further action.

ISSUED December 17, 2019

James Beamish

Maria Capulong

28.

fur*Q4, UP**-
Brenda Petryna

8



Health Professions
Appeal and Review
Board

La Commission
d'appel et de r6vision
des professions de la sant6

ITEM 1-3.3 Ontario

CONFIDENTIALIn reply please quote: File # 18-CRV-0784

December 18,2019

Dr. Ryan Armstrong

Dr. Brian Nantais, D.C.

47

Applicant Complainant

Respondent

Dear Dr. Armstrong and Dr. Nantais

Rr: ConnpurNTREVrEw-CurRopnl'crrc
RvlN Anusrnonc AND Bnrlx Nlxrars. D.C.

Enclosed herewith is a true copy of the Decision and Reasons of the Health Professions Appeal

and Review Board in the above-noted matter.

While your file is now closed, please note that parties to Complaint Reviews of the Health
professions Appeal and Review Board have the right to request a judicial review of the Board's

decision. You may wish to consider obtaining legal advice to determine what options are

available to you. To request a judicial review contact the Divisional Court at 416-327 -5100.

Yours sincerely,
HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARI)

Kemar Miller for Maureen Baker

Case Officer

Encl: Decision dated December 18, 20i9

cc: College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCOPRA File # NANTAIS-I8-MY-01)

151 Bloor Street West, 9ft Floor
Toronto, Ontario M5S I 54

TeUTEl| 416-327-8512
Toll free/Sans frais 1 -866-282-2179

TTY/ATS 4l 6-326-7TTY(889)
TTY Toll free/ATS sans frais 1-877-301-0TTY(889)

Facsimile/T6l€copieur 41 6 -327 -8524

151 , rue Bloor ouest, 9e etage

Toronto, Ontario M5S 154

RECEIVED
[}He ? I eo?g

r.'illR0ffrAClOf;$OFCOITJOE

tr ffiTAruO



48
File # 18-CRV-0784

HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARI)

PRESENT

James Beamish, Designated Vice-Chair, Presiding
Maria Capulong, Board Member
Brenda Petryna, Board Member

Review held on June 14, 2019 inontario (by teleconference)

rN THE MATTER OF A COMPLAINT REVIEW tiNDER SECTION 29(1) of the Health
professions Procedural Code,Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act,1991, Statutes

of Ontario, 1991, c.18, as amended

BETWEEN:

RYAI\ ARMSTRONG
Applicant

BRIAN NANTAIS, DC
Respondent

Appearances

and

The Applicant:
The Respondent:
For the College of Chiropractors of Ontario:

Ryan Armstrong
Brian Nantais, DC
Tina Perryman

I

DECISION Ai\D REASONS

I. DECISION

It is the decision of the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board to confirm the

decision of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontario to advise Dr. Nantais to adhere to the following:

o Standard ofPractice S-001: Scope ofPractice

o Standard of Practice 5-016: Advertising



2

49
o Guideline G-012: Use of Social Media

o Guideline G-016: Advertising

This decision arises from a request made to the Health Professions Appeal and Review

Board (the Board) by Ryan Armstrong (the Applicant) to review a decision of the

Inquiries, complaints and Reports committee (the committee) of the college of
Chiropractors of Ontario (the College). The decision concerned a complaint regarding the

conduct and actions of Brian Nantais, DC (the Respondent) The Committee investigated

the complaint and decided provide advice to the Respondent as noted above.

il. BACKGROUND

The Respondent is a chiropractor practicing in windsor, ontario. The Respondent

maintains a practice website on which various claims and representations were made

including advertisements for workshops on cancer prevention and other health related

issues.

The Complaint and the Response

The Applicant complained that the Respondent was practicing outside the scope of the

practice of chiropractic and/or misleading the public on matters of health in that:

-t

4.

a

a

The Respondent stated on his website "we employ a highly specialized

chiropractic technique as a means to address not just pain, but disease and

organ disfunction", that could be interpreted to mean that he gives advice

concerning medication.

The Respondent advertised for a "Cancer and Detox Workshop" in which

claims were made that interference or blockage of the nervous system flow

weakens the body and the immune system and that his chiropractic

technique can strengthen the immune system and heip to fight cancer.

2



50
5. The Respondent responded to the complaint as follows:

He explained that his workshops are focused on teaching lifestyle

modifications, including modifications that can, along with chiropractic,

promote health.

He agreed to change the reference to "highly specialized chiropractic

technique" to either o'has a special interest in" or "uses a special corrective

chiropractic technique called Chiropractic Biophysics".

Regarding the statement that chiropractic can strengthen the immune

system, the Respondent cited a study that indicated that patients who were

under chiropractic care had a200% greater immune competence than those

who had not received chiropractic care; the Respondent also agreed to

change his website to indicate that interference or blockage of the nervous

system may weaken the immune system.

He stated that he does not give advice regarding pharmaceuticals but

allows patients to make their own decisions after consultation with their

physician or pharmacist.

He did not agree that organ disfunction is not within the scope of

chiropractic and cited two studies on the issue.

a

a

a

o

a

6. The Applicant responded to the Respondent's response as follows:

o The studies cited by the Respondent in support of the proposition that

chiropractic can help organ disfunction are of dubious provenance and

value.

Two recent studies by chiropractic researchers concluded that there is no

evidence that chiropractic prevents human disease.

There is no benefit to immunocompetence greater than the normal level.

There is no valid scientific evidence that chiropractic can boost the levels

of antioxidants as claimed by the Respondent.

o

a

a

J



7

The Committee's Decision

The Committee investigated the complaint and decided to provide advice to the

Respondent as noted above.

8. In reaching it decision, the Committee made the following findings

51

Regarding the Respondent's advertising of a "highly specialized

chiropractic technique", the Committee noted that the Respondent was not

a specialist but also noted his willingness to change his advertising to read

"uses a spinal corrective technique called Chiropractic Biophysics".

Regarding the Respondent's claims that chiropractic is a means to address

disease, the Committee noted that many conditions have multiple

contributing causes, not all of which are understood and found that it

would be appropriate for the Respondent to change his website to indicate

that subluxations may weaken the body and the immune system.

Rcgarding the Respondent's claims about cancer prevention, the

Committee noted that much of the information in question could relate to

matters in the public domain however careful phrasing is important so as

not to raise the hopes ofvulnerable readers.

Regarding the concerns about the Respondent's scope of practice, the

Committee had reference to the applicable College Standard which

provides that chiropractors should advise patients that for matters that are

outside the scope ofchiropractic practice, patients should consult an

appropriate health professional; the Committee stated that chiropractors

who advertise or participate in workshops should include a disclaimer

about the limits of their advice.

The Committee reviewed the Respondent's prior history and took all prior

decisions into account in deciding to provide advice to the Respondent.

a

o

a

o

4



9

52

ur. REQUEST FOR REVIEW

ln a letter dated November 29,2018, the Applicant requested that the Board review the

Committee's decision.

IV. POWERS OF THE BOARI)

After conducting a review of a decision of the Committee, the Board may do one or more

of the following:

10.

a) confirm all or part of the Committee's decision;

b) make recommendations to the Committee;

c) require the Committee to exercise any of its powers other than to request a

Registrar' s investigation.

ll The Board cannot recommend or require the Committee to do things outside its

jurisdiction, such as make a finding of misconduct or incompetence against the member,

or require the referral of allegations to the Discipline Committee that would not, if
proved, constitute either professional misconduct or incompetence'

V. ANALYSIS AND REASONS

t2 Pursuant to section 33(1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code), being

Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, I 99 I , the mandate of the Board in a

complaint review is to consider either the adequacy of the Committee's investigation, the

reasonableness of its decision, or both.

13. The Board has considered the written and oral submissions of the Applicant, examined

the Record of Investigation (the Record), and reviewed the Committee's decision.

5



53
T4, The Respondent affended the Review but did not provide submissions or otherwise

participate in the Review. There is no statutory obligation on parties to participate in a

review and the Board draws no inference from the Respondent's non-participation.

Adequacy of the Investigation

l5 An adequate investigation does not need to be exhaustive. Rather, the Committee must

seek to obtain the essential information relevant to making an informed decision

regarding the issues raised in the complaint.

16. The Committee obtained the following information and documents

the Applicant's leffer of complaint and further communications with the

Committee;

the Respondent's letters of response and further communications with the

Committee;

the College Standards of Practice S-001 and S-016, College Guidelines G-

012 and C-016 and College lolicy P-029; and

the Respondent's complaint history with the College.

17. The Applicant did not take issue with the adequacy of the investigation.

The Board finds the information and documents listed in paragraph 16 above include the

essential information relevant to making an informed decision regarding the issues raised

in the complaint. There is no indication of any further relevant information or documents

that the Committee could have obtained and that might reasonably be expected to have

affected its decision.

19. Accordingly, the Board finds the Committee's investigation to be adequate.

a

a

o

a

l8

6



54

20

Reasonableness of the Decision

In considering the reasonableness of the Committee's decision, the question for the Board

is not whether it would arrive at the same decision as the Committee, but whether the

Committee's decision can reasonably be supported by the information before it and can

withstand a somewhat probing examination. In doing so, the Board considers whether the

decision falls within arange of possible, acceptable outcomes that are defensible in

respect of the facts and the law.

2t The Applicant made the following submissions regarding the reasonableness of the

Committee's decision:

o

a

a

There is no scientific or medical support for the notion that "subluxations"

are a legitimate condition or that they have any effect on bodily health;

In fact, a chiropractic study done in 2009 found no support for the theory

of subluxations;

In finding that the hypothesis regarding subluxations is "possible albeit

unconfirmed" the College and the Committee are not objective and are

supporting an unsupported therapy;

The Committee, by its decision, has given the Respondent a licence to lead

patients to believe that spinal massage can prevent cancer.

a

22.

23.

For the reasons that follow, the Board finds that the Committee's decision to provide

advice to the Respondent falls within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes and is

reasonable.

The Appellant's primary concern is with respect to the validity of the notion that

'osubluxations" are a legitimate condition or that they have any effect on bodily health.

The Appellant has referred the Committee and the Board to two recent studies in the

chiropractic literature that have concluded that there is no scientific support for the theory

of subluxations or that such a condition, if it exists, has any effect on bodily health.

7



24.

25

55

This concem goes to the very essence of the practice of chiropractic which is a regulated

health profession recognized under the Chiropractic Act, 1991. Sections 3 and 4 of that

statute describe the scope of practice of chiropractic and the authorized acts that may be

performed by members. It is beyond the role of the Board to determine whether any

particular condition that appears to be generally accepted by the profession is invalid or

non-existent. It is the College rather than the Board that is responsible to establish

standards of practice for its members. Although the Appellant has provided information

that casts considerable doubt on the theory of subluxations, the role of the Board is to

consider whether the Committee's findings as to whether the Respondent met the

applicable standards of practice was reasonable not whether the standards themselves are

reasonable.

The Board concludes that the Committee's findings regarding the Respondent's

advertising, including his website and his participation in workshops were reasonable and

its decision to offer him advice regarding his advertising, scope ofpractice and social

media was reasonable in light of the changes that the Respondent agreed to make to his

wcbsitc.

8



56

26.

VI. DECISION

Pursuant to section 35(1) of the Code, the Board confirms the Committee's decision to

advise the Respondent to adhere to the following:

o Standard ofPractice 5-001: Scope ofPractice

o Standard of Practice 5-016: Advertising

o Guideline G-012: Use of Social Media

o Guideline G-016: Advertising

ISSUED December 18, 2019

James Beamish

Maria Capulong

fue,,/A UU^*""-'
Brenda Petryna

9



Health Professions
Appeal and Review
Board

La Commission
d'appel et de r6vision
des professions de la sant6

trEM 1.3.4
In reply please quote: File # 18-CRV-0871 r-ONFIDENTIAL

January 10,2020
j.i, ji'1 sl S: X V ffit)

Mr. Jordan Himel
JAh{ t 3 ?$a$

e$&!,,$tlli $li i$ii1{}r'${'qt l'#&S

r3S'$SrfARlS

Dear Mr. Himel, Dr. Edwards -

Rr: Conrrr-arxT REvrEw - Curnopnactlc
Jonnax Hrnnnr. AND WILLIAM Eowa,nns.D.C.

Enclosed herewith is a true copy of the Decision and Reasons of the Health Professions Appeal

and Review Board in the above-noted matter.

While your file is now closed, please note that parties to Complaint Reviews of the Health
professions Appeal and Review Board have the right to request a judicial review of the Board's

decision. You may wish to consider obtaining legal advice to determine what options are

available to you. To request a judicial review contact the Divisional Court al4t6-327-5100.

Yours sincerely,
HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARI)

Maureen Baker
Case Officer

Encl: Decision dated January t0,2020

cc: College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCOPRA File # 18-AP-18(HIMEL))

Ontario 57

Dr. William Edwards, D.C

i

i.
it

v
ti
!l

Applicant Complainant

ResPondent

151 Bloor Street West, 9'h Floor
Toronto, Ontario M5S 154

Tel/T6l€ 416-327-8512

Toll free/Sans frais l-866'282-2179
TTY/ATS 41 6-326-7TTY(889)

TTY Toll free/ATS sans frais 1-877-301-0TTY(889)
Facsimiie/T6l6co piew 4 I 6-327 -8524

151, rue Bloor ouest, 9o 6tage

Toronto, Ontario M5S 1S4



58
File # l8-CRV-0871

HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARI)

PRESENT:

David Scrimshaw, Designated Vice-Chair, Presiding

Christine Moss, Chair
Yasmeen Siddiqui, Board Member

Review held on November 12,2019 in Ontario (by teleconference)

rN TrrE MATTER OF A COMPLAINT REVIEW UNDER SECTION 29(1) of the Health

Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act,1991, Statutes

of Ontario, 1991, c.18, as amended

BETWEEN:

JORDAN HIMEL
Applicant

WTLLIAM EDWARDS, DC
Respondent

Appearances:

and

The Applicant:
For the College of Chiropractors of Ontario:

Jordan Himel
Tina Perryman

DECISION AND REASONS

I. DECISION

The Health Professions Appeal and Review Board confirms the decision of the lnquiries,

Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario to remind

Dr. Edwards to adhere to Guideline G-001 : Communication with Patients and to maintain

professionalism at all times.



59
2 This decision arises from a request made to the Health Professions Appeal and Review

Board (the Board) by Jordan Himel (the Applicant) to review a decision of the Inquiries,

Complaints and Reports Committee (the Committee) of the College of Chiropractors of

Ontario (the College). The decision concerned a complaint regarding the conduct and

actions of William Edwards, DC (the Respondent). The Committee investigated the

complaint and decided to remind the Respondent as described above.

II. BACKGROUND

The Appiicant attended three appointments for treatment from the Respondent, a

chiropractor, in August 2017 . The first appointment took place on August 21,2017 . On

his patient intake form, the Applicant indicated that he suffers bipolar disorder and

depression. He sought treatment for lower back pain.

At the second appointment on August 23,2017, the Applicant questioned the Respondent

about the clinical evidence to support the treatment.

5. The third and final appointment took place on August 25,2017.

The Complaint and the Response

The Applicant complained about the Respondent in a detailed letter. The Committee

provided a five-page summary of the complaint to the Applicant and the Applicant

submitted revisions to the summary, which was included in the Committee's decision.

The Applicant complained that the Respondent committed acts of professional

misconduct at his third appointment on August 25,2017, which have had a physical and

psychological impact on him. Regarding the final appointment, the Applicant's complaint

included the following concerns:

The Respondent entered the treatment room and was distinctly unfriendly

to the Applicant.

a
J

4.

6.

2

o



60
a

a

The Respondent was aggressive to the point of causing pain with the

activator device.

The Respondent pressed the activator twice deep into the right side of the

Applicant's spine and twice applied hard pressure on the back of the

Applicant's right hipbone.

At the end of the treatment, the Respondent approached the Applicant with

a raised voice and said, "about our discussion the other day, ifyou have

any doubts about being here, don't come back." He then pointed his finger

close to the Applicant's face and said in anger, 'oyou remember what I

said."

After the appointment, the Applicant arrived at his mother's house and

noticed significant pain in both his lower back and his left leg. He

consulted another chiropractor and confirmed that the activator should

never be used aggressively, nor should it cause bruising as it had done in

this case.

The Applicant's mother called the clinic to request urgent care, the

receptionist advised the Applicant to rest his back and informed him that

the Respondent would no longer treat him as a patient following negative

reaction to treatment. The receptionist provided no referral to an

alternative healthcare provider.

Lategthe Applicant spoke to the receptionist who reiterated that

chiropractic care was not appropriate for the Applicant. The Applicant was

reimbursed for all payments made to the Respondent.

a

o

a

a

7 The Respondent responded to the complaint, describing his treatment of the Applicant

and responded to the Applicant's concerns that:

At the second appointment on August 23,2017, the Applicant began

asking questions about chiropractic in general and the Respondent

attempted to reasonably answer to the best of his ability. Not long after,

the Applicant's questions took on a different character and became

a

J



a

61

cynical, judgmental and disrespectful. The Respondent offered the

Applicant the option of discontinuing care or limiting his overt criticism,

as the Respondent felt it was serving to undermine the doctor-patient

relationship.

There was no material change in the volume or intensity of care at the

third appointment from the previous appointments.

The Respondent denied causing bruising or other injury.

His manner was courteous and professional throughout the August 25,

2017, appointment.

He denied shouting or pointing.

The Applicant was initially pleasant and cooperative. However, his mood

altered as the session progressed. When the Applicant resumed the

disrespectful discourse from the previous appointment, the Respondent

interjected and informed the Applicant that, in the circumstances, he could

no longer continue to provide care.

When the Applicant's mother contacted the office seeking a refund, the

office staff confirmed that they were discontinuing their involvement in

his care and a full refund was made as a gesture of goodwill.

a

a

a

a

a

8 Following a letter from the Committee asking for a copy of a discharge letter provided to

the Applicant, the Respondent replied: "No formal letter of discharge was issued as it was

[the Applicant] who elected to end his attendances."

The Committee's Decision

The Committee investigated the complaint and decided to remind the Respondent to

adhere to Guideline G-001 : Communicationwith Patients and to maintain

professionalism at all times.

The Committee reviewed the Applicant's records of health information and

communications from the Applieant's mother and found no documentation that the

9

4

10



11.

12

13.

62
Respondent purported to treat the Applicant's bipolar disorder or depression. The

professional members of the Committee observed that the traditional chiropractic

perspective is that the removal of vertebral subluxations allows the nervous system to

work without interference, which in turn allows the body to function as efficiently as

possible. The Committee stated that such care does not purport to treat bipolar disorder

itself, but rather, aims to maximize the patient's inherent potential for health. The

professional members opined that it would be appropriate for a chiropractor to provide

care as part of a multi-disciplinary approach, but not as a substitute for the patient's

primary care physician.

The Committee stated that it appeared that an impression had been allowed to form in the

minds of the Applicant and his mother that the Respondent would treat bipolar disorder in

the Applicant, and/or attention deficit disorder for the Applicant's son and anxiety for his

mother.

The Committee opined that the Applicant asking at his second appointment about the

placebo effect would not have been inherently disrespectful, but since the term "placebo"

can refer to a sham intervention, the question could be perceived as insulting the

practitioner. The Committee found that regardless, the chiropractor must answer politely

and accurately. The Committee noted the differing accounts the Applicant and

Respondent gave of their interaction at the third appointment and stated it was impossible

to know with certainty what happened, but regardless, it is the professional's

responsibility to maintain a professional demeanor. ln this context, the Committee issued

its reminder about communication and professionalism.

The Committee reviewed photographs of the Applicant that he provided and noted that

slight bruises were visible that corresponded to the areas the Respondent adjusted with

the activator. The Committee found that the images could be consistent with the

Applicant's version of events, but that was not the only possible explanation for these

bruises and because the photographs were not date stamped, they were of limited

probative value.

5



63
14. 'lhe Committee noted that the Applicant and his mother reported that the Respondent's

staff relayed that the Respondent was dismissing the Applicant from his practice, and that

the Respondent reported in his first response to the complaint that he informed the

Applicant that he could no longer continue to provide care. However, when the

Committee wrote to the Respondent asking for his discharge letter, the Respondent

replied that no names were provided because the Applicant did not wish to continue

chiropractic care.

15 The Committee noted that the Applicant said he continued to experience sequelae. The

Committee fuither noted that the record of personal health information indicated that the

Applicant was an appropriate candidate for activator treatment in the areas recorded and

that the signed consent form mentioned that exacerbation of symptoms is possible. The

Committee opined that the symptom flare-up appears to reflect the natural progression of

the Applicant's condition and even if the Respondent's treatments were a factor in the

Applicant's symptoms, it would not necessarily mean that the Respondent's treatments

were inappropriate.

t6 The Committee noted that the Respondent had no history of previous complaints with the

College.

ur. REQUEST FOR REVTEW

17 In a letter dated December 28, 2018, the Applicant requested that the Board review the

Committee's decision.

ry. POWERS OF THE BOARI)

18. After conducting a review of a decision ofthe Committee, the Board may do one or more

of the following:

a) confirm all or part of the Committee's decision;

b) make recommendations to the Committee;

6



64

V.

20

c) require the Committee to exercise any of its powers other than to request a

Registrar' s investigation.

19 The Board cannot recommend or require the Committee to do things outside its

jurisdiction, such as make a finding of misconduct or incompetence against the member,

or require the referral of allegations to the Discipline Committee that would not, if
proved, constitute either professional misconduct or incompetence.

ANALYSIS AND REASONS

Pursuant to section 33(1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code),being

Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, I 99 I , the mandate of the Board in a

complaint review is to consider either the adequacy of the Committee's investigation, the

reasonableness ofits decision, or both.

21 The Respondent did not attend the Review, however he provided written submissions to

the Board. The Board notes there is no legislative requirement for parties to attend a

review and draws no inference from the Respondent's non-attendance.

22 The Board has considered the submissions of the parties, examined the Record of

Investigation (the Record), and reviewed the Committee's decision.

Adequacy of the Investigation

An adequate investigation does not need to be exhaustive. Rather, the Committee must

seek to obtain the essential information relevant to making an informed decision

regarding the issues raised in the complaint.

24. The Committee's mandate is that of a screening committee with regard to complaints

about its members. The Committee considers the information it obtains to determine

whether, in all of the circumstances, a referral of specified allegations of professional

misconduct to the College's Discipline Committee is warranted or if some other remedial

23

7



65
action should be taken. Actions available to the Committee upon considering a complaint

include taking no action with regard to a member's practice, directing remedial measures

intended to improve an aspect of a member's practice or referring specified allegations of

professional misconduct to the Discipline Committee.

25. The Committee obtained the following documents:

the Applicant's initial complaint and subsequent correspondence including

written statements from the Applicant's mother, sister and wife; and

photographs of the Applicant;

the Respondent' s response and subsequent correspondence;

the Applicant's patient records; and

the College's Guideline G-00 1 : Communication w ith P atients.

26. The Respondent submitted the Committee adequately investigated the matter and

obtained information sufficient to enable it to reasonably assess the complaint.

27 The Applicant submified that the investigation was inadequate because the Committee

did not follow up on his complaint by interviewing him or any witnesses.

28. The Board finds that the Committee did not need to interview the Applicant and his

suggested witnesses to obtain the essential information to assess the complaint. The

Applicant provided ample written information to support his complaint including written

statements from his wife, sister and mother. The investigator provided him with a

summary of his complaint and he sent in revisions that were reflected in the Committee's

decision.

29 The Committee obtained the Applicant's records from the Respondent. Both parties

submitted information to the Committee and the Applicant provided additional

clarifications of his concerns.

o

a

a

a

8



32

66
30 The Board finds the Committee's investigation covered the events in question, and that it

obtained relevant information to make an informed decision regarding the issues raised in

the complaint. There is no indication of additional information that, if obtained, might

reasonably be expected to have affected the Committee's decision.

31. Accordingly, the Board finds that the Committee's investigation was adequate.

Reasonableness of the Decision

ln considering the reasonableness of the Committee's decision, the question for the Board

is not whether it would arrive at the same decision as the Committee, but whether the

Committee's decision can reasonably be supported by the information before it and can

withstand a somewhat probing examination. In doing so, the Board considers whether the

decision falls within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes that are defensible in

respect of the facts and the law.

53 The Applicant submitted that the Committee's decision was not reasonable because the

Committee paid insufficient attention to the information he provided and the Committee

showed a lack of diligence and bias against him.

Diligence and bias

The Applicant submitted that the Committee's actions regarding his summary of

concems and Authorization and Consent to Investigate form left him with'oless than high

confidence" and that the Committee's decision was cursory, leaving him the impression

of a "biased exercise."

35 The Board does not share these concerns. The Committee prepared a five-page summary

ofthe Applicant's complaint. The Applicant identified revisions he wished to have made

in the summary. These included inserting missing words like "a" and "the" and in one

case reversing the order of fwo bulleted points in order to clarify the context. In preparing

34

9



36

37.

67
any document, it is common for there to be minor mistakes antl omissiotts. Evetr if thert

were substantial enors in the first draft of the summary, by following a process in which

the Applicant was provided the summary and asked to make revisions shows diligence on

the part of the Committee.

The Committee provided the Applicant with its standard Authorization and Consent to

Investigate form. The Applicant identified provisions on the form that he was not

comfortable with and asked that they be removed from the version of the form that he

signed. The Committee agreed to this request and the Applicant signed the revised form

The Board notes that in its l4-page decision, the Committee included the entire summary

of the Applicant's concerns and further described the written reports from the Applicant's

wife, sister and mother as well as the Respondent's reply. The Committee addressed each

of the Applicant's areas of concerns and explained the reasons for its conclusions. The

Board finds that the information in the Record does not support a finding of bias against

the Applicant.

Clinicul treatment

38. The Committee examined the Applicant's records ofhealth information and found no

concerns with the Respondent's diagnosis and treatment choices. These conclusions were

supported by the information in the Record and by the Committee's expertise in the

standards of the profession.

39 The Applicant had provided photographs that showed bruising. The Committee found

that the photographs are of limited probative value because the Applicant's explanation

for the bruises was not the only possible explanation and because the photographs are not

date stamped. The Board finds this to be a reasonable decision that falls within a range of

possible, acceptable outcomes. Similarly, the Committee's findings regarding the

sequelae the Applicant continues to experience fall within the Committee's expertise in

l0



40

68
the standards of the profession. There is no indication that the Committee's expertise was

inappropriately applied.

Communication

In assessing the concerns involving communications between the parties, the Committee

identified a number of instances in which the Applicant and the Respondent provided

different accounts of their interactions.

When the Committee has conflicting accounts of events it cannot prefer one person's

account to another's unless there is independent information to support one or the other.

Although the Committee could not determine with certainty what happened, the

Committee found it to be the professional's responsibility to maintain a professional

demeanor and reminded the Respondent to adhere to Guideline G-001 : Communication

with Patienls and to maintain professionalism at all times.

43 The Board notes that Guideline G-001 ; Communicationwith Patients contains provisions

that are relevant to the concerns raised by the Applicant, for example under the heading

"Verbal Communication" the Guideline states:

A member can help enhance the trust and care in the doctor/patient
relationship by using appropriate communication practices in all verbal

interactions with the patient at all times. A member shall ensure that the

way he/she verbally conveys information to the patient is understandable

and comfortable for the patient, by:

. using language associated with chiropractic care that is clear and

comprehensible to the patient;

. using charts and diagrams to help explain elements of
chiropractic care and overcome any conceptual difficulties;

encouraging the patient to ask any questions to clarify any

misunderstandings and providing clear and concise answers;

41.

42

a

11



69
being honest, straightfbrward and tacttul;

demonstrating respect and empathy for the patient;

acknowledging and legitimizing any fears, embarrassment or
discomfort of the patient;

demonstrating respect and empathy for the patient; and

avoiding any misunderstandings by asking the patient to verify
the intended message, and if appropriate, asking the patient to
repeat it in his/her own words.

44 The Board finds the Committee's finding regarding communications to be reasonable

because the information in the Record supports that there were differing accounts from

the parties and the Committee's decision to remind the Respondent of the Guideline was

within the range of possible, acceptable outcomes.

D is co ntin uatio n of c ar e

Regarding the ending of the chiropractor-patient relationship between the parties, the

Committee was again faced with different accounts. The Applicant and his mother stated

that the Respondent's office staff stated that the Respondent was dismissing the

Applicant from the practice. In his first response to the Committee, the Respondent wrote

that during the August 25,2017, appointment, he 'ointerjected and informed [the

Applicant] that in the circumstances [the Respondent] could no longer continue to

provide care.o' The Respondent also wrote that on the telephone, his staff "confirmed that

we were discontinuing involvement in his care." However, in a subsequent letter to the

Committee, the Respondent wrote: 'No formal letter of discharge was issued as it was

[the Applicant] who elected to end his attendances."

46 The Committee identified no concerns with the ending of the parties' chiropractor-patient

relationship and took no action on this aspect of the Applicant's complaint.

a

a

a

45

l2



70

49

47 Following a question from the Board at the Review, the College's representative

identified that a chiropractor who chooses to discontinue treating a patient can do so with

a written letter or can do it verbally, and that the discontinued patient should be provided

with the name of another practitioner.

48 The Board finds it reasonable that the Committee took no action on this aspect of the

complaint.

Conclusion on reasonableness of the decision

The Board acknowledges that the Applicant remains dissatisfied with the care he

received. Nonetheless, the information in the Record provides support for the

Committee's conclusions, which fall within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes that

are defensible in respect ofthe facts and the law. Accordingly, the Board finds the

Committee's decision to be reasonable. The Board notes that the Committee, composed

of three chiropractors and one public member, applied its knowledge of the standards of

the profession. The Board finds that the Committee's conclusions were within the

committee's expertise and based on the information in the Record.

13



71

50 Pursuant to section 35(1) of the Code, the Board confirms the Committee's decisions to

remind the Respondent to adhere to Guideline G-001: Communicationwith Patients and

tcr maintain professionalism at all times.

ISSUED January 10,2020

t

VI. DECISION

David Scrimshaw

Christine Moss

{/ &'a*'q,*-;
--\J ^.... ; --
Yasmeen Slddtqul

l4



ITEM 1.4 Prepared Internally

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Registration Committee Report to Council
February 26,2020

72

Members:

Staff Support:

Dr. Cliff Hardick, Chair
Dr. Paul Groulx
Ms Georgia Allan
Ms Sheryn Posen

Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy and Research
Ms Madeline Cheng, Registration Coordinator
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
Ms Andrea Szarnetz, Recording Secretary

l. Report

The Registration Committee has not met since the last meeting of Council. CCO held a

legislation and ethics examination and record keeping workshop on February 4,2020,
attended by 26 individuals.

Current Member Status

Chart 1: Statistics as at Fe 2020

Chart 2: Change in Registration statistics for November l9r20l9 - February 12,

2020

Chart 3: of Graduation for New

TotalStatus
4688Active
220Inactive - Resident
141Retired

All catesories 5069

Description Total
New registrants 27

Female t2
Male 15

7CMCC
ILife
1Logan
1MacQuarie
INHSU

NYCC t2
NZCC 1

Palmer FL 1

2Palmer IOWA



Registration Committee Report to Council: February 26,2020

I would like to thank the members of the Registration committee and the support staff for
their time and commitment.

2

73Respectfu lly submitted,

Dr. Cliff Hardick,
Chair, Registration Committee



{00
ITEM 4.1

Gollege of GhiroP ractors of Ontario
Executive Gommittee Report to Gouncil
February 26,2029

Generated InternallY

Members:

Staff SuPPort:

I lntroduction

Dr. Dennis Mizel, President

Mr. Rob MacKaY, Vice-President

Dr. Cliff Hardick, Treasurer

Dr. Peter Amlinger
Ms GeorgiaAllan
Ms Karoline Bourdeau

Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy and Research

Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

a Since the last meeting of Council, the Executive Committee ("Committt")

has met in person or-orr" occasion, namely, January 29,2020 (in addition to

o* i" p"r*n meeting on January 15,2020 to address code of conduct

*uu"rJl The draft, cinfidential minutes are included in the Council

inior*ution package, and are subject to review and approval on March 12,

2020.

In addition to the various ongoing matters before the Committee, a great deal

oiti*r, money and energy lias been expended addressing a number of Code

of conduct alligations made against council members

O

o The dispositions of these matters are included at this time in the in-camera

section of the council information package' It will be up toCouncil to

determine what aspects of these dispositions should be public' It may be that

,orn. ortrr" individuals against whom complaints have been made will

consent to the informatioi b"iog publicly available in the interests of openness

and transparencY.



Executive Committee Report to Council- Febru ary 26,2020 2

101
a By the tirne of the Council meeting, some council members will have attended

a governance training workshop on February 25,2020 consistent with
recommendations from the Committee which has had the responsibility to
address the various matters.

It is my fervent hope and expectation that all of us can more fbrward in a
manner which is respectful and professional and consistent with cco,s
statutory responsibility to regulate chiropractic in the public interest. I am
mindful of the various presentations we have had from leading experts,
including Ms Deanna williams at the November 29,z}z}trainid ,..rio'
where she reflected on a general rule of thumb that approximately g0 % of a
regulator's efforts should be expended on matters wliich relate specifically to
its core mandate, specifically public interest protection. I am acutely aware of
the toll managing the various allegations has had on everyone concerned.

Ms willson and I are trying various formats relating to the structure of the
agenda and council information packages to ensure the packages are as
helpful as possible, and we would appreciate any feedback from council
members relating to the changes being made.

Ministry of Health

Since the last report to Council, we have had various communications with the
Ministry of Health and have taken the step of linking the Ministry,s bulletins
relating to the recent health challenges on the cco website forciuk.hold"r,
including members' information. As reported at the November 29,2020
training session, the Ministry is continuing its work on a framework for
gyaluating regulatory performance. My understanding is that in preparing the
2019 Annual Report, Ms willson and her team will ue trying to structure the
reporting of c-cols activities to be consistent with the draft framework, and in
particular, to demonstrate how the various committee and Council activities
relate to public protection and furtherance of CCo,s strategic objectives.

I

a

il

a



Executive Committee Report to Council- February 26,2020 3

102

a

lll Elections

Council members will recall concems were raised about the elections in 2019,
and accordingly, several efforts have been made to facilitate and enhance
respectful, professional communications and a fair election process. I am very
pleased that Mr. Dan Faulkner has agreed to participate on the Election review
Committee as a resource and representative from someone outside of
chiropractic. Mr. Faulkner has previously served at the CPSO and assisted in
making modifications to their election processes. He is also currently co-chair
of the Ministry task force developing the College Performance Measurement
Framework (CPMF).

As previously reported, a number of revisions were made to the various
election documents, including the candidate undertaking. All the election
material is included in the council information package. Congratulations to Dr
Starmer for being CCO's first academic representative. Elections in the other
three districts are currently underway with the various safeguards in place to
ensrrre a fair election.

Council members are reminded that CCO has supported the submissions of
the College of Nurses and the College of Teachers to move towards a

competency-based selection criteria and balance of elected and public
members, but unless and until any legislative amendments are made, the
current system will continue.

lV Communications/Strategic Planning

Mr. MacKay, Ms Willson and I had an opportunity to meet on January 28,

2020 wfthMs Caroline Brereton, Dr. Ken Brough and Dr. Brian Gleberzon of
the OCA to discuss several matters of mutual interest, including the need for
all leadership to enhance respectful communications. The OCA was very
receptive to this communication. We will also be communicating further with
the Alliance for Chiropractic (AFC) and others to repeat the same message.

a Included in the Council information package are various President's Messages

that have been circulated over the past few months. I am trying to have

shorter, more timely communications on an ongoing basis, rather than waiting
for a comprehensive newsletter addressing several matters.

a



Executive Committee Report to Council - February 26,2O2O 4

103

V Matters in Progress

Given the various other pressing matters being addressed by the Committee,
some matters have been deferred to the March 12,2020 Committee agenda,
including:

o best practices relating to minutes and the publication of a summary of
minutes; how best to solicit useful feedback on survey documents
while maintaining transparency ;

r communication to stakeholders that information cannot be considered
'oconfidential" if it is intended to influence/guide CCO decision
making;

. compilation of information about government relations initiatives by
other regulators;

r refinement of existing conflict of interest provisions;
r development of key messages relating to the chiropractic treatment of

children;
o further consideration of the Cayton Report from British Columbia; and
. proposed amendments to various intemal policies.

Council members should be aware that Ms Deanna Williams and Mr. Joel
Friedman are working on a review of CCO's internal policies from the
perspective of any learnings for Council arising from the various governance
matters, and the Committee hopes to have recommendations for Council's
consideration at the April 15, 2020 Council meeting.

One matter that is ready for Council's consideration is the following
recommendation:

Recommendation I

That Council approve the amendment to G-009: Code of Ethics to reference a
requirement that members engage in pro.fessional, respect-ful communications
with other members and health professionals and not engage in any in-person
or online bullying, intimidation or harassment.

a

a



Executive Committee Report to Council- February 26,2020 5

104

a

Vl Strategic Planning/Training Opportunities

The Committee continues to make efforts to focus on key priorities, and to
facilitate leaming and training opportunities. It will be useful to hear from
Council members about any suggestions or feedback for the September 2020

Strategic Planning Session and Council Specific Topic meeting which will be

held at the White Oaks in Niagara. Please forward your suggestions as soon as

possible as a great deal of time and preparation is required to make the

sessions a success.

At the January 29,2020 meeting, the Committee heard from Mr. Hanno

Weinberger, who has served as an elected member on the College of Teachers

and as a public member (including as President) on the College of Denturists.

It was interesting to hear about some of his perspectives on effective
regulation and governance from the perspective of two very different
regulators, in both size, resources, and types of members/practice settings. We

will continue to investigate other best practices for the purpose of ensuring an

efficient, effective Council.

a

Vll Chiropractic/Other Stakeholders

We continue to participate in various initiatives with stakeholders. For
example:

Ms Willson was asked to attend the upcoming FCLB meeting, which
includes an educational training day for regulators; the FCLB is the

national group of chiropractic regulators in the United States which has a

register identifring chiropractors who have been found guilty of
professional misconduct or incompetence. CCO has recently re-joined the

FCLB and Ms Willson will report back on the possible learnings and

benefits of membership and dialogue with North American colleagues;

CCO was invited to the CCA's summit in Halifax in April 2020. To date,

we have declined the invitation, being cognizant of Council's previous

discussions concerning the need to ensure a focus on regulatory matters;

Arising from the joint meeting of regulators and the CCO in November
20l9,the FCC has established various working groups to try to harmonize

standards nationally. Ms Willson and Dr. Walton have been participating
in the working group dealing first with the CCPA's Road Map to Care

document; Time permitting, I will ask them for a verbal report; and

a

a

a



Executive Committee Report to Council - February 26,2O2O 6

vilt

1o4(a)

a Ms Willson continues to serve on the Executive of the Health Profession
Regulators of Ontario (formerly the Federation of Health Regulatory
Colleges). CCO will be hosting the HPRO board meeting on March 3,
2020.

Conclusion

I look forward to working with all of you over the months to come. I am
cogntzant of the transition anticipated on Council with four pubic members
also having terms expiring in2020, as well as the pending elections. I have
confidence that we can harness the skills and abilities and reaffinn our
commitment to focusing on public interest protection. Thank you for your
ongoing support and commitment to CCO.

Respectfully submified by,

Dr. Dennis Mizel,
President

a



2t20t2020 College of Chiropractors of Ontario

Ministry of Health Announcement - Wuhan Novet
Coronavirus 136

|TEM 4.1.4

Ptease ctick here for important information from the Ontario Ministry of Health concerning the Wuhan

Novel Coronavirus.

https://www.cco.on.cal2O2Ol01128lministry-of-health-announcement-wuhan-novel-coronavirus/ 1t1



2t20t2020 The 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) | Ontario.ca

ontario@ 137

The 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-l9)
Learn about how the Ministry of Health is preparing for the 2019 novel coronavirus in Ontario. Find out how to
protect yourself, what to do if you're sick after you travel and how to recognize possible symptoms.

Get information in other languilges

Status of cases in Ontario

Every weekday at 10:30 a.m. HI, this web page will be updated with the most up-to-date information on the
status of cases in Ontario.

The symptoms of the 2019 novel coronavirus, which can include fever and cough, are similar to other
respiratory infections, including influenza. As a result, individuals who may simply have the flu are being tested

out of an abundance of caution and in line with Ontario's robust detection protocols. This means that most
individuals who are tested are unlikely to be infected with the 2019 novel coronavirus.

Negativel 462

Currently under investigation2 14

Presumptive positive3 0

Confirmed positive4 1

Resolved5 2

Total number of patients approved for COVID-l9 testing to date 479

lPatient negative based on testing performed at Public Health Ontario (PHO) Laboratory (Note: Testing at
National Microbiolo gy Lab (NML) no longer required due to enhanced national testing protocols.)
2Test results are pending
3Patient who has tested positive at P.HQ Laboratory but not yet tested at NML
4Patient who is currently positive based on tests performed at both RHQ Laboratory and NML
5Patient is no longer infectious based on fwo consecutive negative tests performed at P,HQ Laboratory atleast24
hours apart

Last updated: February 20,2020 at 10:30 a.m. AT

Coronaviruses

Coronaviruses are alarge family of viruses that can cause illnesses ranging from the common cold to more
serious respiratory infections like bronchitis, pneumonia or severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS).

https://wwwontario.cal pagel20 1 9-novel-coronavirus 1t5



2l2Ol2O2O The 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) | Ontario.ca

Coronaviruses are spread mainly from person to person through close contact, for example, in a household,
workplace or health care centre.

Some human coronaviruses spread easily between people, while others do not. 138
Your risk of severe disease may be higher if you have a weakened immune system. This may be the case for

. older people

. people with chronic disease (for example, diabetes, cancer) heart, renal or chronic lung disease)

The 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-l9)

The 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) causes a respiratory infection that originated in Wuhan, China.

The first presumptive case of this infection in Ontario was identified on January 25,2020.

Current affected areas

The following geographic areas are identified as affected areas:

. mainland China

Travellers returning trom aft'ected areas

Travellers who have returned from Hubei province, including Wuhan City, should:

r contact their local public heallh unit
(nttp-/ruuw.neath,gov.on.calenlcommon/systerr/services/ph4 pn)-within 24 hours of arriving
in Canada

. stay at home and avoid close contact with others, including those in their home, for a total of 14 days
from the date they left Hubei province

o contact Telehealth Ontario at l-866-797-0000 or their local public heallh uni!
ftlp://rwvw.healthgov.on.calen/common/systerr/services/phu/lo )-if they experience
symptoms of the 2019 novel coronavirus

Travellers who have returned from mainland China should:

. monitor themselves for symptoms of the 2019 novel coronavirus for 14 days after leaving China
r contact Telehealth Ontario at I-866-797-0000 or their losal public heallh unil

(Mp:lAuuwleahhgov.on.calen/common/systen/services/phu/lfupx)-if they experience
symptoms of the 2019 novel coronavirus

Learn about travel advisories (http://trave!.gc.caltravelling/advisories/pneumonia-china)- related to the 2019
novel coronavirus.

Laboratory testing

Testing is being conducted at the Public Health Ontario Laboratory, which is working collaboratively with the
National Microbiology Laboratory in Winnipeg.

How Ontario is preparing

https J/www. on lario. cal page I 20 1 9-novel-coronavi ru s 215



2l2Ot2O2O The 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) | Ontario.ca

Ontario is working with its partners in the health care system implementing a robust plan to monitor for, detect

and, if needed, isolate any cases of the 2019 novel coronavirus. The Ministry of Health is taking several steps to

ensure the health and safety of Ontarians. This includes:

. monitoring hospitals for potential cases of the virus in individuals with travel history to current affected

areas
. adding the2019 novel coronavirus as a designated disease reportable under Ontario's public health

legislation, enabling local public health units to quickly and effectively take all necessary measures to

investigate, complete lab tests and do case and contact management to prevent and control further spread

of the infection
. ongoing planning with federal and provincial/territorial partners and readiness to coordinate with other

provinces/territories
o meeting with hospitals, paramedics and local public health units near Pearson International Airport to

provide further information on the federal border screening measures

Symptoms and treatment

Symptoms range from mild - like the flu and other common respiratory infections - to severe, and can include

. fever

. cough

. difficulty breathing

Complications from the 2019 novel coronavirus can include serious conditions, like pneumonia or kidney
failure, and in some cases, death.

There are no specific treatments for coronaviruses, and there is no vaccine that protects against coronaviruses.

Most people with common human coronavirus illnesses will recover on their own.

You should:

. drink plenty of fluids
o get rest and sleep as much as possible
. try a humidifier or a hot shower to help with a sore throat or cough

If you need immediate medical attention you should call 911 and mention your travel history and symptoms

How to protect yourself

Coronaviruses are spread mainly from person to person through close contact, for example, in a household,

workplace or health care centre. The 2019 novel coronavirus has evidence of limited human-to-human

transmission.

There is no vaccine available to protect against the 2019 novel coronavirus.

There are everyday actions that canhelp prevent the spread of germs that cause respiratory illnesses. Take these

everyday steps to reduce exposure to the virus and protect your health:

. wash your hands often with soap and water or alcohol-based hand sanitizer

. sneeze and cough into your sleeve

. avoid touching your eyes, nose or mouth

. avoid contact with people who are sick
o stay home if you are sick

139

https :/iwww. on tario.ca I page I 20 1 9-novel-coronaviru s 3t5



212012020 The 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) | Oniario.ca

If you are travelling to an area known to have cases of coronavirus, be sure to avoid:

140
Information on the 2019 novel coronavirus for health care
professionals

Ifyou are a health care professional, learn how to protect yourselfand your patients by reading our guidance
documents (bft@ealthgov.on.calen/pro/programs/publichealth/coronavirus/2019 guidance.aspx)- and
learning about:

. screerung

. laboratory testing
r treatmentrecommendations
. occupational health & safety and infection prevention & control measures

Ontario news about the 2019 novel coronavirus

News Release: Ontario Confinns Resolved Case of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus (February-I2,2020)
(https://news.ontario.ca )

News Release: Ontario's Public Health System Keep_tng the Public Safe (.truV_3_I,2020)
(ffips://news.ontario.calmohltc/en/2020l0 l/ontarios-public-heallh*ystem-keeprng-the-publrc-safe*hlrd)

News Release: Ontario Confirms Third Case of 2019 Novel Coronavirus (JruV:1,2020)
(h!!ps://news.ontario.calmohltc/en/2020/01/ontario-confirms-third-case-of-2019-novel-coronavirus.html)

News Release: Ontario Government Protecting Students from Emergiug Issue of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus
(January$, 2020)-(https://news.ontario.c government-prolecling-students-from-
emersins-issue-of-the-20 I 9-novel -coro navirus.html)

News Release: Ontario Confirms Second Presumptive Case of Wuhan Novel Coronavirus ( January-]l.2020\.
(https ://news.ontario.ca
coronavirus.html)

News Release: Ontario Protecting Students from Emergi-:-ng Issue of the Wuhan Novel Coronavirus (January 26,
2020)_(https://news.ontario.calmohltc/en/2020/01/ontario-protegling-students-from-emergrng-issue-of-the-
wuhan-novel-coronavirus. html)

News Release: Ontario Confirms First Case of Wuhan Novel Coronavirus (January_25 ,2020)
(https://news.ontario.ca

News release: Federal Govemment Increasing Measures to Monitor Wuhan Novel Coronavirus Risks at
Canadian Aim_orts, Including Pearson (Januaty_Ll, 2020)_(hItps://news.ontario.
government-increasing-measures-to-monitor-wuhan-novel-coronavirus-risks-at-canadian-airportLhlLn0l)

News release: Ontario Takes Steps to Safeguard the Health of the Public Against the Coronavirus (|ai-Wq_p.
2020)-(https://news.ontario.calmohltc/enl2020l01/statement-by:dep_rxy:premier-and-ministep
elliott.html)

Information sheet (available in multiple languages)

. high-risk areas such as farms, live animal markets and areas where animals may be slaughtered
o contact with animals (alive or dead), including pigs, chickens, ducks and wild birds
. surfaces with animal droppings or secretions on them

https://www.ontario.ca/page/20 1 9-novel-coronavirus 415



2t2Ot2O2O The 20'19 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) lOntario.ca

The Ministry of Health has developed an information sheet about the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-I9) to
inform Ontarians about the virus, how they can protect themselves and what to do if they think they have

contracted the 2019 novel coronavirus. The information sheet is available in multiple languages.

141

Eg(fr14A)_(fuplified Chinese)_(hfips://files.ontario.calmoh-coronavirus-info-sheet-simpliflred-chinese-.
2020-02-18.pdf)
SI(%ffS)-(Traditional Chinese)-(Mps:/ntes.ontario.c

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

o

a

a

o

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

2020-02-18.odf\
English (https:/files.ontario.c glish-2020-02- I8.pd0
.+-rli (Farsi)-(hfms://files.ontario. pdf)

lJ%ltcil(@jarati)_Gaps:/ntes.ontario. gujarati-2020-02-I8.prD

ftLFinoi)-(https:llmes.ontario.c
Italiano (Italian)-(h$ps : lntes.ontario. c

Polski (Polish)-(httBs://files.ontario.calmoh-coronavirus-info-sheet-polish-2020-02- 18.pd0.

Updated: February 20, 2020

Published: January 25, 2020

Related

Government of Canada Travel Advisories (b1tps:/travel.gc.caltravelling/advisories).

Pub li c Health Ontario (hups:/www.publichealthontari o. ca4

Public Health Agency of Canada (h$ps://www.canada.calen/pgblic-heabh.htngl)

World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/eme encies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019)

https://www.on tario.cal page 120 1 9-novel-coronavirus 5t5



Ontario@ NEWS
Ministry of Health

Ontario Protecting Students from Emerging lssue of the Wuhan Novel
Coronavirus

January 26,2020 5:00 P.M

TORONTO - Today, Christine Elliott, Deputy Premier and Minister of Health, and Stephen

Lecce, Minister of Education, issued the following statement in response to the first presumptive

case of the Wuhan novel coronavirus in Ontario and following a briefing of the province's

directors of education :

"The health and well-being of Ontarians, including and especially our students and school staff,

is our number one priority. To that end, earlier today Dr. David Williams, Chief Medical Officer of

Health, and Dr. Barbara Yaffe, Associate Chief Medical Officer of Health, briefed Ontario's

directors of education on the province's extensive protocols to monitor, detect and contain any

cases of the Wuhan novel coronavirus.

Ontario continues to work directly alongside our partners at the Public Health Agency of Canada

and local public health units to monitor the situation closely. Newly strengthened protocols for

identification and control are working to keep the public safe.

We want to assure students, parents and school communities that officials at the Ministry of

Health and the Ministry of Education are working together in close cooperation with our partners

in both the education and health care sectors to ensure the continued safety and well-being of

students and statf."

To help educate Ontarians about Wuhan novel coronavirus, how they can protect themselves

and what to do if they suspect they may be at risk, the province has launched a dedicated

webpage.

Travis Kann Director, Communications
travis. kann@ontario.ca
647-388-5845
David Jensen Communications Branch
media.moh@ontario.ca
416-314-6197

Available Online
Disponible en Francais

142



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.5

Jo-Ann Willson
Wednesday, February 19, 2020 12:58 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: Premier's Council on lmproving Healthcare and Ending Hallway

Medicine - Newsletter
Pre m iersCou nci I N ewslette r- Feb rua ry 2020.pdf;

PremiersCounci I Newsletter- February 2020- French.pdf

143
From:
Sent:
To:
Subiect:

Attachments:

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel
*Note Address Change

Gollege of Chiropractons of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.111
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any

distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, please notify me immediately by reply

and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you'

other
e-mail

From: Orofino, Mirella (MOH) <Mirella.Orofino@ontario.ca> On Behalf Of Scarth, Fredrika (MOH)

Sent: Wednesday, February L9,2O2O t2:37 PM

Subject: Premier's Councilon lmproving Healthcare and Ending Hallway Medicine - Newsletter

Please see attached Premier's Council on lmproving Healthcare and Ending Hallway Medicine newsletter

on behalf of the Secretariat.

Regards,

Fredrika Scanh
Director, Secretariat
Premier's Councilon lmproving Healthcare & Ending Hallway Medicine

fred rika.sca rth @onta rio.ca

ha llwavhealthca re@ontario.ca

1



144February,2020

Premier's Council on lmproving Healthcare and Ending Hallway
Medicine--U pdate,
Email Newsletter

The Premier's Council on lmproving Healthcare and Ending Hallway Medicine is looking forward

to another transformative year in health care and wanted to take this opportunity to provide you,

our partners in health care, with an update on our work and a glimpse into the year ahead.

Our first year as a Council saw the release of two reports containing our assessment of the
health care system and recommendations for ending hallway health care. The first report,
Hallwa:t Health Care: A System Under Strain, identified challenges facing Ontario's health care

system. The second report, A Healthv Ontario: Building a Sustainable Health Care Svstem,
made 10 strategic policy recommendations focused around four common areas for
improvement that emerged from our work: integration, innovation, efficiency and alignment, and

capacity.

ln our second year, the Council will help guide implementation of our recommendations, shifting
from what to do, to providing advice on how best to do it.

Providing Our Best Advice.

To inform ourfirsttwo reports, the Council heard from over 1,500 patients, caregivers, families,
health care professionals and organizations on the future of health care in the province,

conducting 10 regional engagement sessions in communities across the province, and a virtual

engagement session with more than 250 Francophone stakeholders and participants. Council
members also heard from a range of system leaders through six sub-committees, representing

various themes related to hallway health care, began initial dialogue with Indigenous

communities and partners and received more than 500 written survey responses, emails and
formal submissions from individuals across the province. The collective advice from this

engagement helped shape our recommendations and will contribute to meaningful change
across the health care system.

Our second-year focus on implementation will be informed by working groups of clinicians and

health system leaders from across the province, focused on the four common areas for
improvement, including:



145
a

a

a

a

lntegration.
Chair: Dr. Jack Kitts, President and Chief Executive Officer of The Ottawa Hospital;

Supporting Council Member: Dr. Suzanne Filion, Vice President, Hawkesbury & District
General

This working group is exploring ways to better support patients and providers at every

step of their health care journey in order to create an integrated and patient-centred

health care system that is easy for patients to navigate. lt will be focused on supporting
implementation of Ontario Health Teams.

Innovation.
Chair: Dr. Rueben Devlin, Special Advisor and Chair of the Premier's Council on
lmproving Healthcare and Ending Hallway Medicine;
Supporting Council Member: Dr. Richard Reznick, Dean, Faculty of Health Sciences

Queens University

This working group is exploring opportunities for innovative technology and digital
solutions on health care delivery by nurturing innovative ideas and designing new

solutions to solve long-standing problems. lt will also suggest foundationalwork
required to ready the system for ever changing technology.

Capacity.
Chair: Dr. Gillian Kernaghan, President and Chief Executive Officer of St. Joseph's
Health Care London;
Supporting Council Member: Kimberley Moran, Chief Executive Officer, Children's
Mental Health Ontario

This working group is focusing on health care capacity planning to address both the
immediate and longer-term needs of the health care system. The committee will focus
not just on the bricks and mortar of bed and service capacity, but also on health human
resources planning and cross-sectoral leadership capacity.

Efficiency and Alignment.
Chair: Barb Collins, President and Chief Executive Officer of Humber River Hospital;
Supporting Council Member: Shirlee Sharkey, Chief Executive Officer, SE Health

This working group is taking a deeper look at how to overcome barriers and ensure
alignment among community services and supports to achieve an efficient and
sustainable health care system. The committee will focus on the use of tools to improve

efficiency and health care quality together.

The outcomes of these four sub-committees will be a key stream of information influencing the

Council's future work.



146
The Council is always exploring opportunities to learn from partners across the health care

system and will keep you updated on future opportunities. Your input remains vitalto our
success. Please connect with us to share your insights and feedback by email at

hallwavhealthcare@ontario.ca.

Thank you for the invaluable insights and advice that you've shared to date. The Council looks

forward to continuing to engage with as many of you as possible to help achieve our common

goal of a more connected and sustainable health care system in Ontario.



|TEM 4.1.7 151

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario@8

President's Message - December 6t 2OI9

In my ongoing commitment to communicate with stakeholders, including
members, I am updating you on some recent initiatives at CCO. I am
interested in ensuring CCO is open and responsive, and receptive to
modernizing and strengthening its efforts to senre and protect the public
interest.

National Meeting - November t6t 2OL9, Calgary, Alberta

On November 16, 2OLg, CCO co-hosted, with the Canadian Chiropractic
Protective Association (CCPA), a meeting of all chiropractic regulators
from across Canada, to discuss best practices and challenges around such

common issues as scope of practice, adveftising claims and social media.
A working group has been established with national representation and
will be spearheaded by the Federation of Canadian Chiropractic, All

regulators have an interest in ensuring patients across the country receive
chiropractic care that is consistent, ethical, competent, and compliant
with standards of practice which are harmonized nationally to the extent
possible (provincial legislation differs somewhat across the country). It is
a big task, but I have confidence we can work collaboratively at a national
level, and with a focus on enhanced public protection.



152

National Meeting of Canadian Chiropractic Regulators and CCPA -
November 16, 2O19

Every chiropractic regulator in Canada has examples of best practices
from which we can all learn and consider adopting and adapting in our
own provinces. I look forward to the ongoing dialogue and action plan
developed in conjunction with other regulators, many of whom have taken
important steps to enhance public protection

There are many provisions already in place in Ontario, that are specifically
designed to ensure safe, ethical and competent chiropractic care to
patients, including S-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice, S-016:
Advertising, G-016: Advertising and G-012: Use of Social Media. These
provisions and others are regularly reviewed by the relevant committee,
CCO standards of practice, guidelines and policies are reviewed and
enforced through the complaints and discipline process as well as through
comprehensive peer assessments as part of our quality assurance
program.

Future of Health Regulation



153

On November 29,20L9, CCO Council and staff were pleased to welcome
Ms Deanna Williams, who has extensive local and international experience
in health regulation, to speak to us on the "Use of Learnings to Maximize
Regulatory Performance." Ms Williams' presentation was followed by a

presentation from Ms Rebecca Durcan, Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, who
stimulated continued conversation around effective regulation and also
addressed Council on the recently released report from the government of
British Columbia dated November 20t9 and entitled "Modernizing the
provincial health profession regulatory framework: A paper for
consultation". CCO will be looking for opportunities to work collaboratively
with government and with other regulators in Ontario (particularly those
with common controlled acts such as communicating a diagnosis), as well
as continue to work with chiropractic regulators across Canada to
modernize health regulation legislation and our accountability to the
public.

- ..'.:; l\ irrr:alo[Of0d . .
: i. ir: i: toli;tgsda!id-en

Ms Wifliams addressing Council, November 29,2019



154

Ms Durcan addressing Council, November 29,2OLg

Recent Media

A National Post article dated December 6,20L9 by longtime critics of
chiropractic Wayne MacPhail and Paul Benedetti, unfortunately
mischaracterized the decision of CCO Council regarding changes to CCO's
by-laws. Linked here is CCO's response dated October 10, 2019 to the
free-lance reporters' enquiries, prior to publication.

It is important to remember that CCO Council is comprised not just of
chiropractors who are elected by their peers in different districts across
Ontario, but by six or seven public members, appointed by the provincial
government, with a mandate to participate on CCO Council and
committees and to facilitate CCO's responsihilities under the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991. Every member of Council, elected
and appointed, has a vote with respect to matters before Council, and
CCO is pleased that public members are in leadership positions on Council
and as Chairs of statutory committees. I am reminded of the significant
input and guidance from CCO's public members in decision making over
the past several months, including changes to S-001: Scope of practice,
the position statement on vaccination, as well as the by-law amendments
to the composition of Council that creates a fair representative balance to
Council while reducing the risks associated with real or perceived conflicts
of interest.



155

CCO has a mandate that is different from many other organizations, but I
trust and expect that within our respective mandates, we can have a
respectful, professional dialogue about matters of mutual interest,
especially where there is disagreement about the action CCO should be

taking on any policy matter. All feedback, from all stakeholders, is

considered before Council approves any amendments to its provisions and

typically is made public in its entirety, as was the case with respect to
these changes.

I remain confident that many members of CCO can appropriately
participate in the self-regulation of chiropractic in various capacities at
CCO, including serving on Council, and that broad representation and a

diversity of viewpoints should be encouraged, with an understanding that
once elected or appointed, the mandate of all Council members is the
same - protection of the public interest.

Modernizing CCO's Office SPace

W come t Wr: c6gg 1o

Tho lnEl,lgurtt

After many years of careful planning, CCO is finally moved into its
permanent home at 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y

0E7. This major undertaking was accomplished through the vision and



156

commitment of many, and, as promised, was completed without any
increase in members' dues and with a focus on CCO's strategic objective
to ensure fiscal responsibility. CCO now has a suitable home to carry out
its obligations which I hope many of you will have an opportunity to visit
by attending Council meetings or training sessions. I am justifiably proud
of this milestone and evolution in CCO's history.

Finally, I wish each of you a wonderful holiday, and a renewed energy and
commitment in 2020. I appreciate your ongoing feedback and
engagement in the CCO's important work and responsibility to guide the
profession and protect the public interest.

Dr. Dennis Mizel, President

-io*fur4g

College of Chiropractors of Ontario, 77 Bloor Street West, Suite 600,
Suite 600, Toronto, Ontario M5S1M2 Canada

SafeU nsu bscribe" tracykish@qmail.com

Update Profile I About our service provider

Sent by cco.info@cco.on.ca in collaboration with

Constont C-ontact-, u'-
Try email marketing for free todayl



1

October 10,2019 157

Re: Your Inquiry Received october 7,2019 re: cco By-law 6: Elections

Dear Mr. MacPhail and Mr. Benedetti:

As you know, CCO received a great deal of feedback and many submissions concerning the

proposed amendments to By-law 6: Elections. CCO believes it is in the public interest to have a
-tt.itny 

and respectful discussion concerning important matters before Council'

Moreover, Council determined that there should be full transparency with respect to the nature of

the feedback, even if some of the comments received from college members might be inaccurate,

unflattering or otherwise inappropriate. Council has been very consistent in making public the

feedback received from members during the course of its deliberations, and this information has

often been used by you to inform your articles.

The Executive Committee carefully considered all of the feedback regarding By-law 6 before

making its recommendations to Council. The amendments include 6.9 which now reads as

follows:

(k) for District 7 only, the member is a member of the faculty of the CMCC; and

(l) for any district other than District 7, the member is not eligible for election in District 7.

Council, comprised of elected and public members, approved the recommended amendments,

bearing in *ina the possibility or existence of any real or perceived conflicts of interest' We

should-point out thai this type of restriction of candidate eligibility is not by any means unique to

the CCb, and is the case with at least fwo other Ontario health regulatory colleges.

In making its decision, Council considered a variety of current, actual and perceived conflicts of

interest and scenarios (including but not limited to) public positions taken that are indicative of a

potential appearance oibiur und do not reflect the diversity of the styles of chiropractio practice

provided foi i" tft" scope of practice, participation in discussions of credentialing other academic

lnstitutions, or in continuingeducation requirements where such courses may be offered by

member institutions, and oiher instances where the organization may be involved in matters

before the regulator.

However, as noted above, Council also determined that of the three Toronto district seats

available, one should be filled by an existingCMCCfoculty member, to be elected by thefull

CCO membership. This ensures that the voiie of the profession's academic institution is heard at

the Council tabli while avoiding situations in which a large number of elected Council members

are prevented from participating in i*pottant decisions where there is a real or perceived conflict

of interest.



158
In closing, please understand that it is not the role nor intention of the CCO to respond to
requests for comment on individual feedback or commentary submitted to the CCO as part of
Council deliberations. Rather, the entirety of such feedback is made available on the CCO
website in the interests of hanspiuency and in serving the public.

We would remind you also, as we have sharedpreviously, that members of CCO Council,
Executive, and committees are precluded by the CCO code of conduct from speaking or
responding to enquiries on behalf of CCO.

Sincerely,

fuu\'n>c
Dr. Dennis Mizel,
President
Elected Professional Member

Mr. Robert MacKay,
Vice-President
Appointed Public Member

2



159
From; Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on'ca>

Sent: Thursday, October 10, 2OL9 t2:O2PM
To: Wayne MacPhail <wmacphail@gmail.com>; paul benedetticpbenedettilS@gmail.com>

SubJect: Response to your lnquiry Received October 7 ' 20L9

Please see response attached.

Jo-Ann Wllron, B.Sc., M.S.W, LL.B.
R€gistrar & General Counsel
*Note Address Change

Gollcge ol Chiroprtctol3 of Ontario
77 Bloor St, West, Suite 600
Toronto, ON MOS 1M2
Te[ (416) 922-6355 ext. 1 't 1

Fax (416) 925-9610
E-m ail : iBg!!!g!n@Eg.!tr,ga
Web Sile: www.oco.on.ce

EONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
ir,i. 

"*ilr 
including any attachments may contain confidentlal informatlon and is intended only for ths polBon(s) named above' Any

oirtriouilon, cofyinf or disct"Juieir ttri.Ui' pioniunec. lf you have receirred this e-mail in enor, please notlfy me immedlalely by rcPly

and delete all copies including any attadlmenb without reeding it or making a copy' Thank you'

othet
e-mall

From: Wayne MacPhail Imailto:wmacphail@smail.com]
Sent: Wednesday, October 09, 2019 3:56 PM

To: pa u I be nedetti <pbe nedettil6 @qmail.com>; Jo-An n Willson <ip!Uilbg.@g9o.onca>

Cc: Dennis Mizel (drmizel@itcatharineschiropractic.com) <drmizel@stcatharineschirooractic.com>; Joel

Friedma n <JFriedman@cco.on.ca>

Subfect: RE: TtME SENSTIVE MEDIA REQUEST - National Post Story on By-law Amendment

Thanks for your response. Due to deadline pressure we would require we hear back from you by

noon tomorrow at the latest. Hope that works for you.

All the best,
Paul Benedetti and Wayne MacPhail

Wayne Macphail
Onbct 9,2019,2:55 PM -0400, Jo-Ann Willson @' wrote:

We received this request on Monday, October 7,zOLg, but I do not anticipate having an answer for you

by the end of today given it is the Jewish High Holidays. I may be able to provide a response by

Thursday, October L0,2Ot9, end of day. Thank you.

Jo-Ann Wlleon, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.

Registrar & General Counsel

*Note Address Change



Collegc of Chlropnoton of Onhrlo

77 Bloor St. Weel, Sultc 600

Toronto, ON MOS 1M2

Tet (416) 922{355 €xt. 111

Fex (416) 925-9E'10

E-malr lg4tl[sstr1QssB6sg

Web Slte: urvrnn .ago.on.ce

160

CONFIDENTIALIW WARNING:

Thla.omall lncluding any ailechmentE may contein confldantlal infomatlon and ls lntendcd only forthe person(s) named above. Any other
dletrlbutlon, copying or disclosule is stridly prohiblted. lf you have lecelved lhls a,mall in enor,-pbase nbtfy mi immediately by reply emall
and delete all copies includlng sny altachment8 without readlng it or making a copy. Thsnk you.



ITEM 4.1.8
161

From: Georgia Allan <allangeorgia@hotmail.com>
Sent: Friday, December6,2OL9 2:11 PM

To: cco.info <cco.info @ cco-on.ca>

Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - December 6,20L9

Good afternoon

Thank you Dennis for your positive message and Happy Holiday Greeting . The same to all of my

Colleagues at CCO that you have a wonderful holiday season. This has been such an exciting year with

our moves and especially the move into 59 Hayden. I know we are the luckiest College of the extensive

Group of Colleges and probably the envy of most. A great big thanks to including Jo-Ann, Cliff and all the

others who made this move possible. I sure hope that"santa" finds the wonderful , devoted staff who

spent untold hours organizing three moves.

May Peace and Love surround you all this Holiday Season

Georgia

Sent from my iPad

On Dec 6,2O!9, at 11:3L AM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario@D

President's Message - December 6, 2OLg

In my ongoing commitment to communicate with stakeholders, including
members, I am updating you on some recent initiatives at CCO. I am
interested in ensuring CCO is open and responsive, and receptive to
modernizing and strengthening its efforts to serve and protect the public
interest.

National Meeting - November 16, 2019, Calgary, Alberta



162
From: Paul Groulx <drgroulx@mvnepeanchiropractor.com>
Sent: Friday, December 6, 2019 12:35 PM

To: Dennis Mizel <drmizel@stcatharineschiropractic.com>; Rob MacKay

(mackavrob@tbavtel.net) <mackavrob@tbavtel.net>; Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: President's Message.

Dennis.

Thanks for preparing and sending out your message today.
I have only been in practice for 16 years, so my observations are limited. Given those 1-6 years, you are

the first CCO president to consistently communicate with the membership in a way that reassures me,

as a member, that the CCO is in good hands in difficult times. I am glad that you are chairing council.

The bulk of the membership is under the age of 45 and it has been implied that "younger" men and

women are better equipped to lead this profession into the future. While fresh ideas from young minds

are richly valued, there has never been a time (in my memory) where experience, nuance and maturity

are more relevant than today. Your style of leadership is steady and sober-minded. You do the right

thing - even when unpopular. Your brand of leadership will be critical in the coming season as the

initiative in BC regarding amalgamating regulatory boards is almost certainly going to come to Ontario.

Regarding recent media attention. The timing is almost identical to last year -appearing to precede

another election season and stoke the fires of division. I hope you persist in your communication with

the membership and continue to bring clarity when disinformation (intentionalfalsehood/propaganda)

seems so prevalent. They will not stop, and I hope you won't either. The membership is comprised of
intelligent people. Continue to lead with integrity and I believe they will "see" it.

-Paul

Dr. Paul Groulx
E.M.C.A., B.Sc.N., D.C.

Crestview Fa milv Chiropractic
6L3-224-5400



From : Georgia Allan <allangeorgia @ hotma il.com>
Sent: Friday, December 6, 2019 2:00 PM

To: cco.i nfo <cco.i nfo@cco.on.ca>
Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - December 6,2Ot9

163

Thank you for your very positive message as President. I wish you and your family a very Happy Holiday

Season too. Especially enjoy those wee ones. They are so precious and grow up so fast

Cheers

Georgia

Sent from my iPad

On Dec 6,2079, at 1L:31 AM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario@D

President's Message - December q 2OL9

In my ongoing commitment to communicate with stakeholders, including
members, I am updating you on some recent initiatives at CCO. I am
interested in ensuring CCO is open and responsive, and receptive to
modernizing and strengthening its efforts to serve and protect the public
interest.

National Meeting - November L6t 2Ot9, Calgary, Alberta

On November 16, 2OL9, CCO co-hosted, with the Canadian Chiropractic
Protective Association (CCPA), a meeting of all chiropractic regulators
from across Canada, to discuss best practices and challenges around such
common issues as scope of practice, advertising claims and social media.
A working group has been established with national representation and



164
From: Tracy Kish <tracvkish@gmail.com>

Sent: Friday, December 6,2OI911:54 AM

To: cco.info <cco.i ca>

Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - December 6,2OI9

After so much bad press for chiropractors, I hope the CCo can move beyond subluxations and vitalism to

ensure that chiropractors limit themselves to rehab and musculoskeletal issues.

Tracy Kish

Tracy Kish BScN RN DC

Owner Westwood Health

Advanced Practice Clinician ISAEC

Shift Concussion Management Provider

959 Pape Ave

416 422 75t5
WestwoodHealthTO.com

on Dec 6,2OIg, at 11:31 AM, COllege of chiropractOrs of ontario <cco.info@cco'on.ca> wrote:

K@
College of Ghiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticien$ de I'Ontario

President's Message - December q zOLg

In my ongoing commitment to communicate with stakeholders, including

memberi, I im updating you on some recent initiatives at CCO. I am

interested in ensuring CCO is open and responsive, and receptive to
modernizing and strengthening its efforts to serve and protect the public

interest.

National Meeting - November L6, 2OL9, Calgary' Alberta



165

on November 16, 2019, cco co-hosted, with the canadian chiropractic
Protective Association (ccPA), a meeting of all chiropractic regulators
from across Canada, to discuss best practices and challenges around such
common issues as scope of practice, adveftising claims and social media.
A working group has been established with national representation and
will be spearheaded by the Federation of canadian chiropractic, All
regulators have an interest in ensuring patients across the country receive
chiropractic care that is consistent, ethical, competent, and compliant
with standards of practice which are harmonized nationally to the extent
possible (provincial legislation differs somewhat across the country). It is
a big task, but I have confidence we can work collaboratively at a national
level, and with a focus on enhanced public protection.

National Meeting of Canadian Chiropractic Regulators and CCPA -
November 16,2019

Every chiropractic regulator in canada has examples of best practices
from which we can all learn and consider adopting and adapting in our
own provinces, I look forward to the ongoing dialogue and action plan
developed in conjunction with other regulators, many of whom have taken
important steps to enhance public protection



166
From: Gauri Shanka r <docshankar99@gmaiLcom>

Sent: Tuesday, December I0,2Ot9 9:24 AM

To: cco. i nfo <cco. info@cco.on.ca>
Subject: RE: Message from the CCO President - December 6,20t9

Thank you for your commitment to communicate with the membership in such a

fulsome and transparent manner.
Our whole membership owes the CCO a huge debt of gratitude for your ongoing

efforts on behalf of our profession.

With many thanks and blessings for the new year.

Gauri

Dr.Gauri Shankar
Prescott Family ChiroPractic
l14King St. W.
Prescott, On.
KOE ITO
6t3-q2s-3436
613-925-4974fax
docshankar99@omail.com
www.prescottfam ilychiroPractic.ca

From : Col lege of Ch i ropractors of Onta rio fmai lto : cco. i nfo@cco.on.ca]
Sent: Friday, December 06, 2019 11:31 AM

To: docshan kar99@gmail.com
Subject: Message from the CCO President - December 6, 2019

@d
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario

President's Message - December q 2OI9



167From: Liz Anderson-Peacock <drliz@bellnet.ca>

Sent: Friday, December 6,20L9 L:35 PM

To: cco.info <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - December 6,2019

President Mizel and the whole of CCO,

Greatly appreciate the "update" message and links to accurate information

Thank you and a big congrats on the new location
Wishing you all a safe and healthy holiday season.

Allthe best,
Liz

Sent from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Rogers Network

From: cco.info@cco.on,ca
Sent: December 6, 2019 10131 AM

To: drliz@bellnet.ca
Reply-to: cco.info@cco,on,ca
Subject: Message from the CCO President - December 6,20L9

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario@D

President's Message - December q 20tg

In my ongoing commitment to communicate with stakeholders, including
members, I am updating you on some recent initiatives at CCO. I am
interested in ensuring CCO is open and responsive, and receptive to
modernizing and strengthening its efforts to serve and protect the public
interest.

National Meeting - November L6t 2Ot9, Calgary, Alberta



168From: Derek Nash <dnash01@uoguelph.ca>

Sent: Friday, December 6,2019 12:39 PM

To: cco.info <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - December 6,2Ot9

7}+o/o of us responded with a resounding NO to the last CCO proposal regarding electoral riding reform

and faculty members.

The college put through the motion anyway. How is that listening to members?

This is just the tip of the iceberg, you want a real reform? Get ready for the next election. This house is

about to be cleaned. lts currently an embarrassment to our profession and public image

Dr. Derek Nash

On Fri., Dec. 6, 2O\9, tL:3I a.m. College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario@q

President's Message - December 6t 2OL9

In my ongoing commitment to communicate with stakeholders, including
members, I am updating you on some recent initiatives at CCO. I am
interested in ensuring CCO is open and responsive, and receptive to
modernizing and strengthening its efforts to serve and protect the public
interest.

National Meeting - November Lq 2OL9, Calgary' Alberta

On November 16, 2OL9, CCO co-hosted, with the Canadian Chiropractic
Protective Association (CCPA), a meeting of all chiropractic regulators
from across Canada, to discuss best practices and challenges around such

common issues as scope of practice, adveftising claims and social media.
A working group has been established with national representation and



169From: Peter Amlinger <dr.peteramlinger@me.com>
Sent: Friday, December 6,2OL91:03 PM

To: cco. i nfo <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - December 6,2019

Awesome message

Dr PJ Amlinger, DC

Chiropractor

On Dec 6,20!9, at 11.:31 AM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote:

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario@D

President's Message - December 6' 2OLg

In my ongoing commitment to communicate with stakeholders, including
members, I am updating you on some recent initiatives at CCO' I am
interested in ensuring CCO is open and responsive, and receptive to
modernizing and strengthening its efforts to serve and protect the public
interest.

National Meeting - November L6,2Ot9, Calgary, Alberta

On November 16, 20t9, CCO co-hosted, with the Canadian Chiropractic
Protective Association (CCPA), a meeting of all chiropractic regulators
from across Canada, to discuss best practices and challenges around such
common issues as scope of practice, advertising claims and social media.
A working group has been established with national representation and
will be spearheaded by the Federation of Canadian Chiropractic. All
regulators have an interest in ensuring patients across the country receive
chiropractic care that is consistent, ethical, competent, and compliant
with standards of practice which are harmonized nationally to the extent



From: Alan Cranton <ac@tba llness.com>

Sent: Monday, December 9,20191:L5 PM

To: cco. i nfo <cco. info@cco.on.ca>
Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - December 6,20L9

Thank you Dennis

I appreciate the love and leadership you pour into our profession. Your tact and

discretion when dealing with adverse situations are signs of your great leadership

in our profession.

I am proud to be a chiropractor under your and councils leadership.

Cheers lo 2O2O

Sincerely
Alan Cranton DC

Member since L985.

Sent from my iPhone

On Dec 6,2O!9, at 1.1:31 AM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote

170

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario@D

President's Message - December q 2OL9

In my ongoing commitment to communicate with stakeholders, including
members, I am updating you on some recent initiatives at CCO. I am
interested in ensuring CCO is open and responsive, and receptive to
modernizing and strengthening its efforts to serve and protect the public
interest.

National Meeting - November L6,201-9, Calgary' Alberta

On November 16, 2OL9, CCO co-hosted, with the Canadian Chiropractic
Protective Association (CCPA), a meeting of all chiropractic regulators



ITEM 4.1 .9

January 27 ,2020, at t2:17 PM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote:
171

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de l'Ontario@D

President's Message - January 27 | 2O2O

Happy New Year!

All members will have received CCO's election documents for the
Spring 2020 elections to CCO Council. During and following the
Spring 20t9 elections, we heard from many stakeholders, including
members, that the level of discourse between and among
colleagues was not as professional and respectful as it should have
been. We listened to your feedback. You will note some
important changes in the election documents for Spring 2020 to
encourage and facilitate the smooth running of a fair election
process, focused on a clear understanding by all candidates that
communications should reflect a commitment to CCO's role and
mandate to regulate chiropractic in the public interest. Some of
these changes include:

Adopting some of the guiding principles from the Royal
College of Dental Surgeons relating to appropriate conduct
during elections;
Establishing an Election Review Committee to include an
individual with expertise on another health regulatory college
to guide the process and provide prompt feedback about
general compliance with CCO's advertising standards and
policies;
Ensuring CCO maintains control over the distribution of
approved material (rather than releasing the e-mail addresses
of individuals in the district); and
Amending the candidate undertaking to include a requirement
to review social media postings to ensure compliance with

a

a

a

a



172

CCO's standards and to remove any potentially embarrassing
content or content inconsistent with CCO's standards, policies
and guidelines.

It is important not only for candidates, but for anyone campaigning
on a candidate's behalf, to make all efforts to ensure all
communications are both professional and respectful. CCO is fully
aware of the actions by other regulators to suspend and reprimand
members who are unprofessional on social media.

I trust everyone would agree that chiropractors who reflect CCO's
core values of integrity, inclusivity, professionalism and high
standards of conduct should be both encouraged and inspired to be
a candidate forCCO's Council. We are at an exciting time in our
history. CCO has moved to new space, there are many changes on
the horizon for the regulation of the health professions, and there
are many opportunities to help shape the future of chiropractic
regulation in Ontario.

I look forward to communicating with each of you further in the
months to come about CCO's ongoing commitment to stay the
course and to ensure members' dues are focused on matters
directly related to public interest protection. I am excited to see
how these elections transpire with a dedicated academic position for
a faculty member from CMCC, whom I anticipate will bring to CCO
discussions the perspective of CMCC as an important stakeholder.

One of the changes on the regulatory horizon is a movement
towards smaller more nimble boards to reflect governance best
practices, and a new system of eligibility requiring that all
appointments to health regulatory councils (both professional and
public) are based on competencies and skill-set selection criteria
which reflect a commitment to public interest rather than
professional or self-interest.

Important leaders in regulation including for example the College of
Nurses and College of Teachers, have made convincing submissions
as to why change is necessary. CCO supports these changes in
principle and looks forward to working with government and others
to bring about enhancements to the self-regulation of the



173

professions including chiropractic. Until changes are considered and
reflected in government action, I trust and hope that the
chiropractic profession will rise to the challenge and stay focused on
ensuring the best candidates are elected. CCO would like to be well
positioned to adapt and adopt to any government policy changes,
and to help influence positive changes to enhance public protection.

I have confidence that the over 5,000 chiropractors in Ontario will
be able to meet this challenge, and I look forward to your ongoing
engagement in all of CCO's work, including on Council, as a non-
Council committee member, peer assessor, or simply an engaged
and interested member of the profession. I too am passionate
about this profession. I look forward to the new composition of
Council and an ongoing demonstration of our accountability to the
public we all serve.

-#o*ln

Dr. Dennis Mizel, President

January 25,2020 - Peer Assessor Training Day

Congratulations to the Quality Assurance Committee for its first Peer Assessor training day

at CCO's new premises. Thank you to CCO's Peer Assessors, 33 members in good standing

from across the province, for being inspirational and focused on continuous quality

improvement to ensure high quality, competent chiropractic care for the public of Ontario!



|TEM 4.1 .10

From: Georgia Allan <

Sent: Monday, JanuarY 27,20201:09 PM

To: cco. i nfo <cco. i nfo@cco.on.ca>

subject: Re: Message from the cco President - January 27 ,2020

Good message and grouP Picture

Georgia

Sent from my iPad

On Jan 27,2020, at t2:t7 PM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario

<cco. info@cco.on.ca> wrote:

174

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario@D

President's Message - January 27 | 2O2O

Happy New Year!

All members will have received CCO's election documents for the
Spring 2O2O elections to CCO Council. During and following the
Spring 2079 elections, we heard from many stakeholders, including
members, that the level of discourse between and among
colleagues was not as professional and respectful as it should have
been. we listened to your feedback. You will note some
important changes in the election documents for Spring 2020 to
encourage and facilitate the smooth running of a fair election



175
From: Mo Bayegan

Sent: Monday, January 27,20201:08 PM

To: cco.i nfo <cco. info@cco.on.ca>
Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - January 27,2020

Thanks for forwarding

Mo

Sent from my iPhone

On Jan 27,2020, at t2:17 PM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario
<cco.info@ cco.on.ca> wrote:

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario@D

President's Message - January 27, 2O2O

All members will have received CCO's election documents for the
Spring 2020 elections to CCO Council. During and following the
Spring 20L9 elections, we heard from many stakeholders, including
members, that the level of discourse between and among
colleagues was not as professional and respectful as it should have
been. We listened to your feedback. You will note some
important changes in the election documents for Spring 2020 to
encourage and facilitate the smooth running of a fair election
process, focused on a clear understanding by all candidates that
communications should reflect a commitment to CCO's role and

Happy New Year!



176
From: GauriShankar
Sent: Monday, January 27,2020 2:22 PM

To: cco.info <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Subject: RE: Message from the CCO President - January 27 ,2020

Dear Dr. Mizel,

Thank you for taking steps to ensure a cleaner election process with your upcoming changes to

the election process.

Incorporating an elections review committee with the expertise of another regulatory board is

transparent and trustworthy for the candidates and their supporters.

Yourcontinued commitment to the current on goings in other professions keeps our professional

board upto date and well informed.
The public of Ontario is in good hands with your guidance at CCO.

Yours truly,

GS

Dr.Gauri Shankar
Prescott Farnily Chiropractic
ll4King St. W.
Prescott, On.
KOE ITO
6tt-q25-3436
613-q25-4974fax
docshankar99@gmail.com
nrww. prescottfam ilychiroPractic.ca

From : College of Chiropractors of Ontario [mailto:cco' info@cco'on.ca]

Sent: Monday, January 27,2020 L2:17 PM

To: docshankar99@gmail.com
Subject: Message from the CCO President - January 27,2020

@d
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario



177
From: lvone De Marchi
Sent: Monday, January 27,2020 2:48 PM

To: cco.info <cco.i nfo@ cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - January 27,2020

Thank you Dennis for the competency you brilliantly espouse to and for our
profession.
lvone

On Jan 27 , 2O2O, at t2:!7 PM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote:

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario@q

President's Message - January 27, 2O2O

Happy New Year!

All members will have received CCO's election documents for the
Spring 2020 elections to CCO Council. During and following the
Spring 20tg elections, we heard from many stakeholders, including
members, that the level of discourse between and among
colleagues was not as professional and respectful as it should have
been. We listened to your feedback. You will note some
important changes in the election documents for Spring 2020 to
encourage and facilitate the smooth running of a fair election
process, focused on a clear understanding by all candidates that
communications should reflect a commitment to CCO's role and
mandate to regulate chiropractic in the public interest. Some of
these changes include:



178
From: Lezlee Detzler
Sent: Monday, January 27,2020 5:56 PM

To: cco.i nfo <cco. i nfo@cco.on.ca>
Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - January 27,2020

Great newsletter!!!
Thank you CCO council , Jo Ann and support staff !!

Another informative, productive annual Peer Assessor

Meeting!
Regards,

Dr Lezlee P Detzler

Sent from my iPhone

On Jan 27 ,2020, at t2:I7 PM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco,info@cco.on'ca> wrote

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario@d

President's Message - January 27, 2O2O

Happy New Year!

All members will have received CCO's election documents for the
Spring 2O2O elections to CCO Council. During and following the
Spring z}tg elections, we heard from many stakeholders, including
members, that the level of discourse between and among
colleagues was not as professional and respectful as it should have
been. We listened to your feedback. You will note some
important changes in the election documents for Spring 2020 to
encourage and facilitate the smooth running of a fair election



179From: Rob MacKay

Sent: Monday, January 27 ,2020 7:45 PM

To: cco.i nfo <cco.info@cco.on,ca>

Subject: RE: Message from the CCO President - January 27 ,2O2O

Great Job Dennis.

It's so important the members see how seriously we take the integrity of our elections

And that we not only listen to feedback, we act on it.

Well done,
Rob

From: College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco'info@cco'on.ca>

Sent: January 27,2O2O L2:17 PM

To: mackavrob@tbavtel.net
Subject: Message from the CCO President - January 27,2O2O

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario@D

President's Message - January 27 | 2O2O

Happy New Year!

All members will have received CCO's election documents for the
Spring 2020 elections to CCO Council. During and following the
Spring 2OI9 elections, we heard from many stakeholders, including
members, that the level of discourse between and among
colleagues was not as professional and respectful as it should have
been. We listened to your feedback' You will note some
important changes in the election documents for Spring 2020 to
encourage and facilitate the smooth running of a fair election
process, focused on a clear understanding by all candidates that
communications should reflect a commitment to CCO's role and



From: PaulGroulx
Sent: Monday, January 27,2020 8:11 PM

To: cco.i nfo <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

180

Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - January 27,2020

Dr Mizel,

Thanks for this message.

It is an exciting time indeed for our profession. Emerging research is compelling, the
percentage of people seeking out Chiropractic care is increasing, chiropractors are being invited

to rapid assessment teams etc. Very exciting indeed.

I am particularly heartened by your comments about maintaining professional and respectful

behavior discussions between members. Disagreement is an important part of growth. The

most rewarding aspect of serving on CCO has been to exercise and expand my ability to be

"skeptical" of my own beliefs. However, it seems that some (in the greater membership) have

taken on a "if you aren't with us you are against us" stance which is harmfulto the public and

demoralizes and silences members.

I am double-minded about the impending election. lt is exciting that people of high character

with unique points of view are eligible to muster their time and talent and throw their hat into

the ring to contribute to our great profession in the public interest! I am also crestfallen that

some will choose not to because of the low standard of behavior so evident in the last election.

I believe the CCO has an important role in protecting the public by laying out clear policies and

guidelines on what is considered acceptable (fair comment) and unacceptable behavior
(innuendo, shaming, ad hominem attacks etc) amongst members. The CCO has begun this
process. Further, the CCO has a duty to demonstrate that there are consequences to these

behaviors. You have made it clear that the CCO has taken notice of behaviors within our

membership (and we have) and I hope this will help protect the election process, which in turn,
protects the public.

Dr PaulGroulx

From: College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on'ca>

Reply-To: <cco.info@cco.on.ca>

Date: Monday, January 27 ,2020 at 12:18 PM

To: PaulGroulx <drgrou mvnepeanchirop .com>

Subject: Message from the CCO President - January 27,2O2O



From: Elizabeth Anderson-Peacock
Sent: Tuesday, January 28,2020 9:55 PM

To: cco.i nfo <cco. i nfo@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Re: Message from the CCO President - January 27 ,2020

181

It is wonderful to read this message.

Nothing is more in the public interest than speaking for what one is for and the

merits of skill sets in a professional way rather than something "different".

Removing bias in election materials, innuendo and words shared behind hidden

rooms, shaming and external influence from an election is in my mind, in the

public interest.

Thank you, thank you, thank You!

Elizabeth Anderson-Peacock
drliz@bellnet.ca
CONFtDENTIAL COMMUNICATION: This email and any files transmitted with it are intended only

for the person or entity to which it is addressed and may contain confidential and/or privileged

material. Any review, ietransmission, dissemination or other use of, or taking any action in reliance

upon this infbrmation by persons or entities other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited. lf
you received this message in error, please contact Dr. Liz Anderson-Peacock immediately and

delete the material.

On Jan 27,2O2O, at I2:L7 PM, College of Chiropractors of Ontario <cco.info@cco.on.ca> wrote:

@D
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

President's Message - January 27, 2O2O

Happy New Year!



2t20t2020 PubliclFind a DoctorlDoctor Detailsl I College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

ITEM 4.1.11

Tjand rawidjaja, M ichael Clarence
CPSO#:97487

Itl PilNTABLEVERSIoN

182

MEMBER STATUS

CPSO REGISTRATION CLASS

Summary
Former Name: No Former Name

Gender: Male

Languages Spoken: English, lndonesian

Education:University of Al berla, 2004

Practice lnformation

Active Member as of 07 M.V 2012

lndependent Practice as of 07 May 2012

PRIMARY LOCATION OF PRACTICE

William Osler Health System

Brampton Civic Hospital
2100 Bovaird Drive East

Brampton ON L6R 3J7
Phone: (9OS) 494-6221

Fax (905) 494-6717 Electoral District 05

VIEW PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION INFORMATION w

HospitaL Privileges

HOSPITAL LOCATION

William Osler - Peel Memorial Centre,for lntegrated Health and Wellness

William Osler Health Centre Etobicoke General Site

William Osler Health Centre-Brampton Civic Hospital

Specialties

Brampton

Toronto

Brampton

TYPEISSUED ONSPECIALTY

lnternal Medicine Effective: 30 Jun 2008

Cardiology Effective: 1 6 Sep 201 0

Terms and Conditions

RCPSC Specialist

doctors.cpso.on.ca/DoctorDetails/Michael-clarence-Tjandrawid1a1alo281759-97487

RCPSC Specialist

1t3



2l2Ol2O2O PubliclFind a DoctorlDocior Detailsl I College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

(1) Dr. MICHAEL CLARENCE TJANDRAWIDJAJA may practise only in the areas of medicine in which Dr. TJANDRAWIDJAJA is educated and
experienced.

183
Registration History

ACTION ISSUE DATE

First certificate of registration issued: lndependent Practice Certificate

Previous Hearings
Committee: Discipline

Decision Date: 25 Jun 2018

Summary:

Effective: O7 May 2012

doctors.cpso.on.ca/DoctorDetails/Michael-Clarence-Tjandrawidja1al0281759-97487 2t3



2t20t2020 PubliclFind a DoctorlDoctor Detailsl I College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

iOn June 25, 2018,the Discipline Committee found that Dr. Michael Clarence Tjandrawidjaja

tcommitted an act of professional misconduct, in that he has engaged in an act or omission relevant to

,the practice of medicine that, having regard to all the circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by

members as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional.

jDr. Tjandrawidjaja is a physician who currently practises as a cardiologist in Brampton. He received

his certificate of registration authorizing independent practice in Ontario in 2012. At the time of the

incidents described below, Dr. Tjandrawidjaja was a member of the Ontario Medical Association

i(OfVnl, the association that represents the political and economic interests of physicians in Ontario

ilt is the exclusive representative of Ontario physieians in negotiations with the Province of Ontario-

Tentative Physician Services Agreement (lPSA")

j

lOn Luly 11,2016, the OMA and the Ontario government reached a tentative agreement dealing with

funding for physician serviees and changes to the physician fee schedule, among other

IPSA. The IPSA was to have a term of four years, and would have replaced a previous

reement, which terminated in 2O14.Ihe IPSA was endorsed by the OMAs Board, including by Dr

ia Walley, who was President of the OMA at the time. The OMA promoted the agreement in the

leading up to a General Meeting, which took place on August 14,2016. On August 14,2016'

OMA membership voted to reject the IPSA.

Dr. Tjandrawidjaja's email of July 31 and August 8,2016

July 30, 2016, OMA members received an email providing information regarding an upcoming

to ratify the IPSA. The email encouraged members to vote in favour of the agreement. lt was sent

m an email address used by OMA staff to communicate publicly about the IPSA, and was signed by

Walley. On July 31,2A16, Dr. Tjandrawidjaja replied by sending the following email to Dr.

ley: "You are a turd". On August 8,2016, Dr. Tjandrawidjaja sent the following email directly to

Walley's personal email address: "Virginia, how much are the liberals bribing you? lt will likely

out at some point." The emails sent by Dr. Tjandrawidjaja were viewed by Dr. Walley as well as

staff who monitored the IPSA email address.

Tjandrawidjaja's response during investigation

r. Tjandrawidjaja provided a response during the investigation, acknowledging the emails were

nappropriate, stating that he regretted sending them, and indicating he wished to apologize to Dr

ley, among other things. ln November 2017,Dr. Tjandrawidjaja completed 4.5 hours of one-on-
professional Communication coaching with Dawn Martin, Communications Specialist and

Consultant, to develop skills related to professional communication and collaboration with

leagues.

184

n

n June 25,2018, the Committee ordered and directed that:

Dr. Tjandrawidjaja appear before the panel to be reprimanded.

Dr. Tjandrawidjaja pay to the College its costs of this proceeding in the amount of $6,000 within

lnirty (s!) from the date of this Order

Hearing Date(s): June 25,2018

doctors.cpso.on.ca/DoctorDetails/Michael-clarence-Tjandrawid1lal0281759-97487 3/3



I
185

Indexed as: Ontario (College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario) v. Tjandrawidjaja.
2018 ONCPSD 39

THE DISCPLINE COMMITTEE OF THE COLLEGE
OF PHYSICIANS AI\D SURGEONS OF ONTARIO

IN THE MATTER OF a Hearing directed by
the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of

Ontario pursuant to Section 26(l) of the Health Professions Procedural Code
being Schedule 2 of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991,

S.O. 1991, c. 18, as amended.

BETWEEN:

THE COLLEGE OF PITYSICIANS AND SURGEONS OF ONTARIO

-and-

DR. MICHAEL CLARENCE TJANDRAWIDJAJA

PANEL MEMBERS: MR. P. PTELSTTCKER (CI{AIR)
DR. M. GABEL
DR. P. TIENDRY
MR. P. GIROUX
DR. M. DAVIE

COUNSEL FOR THE COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS OF ONTARIO:

MS R. AINSWORTH

COUNSEL FOR DR. TJANDRAWIDJAJA:

MS G. BURT

INDEPENDENT COUNSEL FOR THE DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE:

MS Z. LEVY

a
-Jc

o
na
o-
(-)
z
cc

c\

Hearing Date:
Decision Date:
Release of Written Reasons:

June 25,2018
Jlune25,2018
August 1,2018



2

186DECISION AND REASONS FOR DECISION

The Discipline Committee (the "Committee") of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of

Ontario heard this matter at Toronto on June 25,2018. At the conclusion of the hearing, the

Committee released a written order stating its finding that the member committed an act of

professional misconduct, and setting out the Committee's penalty and costs order with written

reasons to follow.

THE ALLEGATIONS

The Notice of Hearing alleged that Dr. Michael Clarence Tjandrawidjaja committed an act of
professional misconduct:

l. under paragraph l(l)33 of O. Reg. 856193, in that he has engaged in an act or omission

relevant to the practice of medicine that, having regard to all the circumstances, would

reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional; and

2. under paragraph 1(1)34 of Ontario Regulation 856l93,made under the Medicine Act, 1991

("O. Reg. 856193"), in that he has engaged in conduct unbecoming a physician.

RESPONSE TO THE ALLEGATION

Dr. Tjandrawidjaja admitted to allegation I in the Notice of Hearing, that he has engaged in an

act or omission relevant to the practice of medicine that, having regard to all the circumstances,

would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional. The

College withdrew allegation 2.

THE FACTS

The following facts were set out in the Statement of Facts and Admission on Liability, which

was filed as an exhibit at the hearing and presented to the Committee:

.Jc(!

O

n_

z

c)
C\I



3

187

I

BACKGROUND

Dr. Michael Clarence Tjandrawidjaja ("Dr. Tjandrawidjaja") is a4}-yearold physician

who currently practices as a cardiologist inBrampton, Ontario. He received his certificate

of registration authorizing independent practice in Ontario in20L2.

At the time of the incidents described below, Dr. Tjandrawidjaja was a member of the

Ontario Medical Association ("OMA").

The OMA is the association that represents the political and economic interests of

physicians in Ontario. It is the exclusive representative of Ontario physicians in

negotiations with the Province of Ontario.

On July II,2016, the OMA and the Ontario government reached a tentative agreement

dealing with govemment funding for physician services and changes to the physician fee

schedule, among other issues. This tentative Physician Services Agreement ("tPSA") was

to have a term of four years, and would have replaced a previous agreement, which

terminated in20l4.

The tPSA was endorsed by the OMA's Board, including by Dr. Virginia Walley, who was

President of the OMA at the time. The OMA promoted the agreement in the weeks leading

up to a General Meeting, which took place on August 14,2016.

6. On August l4,20l6,the OMA membership voted to reject the tPSA.

EMAILS OF JULY 31 AND AUGUST 8,2016

On July 30,20!6,OMA members received an email providing information regarding an

upcoming vote to ratify the IPSA. The email encouraged members to vote in favour of the

agreement. It was sent from an email address used by OMA staff to communicate publicly

about the tPSA, and was signed by Dr. Walley.

Jc

O
o_

z
O

O
N

2

J

4

5

7



4

188
8 on July 3r,2016, Dr. ljandrawidjajareplied by sending the following email to Dr

Walley:

"You are a turdo'

9 On August 8,2016, Dr. landrawidjaja sent the following email directly to Dr. Walley;s

personal email address:

'Virginia,

How much are the liberals bribing you? It will likely come out at some point."

The emails sent by Dr. Tljandrawidjaja are attached at Tab 1 [to the Agreed Statement of
Facts and Admission on Liabilityl.

10. The emails sent by Dr. ljandrawidjaja were viewed by Dr. Wallcy as well as OMA staff

who monitored the tPSA email address.

ADMISSION

ll Dr. Tjandrawidjaja admits the facts set out above, and admits that the conduct described

in paragraphs 8 and 9 constitutes an act of professional misconduct in that he engaged in

conduct or an act or omission relevant to the practice of medicine that, having regard to

all ofthe circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful,

dishonourable or unprofessional contrary to section 1(l)33 of O. Reg. 556193 made

under theMedicine Act, 1991.

FINDING

The Committee accepted as true all of the facts set out in the Statements of Facts and Admission

on Liability. Having regard to these facts, the Committee accepted Dr. Tjandrawidjaja's

-:c

O
c)
n
o-

z
C

N



5

189
admission and found that he committed an act of professional misconduct, in that he has engaged

in an act or omission relevant to the practice of medicine that, having regard to all the

circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful, dishonourable or

unprofessional.

AGREED STATEMENT OF FACTS ON PENALTY

The following Agreed Statement of Facts on Penalty was filed as an Exhibit at the hearing:

Dr. Tjandrawidjaja provided a response during the investigation. In his response, Dr.

Tjandrawidjaja acknowledged the emails were inappropriate, stated he regretted sending

them, and indicated he wished to apolo gize to Dr. Walley, among other things. Dr.

Tjandrawidjaja's response is attached at Tab I [to the Agreed Statement of Facts on

Penaltyl.

In Novemb er 2017,Dr. landrawidjaja completed 4.5 hours of one-on-one Professional

Communication coaching with Dawn Martin, Communications Specialist and Educational

Consultant, to develop skills related to professional communication and collaboration with

colleagues. Dr. Martin's report is attached at Tab 2 fto the Agreed Statement of Facts on

Penaltyl.

PENALTY AND REASONS FOR PENALTY

Counsel for the College and counsel for Dr. Tjandrawidjaja made a joint submission as to an

appropriate penalty and costs order.

The Committee is aware that a joint submission on penalty must be accepted by the Committee,

unless to do so would bring the administration ofjustice into disrepute, or is otherwise contrary

to the public interest (R. v Anthony-Cook,20l6 SCC 43).

=Jc

o
o_

z
00

(f(\
1

2



6

190
The Committee found that the jointly proposed penalty adequately addresses the penalty

principles of specific deterrence of the member, general deterrence of the membership of the

profession, public protection, maintenance of the public confidence in the integrity of the

profession and the College's ability to regulate the profession in the public interest, as well as

rehabilitation of the member.

The egregious and unacceptable communications by Dr Tjandrawidj ajato Dr. Walley, which

were also received by staff at the Ontario Medical Association, undermine basic expectations of
how professional interactions should occur. Counsel for the College introduced as evidence two

College Policies that outline the expectations that the profession has of its members, which were

ignored, or never read by Dr. ljandrawidjaja. The College Policy "Physician Behaviour in the

Professional Environment" states :

"Physicians are expected to act in a respectful, courteous and civil manner toward

their patients, colleagues and others involved in the provision of health care."

It further states:

"Conversely, behaviour that is unprofessional and/or disruptive undermines

medical professionalism and the trust of the public"

In addition:

"Literature shows that these behaviours can negatively impact both the

delivery of quality health care, and patient safety and outcomes by eroding

the effective communication and collaboration that underpin good medical

practice."

The College Policy "Social Media - Appropriate use by Physicians" provides guidance for

physicians as to how to maintain professional obligations in the use of the internet. In the use of
this modality, which includes emails, physicians are expected to:

_Jc
{!r)
(n
c.j
aa
o_

z

N



7

191

"maintain professional and respectful relationships with patients, colleagues and

other members of the health care team."

In addition, the following points are brought to the physicians' attention:

"Assume all content on the intemet is public and accessible to all", and "Protect

their own reputation, the reputation of the profession, and the public trust by not

posting content that could be viewed as unprofessional."

Physicians, by the very nature of their privileged position and the respect given to them by

society, are expected to act in a way that not only justifies this privilege and respect, but also set

an example of how to deal with controversial issues and the stress of daily life.

There is no question that the issues related to the IPSA being debated were controversial and

there were multiple beliefs that were passionately held by members of the medical profession.

There is no question that Dr. Walley and the OMA staff were executing their duties, and were

politely and reasonably expressing what they saw as the best course of action, given the situation

they were facing. To debase the debate by ad ltominem, bullying, juvenile and utterly

disrespectful comments, not only brings Dr. Tjandrawidjaja into disrepute, but negatively

impacts the respect the society has for the entire profession. The Committee must condemn this

behaviour, which cannot be countenanced by the medical profession or the public.

Aggravating Factor

The Committee considered that the aggravating factor here, with respect to penalty, was the

outrageous language of Dr. Ti andrawidj aj a' s communications.

Mitigating Factors

:
--lc

a
a
\.Jz

(\

The Committee considered the following mitigating factors in this case



8

Jc
(c

(t)

nq
o_

z
co

cf(\

a

a

192
o After being notified of the investigation into his conduct in this matter, Dr. Tjandrawidjaja

acknowledged that the emails were inappropriate, he regretted sending them, and he wished

to apologize to Dr. Walley.

Dr. Tjandrawidjaja cooperated in the investigation, thereby sparing the witnesses from the

inconvenience and stress of having to testify at the hearing, and also saving the time and

cost of a contested hearing.

Prior to the hearing, Dr. Tjandrawidjaja completed 4.5 hours of one-on-one Professional

Communication coaching with a Communication Specialist acceptable to the College, in

order to develop skills relating to professional communication and collaboration with

colleagues. The Communication Specialist's report indicated that she was confident "he has

the necessary awareness and skills to make sure this never happens again."

Case Law

Counsel for the parties referred to previous cases, none of which, in the Committee's view, were

directly relevant to the circumstances of Dr. Tjandrawidjaja's case. The Committee considered

the previous cases put before it, but did not rely on them in determining the appropriateness of
the proposed penalty and costs order as these cases did not deal with the same type of behaviour,

Conclusion

The Committee concluded that the ordering of a public reprimand was appropriate to express the

profession's and the public's rejection of Dr. Tjandrawijaja's behaviour. A public reprimand and

the posting on the public register of the Committee's finding and order serves as a specific

deterrent to Dr. Tjandrawidj aja, and as a general deterrent to the profession. It also demonstrates

to the public that such behaviour will not be tolerated by the medical profession.

Costs

The Committee considered this to be an appropriate case in which to award costs to the College,

and that the amount agreed upon by the parties is appropriate for this half-day hearing.



9

ORDER 193

The Committee stated its finding of professional misconduct in paragraph 1 of its written order

of June 25,2018.In that order, the Committee ordered and directed on the matter of penalty and

costs that:

2. Dr. Tjandrawidjaja appear before the panel to be reprimanded.

3. Dr. 1-andrawidjajapay to the College its costs of this proceeding in the amount of $6,000

within thirty (30) days from the date of this Order.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Dr. Tjandrawidjaja waived his right to an appeal under

subsection 70(1) of the Code and the Committee administered the public reprimand.

Jc

n
(/)

z
00

c)
N



2t3t2020 Local surgeon suspended over tweet as regulatory body starts eyeing online decorum I The London Free Press

JENNIFER BIEMAN (HTTPS://LFPRESS.COM/AUTHOR/JBIEMANPOSTMEDIA) Updated: February 2,2024

ITEM 4.1j2 194

Local surgeon suspended over
tweet as regulatory body starts
eyeing online decorum

A1o surgeon's one-month suspens10n over a

Unlock The London Free Press. Register to get unlimited digital access.

You have 4 free articles left.

https://lfpress.com/news/local-news/local-surgeon-suspended-over-tweet-as-reg ulatory-body-starts-eyeing-online-decoru m 1t7



2t3t2020 Local surgeon suspended over tweet as regulatory body starts eyeing online decorum I The London Free Press

195

regulatory body has started putting on online
behaviour - not just clinical conduct, one
expert says.

St. Marys general surgeon Angus Maciver has had his licence to
practice medicine suspended for one month after making a vulgar

tweet about two female physicians on his personal Twitter account in

September 2018.

The 7O-year-old past-president of the Perth County division of the

Ontario Medical Association (OMA) - the group that represents and

negotiates on behalf of Ontario's doctors - recently received a formal

reprimand at the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

disciplinary hearing. He was ordered to pay $6,000 in costs to the

college.

Maciver's tweet took aim at Concerned Ontario Doctors board

members Dr. Kulvinder Kaur Gill and Dr. Ashvinder Kaur Lamba, a

physician advocacy group that has been critical of the OMA, the
agreed statement of facts said. lt referenced a slang term for female
genitalia.

Other tweets by Maciver slammed the two Brampton doctors for
blocking him on Twitter, the agreed statement of facts said.

Unlock The London Free Press. Register to get unlimited digital access.

You have 4 free articles left.

https://lfpress.com/news/local-news/local-surgeon-suspended-over-tweet-as-regulatory-body-starts-eyeing-online-decorum 2t7



2t3t2020 Local surgeon suspended over tweet as regulatory body starts eyeing online decorum I The London Free Press

196

STORY CONTINUES BELOW

Maciver pleaded guilty to the college's charge he engaged in an act or

omission regarded as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional.

The charge that Maciver engaged in conduct unbecoming of a

physician was withdrawn.

Maciver declined comment Wednesday when reached by phone. ln

an email, his lawyer Jennifer McKendry said Maciver accepts the

committee's decision and is looking forward to returning to practice

"in the near future."

The prospect of regulated professionals being slapped for their

online conduct is growing more common, Said one lawyer who

represents members of regulatory colleges in disciplinary actions.

"lt'S certainly something that is a growing area in our practice," Said

Josh Koziebrocki, founder of Toronto-based Koziebrocki Law.

Unlock The London Free Press. Register to get unlimited digital access

You have 4 free articles left.

https://lfpress.com/news/local-news/local-surgeon-suspended-over-tweet-as-regulatory-body-starts-eyeing-online-decorum
317



2t3t2020 Local surgeon suspended over tweet as regulatory body starts eyeing online decorum I The London Free press

197

rise of social media is expanding the scope of discipline-worthy
actions off the job.

"Regulatory colleges can regulate conduct of health professionars

outside of the patient setting," Koziebrocki said. "The proliferation of
social media has created increased scrutiny on the comments of
regulated professionals in these types of mediums."

Since 2018, the college of Physicians and surgeons of ontario has
had at least four disciplinary cases stemming from doctors' online
comments. ln 2016, a Saskatchewan nurse was disciplined for
criticizing her grandfather's end-of-life care in a Facebook post. Her
case is under appeal in the province's highest court.

Earlier this month, the Law society of ontario reprimanded a Toronto
lawyer after he failed to adequately supervise his former articling
student, who made a series of uncivil comments on social media.

The public - and members of regulated professions in Ontario -
should expect more discipline cases over social media conduct in the
future, Koziebrocki said.

"colleges are examining what professionals are putting on mediums
like Twitter and other social media," he said.

"l think the members of these professions need to be mindfur that
when they post something on social media."

j b i e m a n @ @tmesila=cotL(m a i tto :j b i e ma n @retrecfirem)

twitter.com/JenatLFPress (h]tp:/u'twitter.com4en )

TRENDING IN CANADA

0

Unlock The London Free Press. Register to get unlimited digital access.
You have 4 free articles left.

https://lfpress.com/news/local-news/local-surgeon-suspended-over-tweet-as-regulatory-body-starts-eyeing-online-decorum 4t7



1t2712020 Surgeon gets one-month suspension for abusing colleagues on Twitter I Toronto Sun

HotTopics WHATMAoEHIIvIKILL VIDE0 cLAsslFlEDs 0BlTs .l0BS TIIIsWEEK'sILYERs

HOME NEWS SPORTS OPINION ENTERTAINMENT LIFE MORE SUBSCRIPTION

198

Surgeon gets one-month suspension
for abusing colleagues on Twitter
Liz Braun
lvlore from Liz Braun

Published:
January 24,2O2O

Updated:
January 25,2020 9:40 AM EST

Filed Under:
TorontoSUN ) News )

Toronto & GTA

REHTED

.,,.,1'4.

Sex assault
suspect sought

,.1, ...::.

Tips sought in

food

tampering case

ry
L

mlltftr

Dr. Angus Maciver. (CNW Group/Humber River Regional Hospital)

A prominent Ontario surgeon has had his licence suspended for one

month over an unprovoked Twitter attack on two female colleagues.

Dr. Angus Maciver admitted at a disciplinary hearing that he used

shocking and sexualized language to bully and humiliate the other

doctors on the public forum in the fall of 2018.

The College of Physicians and Surgeons suspended his licence for

one month Friday and ordered him to pay $6,OOO toward the cost of

BREAKING:

0ntario's
second coronavirus case
confirmed

SUN
TOR0I'tT0

l

illl
Ih'

ll'

https://torontosun.com/news/local-news/surgeon-gets-one-month-suspension-for-abusing-colleagues-on-twitter 1t6



1t27t2020 Surgeon gets one-month suspension for abusing colleagues on Twifter I Toronto Sun

the hearing

The female Sikh physicians he was insulting - Ashvinder Lamba and

Kulvinder Gill - had no prior conversation with Maciver and had never

met him, the hearing heard.

'READY TO RESPOND!'Ontario's offence plan r...

199
,{[w.si

CRIME SCENE:

Guns seized,
woman shot, human

trafficking

DAITY HEAI

Emailr By clicking"Submit", I con:
communication from Postr
may unsubscribe from the:

Maciver tweeted they were, "overpaid but whining cork soakers" - a

thinly disguised sexual reference. He also tweeted about, "their lack

of the qualities we all expect in a physician, let alone a colleague," and

their selfishness and intolerance.

STORY CONTINUES BELOW

Gill and Lamba are members of a nonprofit called Concerned Ontario

Doctors, which has asked hard questions of the Ontario Medical

Association (OMA) and urged the government to undertake a forensic

review of the medical organization.

Maciver is a senior Ontario surgeon and the former president of the

Ontario Association of General Surgeons. He has held positions of

https://torontosun.com/news/local-news/surgeon-gets-one-month-suspension-for-abusing-colleagues-on-twitter 216



1t27t2020 surgeon gets one-month suspension for abusing colleagues on Twitter I Toronto sun

power, trust and authority with both the OMA and the College of

Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO).

CAUGHT ON CAMERA: lnfected people fall do...

200

r
At the time of the Twitter attack, Gill tweeted she expected such

governing bodies as the OMA, CMA, Federation of MedicalWomen of

Canada and The Ontario Association of General Surgeons to

reprimand Dr. Maciver, but that did not happen.

Gill tweeted of Maciver at the time: "Glimpse of OMAs toxicity. He

feels so empowered that he now publicly makes his racist, sexist &

misogynistic comments."

Although Maciver's apology via Twitter to both doctors was raised at

the hearing, Gill has previously stated that neither she nor Dr' Lamba

has ever seen an apologY.

al Comments
J Share your thoughts

TrendingVideos

https://torontosun.com/news/local-news/surgeon-gets-one-month-suspension-for-abusing-colleagues-on-twitter 3/6



1t27t2020 Surgeon gets one-month suspension for abusing colleagues on Twifter I Toronto Sun

FINDING S0NIA'S KIILER: lt's not a cold case - lils an ongoing investigation

201

RELATED POSTS

l\tl & lttgrxttl W.rsbu tl,z y *r&, tlt*vglzt *v ?,t21*4 itz

* azXit w *r * * *li * rs fi 2t:,r t: t zt s,lt

TOP STORIES

S*x a*savlt **s*€:.tt stlzlg*t 1iltg 1.j1gf;i itr iu,;d rltirl.'r

Sex assault suspect sought

MP Erin O'Toole to kick off Conservative leac

Tips sought in food tampering case

BREAKING: 0ntario's second
c0r0navirus case confirmed

Experts weigh in on protecting
against new coronavirus

Pregnant B.C woman stuck in
Wuhan, China, coronavirus
epicentre

THIS WEEK'S FLYERS

https://torontosun.com/news/local-news/surgeon-gets-one-month-suspension-for-abusing-colleagues-on-twitter 4t6



1t21t2020 Constant Contact

Try email marketing for free today!

rrEM 4.1 .13

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Ghiropraticiens de I'Ontario

Pursuant to By-law 6: Election of Council Members, elections to CCO

Council will be held in Districts 1, 5, 6 and 7 in March 2020.

Please review the documents below for further details. Nomination
papers, candidate undertakings and biographical information must be

received by CCO by February L4, 2O2O at 4 p'm'

Thank you for participating in the self-regulation of your profession.

Notice of Election

Nomination Paper

Candidate Undertaking

College of Chiropractors of Ontario, 59 Hayden Street,
Suite B00, Toronto, Ontario M4Y0E7 Canada

SafeU n s u bscri be" { f eci pte$s-eme.l}-

Upie&-PrStlle I About our service p-lgvideI

Sent by cco.info@cco.on.ca in collaboration with

@rntorrtCpntact*, fr'*

tr'.d
202

https J/campaign-ui.constantcontact.com/campaign/campai gns/list 1t1



203

2A20 Nonce oF ElecrloN AND

NomNATtoN GUIDE FoR

Dmrntcrs In 5, 6 emo 7

College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO)

Nonce

Pursuant to By-law 6: Election of Council
Members, notice is hereby given that elections to
CCO Council will be held in Districts 1, 5, 6 and 7.
Please note: the election in District 1 will be a by-
election for a term of approximately 1 year.
Elections in all other districts will be for a term of
approximately 3 years, including the newly-created
academic position in District 7 fot a member of fac-
ulty of the Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College
(CMCC), elected by the full membership in Ontario.

One member will be elected from each of the follow-
ing districts:

District 1: Northern comprised of the districts of
Kenora, Rainy River, Thunder B.y, Algoma,
Cochrane, Manitoulin, Parry Sound, Nipissing,
Timiskaming, the district municipality of Muskoka;
and the city of Greater Sudbury.

District 5: Central West comprised of the counties
of Brant, Dufferin, Wellington, Haldimand and
Norfolk, the regional municipalities of Halton,
Niagara, Peel and Waterloo, and the city of
Hamilton.

District 6: Western comprised of the counties of
Essex, Bruce, Grey, Lambton, Elgin, Middlesex,
Huron, Perth and Oxford, and the municipality of
Chatham-Kent.

District 7: Academic comprised of the entire
province of Ontario (member of faculty of CMCC).

January 2020

L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Tolf Free:'l -877 -577 -477 2
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco.on,ca
Web site: www.cco.on'ca

ELECTION TIMETABLE
January 21,2020: Notice of Election and

Nomination Guide sent electronically to all

members.

February 14,2020: Nomination Date:
Nomination papers, candidate undertakings
and biographical information in a format
suitable for distribution to voters must be

received by CCO by 4 P.m.

February 21,2O20: Deadline for candidates to
withdraw from the election by 4 p.m. Additional
campaign materialto be circulated by CCO
must be submitted to CCO bY 4 P.m.

March 3,2020: CCO Posts on its
website and distributes by email a list of
candidates and biographical information to
eligible voters in each district.

March 6,2020: CCO distributes by email
additional campaign material submitted by
candidates and reviewed and approved by
cco.

March 9,202O: List of candidates,
biographical information, and voting
procedures sent by email to all eligible voters.

March 16,2020: CCO distributes by email
additional campaign material submitted by
candidates and reviewed and approved by
cco.

March 30,2020:. Votes for Districts 1, 5, 6 and
7 must be received by CCO bY 4 P.m.

March 30,2020; Unofficial election results
announced for Districts 1, 5, 6 and 7.

April 14, 2020: Deadline to make a written
request for a recount with a $150 deposit,
which must be received by CCO by 4 p.m.

April 14, 2020: Election results posted on

CCO's website at www.cco.on.ca.

@il Bflil:??":"1,,"
',, V of Ontario



204CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2020 2

a

Elecror PnoceouRes

Unlike years past, CCO will not be provid-
ing candidates with a list of members in
their districts or mailing labels. However,
CCO will distribute additional campaign
material to members in their districts on
behalf of candidates, in accordance with
the election timetable and campaign guide-
lines.

The elections are carried out by electronic
vote and secret ballot. The Registrar super-
vises all aspects of the election.

Candidates are required to submit their
nomination papers, candidate undertak-
ings and biographical information in a for-
mat suitable for distribution on or before
February 74, 2O2O at 4 p.m. If a candidate
wishes any additional campaign material
to be distributed by CCO, it must be
received by CCO on or before trebruary 21,
2O2O at 4 pm to ensure fairness in the
electoral process. CCO will review all mate-
rials for general consistency with the cam-
paign guidelines for elections, the biogra-
phical information guidelines, the princi-
ples of fair, accurate and appropriate elec-
tion statements and, by analogr, Standard
of Practice 5-016: Advertising, and will for-
ward a response to the candidate as soon
as possible. If you have any questions
about any campaign material, contact
cco.

Reminder: CCO has recently moved and
any documents sent by mail must be
mailed to the new address: 59 Hayden
Street, Suite 800, Toronto, ON M4Y OE7
(continued in next column).

Any additional campaign material and
communications, including written materi-
al, oral presentations/speeches and gener-
al decorum of candidates must comply
with the campaign guidelines for elections
in this document. Material should be
promptly submitted to the CCO Election
Review Committee in advance.

Elections are conducted in a fair and
transparent manner, consistent with dem-
ocratic principles. Failure to comply with
the principles of fairness by candidates
and others may jeopardize the election
process and results.

Elrcrerlrw ro NoMINATE AND/oR Vore

A member holding a General (active),
Inactive or Retired certificate of registra-
tion is eligible to nominate and vote in
the electoral district in which the member,
as of Janualy 1" of the election year, has
his/her primary practice, or if the member
is not engaged in the practice of
chiropractic, in which the member has
his/her primary residence.

A member is ineligible to nominate or
vote in a Council election if he/she is in
default of pa5rment of any fees prescribed
by by-law or any fine or order for costs to
CCO imposed by a CCO committee or
court of law or is in default in completing
and returning any form required by CCO.

a

a

o

a

a

Alliance for Chiropractic
Canadian Chiropractic Associatlon
College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board
Canadian Chiropractic Protective
Association
Federation of Canadian Chiropractic
Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College
Canadian Societ5r of Chiropractic
Evaluators
Ontario Chiropractic Association
Regulated Health Prolessions Act 1991
Universit€ du Qu€bec i. Trois-Rivi€res

Elrcrsr-rw ro SrAND FoR ELEcloN

A member is eligible for election to Council
in an electoral district, if, on the closing date
of nominations and any time up to and includ-
ing the date of the election:

. the member has his/her primary practice
of chiropractic located in the electoral
district in which he/she is nominated or, if
the member is not engaged in the practice
of chiropractic, has his/her primary resi-
dence located in the electoral district in
which he/she is nominated, or the mem-
ber is on faculty of CMCC and primarily
practices in or lives in Ontario (District 7
on$; (continued on next page)

Acnorvus
AFC
ccA
cco
CCEB
CCPA

FCC
cMcc
CSCE

ocA
RHPA
UQTR

@8 ff!i?:;.*.'"
L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco.on.ca
Web site: www.cco,on.ca



205
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2020 3

a

a

a

the member is not in default of payments
of any fees prescribed by by-law or any fine
or order for costs to CCO imposed by a
CCO committee or court of law;

the member is not in default in completing
and returning any form required by CCO;

the member is not the subject of anY
disciplinary or incapacity proceeding;

a finding of professional misconduct,
incompetence or incapacity has not been
made against the member in the preceding
three years;

the member is not, and has not been in the
12 months before the date of election, an
employee, officer or director of any profes-
sional chiropractic association such that a
real or apparent conflict of interest may
arise, including but not limited to being an
employee, officer or director of the OCA'
CCA, CCPA, AFC, CCEB, CSCE or the
Council on Chiropractic Education
(Canada) of the FCC; (continued in next
column)

the member is not an officer, director, or
administrator of any chiropractic educa-
tional institution, including but not limited
to, CMCC and UQTR, such that a real or
apparent conflict of interest may arise;

the member has not been disqualified from
the Council or a committee of the Council
in the previous three years;

the member is not a member of the Council
or of a committee of the college of any other
health profession;

the member has not been a member of the
staff of CCO at any time within the preced-
ing three years;

for District 7 onIy, the member is a mem-
ber of the faculty of CMCC; and

for any district other than District 7, the
member is not eligible for election in
District 7 (i.e. not a member of the faculty
of CMCC).

Tenna oF OFFtcE

a

a

a

Mrssrotl

The College of Chiropractors of Ontario
regulates the profession in the public interest to assure
ethical and competent chiropractic care.

Vtstott

Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public
Interest in a Diverse Environment.

Vllurs

Integrity, Respect, Collaborative, Innovative,
Transparent, Responsive

Srnrreorc Oe.JecrtvEs

1. Build public trust and confidence and promote
understanding of the role of CCO amongst all
stakeholders.

2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical,
and patient-centered.

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote
excellence of care while responding to emerging
developments.

4. Optimize the use of technologr to facilitate regula-
tory functions and communications.

5. Continue to meet CCO's statutory mandate and
resource priorities in a fiscally responsible manner.

Deuelaped at the Strategic Planning Session.'
SePtember 2017

The term of office of a member elected to
Council is approximately three years (approxi-
mately one year for the member elected in
District 1), commencing with the first regular
meeting of Council immediately following the
election (currently scheduled on April 15,
2O2O). Further By-law amendments are antic-
ipated to bring District 1 in sync with a three
year cycle. Incumbents continue to serve in
office until the first regular Council meeting,
unless otherwise disqualified from Council.
By-law 6: Election of Council Members out-
lines the circumstances in which a member
may be removed from Council.

Please note: A member who has served on
Council for nine consecutive years is ineligible
for election to Council until a full three-year
term has passed since that member last
served on Council. A non-Council member
may only serve on CCO committees for nine
consecutive years, whether the time is served
as a Council member or as a non-Council
member.

College of
Chiropractors
of Ontario

L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -477 2
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: cco.info@cco.on.ca
Web site: www.cco.on.ca



206CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2020 4

Role oF CCO AND CouNGtL MEMBERS

CCO is the regulatory body for chiropractors
in Ontario, governed by a 15-16 member
Council comprised of 6-7 public members
appointed by the provincial government and 9
registered chiropractors elected by the mem-
bership.

CCO's legislative mandate is to govern
chiropractic in the public interest. CCO's main
responsibilities include:
. developing standards of admission to the

profession;
. investigating complaints and disciplining

members who have committed acts of
professional misconduct or are
incompetent; and

. implementing a quality assurance program
to ensure continuous quality improvement
in the prol'ession at large, including the
development of standards of practice to
which all members of the profession must
conform.

True GoruurrMENTS

Council membership involves a significant
time commitment, which varies according to
committee. Members attend Council meetings
four or more times per year and may serve on
one or more committees. Preparatory readings
and work for Council and committee meetings
can be extensive. Candidates should also note
that, whenever possible, all Council and
committee meetings are held during regular
business hours, Monday to Friday, from 8:30
a.m. to 5 p.m.

Gonrtpensaror

Council members are compensated for their
time spent on CCO work in accordance with
CCO By-law 9: Remuneration and Internal
Policy l-O12. However, per diems and expens-
es paid by CCO to Council members are
intended to partially offset the cost of a contri-
bution to the self-regulation of the chiropractic
profession rather than to pay for services ren-
dered or to compensate for lost income or the
opportunity to earn income.

Gnmplrcn Guroeunes FoR ELEcloNs ro
CCO Gouncu

The following guidelines are for candidates for
election or re-election to CCO Council and any
member who produces or distributes cam-
paign material on behalf of a candidate. These
guidelines are intended to apply to the candi-
date biography, additional material distributed
by CCO, any other written campaign materials
distributed by any means, including email,
websites or social media, oral
presentations/speeches and general decorum
of candidates. It is each candidate's responsi-
bility to ensure that his/her campaign materi-
al and behaviour complies with the campaign
guidelines:

Do the following:

Be respectful, polite, dignified and profes-
sionef in everything you do;

Announce your qualifications rather than
denouncing another candidate's qualifica-
tions;

Rely on and promote information that is
both factual and provable;

Focus on your ideas and the positives that
you have to offer;

Ensure the words you use are inclusive
and would not offend any specific group;

Remember the public interest mandate of
CCO and don't make any promises that
could be viewed as inconsistent with that
mandate;

Comply with CCO regulations, standards
of practice, policies and guidelines, includ-
ing, but not limited to: CCO's Code of
Ethics, CCO's Code of Conduct, the
Candidate Undertaking, the Professional
Misconduct Regulation, Policy P-O 1 1:
Conflict of Interest for Council and
Committee Members, Standard of Practice
S-016: Advertising, Guideline G-016:
Advertising and common law; and
(continued on next page)

a

a

a

a

a

@D gFlt?:,#.'"
L'Ordre des
Ghiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922.6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -477 2
Fax: (416) 925.9610
E.mail: cco.info@cco.on,ca
Web site: www.cco,on.ca



207
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2020 5

a Remember that you are a professional and
a member of a regulated health profession
and so are other candidates.

Do not do the following:

Include any information or material that is
false or misleading, not readily compre-
hensible by the persons to whom it is
intended, or disgraceful, dishonourable or
unprofessional;

Compare yourself to another member's or
other health care provider's practice, qual-
ification or expertise;

Imply, in any way, that CCO or anY CCO
Council or committee member supports
your candidacy; or

Mount a personal or professional attack on
any candidate.

Non-compliance with the guidelines may
result in a private or public direction issued by
CCO during the election and a review as to
whether the election is valid after the votes are
counted. Non-compliance may result in the
election of a district being recalled.

Professional, respectful discourse
is essential
to a fair election process!

Guroelnes ro CANDTDATES FoR PRovlDlNG

BroeRlpxrcAl INFoRMATIoN

In addition to the guidelines above, a
candidate's biographical information must
meet the following guidelines.

Biographical information must:

Reflect CCO's role in protecting the public
interest and be typewritten on one 8.5" x
ll"-page white bond paper with a mini-
mum of one-inch margins on all four sides,
in portrait format (not landscape);

The candidate's name must appear on the
top ofthe page.

The candidate's photograPh may be
included - head and shoulders only.

Candidates must NOT imply, in any way,
that CCO or any CCO Council or commit-
tee member supports their candidacy.

Candidates MUST include the following
statement verbatim in their biographical
information and, based upon it, describe
in the statement how they would con-
tribute to the regulation of chiropractic in
the public interest:

a

a

a
a

a

a

"Chiropractors u;ho are elected will reflect
their commitment to the public's ight to
safe, effectiue and ethical chiropractic care'"

In addition to the candidate biography,
candidates may submit two additional pieces
of campaign material that CCO will distribute
to eligible voters in their district in accordance
with the election timetable. This additional
campaign material must comply with CCO
election guidelines, be received by CCO on or
before February 2I,2O2O, 4 pm, and only be
written material typewritten on one 8.5" x 11"-
page white bond paper with a minimum of
one-inch margins on all four sides, in portrait
format (not landscape).

ch
College of

iropractors
Ontario

L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco,info@cco.on,ca
Web site: wwwcco.on.ca

of



208
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2020 6

CGO Committees

Statutory:

. Executive

. Inquiries, Complaints and Reports

. Discipline

. Fitness to Practise

. Paticnt Rclations

. Quality Assurance

. Registration

Non-Statutory:

. Advertising

Thank you for
participating
in the self-
regulation

of your profession!

Cunnerur CCO Gounct

ELECTED MEMBERS

Name

*Dr. Kristina Peterson, Thunder Bag
Dr. Paul Groulx, Stittsuille
Dr. Steven Lester, Pickering
Dr. Brian Budgell, Toronto
Dr. Janet DArcy, Toronto
**Dr. David Starmer, Toronto
**Dr. Peter Amlinger, Mi.ssissauga
Dr. Dennis Mizel, St. Cathaines
***Dr. Clifford Hardick, London

Name
Ms Georgia Allan, Smiths Falls
Ms Karoline Bourdeau, Toronto
Ms Robyn Gravelle Michelutti, Burlirryton
Mr. Rob MacKay, Thunder Bag
Mr. John Papadakis, Scarborough
Ms Sheryn Posen, Toronto

Date Order-in Gouncil Expires
September 2020
JuLy 2O2O
May 2O2O
November 2021
June 2022
November 2021

District Term of Office
(April to April)
2017-2020
20L9-2022
2019-2022
2018-202r
2019-2022
2017-2020
2017-2020
20r8-202t
2017-2020

1

2
3
4
4
4
5
5
6

Yerm of office expires April 2020. Eligible for re-election. Di.strbt 1 will lnue a bg-election
in 2O2O for a one-gear terrn,
**Term of oJfice expires Apil 2O20. Eligible for re-election in District 7 (Dr. Starmer) and
in Distict 5 (Dr. Amlinger).
***Term of office expires April2O2O. Not eligible for re-election hauing reached nine con-
secutiue Aears.

PUBLIC MEMBERS

@d gl[l?:n"j'*" 
hr"fl[,,:1ii:"""

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco,on.ca
Web site: www.cco.on,ca

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7



209
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2020 7

Elecrorus Quesnots & At{swens

Q. What is the purpose of the election of
professional members to the Gouncil?

A. The RHPA and the Chiropractic Act, 1991
provide for the election of the majority of
the Council from among the membership
of the profession. Since chiropractic is a
self-regulating profession, it is important
that the majority of the Council be mem-
bers of the profession. While there could be
a number of ways for the professional
members to be chosen, the legislation
requires an election system to ensure that
Council members have the confidence and
respect of those whom they regulate.

A. ls the election of Gouncil members similar
to the election of MPPs?

A. While the form of election is somewhat
similar (i.e., voting for candidates by secret
ballot), the purpose is actually quite differ-
ent. Your MPP represents the interests of
those who elected him/her. A Council
member does not represent the specific
interests of chiropractors, but rather the
broader public interest as described in the
RHPA.

CCO, unlike the legislature, is a corpora-
tion. The Council, as the Board of
Directors of the corPoration, has a
fiduciary (trust) duty to fulfill the public
interest mandate of the corporation /CCO
and not the specific interests of the
professional electorate.

A. Does a Gouncil member represent his/her
constituents?

and the Chiropractic Act, 199 I is the public
interest. If a chiropractor from a Council
member's district has a problem with CCO,
it would be inappropriate for the Council
member to intervene on the chiropractor's
behalf with the pertinent committee or
CCO staff person.

O. How does this affect a candidate's
'campaign' materials?

A. While people sometimes do refer to the
election process as a 'campaign', this, too,
is a bit of a misnomer. Candidates for
election can and should provide informa-
tion about themselves and their
philosophy to the other chiropractors in
their district to assist them in making an
informed choice.

However, there is not really a role for cam-
paign 'promises'or statements about how
a candidate, if elected, will decide specific
matters that might arise in the future' In
addition, candidates are strongly urged to
forward their campaign material to CCO
before distribution to ensure the elections
are conducted in a fair manner.

Q. Why, then, are Council members elected
from districts?

A. Perspective. Having Council members
elected from various districts ensures that
the perspective of all chiropractors, not
just those from one region (e.9., the
Greater Toronto Area), is reflected on
Council. Some issues might have a
different impact on the public from rural or
northern areas, small towns, medium-
sized cities and Toronto. It is important
that atl perspectives are heard, including
the perspective of the newly created
District 7, Academic.

A. No, a Council member does not have
constituents. A Council member is some-
what like the trustee of an estate: he/she
acts in the best interest of the beneficiary,
not the persons who selected him/her as
Trustee. The beneficiary under the RHPA

This notice explains the election rules established under t!;,e Chiropractic Act, 1991. To the

extent of any inconsistency, the legislation and the by-laws govern. If you have any questions,
please contact CCO at {4161922-6355.

Gollege of
Chiropractors
of Ontario

L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -477 2
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco.info@cco,on.ca
Web site: www.cco.on.ca

K@



210
CCO Notice of Election and Nomination Guide, January 2020 8

CCO ELECTORAL DISTRICTS
[map not to scale, illustrative of

districts onlyl

Thunder &y

District 1: Northern comprised of the dis-
tricts of Kenora, Rainy River, Thunder Bay,
Algoma, Cochrane, Manitoulin, Parry
Sound, Nipissing, Timiskaming; the district
municipality of Muskoka, and the city of
Greater Sudbury.

NORTHERN ONTARIC

District 3: Gentral East
comprised of the counties of
Haliburton, Northumberland,
Peterborough, and Simcoe,
the city of Kawartha Lakes,
the regional municipality of
Durham and the township
of Scugog.

ndsbr

District 6: Western
comprised of the counties
of Essex, Bruce, Grey,
Lambton, Elgin, Middlesex,
Huron, Perth and Oxford,
and the municipality of
Chatham-Kent.

District 2: Eastern
comprised of the counties of
Frontenac, Hastings, Lanark,
Prince Edward, Renfrew
Lennox and Addington; the
united counties of Leeds and
Grenville, Prescott and
Russell, Stormont, Dundas
and Glengarry and the
City of Ottawa.

District 4: Gentral
comprised of the city
of Toronto and the
regional municipality
of York.

District 5: Gentral West
comprised of the counties of
Brant, Dufferin, Wellington,
Haldimand and Norfolk, the
regional municipalities of
Halton, Niagara, Peel and
Waterloo, and the city of
Hamilton.

1

I
5dult StE ttiaf e

I
.-1

SOUTHERN ONTARIO

@a ffll?:#*"
L'Ordre des
Chiropraticiens
de I'Ontario

59 Hayden Street
Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355
Toll Free: 1 -877 -577 -4772
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : cco,info@cco.on.ca
Web site: www.cco.on,ca



211

UruoenrRKNG To rHE CCO ReclsrnRR FRoM Cmoloere
College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) January 2020

Note to elected members of CCO Council: Initial the box/boxes that apply. Leave blank box/boxes that do not apply

and provide an explanation on q separqte page.

l, _, candidate for GCO Council in District _, undertake to the
Registrar as follows:

Districts 1, 5 and 6

(a) I am not a member of faculty at CMCC.
_AND-

(b) My primary practice of chiropractic is located in the electoral district for
which I was nominated.

- oR-
(c) I am not engaged in the practice of chiropractic and my primary residence is

located in the electoral district for which I was nominated.

AND

I

OR

District 7

(a) I am a member of faculty of CMCC (attach document to confirm).
. AND.

(b) I primarily practise in or live in Ontario.

ANI)

2 I am not:
. in default ofpayments ofany fees prescribed by by-law or any fine or order for costs to CCO

imposed by a CCO committee or court of law.
o in default in completing and retuming any form required by CCO.
o the subject ofa disciplinary or incapacity proceeding.

. an employee, officer or director ofanyprofessional chiropractic association such that a real or
apparent conflict of interest may arise, including but not limited to being an employee, officer or

director of the AFC, OCA, CCA, CCPA, CCEB, CSCE or the Council on Chiropractic Education
(Canada) of the FCC1,

. afi officer, director, or administrator of any chiropractic educational institution, including but not

limited to, CMCC and UQTR, such that a real or apparent conflict of interest may arise.

r a faculty member of CMCC (except for District 7)2.

. a member of the Council or of a committee of the college of any other health profession.

Ifapplicable, I have attached to this undertaking a copy ofall letters ofresignation

from my position as an employee, officer or director of any professional chiropractic association or an

officer, director or administrator ofany chiropractic educational institution such that a real or apparent

conflict of interest may arise.

I The effective date on which the candidate must not be an employee, officer or director ofany professional chiropractic

association, or an officer, director or administrator ofany chiropractic educational institution such that a real or apparent conflict

of interest may arise, is the closing date of nominations and any time up to and including the date of the election (i.e., before the

election results are known). Copies of relevant letters of resignation must be filed with CCO, along with the candidate's

nomination papers. The candidate should take all reasonable and necessary steps to ensure he/she is not reflected in any

documents or on any websites as an employee, officer or director ofany professional chiropractic association, or an officer,

director or administrator of any chiropractic educational institution, such that a real or apparent conflict of interest may arise.
2 The effective date on which the candidate must not be a faculty member of CMCC (except for District 7) is the closing date of
nominations and any time up to and including the date of the election (i.e., before the election results are known).

J

I

I



Undertaking to the CCO Registrar from Candidate, Version Date: January 2020 2

212
4.

5

6.

7

8

9

Ifapplicable, I have taken all reasonable and necessary steps to ensure I am not
reflected in any documents or on any websites as an employee, officer or director of any professional
chiropractic association or an officer, director or administrator ofany chiropractic educational
institution such that a real or apparent conflict of interest may arise.

I undertake to maintain all confidentiality within the election process, including but
not limited to, maintaining confidentiality with respect to which members voted or did not vote and
which members may have submitted spoiled ballots.

I have not:
. been disqualified from the Council or a committee of the Council in the previous three years.
. served on Council for nine consecutive years without a full three-year term passing since I last

served on Council.
. been a member of the staff of the College at any time within the preceding three years.

A finding of professional misconduct, incompetence or incapacity has not been made against
me in the preceding three years.

I confirm I have reviewed my active personal and business communications, including those
on social media, and there is no current content that could embarrass or harm the reputation of CCO
or give cause to consider that I am unable or unwilling to comply with CCO's mission, vision, values,
strategic objectives and by-laws, and the duty to be fair and impartial in all considerations.

I undertake to:
r review and comply with CCO's provisions, including the Code of Conduct, CCO Internal Policy

I-015: Policy to Avoid Abuse, Neglect and Harassment and CCO's mission, vision, values and
strategic objectives,

r review CCO's orientation material and attend any relevant training workshop,
r participate in CCO's Peer and Practice Assessment Program within six months of

my election (if I have not already been peer assessed by that time), and
r participate as a member of a discipline panel or fitness to practise panel if selected by the Chair

of the Discipline or Fitness to Practise Committee, unless I have a conflict of interest.

10. I confirm that I have access to and agree to use the following confidential e-mail address for any and
all CCO matters:

11. I confirm all the information in this undertaking is accurate, complete and true.

t2. I further undertake to advise the Registrar forthwith of any change in the above-noted
statements.

13. I understand it is an act of professional misconduct to fail to comply with an undertaking
to the Registrar.

I

I
Candidate's Name Candidate's Signature Date

Witness'Name Witness' Signature Date



213

Eleclott NotvlttATtoN PapeR - ElecroRAL Dlsrnlcrs 1, 5, 6 eruo 7
College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) January 2020

The Election Nomination Paper must be received with the Candidate Undertaking Form

at CCO by 4 p.m. on February 14,2020. Please type or print neatly, using black ink.

Forms may be faxed to GGO at 416'925-9610.

Candidate's Registration Number:

Business Phone: ( )

We, the undersigned members of CCO, eligible to vote in Electoral District

(Name of Candidate)

as a candidate for the March 2020 election to CCO Council

(Electoral District)

nominate
(City / Town)

of

Business Address

Nominator's Namel
(please print)

City / Town Registration
Number

Signature

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

Confidential E-mail Address:

CANDIDATE'S CONSENT: I consent to allow my name to stand for election as a member of CCO for the

Electoral District of 

-and 

agree to serve if elected.

Candidate's Name Candidate's Signature Date

I Minimum of l0 eligible members who support the nomination and who are eligible to vote in the electoral district

is required.



Joel Friedman 214
From:
Sent:
To:
Subiect:
Attachments:

|TEM 4.1.14
Joel Friedman

Friday, February 14,2020 4:04 PM

Jo-Ann Willson
Elections Update: Close of Nominations - February 14,2020 at 4 p.m.

Memo ra nd u m E I ection Febl 42020.pdf

Good afternoon:

I am forwarding this on behalf of Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel.

Please see attached memo for details at the close of nominations for CCO Council today, February t4,2O2O at 4 p.m

Joel D. Friedman, BSc, LL.B

Director, Policy and Research

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, Ontario M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416)922-6355 ext. 104

Toll Free: L-877 -577 -477 2

Fax: (415) 925-9610
E-mail : ifriedman @cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CON FIDENTIALITY WARN ING :

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s)

named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error,
please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or
making a copy. Thank you.

1



215

lo

MCTTIIORRNDUM

CouecE oF CnlRopRAcroRS op OnreRlo

Gandidates
Council
Non-Council Gommittee Members
Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy and Research

Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

February 14,2020

Elections Update: Close of Nominations - February 14,2020 at
4 p.m.

GC:

From:

Date:

Subject:

Glose of Nominations

Please note that as of the close of nominations at 4 p.m. today, the following candidates had

submiffed nomination papers for election to CCO Council:

Candidates

Please note that CCO encourages candidates to forward proposed campaign material (including

two additional pieces of campaign material to be distributed by CCO and any other campaign

material)toCCoviae.mail@orfax(4|6-925-96l0)byFebruary21',
202014 pm to ensure fairness in the election process. CCO will review all material for general

consistency with the campaign guidelines in the notice of election and the principles of fair,

accurate and appropriate election statements ando by analogy, Standard of Practice S-016:

District Candidates
1: Northern Dr. Kristina Peterson

Dr. Michael Staffen

5: Central West Dr. Dwight Chapin
Dr. Sarah Green

6: Western Dr. Michelle Campbell
Dr. Colin Goudreau

7: Academic Dr. David Starmer



Close of Nominations Memorandum dated February L4,2OZO 216 2

Advertising, and will forward a response to the candidate following review. If you have any
questions about any campaign material or campaign activities, contact cco.

Please note that the deadline for candidates to withdraw from the election is February 21,2020
by 4 p.m. (please referto the notice of election and nomination guide dated January 2020).
Thank you to all candidates for expressing an interest in participating in the self-regulation of the
chiropractic profession by serving on CCO Council.

Council and Committee Members

Please note that Policy P-011: Conflict of lnterest for Council and Committee members provides
in part:

It is considered a conflict of interestfor a Council member or non-Council Committee
member to use his/her position on Council or a committee to:

campaign publiclyfor or on behalf of any person, other than himself/herself:
o in an! election to CCO Council ...

[e.9., it would be inappropriate for a candidote to use election material which includes
comments such as "endorsed by Dr. X, CCO Committee Chair," etc.J. ...

Please contact me if you have any questions or concems. Thank you.



PROFESSIONAL
REGULATION

|TEM 4.1 .16

ABOUT LAKEVIEW CONSULTING EXPERIENCE

224

Founded inJune 2019 by
Daniel Faulkner, Lakeview
Regulatory Consultants Inc.
specializes in health and non-
health professional regulation

SKILLS

Extensive experience in
strategy development and
execution, governance,
partnership building,
program development and
growth

Collaborative, persuasive
leadership with an
entrepreneurial spirit

Key change improvements
include measuring regulatory
effectiveness, pan-Canadian
initiatives (international
physicians, physician
assessment) with sustainable
results, and program launch

o o o o

EXECUTIVE LEAD . MEDICAL COUNCIL OF CANADA ' GURRENT

Iraunching a Pan-Canadian, standardized multisource feedback
program for practising physicians

INTERIM PROGRAM DIRECTOR . FEDERATION OF MEDICAL

REGULATORY AUTHORITIES OF CANADA . CURRENT

Launching a Pan-Canadian program using evidence-informed
physician risk and support factors to achieve regulatory
excellence

CONSULTANT . HEALTH PROFESSION REGULATOR 'CURRENT
Revitalizing Quality Assurance strategy and program by advising
and facilitating with the Board, Committee and Registrar of health
professional regulator in Vancouver, BC

CONSULTANT . HEALTH PROFESSION REGULATOR ' SEPT - NOV

20L9
Completed a compliance audit of the Quality Assurance Program

of a health professional regulator in Toronto, Ontario

BOARD MEMBER . TOUCHSTONE INSTITUTE ' 2OL7 . CURRENT

Touchstone Institute provides competency evaluation expertise
for licensure and practice decisions with many health disciplines
across Canada

WWW.LINKEDIN.COM/!N/
DANIET-FAUtKNERl

FAULKN ERDAN1.@BELL.N ET @FAULKNERDAN'- 4L6-459-7L82



225TEADERSHIP

Co-Chair, College
Performance Measurement
Framework, Ministry of
Health and Long Term Care
Dec 2018 -Jan2O2O

Member, International
Regulatory Expert Working
Group, Australia (AI{PRA)
April20l9 - Current

Member, Work Group to
Study Risk & Support Factors
Affecting Physician
Performance, USA (FSMB)
Dec 2019 - Current

Co-Chair, Pan-Canadian
Steering Gommittee for
Physician Risk and Support
Factors 2Ol4 - 18

Chair, Practice Ready
Assessment Steering
Committee, Canada
(International Medical
Graduate Assessments) 2Ol2
-20t7

WORK EXPERIENCE

INTERIM CEO & REGISTRAR . COLLEGE OF PHYSICIAN & SURGEONS
OF ONTARIO. MARGH . JUNE 2018
Successfully led media relations for Toronto Star investigative
report on transparency; launch of an internal governance review;
and regulation development with MOHLTC for sexual abuse and
transparency in BilI87

DEPUW REGISTRAR . GOLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS & SURGEONS OF
oNTARIO .20L2-20L9
Founding member of Quality Management Partnership with
Cancer Care Ontario, built evaluation unit for regulatory
effectiveness, developed multi-year evaluation of physician
licensure pathways, staff oversight and internal lead of four
Government reviews of CPSO; accountable for all operational
support areas and research & evaluation

DTRECTOR QUAL|TY MANAGEMENT . COLLEGE OF pHyStCtANS &
SURGEONS OF ONTARIO . 2OO7 .2OL2
Oversight of core regulatory functions (assessment, registration)
managing significant volumes (eg. 2500 assessments/year; 4500
licenses issued/year) with grovuth mandate and major issue
management (Fairness Commission mandate, cosmetic surgery
overhaul)

NUMEROUS MANAGEMENT ROLES . COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS &
SURGEONS OF ONTARTO . 1994 - 2007

2IPAGE



Guroeltne
G-009

Code of Ethics
rrEM 4.1.19

233
Quality Assurance Committee
Approved by Council: February 28' 1'998

Amended: February 14,2012, November 29,2078

Note to readers: In the eaent of any inconsistency between this document snd the legislation that

fficts chiropractic practice, the legislation goaetns.

lnreHr

To advise members of their obligation to act competently and ethically in the

practice of their profession.

DescRlploN oF GUIDELINE

Chiropractors have been granted the privilege of self regulation, a privilege that

obliges them to act competently and ethically ir-r the practice of their profession. In

,o d"oing, they shall rnalntain recognized standards of practice of chiropractic care

while also observing professional values. Their commitment to such plactice shall

ensure public trust,"collaboration with their colleagues, and the integrity and

dignity of the profession'

The ethical values that guide the profession are identified here. These principles are

intended to aid chiroprictors individually and collectively in rnaintaining a high

level of ethical conduct.

Chiropractors shall:

1. practise only within the limits of professional and personal competence;

2. practise in surroundings that shall not compromise the quality of care offered;

3. act always with personal integrity while also trying to acquire and maintain the

confidence and respect of their patients;

4. render care to those who seek it, without discrimination on the basis of race,

ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual

orientaiion, gender iJentity, gender expression, age, marital status, family

status, socio-economic status or disability, and interact truthfully with their

patients;

5. have the well-being of patients as their Paramount objective and shall:

. provide appropriate and necessary care;

r not offer to guarantee a cure to his/her patients, either rterball)' or in writing;

1

College of Chiropractors ol Ontario



Guroeltrue
G-009

Gode of Ethics

234

clearly communicate to patients all fees and practices related to chiropractic
care, including policies and procedures related to billing arrangements,
billing of insurance companies and third-pariy payors;

neither exaggerate nor minimize the gravity of a patient's condition, nor
apply pressure or duress to a patient;

collaborate with other recognized health care practitioners so the patient
shall have the benefit of coordinated team care;

never abandon patients without due regard for their welfare once they have
been accepted into the practice. If, for any reason, a member wishes to
withdraw from a case (e.g., an issue of self-respect or dignity, or the need
for assistance for the patient of somconc more skilled), the member shall
give the patient sufficient notice of withdrawal of care so as to permit them
tn secrrre an alfernatp care provider, if appropriate;

avoid conflict of interest in caring for their patients (i.e., they shall not take
physical, mental, social, sexual, cullural or {inaltcial advantage of patients);
and

endeavour to enstrre, in advance of any examination or care, that
patients understand any legal responsibility 61the member to third
parties (so as to protect the patient's interests);

6. el'rsure that the capabie patient has an ongoing opportunity to make an
informed and voluntary choice for chiropractic intervention or non-intervention,
and ensure that the non-capable patient has a capable substitute decision maker
who acts for the patient in making choices that are informed, voluntary,
continuing and non-contrary to the previously expressed wishes of the patient.
In the absence of such previously expressed wishes, or in the ignorance of them,
the member shall ensure that any decision taken by the substitute
decision-maker is in the best interest of the patient; and

7. respect and maintain privacy and confidentiality with regard to personal health
information obtained from patients or from colleagues concerning patients.
Such information shall be disclosed only with the consent of the patient (except
when the law requires the rnember to do otherwise), in circumstances of
inter-professional consultation or when the harm of keeping confidentiality is
greater than the harm that results from breaching confidentiality.

B. not judge fellow members, their qualifications or the procedures they use,
except as may be required in the interests of the health of patients;

a

a

a

o

a

2

College of Chiropractors ol Ontario



Guloellrue
G-009

Code of Ethics

235

g. not take over a case which, or tecently has beert under the care of another

member, except:

. ln an emergency;

. in consultation with the previous member;

. when the previous member has relinquished the case; or

r the patient has stated he/she no longer wishes to attend the previous

member;

10. work collaboratively with other members and health professionals in terms of

patient care (e.g., iniormation sharing, care, consultation and education);

11. Not engage in any in-person or online bullying, intimidation or harassment; and

12. only enter contractual agreements, regarding his/her professional services'

r,r,hich have terms that aie equitable and agreeable to all parties and maintain

professonial integrity and offer high quality care'

13. conduct him/hersetf with dignity so as to bring honour to the profession;

14. have one 1evel of billing, except on compassionate grounds or when

professional bodies ha.re negotiated fee schedules with different payor agencies.

They shall bring their practiie to public attention only in accordance with

acceptable proflssionai standards of practice and within applicable legislation;

15. encourage ongoing professional and public education regalding chiropractic

practiceiand issist in educating ne\ / members of the profession; and

16. recognize that ongoing professional research is necessary so as to advance the

practice of the Profession.

17. claim only qualifications possessed, represent accurately the nature of 
.

chiropraciic treatment, and convey correct information when interpreting

scientific knowledge;

18. comply urith ail governing legislation (with ongoing attention given to cunent

,"q,r1r"*..ts unler the Regulnted Health Professiorts Act, 1991, as amended,

Chiropractic Act, 1991, the Henling Arts Radiqtion Protectiort Act, and the

regulations under those acts); and

3

College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Guroeune
G-009

Gode of Ethics

236

20. comply with the code of ethics, by-laws, standards of practice, policies and
guidelines duly approved by CCO and report unprofessional conduct on the
part of other members to the appropriate review body of CCO; and

21. cooperate and assist CCO in a timely manner and assist CCO in its professional
work.

1.9. endeavour to improve the standards of chiropractic services within the
community.

I

4

College ol Chiropractors ol Ontario



Rose Bustria 237ITEM 4.1.20

Jo-Ann Willson
Monday, January 20,2020 9:51 AM
Rose Bustria

FW: CV

CV 2020.docx

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

Executive (January 29,2O2O) and Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel
*Note Address Change

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.111
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: iDwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, please notiff me immediately by reply e-mail

and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Hanno Weinberger <weinbergerhk@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, January 20,2O2O 9:34 AM
To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>
Subject: CV

Good morning Jo-Ann.
Attached please find my CV.

Thanks and have a good day...Hanno

1



238
Hanno Weinberger

weinbergerhk@gmai 1. com

Education:
BA/BSW 1975 McMaster University
BEd 1976 Hamilton Teachers" College

Employment:
Halton District School Board 1976 - 2014

Teacher - elementary panel

College of Denturists of Ontario:
Council member (appointe d) 2012 - 2019

Quality Assurance Committee (chair 2017 - 2019) 2012 - 2019
Registration Committee 2012 - 2015
Professional Practice Committee 2013 - 2015
Discipline Committee, chair 2014 - 2019
Executive Committee, chair 2015 - 2017,2079
Council President 2015 - 20L7,2019
Qualifuing Exam Review Committee 2018
Patient Relations Committee 2018 - 2019

College of Massage Therapists of Ontario:
Presentation to Council on the role of Committee Chair and Discipline
Hearing Panel Chair - June 2019

College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of
Ontario:

Pre Hearing presiding officer 2017 - 2018

College of Naturopaths of Ontario:
Pre Hearing presiding officer 2015 -

Ontario College of Trades:
Discipline Committee 2014 -
Pre Hearing presiding officer 2014 -
Chair, Discipline Hearing Panels 2014'



239
Ontario College of Teachers:

Council (elected) 2006 - 2012
Discipline Committee 2006 - 2012
Fitness to Practise Committee 2006 - 2012 (chair 2009 - 2012)
Nominations Committee 2006 - 2012
Stakeholder Relations Committee, chair (ad hoc) 2008-2009
Executive Committee 2009 - 2012
Scholarship Committee (ad hoc) 2011 - 2012
Discipline and Fitness to Practise Committees, roster member 2012 - 2015

College of Dental Hygienists of Ontario:
Facilitated/Chaired Council Meeting discussion re: proposed By-Law
amendments - February 2015

Art Gallery of Hamilton:
Docent 2012 -
Volunteer Committee Executive, Docent Liaison 2A1,3 - 201,5

Volunteer Committee Executive, Vice Chair 2015 - 2017
Volunteer Committee Executive, Chair 2017 - 2019
Volunteer Committee Executive, Past Chair 2019 -
Board of Directors 2017 - 2019
Acquisition Committee, Vice Chair 2018 -



1t22t2020

( Home

Animal chiropractic becoming more common place with canadian pet owners I cTV News

OllVNews
359

RTHERN ONTARIO i NEWS ITEM 4.1.29

Animol chiroproctic becoming more common ploce with
Conodion Pet owners

r\ lon Compbell
U CTV News Northern Ontorio Videojournolist

. i fn V @CTVlonComPbell I Contoct

Published Tuesdoy, Jonuory 2l.2O2O 9:l2AM EST

i!':e *r, '.r:iii *ri i:: iii :iel:i:r;is

sHARE Jl ul y| g$ H
-UDBURy -- Sudbury chiroproctor Dr. Sherrie Guillet hcs been treoting spines in the City of Greoter

oudbury for 15 yeors now ond some of her best clients don't exoctly wclk on two feet'

https://northernontario.ctunews.caianimal-chiropractic-becoming-more-common-place-with-canadian-pet-owners-1 '4776546 1124



112212020 Animal chiropractic becoming more common place with Canadian pet owners I CTV News

"When I wos in chiroproctic college, there wos on onimol chiroproctor thot come in to do o presentotion
on whot she does, ond I wos reolly foscinoted by the stories thot she told of the onimols thot she
helped, ond I thought lb like to do thot os weil," soid Guiilet. 

360v
The Sudbury proctitioner is one of only o hondful in the country who hcs the speciol cerurrcorron.

"There ore definitely some differences, but there ore o lot of similorities os well," she soid.',The some
generol ideo, thot we're offecting the spine. For the onimols, I will do it on the floor or o little toble I hove
for them."

Guillet odmits she cotches some people off guord when telling them she con treot dogs ond cots.

"The most common response is thot people ore surprised thot it even exists os o profession, most
people hove never heord obout it. They're surprised ond ihen they're reolly excited thot there is such o
thing," she soid.

Morino Mogensen begon visiting Guillet's home office six yeors ogo ofter getting referred to her through
o noturclheolth store.

"l wos shocked thot it even existed. I looked ot the lody ond soid 'you've got to be kidding me right?,',
soid Mogensen.

Her dochshund hod stopped wolking ond she wos told by o vet thot she could either deolwith o $5,000
surgery, with no guoronteed chqnce of success, or the dog would hove to be put down.

Devostqted, she begon to visit Guillet's otTice in hopes of finding o homeopothic mirocle.

"She storted treoting the dog, within o week she wos wolking ogoin, ond thot wos six yeors ogo,', soid
Mogensen.

Guillet now treots Mogensen's two dochshunds, oges 16 ond 14 respectively, once o month.

"They're olmost os old os my doughter. You're cttoched, they're like my children." she odded.

"This one still choses chipmunks. They're not very hoppy when they hove the treotment done,,'
Mogensen loughed. "But,like I soid, it keeps them mobile.,'

The long-time chiroproctor, who olso treots humons out of her Westmount Ave. office, soys while it's
possible to treot onything with o spine, she's only treoted cots, dogs ond the odd horse.

"l've heord of other stories thot treoted other onimols, like cows or things like thot. I hcven't mysell no
one's osked me to odjust their cows, but moinly it's dogs, cots ond horses thot ore the moin onimols,"
soid Guillet.

The Ontorio Chiroproctic Associotion hos issued o stotement:

'Animolchiroproctic does not reploce troditionolveterinory medicine or surgery. but provides on
integrotive method of core. Often, veterinorions ond onimol chiroproctors work together to best serve
the needs of cn onimol."

https://northernontario.ctvnews.calanimal-chiropractic-becoming-more-common-place-with-canadian-pet-owners-1 .4776546 2t24



1l22t2O2O Animal chiropractic becoming more common place with Canadian pet owners I CTV News

The cssociction cdds thcrt onimcls can hcve similor issues cnd injuries.

Chiroproctors who treot onimols must olso hove completed o post-groduote troining progrom' which is

nnen to both chiroprcctors ond veterinorions.
361

RELATED IMAGES

Sudbury chiroproctor Dr. sherrie Guillet odjusts Mcrino Mogensen's dochshund (lon ccmpbell/CTV Northern

Ontorio)

sHAREFlul!f{$ffi

O Report Error

O gditoriol stqndords ond policies

WATCH MORE FROM CTV NEWS

v
t

https://northernontario.ctvnews.calanimal-chiropractic-becoming-more-common-place-with-canadian-pelowners-1 
4776546 3124



-\/ffi?.'fi,1ffifl#*u*, 391

A Guide for Regulatory Authorities
Best Practice Ghecklist for Gertifying Labour Mobility Applicants*

Developed initially by the Labour Mobility Coordinators under the Forum of Labour Market Ministers (FLMM) in the

context of the labour mobility provisions of the Agreement on lnternal Trade (AlT). The Canadian Free Trade
Agreement (CFTA) which came into force on July 1,2017 replaces the AlT. This checklist has been updated to
reflect the minimal changes made to Chapter 7 (labour mobility) under the CFTA.

Each regulatory authority has established an application process in order to certify workers in its regulated

occupatibn. The intent of this document is to outline guiding principles for requesting information, as part of this

application process, from workers who are currently certified in another Canadian province or territory in order

to certify them in a regulated occupation. The Principles and Best Practice Checklist is meant to identify and guide best

practices for regulatory authorities.

Guiding Principles for Gertifying Labour Mobility Applicants

1. Certificate-to-certificate recognition is the fundamental

principle of labour mobility in Canada. Regulatory
authorities recognize that due diligence is applied by

other jurisdictions in Canada in certifying theirworkers

to practice their occupations.

2. lnformation requested from a labour mobility

applicant who is currently certified in another
Canadian province or territory must only be asked to

complete the registration certifi cation and/orlicensure
process, not to reassess the applicant's competencies

orabilities to practice his/heroccupation.

3. The application processfor labour mobility applicants

should be transparent and processed promptly.

4, Regulatory authorities can ask labour mobility

applicants to meet requirements to be registered,

certified and/or licensed in their jurisdiction; however,

these requirements must not be more burdensome

than those required by first-time applicants from

that jurisdiction. Material requirements for additional

training, experience, examinations or assessments
must not be required of a labour mobility applicant
unless a labour mobility exception has previously been

approved bygovernmenl and publicly posted.

Regulatory authorities may create licensure and/or

certification categories to regulate an occupation in

their jurisdictions; however, these authorities cannot

deny certification to a labour mobility applicant

that is practicing the same scope of practice for

that occupation in another jurisdiction regardless
of differences in these certification categories. lf a

material difference exists in the scope of practice, then

an exception to labour mobility based on a legitimate

objective must be approved by a government.

Regulatory authorities should work together with

other provinces and territories to understand,
and where possible and practical, take steps to
reconcile differences in occupational standards.
To further streamline labour mobility, where possible

and practical, regulatory authorities may consider

coordi nating licensure and/or certifi cation categories

and scopes of praclice for an occupation.

lf a labour mobility applicant has been given a practice

limitation, restriction or condition, regulatory authorities

are encouraged to, where possible and practical, make

a reasonable efforl to certify the applicant with an

equivalent practice Jimitation, restriction or condition.

5.

6.

7,

* This document does not constitute a legal interpretation of Chapter 7 of the AIT or the CFTA and does not supersede provincial/territorial

legislation.



392
vH3Bflf,lffifisE*wo

El Griminal Background Gheck

Regulatory authorities can require a labour mobility
applicant to provide a criminal background check,
suchaspoliceand/or RCMP checks. This may include
additions such as vulnerable sector checks or child
abuse registry checks along with local, nationalor
international checks,

A lobour mobility applicont should not hove to undergo o
more onerous criminal bockgrouncl check than that which a
province orterritory'sown appliconts are recluired to undergo.

il Evidence of Good Character

Regulatory authorities can require a labour mobility
applicant to provide evidence of good character.

A regulatory authority could consider evidence of
a labour mobility applicant's good character. This
could be satisfied through the following:

. Criminal record checks, including vulnerable
sector check and or child abuse registry check;

. Disclosure of any disciplinary issues; and,

. Disclosure of regulatory history (including
formal proceedings).

A ndtional scan of jurisprudence decisions in the area of gaod
choracter hos shawn that coutts will often consider certain
factors when determining if denial of licensure bosed on
good choracter is warranted, Such factors coutd inctude how
recent the offence was ond how relevant it is ta an applicont's
conduct in his/her practice of the occupation. To further
streomline lobour mobility, where possible and practical,
regulatory authorities may consider worklng together on
defining good choracter ln the regulated occupation, A lobour
mobility opplicont should not hove to provide more onerous
evidence of good chorocter than that which o province or
territory's own appliconts ore required to provide.

E Evidence of Good Standing

Regulatory authorities can require a labour mobility
applicant to provide evidence that he/she is in good
standing in otherCanadian provinces and territories
where the applicant is currently certified.

Examples of what a regulatory authority might provide
on behalf of an applicant's good standing in another
jurisdiction may include:

. Fees have been paid;

. Continuing educalion/competency
requirements have been met within the
required timeframe;

. Practice hour requirements have been
met within the required timeframe; and

. An applicant has practiced in his/her jurisdiction or
has not had a substantial break in his/her practice.

To further streamline labour mobility, where possible
and practical, regulatory authorities may consider
working together on defining good standing in the
regulated occupation.

A regulotory outhority may not ask a lobour mobility
applicant to provide evidence of good stonding from
a jurisdiction where the applicant wos previously, but
is no longer, certified.

A generolly acceptable understonding of good standing is that
a member of an occupotion who has unfulfilled obltgations to
h i s/he r re g u lotory a uthor i ty (e. g,, ou tsta nd i n g fe e s, outsto nd I n g
requirements to provide informotion, unfulfilled continuing
competency requirements, lock of practice in that jurisdiction,
lock of proof of professlona! liobility insurance) is not in
good stonding until the obligations ore sotisfied. A regulatory
authority's definition of good stonding must be the same for
all ol its certified workers.

3



393
.-rl/ Hui?ffilffiF,lHff=ii"o

Additional lnformation Requests Not Explicitly Mentioned ln Ghapter 7

As per the obligations of Chapter 7, information not explicitly mentioned in the Ghapter must not be used
to reassess an applicant's competencles or abllities to practice his/her occupatlon as a condition of certification.
A regulalory authority should contact its Labour Mobility Coordinator regarding any other information it is considering
requesting from labour mobility applicants to see if the request follows the principles of Chapter 7.

Regulatory Authorities sometimes request that applicants (including labour mobility applicants) provide other information
thatisnotexplicitly mentioned in ChapterT, as partof theapplication process (resumes, job descriptions, self-assessments
(often online), transcripts, employment historylverification of employment).

Keeping in mind that the purpose of Chapter 7 is to enable any workercertified for an occupation by a regulatory authority
lo be recognized as qualified by all other Parties, regulatory authorities should consider the purpose of requesting
the information and whether it is actually necessary to certify a labour mobility applicant. As a guiding principle, this
additional information should only be requested to facilitate the registration process.

For more informotio n : www-worke$mobilitv,ca

To further facilitate labour mability, where possible ond proctical, regulotory authorities could also consider working together to tonsfer a
certified worker'sfile to other regulatory bodies ln Canada, upon request and approval by the certified worker.

5



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.34

Jo-Ann Willson
Thursday, February 13,2020 9:53 AM

Rose Bustria;Joel Friedman; Bruce Walton

Fwd: Notice: Elimination of Billing Arrangements

396
From:
Sent:
lo:
Subject:

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416)922-6355 ext. 1-11

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson(occo.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CON FIDENTIALIW WARN I NG :

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy' Thank you.

Begin forwarded message

From: Michelle Da Roza <michelle@chirobc'com>

Date: February 12,2O2O al9:25:26 PM GMT+2

To: John Sutherland <jsutherland @pathfinder-group.com>, Darrell wade

<nlcbregistrar@gmail.com>, "Dean Wright (dwright@ccpaonline.ca)"

<dwright@ccpaonline.ca>, Frances LeBlanc

<fleblanc@nbchiropractic.onmicrosoft.com>, "jfhenry@ordredeschiropraticiens.qc.ca"
<jfhenry@ordredeschiropraticiens.qc.ca>, Philippe Larividre

<PLariviere@ordredeschiropraticiens.qc.ca>, Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on'ca>,

"denise@saskchiro.ca" <denise@saskchiro.ca>, Todd Halowski

<thalowski@albertachiro.com>, "chiro.whitty@pei.aibn'com"
<chiro.wh itty@ pei.a i bn.com>, " registra r@ m bchiro.org" <registra r@ m bchiro.org>

Cc: Alex MacDonald <amacdonald@pathfinder-group.com>, Johnny Suchdev

<jjsuchdev@gmail.com>, David Hayes <david.hayes@dr.com>, Theressa Mah

<Theressa @chirobc.com>, Doug wright <deputyregistrar@chirobc.com>

Subject: Notice: Elimination of Billing Arrangements

Hello colleagues,

ln light of increased media scrutiny of the profession and regulation, we wanted to

share the following update with you from the CCBC.

1



On February 5,2O2O, the CCBC Board approved amendments to part 5 of the
Professional conduct Handbook (PCH) which relate to Billing Arrangements.

Effective February 73,2O2O, registrants must not enter into arrangements with patients
for the billing or payment of fees for professional services that cover more than one
patient visit.

For more information, please see the public notice on our website:
https://www.chirobc.com/amendments-to-the-professiona l-cond uct-handbook-part-5-
a nd-billing-a rra ngeme nts/

Thank you,

Michelle Da Roza
Registrar
College of Chiropractors of BC

900-200 Granville Street, Vancouver BC V6C 1S4

T: (60a) 742-6470 | F: (604) 742-647L I Toll-free: 1877)742-6470
Direct line: G04l 7 42-6362

www,chirobc,com

This e-mail and anyattachment(s) may be confidential or privileged. lf you are notthe intended recipient
please notlfy me lmmedlately by return e-mail, delete this e-mail and do not copy, use or disclose it.

397

2



Joel Friedman |TEM 4.1.35

Suzette Martin-Johnson <adminl @cceb.ca>

Tuesday, February 11,2020 11:37 AM

Gemma Beierback

CCEB attendance at member AGMs in2020

398
From:
Sent:
To:
Subiect:

Dear members,

We were thrilled to visit and speak with you last year about the CCEB and its activities. From a stakeholder

connection and transparency perspective, we would be delighted to come again this year to present a CCEB

update and to speak io you about progress on our blueprint development, with which you so ably assisted by

engaging your memberi to participatJin our survey. We have a revamped PowerPoint presentation but,

naturatty, we are happy to present in whatever format you deem appropriate.

For the moment, we are entering dates and venues, where available, into our calendar. Are you able to provide

us with the 202OAGM date and/or venue for your province, as well as confirmation regarding any interest in

having the CCEB present this Year?

Sincerely I Bien cordialement,

(4YccEB
cWcrffitrtffisD
aikirN i^idri att r r rerrt t ir.oh^'rSGr

Suzette Martin-Johnson
Executive Assistant I Assistante de direction
230, 1209 - 59 Avenue SE, Calgary, AB T2H 2P6

T 403-230-5997 x2 | F 403-230-3321 | www.cceb.ca

This message and any documents attached hereto are intended only for the addressee and may contain privileged or confidential information. Any unauthorized

disclosure is stricily prohibited. lf you have received tnis meJsage in error, please notify us immediately so that we may correct our internal records. Please then

delete the original message. Thank you.

ce message et tous les documents joints sont destin6s uniquement au destinataire et peuvent contenir des informations privilegi6es ou confidentielles. Toute

divulgation non autorisee est strictement interdite. si vous avez regu ce message par erreur, veuillez nous en aviser immediatement afin que nous puissions corriger

nos iossiers internes. Veuillez ensuite supprimer le message d'origine. Nous vous remercions'

1



Rose Bustria
399ITEM 4.1 .36

Jo-Ann Willson
Monday, January 6,2020 5:10 PM

Rose Bustria

Fwd: Survey prize winners I Gagnants de prix du sondage

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Registration and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416)922-6355 ext. 111

Fax: (416)925-96LO
E-mail: ipwillson @cco.on.ca

Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARN ING:

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

Begin forwarded message

From: Suzette MartinJohnson <adminL@cceb.ca>

Date: Janua ry 6,2O2O at 4:54:27 PM EST

To: Suzette MartinJohnson <adminl@cceb.ca>

Subject: Survey prize winners I Gagnants de prix du sondage

(Le frangais suit)

Dear Members,

Thank you so much for your support with the CCEB national survey which closed in

December.

David Cane, PhD (Catalysis Consulting) has finalized his review of the survey data and

provided the finalcompletion table (below). We received a totalof 1,513 valid survey

responses, creating an approximate margin of error on survey data of +l- 3o/o with 90%

confidence; this is an excellent starting point for the next step of our blueprint update.

The work now moves over to Psychometrician Anthony Marini, PhD (Martek

Assessments).

Drumroll....

We are excited to announce our prize winners, both from the provincial regulators as well

as from the chiropractors who participated in the survey.

Provincial winners
1



\Mth an 84.5o/o response rate, Newfoundland and Labrador had the highest total
percentage of completions.

Manitoba showed the greatest improvement in the finalweek.

Ghiropractic winners:

The following participants were randomly selected to receive a survey participation
prize. As the survey was completely anonymous, we need your help to connect with the
winners.

Please provide us with the first and last name of the registrants from your province so
that we may contact them to provide their prize.

400

N practitioners n valid survey responses % practitioners

(approx) (final)

BC 1247 266 21.3

AB 11 23 194 17.3

SK 2'|-5 59 27.4

MB 296 71 24.0

ON 4935 623 12.6

QC 1356 166 12.2

NB 98 16 16.3

NS 168 55 32.7

PE 11 3 27.3

NL 71 60 84.5

Canada 9520 1513 15.9

2



2C 401
s1000 Cei

Sloo Amazon

Arnazon

Amazon

Arnazon

$1@arnazon
Ainazon

91@Amazon
Amazon

Amazon

S50 Petro-Canada

Petro-Canada

S5o Petro-canada
Petro-Canada

$50 Petro-Canada

Petro-Canada

S50 Petro-Canada

Petro-Canada

950 Petro-Canada

Petro-Canada

Thank you all for your support in this initiative.

Bonjour,

Nous vous remercions de votre soutien. Le sondage national du CCEB a 6t6 ferm6 au

mois de d6cembre.

Ayant termin6 Sa revue des donn6es du sondage, le Dr. David Cane (Catalysis

Consulting) a produit le tableau final des r6ponses (voir en bas). Nous avons re9u un

total de 1513 reponses valides au sondage, repr6sentant une marge d'erreur de +l- 3 o/o

avec une marge de confiance de 90 % pour les donn6es du sondage. Cela constitue un

point de depart excellent pour la prochaine 6tape de notre mise ir jour du plan directeur.

Le Dr. Anthony Marini de Martek Assessments va maintenant continuer ce travail.

Roulement de tambour...

Nous sommes ravis d'annoncer nos gagnants parmi les organismes de 169lementation

provinciaux et parmi les chiropraticiens ayant participe au sondage.

Gagnants provinciaux

La Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador a produit le plus grand pourcentage de participation (84,5

%).

Le Manitoba a d6montr6 l'am6lioration la plus marqude pendant la semaine finale.

provlncG rcSistrttloll llo.
26NINational grand prize winner

8C 2048.2Provincial prize rvinner
1477ASProvincial prize winner

sl( 423Provincial prize winner
M8 82Provincial prire winner

2565ONProvincial prize $/inner
51610qCProvlncial prize winner

NB 153Provincial prize rvinner
215NSProvincial prize winner
t4PIProvincial orize winner

N1 62Provincial prize winner

8C 2904National secondary Prlze wlnner
6158CNational secondarv Prize winner

A8 1902National secondary Prize winner
1956A8National secondary prize rvinner

ON 1126National secondary Prite lvinner
ON 1972National secondary Prize winner
ON 4924National secondary Prize winnEr

7030ONNational secondary Prize rvinner
NS 242National secondary Prize winner

83NtNational secondary Prize winner

No praticiens No r6ponses valides au sondage % praticiens

(approx) (final)

BC 1247 266 21,3

3



CCEB
c&tat cmo'lrat|C r|Httac Btol*rllra a^*siB oal ra.it*r a*rM.t@{i

194

Suzette Martin-Joh nson
Executive Assistant I Assistante de direction
230,12Og - 59 Avenue SE, Calgary, AB T2H 2P6
T 403-230-5997 x2l F 403-230-3321 lwww.cceb.ca

AB 1123 17,3

27,4

24,0

59

71

Chiropraticiens qaq nants

Les participants suivants ont ete s6lectionn6s au hasard pour recevoir un prix de
participation au sondage. L'enqu6te 6tant totalement anonyme, nous avons besoin de
votre aide pour nous connecter avec les gagnants.

Veuillez nous fournir le pr6nom et le nom des personnes inscrites de votre province afin
que nous puissions les contacter pour leur remettre leur prix. (Voir tableau << prize
winner > ci-dessus en anglais).

Nous vous remercions de votre soutien pour cette initiative.

Sincerely I Bien cordialement,

402

This message and any documents attached hereto are intended only for the addressee and may contain privileged or
confidential information. Any unauthorized disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have receivedihis message in-error,
please notify us immediately so that we may correct our internal records. Please then delete the original message. Thank
you.

Ce message et tous les documents joints sont destin6s uniquement au destinataire et peuvent contenir des informations
privil6gi6es ou confidentielles. Toute divulgation non autorisee est strictement interdite. Si vous avez regu ce message
par erreur, veuillez nous en aviser imm6diatement afin que nous puissions corriger nos dossiers inlernei. Veuillez eisuite
supprimer le message d'origine. Nous vous remercions.

4

SK 215

MB 296

ON 4935 623 12,6

QC 1356 166 12,2

NB 98 16 16,3

NS 168 55 32,7

PE 11 3 27,3

NL 7'l 60 84,5

Ganada 9520 1513 15,9



Federation 403

EXECUTIVE OFFICES

5401 W. 10th Street
Suite 101

Greeley, Colorado 80634

970.356.3500
970.356.3599 FAX

www.fclb.org
info@fclb.org

Jon Schwartzbauer, D.C.
E#cutfue Director

OFFICERS

Karlos Boghosian, D.C.
Prcsident

Carol J. Winkler, D.C.
Vice President

Keita Vanterpool, D.C
Tre6urer

Margaret Colucci, D.C
Inmediate P6t Presideflt

EXECUTIVE BOARD

James Buchanan, D.C.
District I Director

Robert Daschner, D.C.
Disttict II Director &
Board Chair

George Khoury, D.C
Disttict III Directol

Karen Campion, D.C.
District IV Director

Ned Marrello, D.C.
District Il Director

ADMINJSTRATIVE FELLOW
DIRECTOR

Patricia Oliver

ractic ITEM 4.1.37
Boards

February 5,2020

Ms. Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontado
130 Bloor Street West, Suite 902

Toronto, Ontario M5S 1N5
CANADA

Dear Ms. Willson,

Congratulations! You have been awarded the NBCE's Administrator Scholarship!

We Le happy ro help outstanding administrators such as yourself participate il lttit
important meetlng and educationil experience. The scholarship covers up to $2,500

in meeting registration, travel, and hotel stay'

Here are your next stePs:

o Letus know your plans for conference:
. We'll register you and make sure you get signed up for the Chiropractic

Board Administrators Committee meeting.
. We are also happy to include you on the list for Friday night's social event

(sponsored by the NBCE). Just let us know if you will be bringing a guest!

. Book your flight
. We hope you can arrive in time for the Wednesday Board Member

Training beginning at 1 :00 pm on Aprrl 22 . The official conference begins

Thursdiy morning with a new attendee breakfast at 7:00 am and for
veterans at7:15.

. The CBAC meeting will be Friday beginning at7:30 withbreakfast.

. The educational sessions and annual business meeting continue until
Saturday afternoon, so attendees generally plan departure any timg

Saturday evening or Sunday. Please see the enclosed agenda, and check

out our website for hotel and travel information as well.
o Let us know your travel plans

. Send us an email telling when you plan to arrive and depart and we'll make

your hotel reservation.
. Save your receipts!

. The NBCE will reimburse you for flight and transportation expenses up to

that $2,500 limit (including hotel and conference registration).
o Enclosed is a reimbursement form you can submit along with your receipts

to FCLB for processing.

Please feel free to contact us if you have any questions. We are happy to help.

v

Jon

FCLB is a non-profit
501 (c)(3) corporation.

Contributions are
deductible as allowed
under section 170 of

the IRS Code.

Tax lD 83-0208564

Executive
, D.C



Cc: FCLB Board of Directors

404



FCLB's 94th Annual Educational Congress

406

CUS ON

REGULATION
NOW FORESIGHT IS 20/20 DENVER, CO APRIL 2L26,2020a

Updated O2/O4/2O2O Agenda subject to change

Tuesdav .Aoril 21 FCLB Offi Blanca Peak - N CE Office - Mt, Colu bia

1:00 PM - 5:00 PM

Mt. Harvard
FCIB BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING

sd

8:00 AM - 5:00 PM

Mt. Harvard

2:00 - 4:00 PM

Mt. Yale

FCLB BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING

FCIB COMMITTEE MEETINGS - determined by chairs

1:00 - 5:00 PM

Mt. Oxford
BOARD MEMBER TRAINING - Dale Atkinson, Esq.

2:00 - 4:00 PM

Blanca Peak
FCIB CONFERENCE CHECK-IN

Wednesday evening on your own

7:00 - 8:00 AM
Blanca Peak

FCLB CONFERENCE CHECK.IN

BREAKFAST

Full breakfast for registrants

NEW ATTENDEE ORIENTATION & BREAKFAST

ls this your first meeting? Learn more about the missions and work
you are taking part in.

7:15 AM

Colorado Ballroom A

Foyer

7:00 AM
Mt. Harvard

EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM - COLORADO BALLROOM A



8:L5 AM WELCOME & OPENING REMARKS

Karlos Boghosian, D.C (CT) - FCLB President 407

8:30 AM 30th ANNUAT JOSEPH JANSE LECTURE

ABOUT THE LECTURE SERlES...Speakers for the Janse Lecture series are
chosen by a committee of the FCLB board based on their oratory skills,
ability to envision future possibilities, and to encourage the audience
of regulators to consider new points of view, new perspectives in their
approaches to public protection.

The Janse Lecture is successful if the speaker presents a different
viewpoint and rekindles passion.

9:15 AM EDUCATIONAT SESSION -

The Future of Regulation
Ms. Ronne Hines, Director, Division of Professions & Occupations,
Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies

10:00 AM MIDMORNING BREAK

10:15 AM CONCURRENT PRESENTATIONS

Chiropractic Fraud Case Study. Success, Pitfalls & Common Hurdles
Mr. lan Kildow, Financial Fraud lnvestigative Supervisor
Colorado Department of Law - CriminalJustice Section

CONCURRENT SESSION

Healthcare Professional Remediation Education
Dr. Catherine Caldicott, Senior Faculty
PBI Education

11:00 AM EDUCATIONAL SESSION

ATTORNEY PANEL.
Mr. Ajay Gohill, Ms. Mona Baskin, Mr. Christopher Gerard, Ms. Amy
Richardson & Mr. Sean Dingle

The panelwill discuss:

Sexual Boundary Violations - (trends, policies and new
developments, with a focus on what state chiropractic boards
should know in light of this challenging issue)

a



12:00 PM NATIONAI UPDATES -

ChiroCongress - CCE-US - ICA- ACA- FCC- ICRS-ACCR -ABCA-ACC

L2:45PM LUNCH ON YOUR OWN 408
AFTERNOON SESSIONS -

2:00 - 2:45 PM Occupational Licensing Policy Learning Consortium: State-Based

Solutions to Licensing Reforms

Mr. Carl Sims, Policy Analyst, The council of state Governments

2:45 - 3:30 PM Chiropractic College President

2:00 PM FCLB FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING

Keita Vanterpool, D.C. (DC) - FCLB Treasurer, Chair

2:30 - 3:30 PM

3:30 - 4:30 PM

5:30 - 7:00 PM

WORKSHOP: FCLB SERVICES

Ms. Kelly Webb and Ms. Janelle Grier - FCLB Staff

Discover the services your board may access through FCLB

membership. Learn more about CIN-BAD, PACE, CCCA, PowerPolls,

meetings, and more.

MEMBERSHIP FORUM

Moderator:
. Review proposed bylaws and resolutions
. Meet the candidates for Districts I & ll Director and Alternate

Director, as well as Nominating Committee candidates
. Learn about committee and task force service

RECEPTION

Come catch up with your regulatory friends for a light reception !

Presentation by the Friends of the FCLB

The reception is generously sponsored by the NBCE

Fridav .April 24 NATIONAL BOABD DAY

7:3o - 8:00 AM 
FctB coMMtrrEE MEETINGS - determined by chairs of the standing

Committees or Task Forces.



7:30 AM CHIROPRACTIC BOARD ADMINISTRATORS COMMTTTEE (CBAC)

BREAKFAST & MEETING
Ms. Beth Kidd (OK)- Chair &

See separate Agenda Ms. Patricia Oliver (LA) FCLB Board Liaison
409

7:30 AM
Foyer

BREAKFAST

Full breakfast for registrants

8:00 AM FCIB CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE MEETTNG

Staff support: Ms. Vicki Young (FCLB)

8:30 AM WELCOME and OPENING REMARKS

Daniel C6t6, D.C. (OR), NBCE President

EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM - NATIONAL BOARD DAY - COLORADO BALLROOM A

8:40 AM KEYNOTE ADDRESS:

Roger Hall, PhD.

9:50 AM BREAK

10:00 AM NBCE PLENARY SESSIONS:

Dr. Norman Ouzts, NBCE Chief Executive Officer - Facilitator

a EBAS Panel

NBCE Executive Team Panel

!2:I5 - 2:15 PM NBCE LUNCHEON and ANNUAL BUSTNESS MEETTNG

2:30 - 4:30 PM

Colorado Ballroom A

N BCE AFTERNOON SESSION :

A two-hour presentation offering 2 CE credits

2:30 - 4:30 PM CHIROPRACTIC BOARD TEGAL ADVISORS COMMITTEE MEETING
(cBrAc)

See separate Agenda Mr. Ajay Gohill, Esq., (DC) and
Ms. Mona Baskin, Esq., (AZ) Co-Chairs



2:75 - 3:15 PM FCIB COMMITTEE MEETINGS - determined by chairs of the standing

Committees or Task Forces

41 0
4:30 - 5:00 PM FCLB RESOTUTIONS & BYLAWS COMMITTEE MEETING

Kevin Fogarty, D.C. (FL), Chair

Open session review of proposed bylaws amendments and

resolutions.

5:30 - L0:00 PM NBCE Friday Event: Join the NBCE for dinner and an evening of dueling

piano fun

Saturdav 'April 25 ,

7:00 AM DISTRICT BREAKFASTS

ELECTIONS

Hosts: FCLB District Directors
. District Director & Alternate Director elections for Districts I & ll
. Updates from your district director
. Fall District Meeting information

EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM CONTINUED _

GUEST HOST:

7:45 AM INTRODUCTION . WELCOME BACK TO THE FCLB PROGRAM

Karlos Boghosian, D.C. (CT), FCLB President

8:00 AM ANNUAL AWARDS PRESENTATION

Karlos Boghosian, D.C. (CT), FCLB President

8:30-9:45 AM Chiropractic College President

9:15 AM

10:00 AM PRESENTATION: Callto Action
Terry Yochum, D.C.

Regulation Through Punishment or Remediation: Changing the
Conversation
Drs. Nancy Kirsch & Richard Woolf, President and Vice President of the

Federation of State Boards of Physical Therapy

Now that you've learned the information, commit to use it. Transform

education in action.

10:30 AM MIDMORNING BREAK

ANNUAL MEETING OF THE DELEGATE ASSEMBLY -



10:45 AM DISTRIBUTION OF VOTING PADDTES - Tellers Committee

11:00 AM FCLB ANNUAL BUSINESS MEETING
Karlos Boghosian, D.C. (CT), FCLB President, Meeting Chair
o Seating of the Delegates
o Financial Report
. Resolutions & Bylaws
o Elections: Nominating Committee
o Announcements
. New Business
o lnstallation of the New FCLB Board of Directors

411

12:45 PM LUNCH ON YOUR OWN

1:30 - 2:00 PM

Riviera

POST-CONFERENCE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
FCLB Board of Directors

Sundav .April 26

8:30 - 9:30 AM WEEK lN REVIEW - Karen Campion, D.C., (TX) will be your host

Plan for 2O2Lin West Palm Beach, Florida .April 25 - May 2,2O2I
Hilton West Palm Beach Room rate: S238/night + taxes - single/double



ontario@

414
Ministry of Health

Office of Chief Medical Officer of
Health, Public Health

393 University Avenue, 21't Floor

Toronto ON M5G 2M2

4L62t2-383t
416325-8412

MinistEre de la Sant6

Bureau du m6decin hygidniste en

chef, sant6 publique

393 avenue University, 2le 6tage

Toronto ON M5G 2M2

T6l.: 4762L2-3831'
T6l6c. : 416 325-8412

Tel.:

Fax:

January 23,2020

Dear Health System Partners,

I am wr1ing to continue sharing information about the novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV). This outbreak

of 2019-nCoV continues to evolve, and there have been some significant developments that I want

to bring to your attention.

L Case Counts:
Firsly, the case counts in China (Wuhan, Beijing, Shanghai plus several other provinces) and

the surrounding region (Thailand, Japan, South Korea, Hong Kong, Macau) have dramatically

increased, trom ++ on January 17th,2020, to more than 500 reported today. The United States

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention announced earlier this week (January 21) the first

confirmed case of the novel coronavirus in a patient in Seattle who had recently travelled to

Wuhan. Among the cases reported to-date, we continue to see a spectrum of illness, with the

majority of casLs reported as having mild illness. We have seen some individuals listed as in

seuere-orcriticalcondition and, sadly, there have been 17 deaths, all in Hubei Province

(Wuhan).

2. lnfections in Health Workers:
We have learned that several health workers in China have contracted 2019-nCoV. To date, we

lack key information needed to interpret this report. For example, we do not know when these

health workers first became ill or the lnfection Prevention and Control/ Occupational Health and

Safety precautions and practices they were using at the time of infection-

3. Human-to-human transmission:
There is now evidence of human-to-human transmission of this virus, and the World Health

Organization has said that there may now be sustained human{o-human transmission. More

information and analysis are needed on this new virus to understand the full extent of the

human-to-human transmission and other important details'

4. Reportable to Public Health:
yesterday, the Minister of Health announced an update to the Health Protection and Promotion

Act (HppA) that adds "diseases caused by novel coronaviruses, including SARS and MERS" to

the list of Diseases of Public Health Significance under the Designation of Diseases regulation

(O. Reg. 135/18) in Ontario. As of yesterday, novel coronaviruses, including Severe Acute

nespiritory Syndrome (SARS) and Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS-CoV) and 2019-

nCoV, ruit OL reported to local public health officials by those who have a Duty to Report under

the HPPA (including physicians, hospitals, laboratories). This new Disease of Public Health

Significance has alio been designated as communicable, providing Medical Officers of Health

wilh powers under the HPPA to ensure appropriate case and contact management'

.12



.2. 415
With yesterday's addition of the novel Coronavirus to the regulations, please see the attached
case definitions for 2019-nCoV.

5. lnfection Prevention and control/ occupational Hearth and safety:
At this time, consistent with the guidance in place for MERS-CoV, the ministry is recommending
the following for acute care settinqs. Please note that the ministry is reviewing guidance for oth-er
settings and will provide further updates in the coming days:

Routine Practices and Additional Precautions (Contact, Droplet, Airborne) by health care workers
at risk of exposure to a confirmed case, presumptive confirmed case, probable case or person
under investigation (or PUI) andior the patient's environment. These precautions include:
. hand hygiene

. use of airborne infection isolation rooms when possible

. masking the patient with a surgical mask when outside of an airborne infection isolation room

o use of gloves, gowns, fit-tested, seal-checked N95 respirators and eye protection by health
care workers when entering the same room as the patient or when transporting or Caring for
the patient

For more information on Routine Practices and Additional Precautions, health care workers
should refer to (PIDAC's) Routine Practices and Additional Precautions in All Health Care
Settinqs and Annex B: Prevention of Transmission of Acute Resoiratorv lnfection in all Health
Care Settings.

Note: The use of Airborne Precautions is a higher level of precaution than is being recommended by
the Public Health Agency of Canada or the World Health Organization (WHO), or that is normally
recommended for coronaviruses. The ministry is recommending at this time that health care workers
apply Airborne Precautions based on the application of the precautionary principle to this novel virus
for which little information about transmission and clinical severity is available.
I want to reiterate that even as this outbreak has grown, the risk to Ontarians remains low. lt would
not be unexpected for us to see a case in Ontario, but I am confident that we have the processes,
skilled clinicians and dedicated health workers we need to identify and manage a case safely and
effectively.

As new information becomes available, I will continue to share it with you. We will be ready to launch
a regular communications cycle with system partners as the situation evolves and will keep you
apprised of these details. ln the meantime, health sector partners are encouraged to contact the
Health System Emergency Management Branch at 1-866-212-2272 (2417) or during business hours
at eocoperations.moh@ontario.ca if they have any questions or concerns.

Yours truly,

Original signed by

Barbara Yaffe, MD, MHSc, FRCPC
Associate Chief Medical Officer of Health

Attachments

c:

'14-o75

Peter Donnelly, President and chief Executive officer, public Health ontario



Gase Definition for Novel Coronavirus {2019'nCoV) 416

Person under Investigation for 2019'nCoV

A person with fever and acute respiratory illness, or pneumonia

AND any of the following:

Travel to Wuhan, China in the 14 days before onset of illness

OR
Close contact with a confirmed or probable case of 2019-nCoV

OR
Close contact with a person with acute respiratory illness who has been to

Wuhan, China within 14 days prior to their illness onset

Probable Case for 2019-nCoV

A person:
with fever (over 38 degrees Celsius) AND new onset of (or exacerbation of

chronic) cough or breathing difficulty AND evidence of severe illness progression

e.g. acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) or severe influenza-like illness

(may include complications such as encephalitis, myocarditis or other severe and

lifethreatening com plications)

AND any of the following:

Travel to Wuhan, China in the 14 days before onset of illness

OR
Close contact with a confirmed or probable case ol2O19-nCoV

OR
Close contact with a person with acute respiratory illness who has been to

Wuhan, China within 14 days prior to their illness onset

AND

in whom laboratory diagnosis of 2019-nCoV is not available or negative (if

specimen quality of timing is suspect)



Presumptive Positive Case for 2019-nCoV 417

A person in whom the laboratory screening test lor 2019-nCoV was positive from the
Public Health Ontario Laboratory but not confirmed by the National Microbiological
Laboratory.

Gonfirmed Case for 2019-nCoV

A person with laboratory confirmation of infection with 2019-nCoV which consists of
positive real-time PCR on at least two specific genomic targets or a single positive
target with sequencing AND confirmed by NML by nucleic acid testing.

Case Definition Footnotes

1. The incubation period of 2019-nCoV is unknown. SARS-CoV demonstrated a
prolonged incubation period (median 4-5 days; range 2-10 days) compared to
other human coronavirus infections (average 2 days; typical range 12 hours
to 5 days). The incubation period for MERS-CoV is approximately S days
(range 2-14 days). Allowing for variability and recall error and to establish
consistency with the World Health Organization's 2019-nCoV case definition,
exposure history based on the prior 14 days is recommended at this time.

2. A close contact is defined as a person who provided care for the patient,
including healthcare workers, family members or other caregivers, or who had
other similar close physical contact OR who lived with or othenryise had close
prolonged contact with a probable or confirmed case while the case was ill.

3. Other exposure scenarios not specifically mentioned here may arise and may
be considered at jurisdictional discretion (e.g. history of being a patient in the
same ward or facility during a nosocomial outbreak of 2019-nCoV).

4. There is limited evidence on the likelihood of 2019-nCoV presenting as a co-
infection with other pathogens. At this time, the identification of one causative
agent should not exclude 2019-ncoV where the index of suspicion may be
high.

5. Laboratory confirmation may not be available due to no possibility of
acquiring samples for laboratory testing of 2019-nCoV.

6. Laboratory tests are evolving for this emerging pathogen, and laboratory
testing recommendations will change accordingly as new assays are
developed and validated.



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.39
418

To:
Cc:

Sent:

Subject:

From: Jo-Ann Willson
Tuesday, February 11,2020 9:02 AM
Rose Bustria

Joel Friedman

Fwd: Report that Cabinet has appointed new Fairness Commissioner

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (415) 922-6355 ext. l-11

Fax: (416)925-961-0

E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CON FIDENTIALIW WARN ING:

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited' lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

Begin forwarded message

From: "bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca"
<bakenny@regulatedhea lthprofessions.on.ca>
Date: February LL,2020 at 3:01:43 PM GMT+2

To: Beth Ann Kenny <bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>

Subject: Report that Cabinet has appointed new Fairness Commissioner

Reply-To: <ba kenny@ regulated hea lth professions.on.ca>

HiAII

There is a report ("Queen's Park Briefing" of February 10'h) that lrwin Glasberg, Acting

Deputy Attorney General, has been appointed as the new Fairness Commissioner.

I haven't seen an announcement yet and the Fairness Commissione/s website has not

been updated to note that appointment.

Just a heads up for a pending announcement'

Take care!
Beth Ann

1



Beth Ann Kenny, Executive Coordinator
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)

301-396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LoK 1A0
Email: bakennv@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca
Web: www.regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca
Phone: 416-493-407 6 / Fax: 1-866-814-6456

419

Confidentiality notice: This emoil, including ony attochments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s)
ond moy contain privote, confidentiol, and/or privileged information. Any unouthorized review, use,
disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. lf you are not the intended recipient or this information hos been
inappropriately forworded to you, please contoct the sender by reply emoil and destroy all copies of the
originol.

2



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.40

Jo-Ann Willson
Monday, February 3,2020 1 1:01 AM

Rose Bustria

Fwd: Legislative Update - What Happened in January 2020?

Legislative Update - January 2020.pdf; ATT00001.htm

420
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 111

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CON FI DENTIALITY WARN ING :

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

Begin forwarded message:

From: "bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on'ca"
<bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions'on.ca>
Date: Febru ary 3,2O2O at 4:45:32 PM GMT+2

To: Beth Ann Kenny <bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>

Cc: Richard Steinecke <rsteinecke@sml-law.com>

Subject: Legislative Update - What Happened in January 2O2O?

Reply-To: <ba ken ny@ regu lated hea lthprofessions.on.ca>

HiAII

Attached is the 93'd Legislative Updote from Richard Steinecke, letting us know what

happened in January 2020. All Legislotive lJpdotes are available in the vRoom and our

Policy Network members have access to it as well.

Remember, too, that "HPRO" was formally approved by the Government of Ontario on

January 15,2O2O.

Take care!
Beth Ann

1



421
Beth Ann Kenny, Executive Coordinator
Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO)

301-396 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0
Email: bakennv@regulatedhealthorofessions.on.ca
Web: www.regulatedhea lthprofessions.on.ca
Phone: 4L6-493-4O7 6 / Fax: 1-865-814-6456

Confidentiality notice: This email, including ony qttachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s)
and may contoin private, confidentiol, ond/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use,
disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. lf you ore not the intended recipient or this information has been
inappropriotely forwarded to you, please contact the sender by reply email ond destroy ott copies of the
originol.

2



HPRO Legisfative Update - What Happened in January 2O2O?

Prepared by Richard Steinecke

ln this lssue:
o Bill 159 to permit competency-based selection of Board members for delegated administrative

authorities (DAAs), see p. 1
. Regulation authorizes nurses to self-initiate controlled act of psychotherapy, see p. 1

r Regulation authorizes occupational therapists to perform psychotherapy, see p. 2

r Numerous regulations made implementing new animal welfare legislation, see p. 2

Bonus Features:
o Restraining lllegal Practice, see p' 2
o Using lhe Competition Act to Engage in Unauthorized Practice, see pp. 2-3

o Does Bankruptcy Extinguish an Administrative Penalty?, see p' 3

o Expanded Remedies in Judicial Review, see pp' 3-4

Ontario Bills
(Se e : https : //www. ol a. oro )

Biff 159, Rebuitding Consumer Confidence Act, 2079 - (government Bill - consideration by the

Standing Committee on Justice Poticy).The Bill reforms the delegated administrative authorities (DAA)

scheme that applies to many professions and businesses including:

o allowing the Minister to revise the composition of the Board of Directors of a DAA (e.g.,

requiring a certain percentage of public members);

r allowing the Minister to establish competency criteria for being elected or appointed to the

Board of Directors of a DAA;

r requiring disclosure of compensation of Board and staff members of a DAA; and

. authorizing the appointment of an administrator to take over the operation of a DAA'

The Bill also establishes an administrative penalty scheme for the Consumer Protection Act.

Proclamations
(Se e www. onta ri o. ca/e n/o ntq azette /a azl ot/ i nd ex. htm )

There were no relevant proclamations this month.

Regulations
(Se e www. onta ri o. ca/e n/ontqazette/q azl at/ i n dex. htm)

NursingAct - The regulation prescribing controlled acts for nurses was amended, effective January 1,

2020,to permit nurses to self-initiate the controlled act of psychotherapy. (Ontario Regulation 473/L9

Gazetted Janua ry LL, 2020).

422

Page 1 of4



423
HPRO Legislative Update - What Happened in January ZOZO?

Occupational Theropy Act - A controlled acts regulation authorized occupational therapists to
perform the controlled act of psychotherapy and establishes standards of practice for doing so.
(Ontario Regulation 474/L9 Gazetted January tL,2O2O).

Provincial Animal Welfare Services Act, 2079 - Numerous regulations implementing the new
regulatory scheme were enacted. For example, the regulations deal with the standard of care for
animals, a Code of Conduct for animal welfare inspectors, exemptions from some requirements and
administrative details. (Ontario Regulation 442/L9 and 448/L9 Gazetted January 4,2O2O).

Proposed Regulations Registry
(Se e http ://www. onta ri oca n o d a. com/req istrv)

There are no relevant consultations pending.

Bonus Features
(lncludes Excerpts from our Blog and Twitter feed found at www.sml-law.com)

Restraining lllegal Practice

One of the most notorious disbarred lawyers is Harry Kopyto. Despite being disbarred more than 30
years ago, he continues to practise. The regulator sought a permanent injunction against his
continuing to practise law or holding himself out as a legal representative. The Court had little
difficulty concluding that Mr. Kopyto was acting illegally and would continue to do so. The injunction
was granted: Law Society of Ontorio v Harry Kopyto,2020 ONSC 35, http://canlii.calt/i4f8s.

ln doing so the Court affirmed that where a regulator's statute authorizes the granting of a restraining
order, the usual requirements for obtaining such an order are relaxed. The regulator does not have
to demonstrate that there would be irreparable harm. The regulator also does not have to prove that
any harm could not be compensated for in damages. ln addition: "Hardship from the imposition and
enforcement of an injunction will generally not outweigh the public interest in having the law
obeyed."

However, there remains discretion to refuse to grant an injunction where granting it "would be of
questionable utility or inequitable".

Using the Competition Act to Engage in Unauthorized practice

Can someone engaging in the unauthorized practice of a profession rely on the Competition Act to
continue their conduct? The answer is "no" according to the case of Maddock v Law Society of British
Columbio,2020 BCSC TL,http://canlii.ca/tli4siv. The Court held that it was the Competition Bureau
and not the courts acting in an individual case that determined whether a regulator of a profession,
or its restrictive enabling legislation, was breaching the Competition Act.lt was no defence to an
injunction application by the regulator for the unauthorized practice of the profession.

Page 2 of 4



HPRO

424
Legislative Update - What Happened in January 2020?

The court also interpreted the exception for individuals practising in the employment of and under

the supervision of another registered practitioner as referring to an intense level of control over the

unregistered person. For example, just because the client of the unregistered person happened to be

a lawyer did not provide the intended level of oversight to engage the exception for the unregistered

person to practise law.

The Court also looked at all of the circumstances of the case to ascertain whether it was likely that

the unregistered person would continue their conduct if no injunction was granted. Prominent in that

analysis was the fact that the regulator had issued many warnings, and the manner in which the

unregistered person resisted the application for the injunction by raising unconvincing arguments.

The Court concluded that, in the absence of the injunction, the unregistered person would find

additional justifications to continue his conduct'

Does Bankruptcy Extinguish an Administrative Penalty?

Regulators are, with increasing frequency, authorized to impose administrative penalties'

Administrative penalties are similar to fines but often imposed through a less formal process than

that usually associated with fines. ln Atberto Securities Commission v Hennig, 2020 ABQB 48,

http://canlii.calt/i4rnk, Mr. Hennig had a s400,000 administrative penalty imposed for, among other

things, "improper financial disclosure and misrepresentations". The order was filed with the court'

Mr. Hennig declared bankruptcy and the regulator received less than $1,000 from the estate.

The regulator asserted that the administrative penalty was not extinguished by Mr. Hennig's

bankruptcy as it fell into the exceptions related to debts incurred through fraud, dishonesty or other

reprehensible conduct. The Court agreed:

A purposive interpretation of the subsection in view of the intention of section 178 - to
preclude dishonest debtors from benefitting from their dishonesty - would surely extend to a

decision of a securities commission, charged with enforcing securities laws in order to protect

the interesting public and promoting the integrity of the capital markets, in circumstances that

would otherwise fit within the subsection.

The decision turned somewhat on the particular conduct underlying the payment order which may

not apply to every administrative penalty. But the case does clarify that bankruptcy does not

extinguish all administrative penalties'

Expanded Remedies in Judicial Review

Judicial review has traditionally been narrower than an appeal. This is so particularly when it comes

to the remedies that can be granted by the Court. Generally, when an order is made by a court on

judicial review quashing a tribunal decision, the court sends the matter back for a new decision.

However, recently courts have indicated that where "a particular outcome is inevitable and that

remitting the case would therefore serve no useful purpose" a court will exercise broader remedies'

Page 3 of 4



425
HPRO Legislative Update - What Happened in January 2O2O?

An example of this newer approach isfound inGogekv Real Estate Council of Ontorio,2O2O ONSC
486, http://canlii.calt/i4wt6. ln that case an internal appeal tribunal for the regulator refused to
extend the time for initiating an appeal. However, the chairperson of the appeal panel making that
decision had presided over the pre-hearing conference in the matter. lt is generally accepted that, in
order to promote candid resolution discussions, a person presiding over a pre-hearing conference will
not later hear the case. The regulator acknowledged the error and not only agreed that the decision
refusing the extension of time should be set aside, but that an extension of time was reasonable in
the circumstances. The Court directly ordered that permission to initiate the appeal late be granted
rather than sending the matter back to the appeal tribunal to make that order.

Page 4 of 4



FHRCO + HPRO

426
Legislative Update - What Happened in December 2019?

Prepored by Richard Steinecke

ln this lssue:
o Bill 161 to enhance the regulatory powers and transparency of the Law Society, see p. 1-

o Bill 159 to permit competency-based selection of Board members for delegated administrative

authorities (DAAs), see PP. 1-2

o Bill 138 to amend PHTPA and administration of review of physician billing and independent

health facilities, see p. 2

o Bill 1-36 to create complaints system about the animal welfare regulator, see p. 2

r Bill 116 to establish centre of excellence for mental illness and addictions, see p' 2

o Animal Wetfare Acf proclaimed for January 1't, see p. 2

. Regulation expands scope of funding for therapy for sexual abuse by educators, see p' 2

o Regulation expands eligibility for funding for therapy for sexual abuse by early childhood

educators (ECEs), see P. 3

Bonus Features:
A Non-Lawyer's Guide to Change in Court Scrutiny of Administrative Decisions, see p. 3

Mild Cognitive lmpairment, see P.4
lncapacity Restrictions, see pp. 4-5

Discernment and lnsight, see P. 6

Uncertainty Continues for Regulators Defending their Reputations, see pp. 6-7

lncarceration for Regulatory Offences, see p. 7

Ontario Bills
(Se e : https : //www. ol a. ora )

Bill 161, Smarter and Stronger lustice Act, 2079 - (government Bill - passed first readingl' The Bill,

amongst other things, provides the legal regulator, the Law Society of Ontario, with the authority to

perform entity regulation. lt also:

o authorizes the regulator to disclose information during an investigation where necessary to
protect the public interes!

o expands the power of investigators to obtain information from former practice colleagues;

r simplifies the interim order powers in discipline matters; and

o increases the maximum fine at discipline to S100,000 from S10,000.

Bill 159, Rebuilding Consumer Confidence Act, 2079 - (government Bill - passed second reading and

referred to the Standing Committee on Justice Policyl. The Bill reforms the delegated administrative

authorities (DAA) scheme that applies to many professions and businesses including:

o allowing the Minister to revise the composition of the Board of Directors of a DAA (e'g',

requiring a certain percentage of public members);

e allowing the Minister to establish competency criteria for being elected or appointed to the

Board of Directors of a DAA;

requiring disclosure of compensation of Board and staff members of a DAA; and

Page 1 of 7

a

a

a

a

a

a

a



427
FHRCO.+ HPRO Legislative Update - What Happened in December 2OL9?

a authorizing the appointment of an administrator to take over the operation of a DAA.

The Bill also establishes an administrative penalty scheme for the Consumer protection Act

Bill 138, PIon to Build Ontario Together Act, 2079 - (government Bill - passed third reading and
received Royal Assent). This omnibus Bill enacts and amends a number of Acts including:

o Changing the way that claims for physician services are reviewed
r Changing the way that independent health facilities are licensed and regulated
o Amending the Personol Health lnformotion Protection Act to prohibit anyone from trying to

re-identify persons whose personal health information has been de-identified and allowing
the lnformation and Privacy Commissioner to order that personal health information be
returned where it has been improperly collected, used, or disclosed.

Bif l 135, Provinciol Animol Welfore Services Act, 2079 - (government Bitt- passed third reading and
received RoyalAssent). Bill 136 replaces the privately-run Ontario Society for the Prevention of Cruelty
to Animals with a government official, the Chief Animal Welfare lnspector. The Chief Animal Welfare
lnspector has numerous administrative powers (e.g., inspections, demand for information, right to
take action to protect animals) and provincial offence enforcement powers. Of broader interest is the
complaints mechanism available for anyone who thinks the new agency is acting contrary to its Code
of Conduct.

Bill 116, Foundationsfor Promoting ond Protecting Mentdl Health dnd Addictions Services Act, 2019
- (government Bill - possed third reading and received Royal Assent/. The Bill establishes a centre of
excellence to address mental illness and addictions and makes it easier for the government to sue
manufacturers and wholesalers of opioids.

Proclamations
(See www. o nta ri o. ca/e n /o nto azette /a azl at/i n d ex. ht m )

Provinciol Animdl Welfare Services Act, 2079 - January I,2OZO is the date in which most of this Act
comes into force.

Regulations
(Se e www. onta ri o. ca/e n /ontq azette /q azl at/i nd ex. htm)

Ontorio College of Teachers Act and Eorly Childhood Educators Act- Regulations describe expanded
coverage for funding for therapy and counselling for sexual abuse including:

o Therapy for immediate family members of the abused student;
o Drugs related to treatmenU and
o Transportation, accommodation, child care and translation services related to therapy and

counselling.
(Ontario Regulation 438/L9 and 439/L9 Gazetted December ZS, ZOI}).

Page 2 of 7



FHRCO,+ HPRO

428
Legislative Update - What Happened in December 2OL9?

Eorly Chitdhood Educdtors Act- Regulations outline an additional ground of eligibility for funding for

therapy and counselling for sexual abuse of a child where, even though the practitioner did not

supervise the child nor was the practitioner responsible for the child, the practitioner's practice

facilitated the relationship with or access to the child. (Ontario Regulation 440/L9 Gazetted December

28,2Or9]'.

Proposed Regu lations Registry

(Se e http : //www. onto ri oca n o d a. co m /re qi strv )

There are no relevant consultations pending

Bonus Features

(tncludes Excerpts from our Blog and Twitter feed found at www'sml-law.com)

A Non-lawyer's Guide to Change in Court Scrutiny of Administrative Decisions

The Supreme Court of Canada made an important decision changing the way courts will review the

actions or decisions of administrative bodies, including regulators of professions. The phrase

"standard of review" describes in words how closely courts will scrutinize regulatory action. Before

the decision of Conada (Minister of Citizenship ond lmmigration) v Vavilov,20L9 SCC 65,

http://canlii.calt/i46kb, courts would give a lot of deference to how regulators interpreted their own

statutes and to the decisions regulators made. This is called the "reasonableness standard of review".

Only where the legal issues raised were of a general nature (e.g., interpreting the Canadian

Constitution, applying to legal system as a whole), or where procedural unfairness occurred, would

the courts closely scrutinize regulatory action. This close scrutiny is called the "correctness standard

of review".

The above approach by the courts will remain much the same for actions by regulators where there

is no formal right of appeal to the courts. For example, many regulators can make decisions on

complaints and, often, on registration matters, without a formal right of appeal to the courts'

Regulators will probably notice little change in those activities. However, where a regulator's statute

provides for a formal right of appeal to the courts, as is often the case in discipline matters, courts will

now show little deference when it comes to all legal issues (e.g., how to interpret one's enabling

statute; the scope of the committee's authority). For issues of fact (e.g., what the evidence proved)

or mixed fact and law (e.g., whether the conduct amounts to professional misconduct), deference will

likely still be provided by courts.

Of course, there is much more to the Vavilov decision than this brief overview can cover. However,

this summary should help regulators prepare for more frequent legal challenges, particularly where

there is a formal right of appeal to the courts.

Page 3 of 7



FHRCO + HPRO Legislative Update - What Happened in December 2OL9?

Mild Cognitive lmpairment

Regulators are likely to see increasing numbers of concerns about practitioners with mild cognitive
impairment. When do these concerns call for an aggressive incapacity intervention?

ln College of Physicians & Surgeons of Alberta v Collett,20l-9 ABCA 46i-, http://canlii.calt/i3n6m, an
Alberta court stated that an interim suspension of a physician's right to practice was invalid. The Court
first held that the matter was not moot even though the practitioner's registration had since been
reinstated. The Court said that it "accepts that a professional's reputation is a fragile thing and can
easily be diminished." The Court's ruling might go some small way to repairing that damage.

The Court's finding that the interim suspension was invalid was made on two grounds. First, there
was an insufficient basis for finding that the practitioner's condition impaired "his ability to provide
professional services in a safe and competent manner". None of the medical reports expressed that
opinion but rather suggested further inquiries ought be made at a later time. The College
representative expressed "concerns" about the practitioner's cognitive status but did not actually
state a belief of impairment to the degree required by the legislation.

The second basis of the finding was that there had been procedural unfairness. A period of four
months elapsed between the medical report raising the concerns and notification of an intention to
suspend the practitioner's registration. No medical updates were sought during that period. The
notification then only provided two clear business days to retire or be suspended. Given the enormity
of the impact of the decision on his life and the mild medical evidence, that period of notice was
unreasonable. The Court suggested a notice period of some weeks, a month perhaps, was appropriate
in the circumstances. The medical concerns were not such as to necessitate "a firehall-like response".

This case suggests that regulators need to carefully examine the full circumstances of an individual
with suspected cognitive impairment, obtain clear evidence of its likelihood to affect a practitioner's
practice, explicitly state the findings they are making, apply the legal test contained in the legislation,
and provide a proportionate time for a response in light of the significance of the concerns.

I nca pacity Restrictions

lncapacity cases ideally result in terms, conditions and limitations (TCLs) imposed on a certificate as
opposed to suspension. This permits the practitioner to practise while still providing the necessary
reassurance to the regulator. However, regulators and practitioners regularly disagree as to the
breadth of such TCLs. Obviously, applicants for registration and members wish to have as few
restrictions as possible as TCLs have a significant impact on a practitioner's life. As such practitioners
may view the restrictions proposed by a regulator as excessive and based on speculation, or even
faulty assumptions, as opposed to being grounded in evidence.

ln an older case, D.W.C. v College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario,2OIT CanLll 55551 (ON
HPARB), http://canlii.calt/h5mve, an independent Board provided a detailed review of numerous
restrictions proposed for a former physician who was re-applying for registration after a period of
substance abuse and related psychiatric symptoms. At the time of the hearing, the applicant had not

429

Page 4 of 7



FHRCO + HPRO

430
Legislative Update - What Happened in December 2OL9?

used cocaine for seven years and reported moderate amounts of alcohol use. The primary, but not

entire, dispute related to the monitoring restrictions proposed by the regulator. ln upholding the

proposed restrictions, the Board made the following determinations:

While the onus is on the applicant to demonstrate that they meet the requirements for

registration, regulators must still "scrupulously exercise their mandate when determining

whether an individual qualifies for registration".

There is no appearance of bias on the part of experts who assessed the applicant because they

came to a diagnosis that the applicant disputes through a fair process.

The constitutionally protected freedom of expression does not prevent medical experts from

using the applicant's statements, including some that appeared to be bizarre, in diagnosing

the applicant's condition.
The applicant's human rights do not prevent the regulator or appeal Board from considering

issues related to the applicant's disability. Rather, those human rights are required to be

considered within the process.

On the evidence before them, the Board did not find evidence that the medical experts or the

regulator had relied on assumptions based on the applicant's lndigenous status or had

otherwise discriminated against the applicant on that ground'

The Board did not find it to be inappropriate for a regulator to require the applicant to
participate in a support group whose philosophy was, in some aspects, contrary to the

applicant's personal beliefs.

While the Board accepted the proposition that the regulator had a duty to accommodate the

applicant's disability by only imposing restrictions necessary to protect public health and

safety, the Board found on the evidence that the following restrictions were necessary to

protect the public:

o monitoring by a psychiatrist and an addictions medicine physician and compliance with

their treatment recom mendations;

o unannounced biological testing for alcohol and any substance of abuse at an

independent laboratory rather than at the applicant's office;

o total abstinence from drugs and alcohol despite the contested evidence as to whether

complete abstinence from alcohol was necessary in the applicant's case;

o communication by the regulator with family members, workplace monitors and

support group leaders about the applicant's behaviour;

o the restrictions would be in place for at least five years; and

o "it would generally be in accordance with the established principles of professional

regulation for a registrant to bear the ongoing cost of conditions on his or her

certificate of registration."

These determinations were based on the evidence in the individual case and do not necessarily apply

to all cases. However, this decision provides a precedent and gives guidance as to the kinds of

evidence that might be necessary to support these sorts of restrictions.

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

Page 5 of 7



FHRCO -} HPRO Legislative Update - What Happened in December 2OL9?

Discernment and Insight

Regulators can refuse registration to applicants who demonstrate a pattern of lacking "discernment
and insight" even if, individually, the events might not be disqualifying.

ln l.B. v College of Massage Therapists of Ontario, 2OI8 Canlll L424L6 (ON HPARB),
htto://canli i.ca/tli}vzz. a former practitioner applied for re-registration. The regulator declined to
register him because of a history that included

o Seven previous suspensions of registration for both administrative lapses (e.g., not carrying
insurance, non-payment of fees) and discipline;

o Revocation of registration for non-payment of fees;
o A discipline finding for practising while suspended;
o Failin8 to pay all of the costs ordered at that discipline hearing despite it being a joint

submission; and
r lnaccurately describing and minimizing the nature of four criminal convictions (most related

to impaired driving) including minimizing his personal responsibility for the conduct.

The appeal Board upheld the refusalto register him. ln doing so it noted the following

The applicant required the regulator to "expend considerable resources to administer his
membership".
The applicant "has not meaningfully demonstrated that he appreciates the nature of
professional expectations and governa bility standa rds".
The applicant has not demonstrated that he "possesses insight into the seriousness of his
previous conduct and how such conduct can have significance in regard to a health
professional's responsibilities to the public and to the College". On this point the Board noted
that patients, insurance companies, and others rely on practitioners to accurately provide
information, including about their registration status.

Uncertainty Continues for Regulators Defending their Reputations

How should a regulator respond to a practitioner making repeated public accusations that it is acting
with dishonesty and bad faith and was abusing its authority? While such statements might, in some
circumstances, constitute professional misconduct, disciplining such practitioners can sometimes
create an unsatisfactory appearance. Doing nothing or responding publicly to such communications
can give the allegations more credence than they deserve. ln Ontario Cotlege of Teachers v Bourogba,
201-9 ONCA \O28,http://canlii.ca/tli49mq, the regulator opted to sue the practitioner for defamation.

However, there is protection from defamation suits by individuals who comment on a matter of public
interest. This protection, called anti-Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation (SLAPP) legislation
is intended to prevent well-resourced entities from using the courts to stifle criticism. Anti-SLApp
protections have three criteria:

431

a

a

a

Page 6 of 7



FHRCO.T HPRO Legislative Update - What Happened in December 2OL9?

L. His comments were on a matter of public interest. 432
Z. The defamation suit can still proceed where it has substantial merit and there is no defence.

3. The public interest in permitting the proceeding to continue outweighs the public interest in

protecting the comment'

The regulator argued that the practitioner's comments were private grievances about proceedings

that had not gone the practitioner's way. The Court held that while there was some truth to this, the

comments also contained a public interest element about whether the regulator was acting

appropriately. For example, some of the communications were to relevant Ministers in the

government calling for a public inquiry. On this portion of the SLAPP criteria, the motives of the

practitioners were irrelevant (although those motives were relevant to the third part of the test).

As such the Court held that the first portion of the test should be resolved in favour of the practitioner.

The Court returned the matter to the lower court to evaluate the second and third parts of the test'

Thus, uncertainty continues for regulators as to how best to respond to unfair criticism that

undermines its reputation for integrity'

I nca rceration for Regu latory Offences

provincialoffences for unauthorized practice or holding out usually result in fines, not jail, especially

for first offenders. However, that is not always the case. ln Ontario (Trovel Industry Council) v

Robinson,2019 ONCJ 888,http:llcanlii.ca/tli45cz, the defendant was sentenced to 75 days and 45

days, respectively, for two convictions for acting as a travel agent without registration.

ln imposing these sentences, the Court expressed concern about the dishonesty of the defendant in

promoting two trips. She took money from over 100 people and did not keep the funds in trust. When

difficulties arose, she concealed them and continued to promote the trips. For one trip she provided

only one-way tickets to Florida and the travellers only learned they had no flight back after arriving.

The other trip never occurred. The victims were out a total of 565,000. The victims had no recourse

to the regulator's compensation fund because the defendant was not registered'

The Court held that, in these circumstances, a fine was insufficient to protect the public.

PageT of7



FHRCO + HPRO Legislative Update - What Happened in November 2O19?

Prepared by Richard Steinecke 433
ln this lssue:

r Bill 145 to allow realestate regulator to impose administrative penalties, see p. 1-

o Bill 138 amends PHIPA and administration of review of physician billing and independent

health facilities, see p. 1
o Bill L36 to create complaints system about the animal welfare regulator, see pp. 1-2

r Bill 116 to establish centre of excellence for mental illness and addictions, see p. 2

o Medical Radiation and lmaging Technology Act proclaimed for January 1st, see p. 2

o Minor amendments to the RHPA to facilitate CMRITO proclamation , see p. 2

o Paramedic standards incorporated by reference to Ministry document, see p. 2

o Consultation on CASLPO registration regulation amendments, see p' 2

Bonus Features:
o Responsibilities of a Designated Manager, see p. 3

o Judicial Scrutiny of Delegated Regulation, see p. 4

r The Legality of Government Directives, see pp. 4-5

Ontario Bills
(Se e : https : //www. ol o. orq )

Bill 145, Trust in Real Estate Services Act, 2079 - (government Bill - passed second reoding and

referred to the Standing Committee on General Government). The Bill amends the regulation of real

estate practitioners including expanding the criteria the Registrar can consider when determining

eligibility for registration (e.g., past conduct, public interest), allowing the imposition of administrative

penalties for non-compliance, expanding the authority of the discipline process to including

suspension and revocation of a practitioner's registration, allowing the regulator to collect data to
identify enforcement risks, creating a specialist certification program and allowing seller

representatives to disclose competing offers to potential buyers.

Bilf 138, PIan to Buitd Ontorio Together Act, 2079 - (government Bill - possed second reading and

referred tothe Stonding Committee on Finonce and Economic Affairsl. This omnibus Bill enacts and

amends a number of Acts including:
o Changing the way that claims for physician services are reviewed

r Changing the way that independent health facilities are licensed and regulated

r Amending the Personol Health tnformation Protection Act to prohibit anyone from trying to

re-identify persons whose personal health information has been de-identified and allowing

the lnformation and Privacy Commissioner to order that personal health information be

returned where it has been improperly collected, used or disclosed.

Bill 135, Provincial Animol Welfare Services Act, 2079 - (government Bill, passed second reoding ond

under consideration by the Stonding Committee on Justice Policy). Bill 136 replaces the privately-run

Ontario Society to Prevent Cruelty to Animals with a government official, the Chief Animal Welfare

lnspector. The Chief Animal Welfare lnspector has numerous administrative powers (e.g., inspections,

Page 1 of 5



434
FHRCO -} HPRO Legislative Update - What Happened in November 2OL9?

demand for information, right to take action to protect animals) and provincial offence enforcement
powers. Of broader interest is the complaints mechanism available for anyone who thinks the new
agency is acting contrary to its Code of Conduct.

Bill 116, Foundotions for Promoting and Protecting Mental Heolth ond Addictions Seruices Act, 2079

-(government Bill-in second reading). The Billestablishes a centre of excellence to address mental
illness and addictions and makes it easier for the government to sue manufacturers and wholesalers
of opioids.

Proclamations
(See www. onta ri o. ca /e n /o nto ozette /q azl at/i n d ex. htm )

Medical Radiotion and Imdging Technology Act, 2077 - January I,2020 is the date in which most of
this Act comes into force. On the same date the Medicol Radiation Technology Act, 7997 will be
repealed. Minor related amendments will also be made to the Healing Arts Radiotion Protection Act
and the Regulated Heolth Professions Act will also occur then.

Regulations
(Se e www. onta ri o. ca/e n /onta azette /a ozl at/ i n d ex. htm)

Reguloted Health Professions Act - Minor amendment are made to the controlled acts regulation in
recognition of the new name of the College of Medical Radiation and lmaging Technologists of
Ontario. ln addition, a French version of the regulation is also now available. (Ontario Regulation
360 / L9 Gazetted November L6, 2OL9l.

Ambulance Act - Regulations are amended to incorporate by reference a Ministry document setting
out the standards of care, reporting and documentation by ambulance service operators and
paramedics (Ontario Regulation 364/L9 Gazetted November 16, 2019).

Proposed Regulations Registry
(Se e http : //www. onta ri oca n a d a. co m /re q i strv)

Audiology and Speech-Languoge Pathology Act, 7997 - Amendments are proposed to the
registration regulation to facilitate third party administration of entry to practise examinations and
third-party evaluation of education and practicum requirements, Comments are due by December
30, 2019.

Page 2 of 5



FHRCO + HPRO

435
Legislative Update - What Happened in November 2Ol9?

Bonus Features
(tncludes Excerpts from our Blog and Twitter feed found at www.sml-law.com)

Responsibilities of a Designated Manager

Some professions require that a registrant be responsible for the overall policies and procedures of a

practice. For example, the Ontario College of Pharmacists imposes responsibilities on a designated

manager. Each pharmacy must have one. The case of Joffer v Ontorio (Health Professions Appeal ond

Review Board),2019 ONSC 6770, http:/lcanlii.calt/i3lh5, raises the issue of the duties of the

designated manager where a serious error was made by another registrant. ln this case, if the other

registrant had followed the policies and procedures in place in the pharmacy at the time, the error

would not have occurred. The regulator imposed remedial measures on the designated manager

because he had not used the error as an opportunity to review the policies and procedures to see

whether improvements could be made to prevent future mistakes. The designated manager

challenged the decision on the basis that he should not be held accountable for the human error of

another registrant who had not followed existing policies. The Divisional Court upheld the remedial

measures as reasonable. Designated managers are accountable for their own role where mistakes

occur.

There were also issues about whether the regulator had been procedurally fair in giving adequate

notice that the communications of the designated manager were in issue in the complaint and

whether the prior history, including instances related to communications issues, would be considered.

The Court concluded that the designated manager had been given adequate notice of the scope of

the complaint and a sufficient opportunity to respond to the prior history.

The designated manager also challenged the failure of the regulator to address in its reasons the

generally favourable inspection report that was released contemporaneously with the incident in

issue. The Court indicated that a regulator's reasons need not cover every point raised by the

practitioner. The basis for the directed remediation was clear. The fact that the policies and

procedures of the practice were generally acceptable did not detract from the need for the designated

manager to respond appropriately to the error in this case.

The Court also provided some procedural guidance on judicial review of decisions by the Health

Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB) in complaints matters under the Regulated Health

Professions Act. The Court indicated that while the lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee can

generally provide submissions on the merits of the decision (at least where the complainant does not

appear), HPARB should not do so. The Court also indicated that where an inappropriate affidavit is

filed on an application for judicial review, the party opposing its admission should bring a motion

before the hearing to determine the affidavit's admissibility so that the record before the Court can

be finalized.

Page 3 of 5



FHRCO + HPRO Legisfative Update - What Happened in November 2Ot9?

Judicial Scrutiny of Delegated Regulation

The Ontario Court of Appeal has rejected the proposition that courts should closely scrutinize the
general transparency, accountability and adequacy of funding of delegated regulators; Ontorio
(Attorney General) v Bogaerts, 20L9 ONCA 876, http://canlii.calt/i3d8n. ln particular, the Court
overruled the creation of a novel constitutional principle expanding the scope of the review of
delegated regulation under "fundamental justice" principles:

I have no doubt that it would be a good idea and sound public policy to make all law
enforcement bodies subject to reasonable standards of transparency, accountability and
adequate funding and that they be properly funded. But not all good ideas and sound public
policies are constitutionally protected or mandated. Our task is not to decide what would be
sound policy. We are charged with the more specific task of deciding what the Constitution
requires ....

The Court concluded that all three requirements for establishing a novel constitutional principle
requiring delegated regulators to be transparent, accountable and adequately funded were not met
in this case:

L To be a legal principle it must provide meaningful conten! and avoid the adjudication of policy
matters;

2. lt must be "vital or fundamentalto our societal notion of justice"; and
3. lt must be "capable of being identified with precision and applied to situations in a manner

that yields predictable results".

The Court also found that the specific provisions relating to entry onto premises to help animals in
distress were constitutional under existing legal principles. ln the regulatory context involving a
pressing social need, the provisions relating to search and seizure were reasonable. ln addition, the
"interference with bodily integrity or serious state-imposed psychological stress" did not rise to the
levelwhere the constitutional protections of liberty and security of the person were engaged to create
a broader judicial authority to review search and seizure provisions.

This decision reinforces the concept of judicial restraint preventing the courts from intervening in
legislative policy decisions unless those decisions also infringe on established legal principles.

The legality of Government Directives

With increasing frequency, governments have been using informal directives to implement policy
rather than the more traditional and formal instruments like regulations and by-laws. A recent
decision constraining the authority of government to rule through directives has important
implications for autonomous agencies.

ln Canodion Federation of Students v Ontorio,2019 ONSC 6658, http://canlii.calt/i3hcc, the Cabinet
of Ontario issued a mandatary guideline that universities ensure the fees it charges students for
student organizations be optional. The Divisional Court found that universities were independent of

Page 4 of 5

436



437
FHRCO + HPRO Legisfative Update - What Happened in November 2Ot9?

government and there was no authority under the enabling legislation for the Cabinet to issue a

directive on this matter. The fact that a significant portion of the funding of universities came from

government did not authorize government to impose this restriction on its funding without statutory

authority. The Court was unwilling to imply the authority of government to impose this sort of

restriction where the enabling statutes were silent on the point.

The enabling statute of many regulators provides some authority for the relevant Minister to

intervene in the affairs of the regulator. However, according to this case, that authority (and whether

it is to be exercised informally or formally) likely goes no further than what is expressly described in

the statute.

Page 5 of 5



Rose Bustria |TEM 4.1.43
Jo-Ann Willson
Tuesday, December 3,2019 6:08 PM

Rose Bustria

Fwd: Spinal Stenosis Bootcamp, Research Committee EOls, AGM &
Proxy Voting, Sport Med 2020 + Webinars

444
From:
Sent:
To:
Subiect:

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W', LL.B'

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 111

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail : ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARN ING :

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

Begin forwarded message

From: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

Date: December 3, 2019 at 4:23:L7 PM EST

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Spinal Stenosis Bootcamp, Research Committee EOls, AGM & Proxy Voting,

Sport Med 2O2O+ Webinars
Reply-To: OCA <OCA@chi ropractic'on'ca>

We're Here For You View this email in vour browser

0ntario
Chiropractic
Association

I
-brl
bb
-

-



BOOT CAMP
PROGRAM FOR LUMBAR
SPINAL STENOSIS

In this lssue,' 445

al Stenosis

Resea rch Committee: Cal I for EOls

minder re A Votin

OMA S oorts Med 2020 Conference

Uocomino Webinars

Saturday, January 25, 2020

9:00 AM to 4:00 PM (Registration/Continental Breakfast: 8:30 AM)

Lecture Hall2 and Technique Labs 2 & z

CMCC,6100 Leslie Street, Toronto

Back by popular demand, Dr. Carlo Ammendolia's next Boot Camp Proqram for

Lumbar So al Stenosis@ will take place on Saturday, Janurary 25,2020. Help

patients suffering from spinal stenosis restore mobility and maintain

independence. Seats are limited, so register early!

Date:

Time:

Location:

Early bird pricing ends on January 10,2020. For fuil program pricing and

Help patlentr:uffcrtnq llom spinaI stenosrs ne:tore rnobrlrty.rrrd nr.rint+rrr rnclcperrdcrrce

learning objectives click here

2



Workshop attendees will receive 6.5 CE structured credit hours. Participants

who complete the workshop will be listed on www.spinemobilitv.com the official

website for The Boot Camp Programs. 
446

To register, please click on the button below while using Google Chrome as

your browser.

Gall for expressions of interest for membership in the

OCA Board Research Gommittee

The OCA Strategic Ptan 2017-2022 includes a significant focus on the role of

research in the advancement of our profession in Ontario. The Research

Committee assists the OCA Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight

responsibilities regarding all research-related activities.

We are inviting three OCA members to participate in the work of the

Board Research Committee.

Collaboration is a hallmark of our approach to advancing the profession on

behalf of our members. The Research Committee will support the OCA to

amplify the work of the Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation (CCRF),

the Canadian Chiropractic Guideline lnitiative (CCGI) and others that have

research as their core mission, ensuring that OCA investments in research are

optimized to enhance care for patients in Ontario.

The Research Committee conveys its findings and recommendations to the

Board of Directors for consideration, and where required, decision by the Board

of Directors.

3

Register Today!



Research Committee Composition 447

. Up to four OCA Board directors

. up to three ocA members who are engaged in research and who are

not Board directors

. The OCA Chair (Ex-officio)

. Chief Executive Officer (Ex-officio)

. A non-OCA member with research expertise (NTD: Advisor - non-voting

member of the Committee)

To support the activities associated with understanding the future needs for

developing and supporting research capacity in Ontario, the following tasks will

comprise the work plan of the Research Committee:

. Review OCA strategic initiatives

. ldentify those elements within the strategic initiatives focused on

research

. ldentify how those elements within the strategic initiatives may impact

the OCA strategic plan

. Review current and future research commitments

. Prioritize and make recommendations for funded research to present to

the Board of Directors on a semi-annual basis

. Participate in planning to prioritize areas of investment for Ontario input

into the national research agenda

. ldentify priority research forums/conferences for ocA attendance

lf you are interested in becoming part of the Research Committee, please send

an email no later than December 17 to dgibson@chiropractic.on.ca.

ln your email, please outline

1. Why you believe this work is important

4



2. Contributions you can make through previous experience 448
Thank you. We will connect by phone with each member who expresses

interest.

Members of the Research Committee will be confirmed in early January, 2020

lmportant message from Ayla Azad, Chair,

OCA Governance and Nominating Gommittee

of the Board of Directors

Thank you for voting in this year's Board of Directors election! Please see the

imoortant messaoe about the next steps you need to take before nominees can

be appointed to the Board at the Annual General Meeting this Saturday'

December 7. Find out how to confirm your attendance at the meeting or submit

your proxy vote if you can't attend.

OMA Sports Med 2020

ffi,,n
Early bird registration is now open for the

OMA Sport Med conference on

January 24 and 25 at the Westin Prince

Hotel, 900 York Mills Rd, Toronto (map).

This year, attendees may choose from three interactive sessions on Friday,

January 24 (afternoon):

5



. Foot & Ankle

. Neuro Physical Exam: Beyond the Basics

. Science Behind Yoga: Consideration

449

Em*

You may also choose two morning workshops on saturday, January 25. Here

are few of the topics to choose from:

. Core Stability Assessment

. Pedorthics and the Hypermobile Patient: Prehab

. Assessment

. Medical lssues

See the draft conference program and group room booking rate here. Register

on or before January 3,2020 to take advantage of early bird registration rates.

Hurry - rates will increase by 15 per cent after January 3, 2O2Ol

I:'
Click here to support change
now by sending a letter to
the Ontario govern ment.
#redtrperellef

Upcoming Webinars

CHRONIC PAIN IN OLDER

ADULTS: COMPREHENSIVE

ASSESSMENT AND

MANAGEMENT

HST: REAL CASE SCENARIOS
(REBROADCAST)

Wed. Dec. 11,12-1PM

Rishabh Khamersa, SRJ Chartered

Accountants

6

We want to
help 0 nta rio
move better.



450
Wed. Dec. 4,12-1PM

Carlo Ammendolia D.C., Ph.D

Managing chronic pain in older adults can

be challenging, with multiple pain sites,

comorbidities, cognitive decline and

polypharmacy. ln this webinar, Dr. Carlo

Ammendolia will outline an extensive,

practical approach to assessing and

managing the expanding Problem of

chronic pain in older adults.

We're here for You' Call us:

Local : 4 1 6-860-0070 | Toll-free: 1 -877 -327 -227 3

Update your OCA membership preferences or

unsubscribe from this list

This webinar will dive into the details of

how to file a return with real case common

errors and mistakes made bY

practitioners.

Our mailing address is:

Ontario Chiropractic Association

70 University Avenue, Suite 201

Toronto, ON M5J 2M4

Canada

Visit our Webinars On Demand web page to access our collection of previously

broadcast sessions.

upcombq CE& Events I tUebinArs OLr Deryand

Add us to vour address book

I Facebook U Twitter @ lnstaqram in Lint<edln

Register Now

Register Now

Webinars on Demand

7



Rose Bustria 451
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
Tuesday, December 10,2019 7:05 PM

Rose Bustria

Fwd: 2019 AGM & Board Election, OCA Award Recipients + Webinars

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (4L6)922-6355 ext. 111

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARN ING:

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notifli me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

Begin forwarded message:

From: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on'ca>

Date: December 10, 2OL9 at5:29:52 PM EST

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

subject: 2019 AGM & Board Etection, ocA Award Recipients + webinars

Reply-To: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

We're Here For You. View this email in vour browser

Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

O
-br-
bb
-

-

1



ln this lssue,' 452

Annual General Meetinq Uodate

OCA Gala rds Recioients

Upcominq Webinars

Update on 2019 Board Elections and

the OCA Annual General Meeting

congratulations for engaging in your ocA Board erection process. we are

pleased to report that 31 per cent of eligible members voted, the highest

participation rate since the ocA started third-party online voting.

At our AGM, 44 members attended in person and 282 attended by proxy. This

is an unprecedented level of member engagement.

At the AGM, members approved the slate of three new members to the ocA
Board of Directors:

2



453

Dr. Paolo De Giantis

Dr. Anjelica Mazzella

Dr. Jenny Elliott

Gelebrating Excellence at the 2019 OCA Awards Gala

OCA

YEARS STRONG

OCA celebrated the following members at the

OCA 90 Years Strong dinner and awards gala,

held Saturday, December 7,2019. These

outstanding individuals were honoured for their

contributions to the Profession.

3



Ms. Debbie Kerrn

2019 OCA Ghiropractic Health Assistant
This award recognizes a clinic staff member

whose work has enhanced patient

satisfaction and the reputation and

creclihi lity of ch i ropractic.

Ms. Debbie Kerr started her work at a solo practice with just pen and paper. She made
her job look effortless as the practice grew to a fully computerized, complex office serving
12 practitioners. Throughout her career spanning 28 years, she trained, mentored and
educated numerous office administrators allowing them to advance their careers.

Ms. Kerr treated each patient like a member of her family and as a result, they felt
comfortable confiding in her.

Though Ms. Kerr is retired now, she still volunteers at Hope House and the Heart & Sfroke
Foundation and continues to promote chiropractic care to the public.

Dr. Alena Russo,

2019 OCA Recent Graduate

of the Year Award
Winners of this award develop relationships

with other health care providers and

contribute to innovative patient-centred care.

Dr. Alena Russo graduated from CMCC in 2018. Her achievements there, and her work
since, have demonstrated incredible promise.

At CMCC, she facilitated the Soft Tissue Club, served on the Ontario Committee for the
Student Canadian Chiropractic Association (OCSCCA) and volunteered in the Dominican
Republic in alumni outreach. After graduating, Dr. Russo continued volunteering with
ocsccA and mentoring those she helped through the mentorship program.

Dr. Russo is an author on the topic of pregnancy care and the co-creator of a prenatal

Yoga and Learn program. She works at two chiropractic clinics, where she networks with
health specialists and the community to promote chiropractic.

4

? it(
b/

,*,
'i !i

H

OC
-\tf'
5r:

\
i'



errors and mistakes made by

practitioners.

455
This webinar looks at the most common

mistakes that business owners make

when deducting expenses against their

revenue, and covers the most popular

expense categories for health care

professionals and categories that are

highly auditable.

Visit our Webinars On Demand web page to access our collection of previously

broadcast sessions.

tJp-coninq-QE & Events I Webinars Qn Demand

Register Now

Register Now

Webinars on Demand

We're here for you. Call us:

Local : 4 1 6-860-0070 | Toll-free: 1 -877 -327 -227 3

Update vour OCA membership preferences or

qrcubsg!_bg from this list

Our mailing address is:

Ontario Chiropractic Association

70 University Avenue, Suite 201

Toronto, ON M5J 2M4

Canada

Add us to your address book

f Facebook U Twitter @ lnstaqram in Linkedln

B



He received his Doctor of Chiropractic Magna Cum Laude in 2004 from CMCC and a
diploma in MedicalAcupuncture from McMaster University the same year.

Dr. Thistle served as Clinic Director for SHAPE Health and Wellness Centre and joined the
ranks of CMCC's faculty where he guest lectures in the Orthopedics Department.

ln 2006, Dr. Thistle launched RRS Education, where he writes on a variety of research
topics. RSS Education helps practitioners who strive to enhance knowledge transfer from
bench to bedside. Dr. Thistle is also a monthly columnist for Research Review Corner in
Canadian Chiropractor Magazine.

Watch the video of Dr. Shawn Thistle .2019 OCA Chirooractor of the Year.

456

We wattt tu
help 0 nta rio
move better

tlick here to support change
now by sending a letter to
the Ontario government.
Sredtrperellef Hm

Upcoming Webinars

HST: REAL CASE SCENARIOS
(REBROADCAST)

Wed. Dec. 11,12-1PM

Rishabh Khamersa, SRJ Chartered

Accountants

This webinar will dive into the details of

how to file a return with real case common

WHAT BUSINESS EXPENSES

COULD YOU BE DEDUCTING?

(REBROADCAST)

Wed. Jan. 8, 12-l PM

Rishabh Khamesra, CA, CPA

SRJ Chartered Accountants

Profess ional Corporation

7



Dr. Ramsackal is passionate about patient education and was featured as a weekly health

and wellness speaker on a local television program. She is also the author of a health and

wellness column and provides presentations on chiropractic care and pregnancy.

457
Dr. James Laws,

2019 OCA Dr. Michael Brickman

Heart & Hands Award

This award is given to a Practicing

chiropractor who best embodies a generous

and giving spirit with an inspiring passion

and dedication to chiroPractic.

Dr. James Law is a world-renowned chiropractor and athletic therapist, bridging the gap

between our profession and the sports world at all levels - from amateur to elite. He has

taught countless students, including CMCC's fourth-year students in his course on athletic

injury management.

Dr. Laws has had an enduring influence on the chiropractic profession, encompassing

advocacy, education, service, leadership and clinical expertise. He has volunteered at

OCA, CCO, CMCC, and the York-Peel Chiropractic Society'

For more than 40 years, Dr. Laws has contributed both with his heart, in giving to so many

communities, and with his hands, in healing so many patients and helping to shape our

profession.

Dr. Shawn Thistle,

2019 OCA ChiroPractor of the

Year Award

This award recognizes a practicing

chiropractor for outstanding service,

professional ach ievement

and a significant contribution that influences

and benefits the profession.

Dr. Shawn Thistle was recognized for his incredible work, advancing and disseminating

research in chiropractic.

6



Dr. Evelyn Lock,

2019 OCA Community Relations Award

This award recognizes a chiropractor who

has made a lasting, meaningful contribution

to a community. Recipients educate those

outside the profession and demonstrate the

health care benefits of chiropractic to others.

458

Dr. Evelyn Lock has worked tirelessly with the humanitarian charity, Bridge to Health,
building its MSK program from the ground up.

Dr. Lock visited rural Ugandan villages, providing care to individuals who had never seen
an MSK expert. She educated local Ugandan clinical officers in how to conduct MSK-
focused histories, examinations and treatments. Because of her work, a formal MSK team
has been added to allAfrican missions, alongside multidisciplinary health care providers.

Dr. Lock mentors undergraduate students at the University of Toronto and provides care
and preventative health education to several community groups. She was involved in the
Key Performance Target Committees with Patients Canada, where she worked to improve
patients' hospital experiences. She feels that a multidisciplinary approach helps in her
current work at Mount Sinai Hospital and the University of Toronto.

Dr. Lisa Ramsackal,

2019 OCA Patient Gare Award

This award recognizes a chiropractor, clinic

or organization that has excelled in providing

exceptional patient experiences.

Dr. Lisa Ramsackal is the founder of lnnova lntegrated Wellness Centre, a clinic
committed to delivering a high standard of patient-centred care. She leads a diverse,
multidisciplinary team that focuses on patient goals through a team-based collaborative
approach.

Dedicated to providing excellence in patienlcentred care, she consults and communicates
with her patients' extended health network to improve overall care, health management
and treatment outcomes.

5



Rose Bustria 459
From:
Sent:
To:

Jo-Ann Willson
Thursday, January 16,2020 5:15 PM

Rose Bustria

Fwd: OCA Evidence-Based Advisory Council LaunchSubject:

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (4L6)922-6355 ext. 111

Fax: (415) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARN ING :

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy' Thank you.

Begin forwarded message:

From: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

Date: January L6,2O2O at 5:07:06 PM EST

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on'ca>

Subject: OCA Evidence-Based Advisory Council Launch

Reply-To: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

We're Here For You. View this email in your browser

Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

-tbrf
b
b
-I

1



460

OCA holds its first meeting of
Evidence-bas ed Framework Advisory Councit

Greating the future for chiropractic care in Ontario

begins this weekend.

After careful planning and the selection of 13 exemplary practicing

chiropractors, reflecting a broad base of practice styles and a patient, the OCA

Evidence-based Framework Advisoru Council members meet this weekend.

The council will begin the important work of developing a comprehensive

definition and understanding of chiropractic care - a definition that is founded on

the universally accepted thee pillars of the evidence-based framework: best

available evidence, clinical expertise and patient preference.

This unprecedented partnership with members recognizes that a

comprehensive definition must be relevant to chiropractors' practices; and to

explore patient preferences, a patient is a crucial member of the council and

unique to the approach in establishing this council.

With a shared understanding and adoption of the evidence-based chiropractic

care framework, the OCA will advance the profession and elevate patient care

and practices in a consistent approach. By increasing the understanding and

value of chiropractic care in Ontario, chiropractors will be recognized as the

trusted first choice for the prevention, treatment and optimal health. This

2

EVIDENCE-
BASED

PRACTICE



461comprehensive approach will advance chiropractic care with patients, the

public, government, extended health insurers and other health professionals

Through the advice of our outstanding advisory council, we will work with

partners to ensure you are supported as the work evolves. Unanimously

supported by the OCA Board of Directors, we recognized in early 2019 that a

comprehensive and inclusive definition of chiropractic care was foundational to

realizing a vision for the future of the profession in Ontario. On behalf of our

members, we took on this essential leadership role.

Throughout2olg, we met with our member through 23 member-engagement

sessions and five OCA 90 Years Strong gala celebrations. The response was

clear and overwhelming. Members value the approach and the goal of creating

the future of the chiropractic profession in Ontario.

As key partners and beneficiaries of the work of the OCA Evidence-based

Framework Advisory Council, we will share the recommendations of the council

as they advance this decisive work. lf you have any questions, please contact

me at cbrereton @chiropracti c.on.ca

We're here for you. Call us;

Local : 4 1 6-860-0070 | Toll-free : 1 -87 7 -327 -227 3

Update your OCA membership preferences or

unsubscribe from this list

Our mailing address is:

Ontario Chiropractic Association

70 University Avenue, Suite 201

Toronto, ON MsJ 2M4

Canada

Add us to your address book

{ Facebook Y Twitter @ lnstagram in Linkedln

3



462

H
Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council

Dr. Sean Batte (Logan University graduate; practicing in London

area)

Fast facfs: Dr. Sean Batte is a graduate of Logan University's

Chiropractic program. He earned an undergraduate and Master of

Science degree in Medical Biophysics from the University of

Western Ontario and a second undergraduate degree from Logan

University. Dr. Batte has been practicing in the London, Ontario

area for 19 years.

Dr. Batte is also a member of the Royal Canadian Navy with

several command qualifications and is a graduate of the Canadian

Forces Staff College.

euestion: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council?

Dr. Batte: I think there is a real opportunity to unite the profession and make it stronger. This

work belongs to the entire profession and we can see it made stronger if we all learn how use

evidence and research to our profession's and patient's advantage. That's why I want to

participate on this council. My hope is it will give chiropractors more social credibility as

evidence is the currency of credibility when paired with an appropriate strategy. Existing and

new research, when deployed with a comprehensive implementation plan is vital part of a larger

vision to help better serve our communities and patients, inclining more to seek chiropractors

out as their first choice for health care.

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether

that is volunteering or mentoring others?

Dr. Batte: I volunteer with the Salvation Army Centre of Hope's chiropractic clinic' I have

volunteered for the London Chiropractic Society and organized seminars. I also served as a

chiropractor at the Canada Summer Games and serve as a chiropractic trainer at local amateur

sporting events. I have had the pleasure to care for members of Team Canada's rowing team' I

aiso enloy mentoring students and new graduates from Logan University who have completed

their exiernships in my clinic or shadowed me. I've been a guest lecturer at the University of

Western Canada School of Medicine on several occasions to speak about chiropractic to

medical students.

Outside the profession, I have raised money for the Soldier On organization for wounded

veterans. A iew years ago, I led the way to build the multi-million-dollar Battle of the Atlantic

Memorial in London Ontario.

L



463
I serve in the Royal Canadian Navy Reserves part time. ln 2017 ,l was appointed to Chief of
Staff for Central Region (Ontario). ln this role, I have 1500 sailors whose readiness and training
I am responsible for to the Central Region Captain (Navy). ln my ships' squadron I have seven
Naval Reserve Divisions whose sailors must be operationally ready to serve domestically and
overseas. The main focus of my mentorship is in 'leadership' and 'command.'

Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the
broader health system?

Dr Batte: ln addition to my work with the University, I am the Vice Chair of the WKY Viking
Foundation, which is a multidisciplinary research foundation of health professionals from a
number of fields, including chiropractors, physicians, naturopaths and others. Our aim is to
conduct research that will demonstrate the benefits of including complementary and alternative
health disciplines at a national level.

2



lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council 464

models of practice including
As the owner of CURAVITA,

Dr. Ken Brough: (Palmer College of Chiropractic graduate and

practices in Ottawa)

Fast facts; Dr. Ken Brough has been involved in the Ontario
Chiropractic Association for 12 years in various roles, including his

most recent position as Chair of the Board of Directors for the last

two years. Dr. Brough was also involved with the Canadian
chiropractic Association (ccA) and the canadian chiropractic
Clinical Guidelines lnitiative (CCGI) as Chair of the Government
and lnter-Professional Relations Committee and as a Steering

committee member respectively. Dr. Brough has practiced for 28
years in the Ottawa area, leading his clinics in collaborative care

chiropractors, physiotherapists and registered massage therapists.

he employs a team of over 30 professionals in two locations.

euestion: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council?

What is your motivation?

Dr. Brough: As a member, I did not have a strong understanding of the concepts of evidence-

based caie; it was an emerging concept for me until I became more involved in the Canadian

Chiropractic Association (CCA). I became very familiar when I sat on the committee for

Canadian Chiropractic Guidelines lnitiative (CCGI). When I fully understood Dr. Sackett's work

in articulating the three pillars of evidence-based care: best available evidence, clinical expertise

and patient preference, I saw how that framework was selectively applied. There is not a strong

understanding of how the framework relates to daily clinical practice.. Dr Sacketts intention was

for att of the fittars of the framework to be apptied and we need to support the application of all 3

pillars in patient care.

euestion: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether

that is volunteering or mentoring?

Dr. Brough: I was involved with CCA for nine years, largely as a Board member' I've served on

the OCA Board of Directors for 13 years and have held executive positions, namely Chair,

which is the position I hold now.

For four years, I served on the CCGI Steering Committee as the new guidelines initiative was

being redeveloped. I was involved in the initial strategic planning for the initiative and helped lay

the groundwork for where CCGI is today'

I operate two multidisciplinary practices. All of us work in full wellness-based model. I employ

five chiropractors and we all work in a collaborative model. Mentoring my team is very

importani; I work with them to practice in the framework of the three pillars of evidence-based

care. For our younger practitioners, we established a mentoring program in my clinics to

leverage the experience of more established chiropractors; this is of great value to the younger

associates who feel supporled to grow and thrive'

euestion: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the

broader health system?

3



465
Dr. Brough: ln clinical practice, we work with a spectrum of professionals, including the
medical profession. Through my work with the CCA, I contributed to the foundational work with
the Canadian Armed Forces to launch the chiropractic initiative. I presented to the
Parliamentary Defence Committee about the potential involvement of chiropractic care for the
military. I also worked with the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) when it was re-aligning
its health policy and utilization for employees.

Also, while working with the CCA, I participated in its efforts to launch a chiropractic program in
Nunavut at one Community Health Centre. That work enabled the creation of a legal framework
to enable chiropractors to practice legally in the territory.

4



466
lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council

t ;.i:!

Dr. Anita Chopra (New York Chiropractic College graduate and
practices in Brampton, Oakville and Etobicoke)

Fast facts; Dr. Anita Chopra has been serving the Brampton,
Oakville, and Etobicoke area since 2011 after graduating from the
New York Chiropractic College. Dr. Chopra received her Bachelor of
Arts in Psychology from the University of Western Ontario and is a

certified Webster Technique and Rocktape practitioner. Dr. Anita
Chopra actively engages her community through guest speaking
events with various groups in the Peel region'

Question: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council?

Dr. Chopra: I believe that it's time to have good representation of the profession at hand' We

are all busy in our practices, but we need to make time to shed light on what is going on our
profession. With a lot of media coverage of our profession, it is important to understand what

we do and how we do it.

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether

that is volunteering or mentoring?

Dr. Ghopra: I am a regular speaker on injury prevention at The Running Room and speak to

pregnanl and postpartum women on the importance of chiropractic care. I also have spoken to

classes on what chiropractic care is.

Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the

broader health system?

Dr. Ghopra: I have tried setting up referral practices with other health care professionals. lt is

something that takes time and effort; but it does pay off. Establishing trust and competency is

very important when building these practices.

5



467
lntroducing the ocA Evidence-based Framework Advisory councit

Dr. Marco De Ciantis (CMCC Graduate and practices in North
York)

Fasf facfs; Dr. Marco De Ciantis has served the North York
area for seven years practicing with his twin Dr. Paolo De
Ciantis at Sports Specialist Rehab Centre. Dr. Marco De
Ciantis has an interest in working with both amateur and
professional athletes and provides his services to local football,
soccer, and rugby teams regularly as well as both youth and
adult Taekwondo athletes at national competitions. Dr. De
Ciantis also volunteered his services with the 2015 Pan
Am/ParaPan Am games in Toronto.

Dr. Marco De Ciantis was recognized for his outstanding work with the Patient Care award from
the Ontario Chiropractic Association in 2018. Dr. De Ciantis has worked to build a collaborative
and patient-centred model of care in his career and has attempted to spread this model of care
within his community. Dr. De Ciantis also actively engages his community by volunteering within
hospitals, local social clubs, charity campaigns, and community health initiatives.

Question: Why are you joinlng the OCA Evidence based Framework Advisory Council?

Dr. De Ciantis: I've spent years since graduating in 2012, speaking with colleagues about
potential changes I and we felt could help to steer the profession towards a direction of
unification; unification between all the different "factions" so-to-speak in the various practice
styles found under the chiropractic umbrella. Joining this Advisory Council is, on one level,
putting foot to pavement and actively contributing to such a process. Moreover, this is a journey
to help consolidate all the practice philosophies in our profession, improving
professional cohesion and enhancing inter-professional collaborations.

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether
that is volunteering or mentoring others?

Dr. De Ciantis: Last year, ljoined the Toronto-based humanitarian group, Bridge to Health. I

travelled to Uganda back in January/February of this year for two weeks where I worked in the
field, in isolated villages in rural Uganda with medical doctors, speech pathologists, a dentist,
dental hygienists, researchers, pharmacist and many local support staff delivering MSK
(musculo-skeletal) care to individuals who have never received any care, whatsoever.
Furthermore, I and another chiropractor worked, side-by-side, with local clinical officers
(Uganda's version of medical doctors), teaching them how to perform proper histories, physical
and neurological examinations for MSK conditions and how to treat them. On November 4 of
this year, I presented research gained from this experience and previous trips at the American
Public Health Associations (APHA) Conference in Philadelphia. We were the only Canadian
representatives.

6



468
In my personal practice, I mentor undergraduate (chiropractic, naturopathic, kinesiologist) and

secondary (high school) students. My clinic acts as a co-op learning facility with local high

schools where grade 11-12 students come in and observe multiple days of the week for hours,

earning credits. Moreover, I and other chiropractors at the clinic have established
interprofessional networks with various physiatrists, medical doctors, personaltrainers,
pharmacists (local Shoppers Drug Mart), with orthopaedic surgeons in UHN and with private

facilities (Pain & Wellness Centre) where interprofessional collaborations and rounds occur

every month, bolstering patient-centred health care.

7



469
lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council

Dr. Peter Emary (New York Chiropractic College graduate and practices in Cambridge)

Fasf facfs.'Dr. Peter Emary has served the Cambridge, Ontario
region for 16 years after graduating from the New York
Chiropractic College. Dr. Emary has also received a Master of
Science in Clinical Sciences degree from Bournemouth
University and has a special interest in clinical research and
radiology.

Dr. Emary served as the President of the Waterloo Regional
Chiropractic Society from 201 1 to 2013, during which time the
organization was awarded the Ontario Chiropractic Association's
Society of the Year award in both 2011 and 2012. Dr. Emary has
also been recognized for his community involvement with the

Rotarian of the Year award in 2005 by the Rotary Club of Cambridge (Preston-Hespeler) of
which he was a member of for 10 years.

Question: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Counci?

Dr. Emary: I've been wanting to get more involved in our profession for years but have often
lacked the time to properly do so. However, I couldn't pass up the chance to be involved in this
OCA initiative. Aligning the chiropractic profession with the principles of evidence-based
practice is something I've been wanting to see happen for a very long time. I'm enthusiastically
looking forward to getting involved and participating in the advisory council.

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether
that is volunteering or mentoring?

Dr. Emary: I served on the Executive Board of the Waterloo Regional Chiropractic Society from
2007 to 2013. I served as President of the Society from 2011 to 2013. I worked with a fantastic
group of Board Members and am proud that we were awarded the OCA's'Society of the Year'
during my two years as president. We built upon the successes of our previous society
Presidents and I am pleased that the Waterloo Regional Chiropractic Society is still as strong
today as ever.

Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the broader
health system?

Dr. Emary: This past year, I started teaching parttime in the chiropractic department at
D'Youville College and am thoroughly enjoying it. I'm teaching a course in evidence-based
practice to third-year students; and am helping them to learn how to critically appraise research
literature and apply it, combined with clinical experience and patient preference, to managing an
individual patient. This year I've also started participating in the ISAEC program through Grand
River Hospital. This has been a tremendous experience so far and my clinical skills are being
greatly enhanced through this program.

8

| :"
r'{ flil'rl
,,'{iili ,l



470
We have a really great practice leader and a highly-skilled group of chiropractors on the ISAEC

team here; I'm excited to see the impact that this program will have, not only in our region, but

across Ontario, in terms of streamlining care and reducing referrals for advanced imaging and

spine surgery.

This program is an evidence-based program and is placing Ontario chiropractors on the front

line of primary interdisciplinary spine care'

ln addition to my clinical practice at the Langs Community Health Centre (CHC) in Cambridge,

I'm also fortunate to be working on a Ph.D. at McMaster University. For my thesis, I will be

investigating the impact of chiropractic integration on opioid use among chronic back pain

patients within the CHC setting.

9



471
lntroducing the ocA Evidence-based Framework Advisory councit

Dr. Brian Gleberzon: (CMCC graduate and practices in Toronto)

Fasf facfs,' Dr. Brian Gleberzon is a researcher, professor, and Chair
of the Department of Chiropractic Therapeutics at the Canadian
Memorial Chiropractic College in Toronto. Dr. Gleberzon was
involved with the College of Chiropractors of Ontario from 2007 to
2016 and the Ontario Chiropractic Association since 2016 where he
currently holds the position of secretary-Treasurer and serves on the
Finance and Audit Committee and the Research Committee

Dr. Gleberzon has a Master of Health sciences from the University of
Sydney and is completing his Ph.D. from the University of New South
Wales. Dr. Gleberzon has practiced in the Toronto area for 30 years.
He has also been recognized for his work in the profession and
received the ocA's Professional service in Research in Ghiropractic

Awa rd, now known as Researcher of the Year and the OCA's Professional Service awards in
Public Relations Award 2001 and 2008 respectively.

Question: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence-based Framework A,dvisory Councip

Dr. Gleberzon: I want to ensure the voice of the patient and the voice of the clinician is heard,
not just clinical research. I see it as a three-legged stool; we need to remember all three pillars. I

want to resolve the friction at the researcher-practitioner interface. I'm a non-linear thinker who
wants to deconstruct dogma. I speak truth to power and that is partly why I want to contribute as
a member of the Council. I'm not afraid to address difficult conversations.

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether
that is volunteering or mentoring others?

Dr. Gleberzon: I'm President and a founding member of local CUPE union at CCMC. l'm a
strong advocate for naturaljustice and procedural fairness.

One of the small groups I work with is clinical education, deconstructing guidelines and looking
at its content. I'm an advocate for challenging dogma. lt is how I work and what I am interested
in. This is the topic of my Ph.D. triangulation to understand what is really fair and just. To the
individual patient, we must be responsible.

There are two areas of research I pioneered. I was the lead author of a study on student
injuries. lnitially, I received a lot resistance; now other professions are starting to publish similar
articles. The second area of research concerns women chiropractors. I surveyed CMCC
women whether they were ever sexually harassed by patients. For women, this is an issue. I

was the first to publish data for the chiropractic profession. lt is an important issue and I'm not
afraid to ask the questions; get the data and publish. We learned that most of the harassment
occurs in the first five years by male patients.

10



472
Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the

broader health system?

Dr. Gleberzon: I teach at CMCC and run my practice, which is focused mainly on back pain

and sports injuries; most of my patients are older adults'

I've published many research papers and contributed to various textbooks; I speak at scientific

conferences globally. ln 2008, I designed the Best Food Forward program for the Canadian

Chiropractic Association and presented the program to members of Parliament and senior

advisors of the Public Health Agency of Canada.

IL



473lntroducing the ocA Evidence-based Framework Advisory council

Sheila Gregory (patient member)

Fasf facfs; Sheila Gregory has been a chiropractic patient for
more than 30 years. She lives in Newmarket, Ontario.

She has been treated by many different practitioners in the
Greater Toronto Area, and has experienced diverse practice
styles. Sheila started visiting a chiropractor because of neck and
lower back pain experienced at work. She has maintained
consistent and ongoing treatment over the years.

Sheila describes her experience with chiropractors as excellent.
Their care and expertise has helped her reduce pain and maintain an active lifestyle.
Throughout the years, Sheila's chiropractic needs have evolved and changed, therefore making
her an excellent candidate to discuss her diverse set of experiences with chiropractic care.
Sheila is motivated to provide insightful and meaningful input into the OCA Evidence-based
Framework Advisory Council.

Question: Why are you joining the OGA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Councit?

Ms. Gregory: When I learned about the Council from OCA, I realized how many chiropractors I

have been treated by over the years (about six or seven) and, for the most part, how much
they've helped me. I've a great respect for chiropractors. I've been exposed to a range of
treatments and think I can offer an understanding of the patient's point of view. My personal
motivation to contribute to the Council is related to my background in physical education and
health promotion/community health.

Question: As our patient member, can you please share any other involvement in chiropractic
or any other organizations, whether that is volunteering for an association or mentoring others?
Specifically, have you served as a patient or representative with other organizations?

Ms. Gregory: l've not been involved in the chiropractic profession or as patient representative
in any other organization. Past volunteer activities include serving as a board director for a
homeless shelter and serving on the executive of my professional association.

Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the
broader health system, for example, as a patient or as a health advocate for a family member or
friend?

Ms. Gregory: As a health care advocate for my parents going through the aging process and
the end of their lives, I'm familiar with the excellence and the challenges patients experience
when navigating the health care system. As a former employee of Dying With Dignity Canada
(DWDC), I worked with health care professionals who served as board directors and/or
members of the Physicians Advisory Council. My experience at DWDC gave me an
understanding of how, sometimes, health care provider beliefs, professional codes, institutional
policies, and legislative restrictions can be in direct conflict with patients' desires and/or rights.

L2



lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council 474

Dr. Glen M. Harris (CMCC Graduate and practices in mid-town

Toronto)

Fast facts; Dr. Glen M. Harris has been active in the chiropractic sports
care community after graduating from the Canadian Memorial
chiropractic college with his Doctor of chiropractic and the Royal
College of Chiropractic Sports Sciences (Canada)

Dr. Harris served on the Executive Board of the Royal College of
Chiropractic Sports Sciences (Canada) from 2Q02 to 2016 and is also a
past President of the organization from 2010 to 2012. Dr. Harris has

also been the North American (Canada) representative on the
lnternational Federation of Sports Chiropractic /F6d6ration
lnternationale de Chiropratique du Sport (FICS) since 2012.
Dr. Harris is an Assistant Professor at the Canadian Memorial
Chiropractic College in the Division of Clinical Education where he

supervises clinical interns Dr. Harris continues to practice in Toronto and is the President of

MSK+, a continuing education company for ch iropractors and allied health professionals

Question: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory CounciR

Dr. Harris: I'm committed to the advancement of the chiropractic profession. I've served in

leadership positions at the national and international level through the Royal College of

Chiropractic Sports Sciences (RGCSS Canada). I have served in leadership positions at the

national and international level through the lnternational Federation of Sports Chiropractic

/F6d6ration lnternationale de Chiropratique du Sport (FICS)'

I've supervised chiropractic interns for twenty years; now this is an opportunity to assist and

serve the profession at the provincial level.

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether

that is volunteering or mentoring?

Dr. Harris: I've been involved with a significant amount of teaching in my clinician role at the

CMCC. I've mentored and supervised over forty sets of interns, ranging in sizes of 7 to 9 interns

per set. ln that role, I supervise fourth-year students for six-month clinical internship rotations at

the South Riverdale clinic where we have an inter-referral process with the clinic's physicians,

nurse practitioners and others. I've been in this role for ten years.

I've been a supervisor on student research projects; I also served on the Research Ethics Board

(REB)at CMCC.

I'm proud to volunteer as a member of the host medical services at the Canada Games with the

Team Ontario men's softball team. For the 2010 Paralympic Winter Games, held in Vancouver, I

served in the clinic for the duration of the games so that all athletes had access to healthcare

services. I performed the same role for the 2015 Pan American and Para Pan American Games,

held in Greater Toronto Area.

&:,' tt
'l

-.4>

13



475
Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the
broader health system?

Dr. Harris: ln my work with the Canada Games, Vancouver 2010 Paralympic and Toronto 2015
Pan Am and Para Pan Am games, I worked in polyclinics with a full range of health
professionals.

ln my private practice, lwork in an integrated multidisciplinary practice, alongside
physiotherapists and registered massage therapists. I have a private company called, MSK+,
which provides continuing education to physicians, nurses and all health professionals,
specifically on manual therapy, soft tissue, therapeutic exercises and education. The company
has been in operation for 10 years.

T4



lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council

Dr. Deborah Kopansky-Giles (CMCC graduate working in Greater Toronto Area)

476

Fast facts,' Dr. Deborah Kopansky-Giles, DC, FCCS(C), FICC
(Hons), M.Sc., is a Professor at the Canadian Memorial
Chiropractic College (CMCC), an Assistant Professor in the
Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto and a staff chiropractor
at Unity Health Toronto (St. Michael's Hospital), Department of
Family and Community Medicine.

Dr. Kopansky-Giles attained her Fellowship in Chiropractic
Clinical Sciences in 1993 and completed her M'Sc. in 2010. She
has served on the organizing committees for numerous
conferences including, the World Federation of Chiropractic
(WFC) 1Oth Biennial Congress in Montreal (2009) as conference
Co-Chair, the Eone and Joint Decade World Network meetings in

Vietnam (2012),Brazil (2013), London (2014) and Berlin (2017)in
ber of the Health Services Committee, the XVI lnternational AIDSaddition to her role as a mem

Conference in Toronto in 2006 which attracted over 28,000 delegates.

euestion: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council?

Dr. Kopansky-Giles: I've been involved for many years being on the policy/political side for my

profession, inttuOing nine years on the OCA Board of Directors, six years on the CCA Board

and 15 years on the World Federation of Chiropractic (WFC) as the Canadian representative.

So, I bring provincial, national and international experience to the Council'

As an clinician, educator and researcher, I am motivated to help ensure that our profession is

evidence-based, integrated into the health system and accessible to all Ontarians' I'm driven by

how we can best serve people because I believe it is all about the patient. I want to continue to

bring that perspective to this work. For me, it always comes down to helping people who are

suffering and not about my profession's or my own motivation.

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether

that is volunteering or mentoring?

Dr. Kopansky-Giles: I'm highly motivated to advance the profession believe in the importance

of contiibuting to our communities through my work and through volunteerism.

ln 2000, the United Nations declared 2000-2010 the Bone and Joint Decade to shine a light on

this global issue and to seek specific attention to those areas. With the UN declaration, the

World Health Organization (WHO) encouraged the development of the international Bone and

Joint DecaOe leJO;, comprised of expert health professionals working to create an agenda and

build momentum around advocacy for bone and joint conditions. For the past 15 years, I've

been involved in this BJD work - (now known as the Global Alliance for Musculoskeletal Health)

as a member of the lnternational Coordinating Council and on the Executive Committee since

2010. ln that capacity, I've had the privilege of working with global leaders from many
professions and patient organizations. This has enabled me to broaden my perspective

significantly with respect to global health issues and the integral role that chiropractors can have

locally and around the world as primary spine care providers.

15



Over the past 35 years, l've had the privilege of being involved in a wide diversity of 477
organizations (local, provincial, nationaland international), participating on various boards and
committees. As a few examples: a research agenda council for the AIDS Bureau of Canada,
The Ontario HIV Treatment Network,, the Ontario Rehabilitation Council, various Ministry of
Health and Long-Term Care (MOHLTC) quality committees, the FinancialServices Commission
of Ontario Accident Benefits Advisory Committee, the World Spine Care (WSC) Canada board,
the Global Spine Care lnitiative Scientific Secretariat, and many others. Down the road, I am
looking at'retirement' plans for continuing work with WSC with our programs in Botswana, lndia,
Ghana and Dominican Republic.

Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the
broader health system?

Dr. Kopansky-Giles: I'm deeply involved in the education of chiropractors and other learners.
As a Professor at CMCC; I supervise our CMCC graduate chiropractic training program at St.
Michael's Hospital. I also teach in the Department of Family and Community Medicine at the
University of Toronto (UoT) where my teaching involves educating family medince learners,
teaching medical faculty (faculty development) and also international students in the Global
Health Program.

For four years, I was privileged to co-chair a national working group for the College of Family
Physicians Canada; where we developed teaching and assessment tools for the CanMEDS
Collaborator Role competency. These tools are available open access on the CFPC website for
all health professional educators.

Over the past 15 years, I've been actively engaged in the evolution of our integrative model of
care in family medicine at St. Michael's Hospital. The St. Michael's Hospital program was the
first time in Canada that chiropractors were integrated as clinicians and educators into an
academic health science centre. This program was identified by the federal government as a
exemplar for primary care innovation in 2012 and by the World Health Organization in 2016 as a
global leading practice. I was honoured to co-lead a national webinar for Canada Human Health
Resources about our model, reaching 65 ministry of health-related organizations across
Canada. Our model of care is team-based and non-hierarchical, patient centred and continuing
to evolve through a social determinants of health lens.

The St. Michael's Hospital model continues to evolve in creative ways; chiropractors are fully
integrated team members, collaborating on an innovative primary care team which also includes
dentists, psychologists, legal literacy services, income security services to help people navigate
the our complex social support system and so forth; structured to minimize barriers to accessing
care, including economic barriers.

I am fortunate to work with the WHO Global Health Workforce, Healthy Ageing and lntegrated,
People-Centred Health Services programs on behalf of the WFC and G-MUSC; to advocate for
priority of musculoskeletal health and to ensure that chiropractors are seen as essential
contributors to the global health workforce and in helping to reduce the burden of spine and
musculoskeletal disorders on people around the world.

ln the decades since my graduation, I have seen incredible advancement of chiropractic in
Canada and I'm very excited to see this continue to evolve with the good work that chiropractors
do every day in their practices, with the excellent education and research our profession
contributes to and with the leadership that the OCA has given in strengthening chiropractic in
Ontario.

16



478lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council

Dr. Keshena Malik (CMCC Graduate and practices in the Hamilton area)

Fast facts.. Dr. Keshena Malik has been in practice for 10 years in
the Greater Hamilton area in a multidisciplinary, collaborative
clinical setting, including chiropractors, physiotherapists and

registered massage theraPists.

Dr. Malik is an Advanced Practice Provider with the Low Back Pain

Rapid Access Clinic (formerly ISAEC). Dr. Malik also completed her
Master of Science in Rehabilitation Sciences from McMaster
University. Dr. Malik is also the Co-chair of the McMaster
Chiropractic Working Group and is a regular guest speaker with

McMaster's Program for lnterprofessional Practice, Education and

Research. Dr. Malik is involved in the Ontario Chiropractic
Association as a member of the Board of Directors, serving on the

Research Committee, Strategic Planning Task Force and
volunteering as a Chiropractic Educator for the OCA's Community
Engagement and Leadership Program.

Question: Why are you joining the OGA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Councif?

Dr. Malik: I endorse evidence-based chiropractic care. I am motivated by and passionate about

disseminating knowledge of this evidence-based framework to our colleagues, stakeholders and

patients, as well as aiding in providing an inclusive understanding of this framework in support

of its application to and shaping of our profession'

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether

that is volunteering or mentoring?

Dr. Malik: For the past six years, I have been involved in mentoring through McMaster

University's Program for lnterprofessional Practice, Education and Research (PIPER) as a guest

speaker,'educating students (including medical, physiotherapy, occupationaltherapy, midwifery,

nursing) about the chiropractic profession. I also volunteer as a group facilitator at

lnterprofessional Education (lPE) events, which include sessions facilitating students from the

McMaster University Faculty of Health Sciences programs to learn from and about their

colleagues training and scope of practice in each program.

Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the

broader health system?

Dr. Malik: ln my clinical practice, I have developed referral relationships with allopathic, allied

and complementary and alternative health professionals in order to provide the most effective

patient-centred care. I feel it is imperative to understand each profession's scope of practice

while considering patient preferences to ensure the most appropriate care.

ln terms of new approaches to interprofessional practice, in addition to guest speaking at

various IPE events, I also have training in the Canadian lnterprofessional Health Collaborative
(CIHC) Competency Framework. I feel that interprofessional collaboration should be the

hallmark of every profession.

t-
ir,Ii
:Ir

T7



fntroducing the ocA Evidence-based Framework Advisory councit 479

lDr. Bernadette Murphy (CMCC Graduate and practices in the
Greater Toronto Area)

Fast facts: Dr. Bernadette Murphy is involved in patient care and
the advancement of the chiropractic profession in both Canada and
New Zealand. Dr. Murphy received her BA in Life Sciences from
Queen's University and Doctor of Chiropractic from the Canadian
Memorial Chiropractic College before heading to New Zealand to
complete her Master of Science and Ph.D. in Human
Neurophysiology from the University of Auckland. While in New
Zealand, Dr. Murphy was the Director of Research at the New

Zealand College of Chiropractic and then accepted a lectureship in the Department of Sport and
Exercise Science at the University of Auckland. Dr. Murphy developed a Master of Science in
Exercise Rehabilitation at the University of Auckland. Throughout this time, Dr. Murphy
maintained a clinical practice.

ln 2008 Dr. Murphy returned to Ontario as a faculty member at the University of Ontario lnstitute
of Technology to expand its Bachelor of Health Science degree with a Kinesiology program.

Question: Why are you joining the OGA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Councit?

Dr. Murphy: As a clinician, I have a firm commitment to evidence-based practice. As a basic
science researcher, I understand the challenges of running the studies to collect the data to
create the evidence. lt's important to understand that "absence of evidence" is not"evidence of
absence." I bring that dual expertise to my work with the OCA Evidence-based Framework
Advisory Council.

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether
that is volunteering mentoring?

Dr. Murphy: Over the years, I have mentored a number of chiropractors and future
chiropractors as a research supervisor. Ensuring that the chiropractic profession has clinicians
with strong backgrounds in critical thinking and interpreting research evidence is an important
part of the professton"coming of age."

Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the
broader health system?

Dr. Murphy: Over the years, in both Canada and New Zealand,l have taught students from
chiropractic, medicine, nursing, physiology and kinesiology. What always strikes me is that,
regardless of discipline, students struggle with the same concepts. I think that interprofessional
education is an important part of breaking down stereotypes. I am privileged that my work is
recognized globally; I am a recipient of the WFC best scientific paper award in 1995 and 2015. I

was the New Zealand Chiropractor of the Year (2004; I received the 2010 OCA award for most
significant contributions to research; I was honoured with the Ead Homewood CMCC
Professorship in 2013 and 2014, and the UOIT Research Excellence Award in 2014 for
excellence in research acknowledged as being of international calibre.

18



lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Councit 480

Dr. Paul Nolet (CMCC graduate and practices in Guelph)

Fast facts: Dr. Paul Nolet has provided chiropractic
services in both Ontario and Harare, Zimbabwe for 36
years and is currently practicing in Guelph, Ontario' Dr.

Nolet's practice emphasizes pain relief and functional
restoration within an interprofessional setting in the Ontario
ISAEC program and at Wellington Ortho and Rehab where
he works with chiropractors, physiotherapists, massage
therapists, orthopedic surgeons and a physical medicine
specialist as the Director of Chiropractic Services.

Dr. Paul Nolet received a Master of Science in Sports
Health Science from Life University, a Master of Public

Health in Health Studies from Lakehead University, is a Fellow of the Royal College of
Chiropractic Sports Sciences, an lnternationally Certified Chiropractic Sports Practitioner, and a

nonsurgical member of the Canadian Spine Society. Dr. Nolet is completing his Ph.D. in

Forensic Medicine from the Care and Public Research lnstitute at Maastricht University in the

Netherlands. Dr. Nolet's research focuses on the risk factors of back and next pain from the

view of musculoskeletal epidemiology. Dr. Paul Nolet has served on the Board of Directors of
the Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board since 2013.

euestion: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council?

Dr. Nolet: We've known for a while that many conditions like back pain, neck pain and

headaches for instance, have a large burden of illness on the health system' With our
profession's growing research and clinical guideline initiatives that show that many of the

ireatments chiropractors do to be effective for the treatment of many musculoskeletal

conditions, it is time for the profession to move toward playing a more significant role in the

province's health system. I would like to be involved in moving our profession in that direction'

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether

that is volunteering for a sports team or mentoring others?

Dr. Nolet: Early in my chiropractic career, I practiced for almost five years in Harare, Zimbabwe'

I practiced in one of the main medical centres and was able to spend time observing surgery

with orthopaedic and neurosurgeons. I was also able to get involved in the local community' I

understand cultural sensitivity and the complexity of what is in front of you. ljoined another

Canadian chiropractor and his family and we practiced together.

Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the broader

health system, for example, teaching, establishing referral practices with other health

professionals or new approaches to interprofessional practice?

Dr. Nolet: I volunteered for several years on a committee with the Waterloo Wellington Local

Health lntegration Network (LHIN). For the last few years, I chaired the Health Professions

Advisory C6mmittee and was able to get a glimpse of what the health system has to provide for

Ontarians. lwas involved in the Pan Am games 2015, supporting cyclists; I've also worked at

the Pre-Pan American games at both the national and international levels.

79



481
I completed my Master of Public Health on neck injuries in car accidents. My thesis was
completed at Toronto Western Hospital at the Centre for Research Expertise for lmproved
Disability Outcomes (CREIDO) that was funded by the WStB.

When I am not practicing, I am working on my Ph.D. in Forensic Medicine through Maastricht
University. I have been able to publish my research in journals such as Physical Medicine and
Rehabilitatlon, European Spine Journal and The Spine Journal. l've published 15 articles and
counting.

20



lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council

Dr. Antonio "Tony" Ottaviano (Life University graduate and

practices in the Niagara area)

Fast facfs; Dr. Antonio Ottaviano received his Doctor of
Chiropractic from Life University and has been involved in the

chiropractic profession in Ontario for much of his career. Dr.

Ottaviano has contributed content for orienting new graduates to

OCA materials, organized chiropractic seminars in the Niagara

area, and is a former President of the Niagara Chiropractic Society.

Dr. Ottaviano has practiced in both Alberta and Ontario and has

been servicing the St. Catherine's region for the last 36 years, the

last 10 of which he has been joined by his son. Dr' Antonio

Ottaviano was actively involved with local soccer clubs and was the

coach for a team for many years.

Question: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence based Framework Advisory Council?

Dr. Ottaviano: My personal motivation for volunteering for the Advisory Council is my concern

about some of the disturbing trends being propagated by members of our own profession that

are taking hold in our profession both outside Canada and most recently within Canada and our

province.

Specifically:

1. The trend in Britain and Australia of prohibiting chiropractors from adjusting children and,

closer to home, the recent moratorium by the British Columbia College of Chiropractors
prohibiting the adjusting of children below the age of two'

2. The trend of disparaging and discouraging the use of x-ray in the overall assessment of a

chiropractic patient
3. The trend toward the abandonment of the term subluxation and minimizing the essence of

our care, the chiropractic adjustment and its effect on the nervous system.

4. The trend toward minimizing and disparaging the second and third pillars of the evidence-

based practice framework which are clinical expertise and patient values and preferences

over the first pillar, best available evidence.
5. The trend toward members of our profession disparaging fellow members in the press

versus dealing the issue amongst ourselves'

l'm entering my 40th year in practice. Having practiced for that period of time and having seen

changes in patients' health and wellbeing that could not always be backed up by a double-blind

controlted study, I am concerned that a strictly evidence-based first-tier agenda to determine

what chiropraciors can and can't do undermines what I have witnessed firsthand in patients.

Research should be directed towards understanding why we see the results we do and how we

can improve on those outcomes further. I understand that making outlandish claims is damaging

to the profession in the public's eye; but by the same token we cannot look to push for

regulatory castration of our services because research may not have caught up with what I have

se6n improve in my patients with a regular program of chiropractic care, which has at its core

the spinal adjustment.

482

21,



483
My goal is that, with respectful discussion, we can forge a clear plan fonrvard that incorporates
the evidence- based framework to strengthen and empower our profession, not weaken it for
the future generation of chiropractors in our province.

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement , whether
that is volunteering or mentoring?

Dr. Ottaviano: ln the past, I served as president of the Niagara Chiropractic Society for two
terms, at which time my focus was on bringing together the members in our district, regardless
of their practice styles or philosophical leanings. My personal approach was, "what can I do to
help my fellow chiropractors become more successfu/ in practice and provide better care for our
patients?" I organized diverse monthly speakers for our luncheon meeting, as well as quarterly
evening seminars, bringing in high-profile speakers in our profession with the goal of
empowering the members with speakers on science, philosophy and art, including practice
management, technique, x-ray and motivation. Those seminars were attended by over 100
chiropractors and staff and were extremely well received.

I was involved with the James Carter Associates practice management program as a lecturer
and also served in helping members in the assessment of their practices and the incorporation
of practice management procedures and staff training. I was on the executive of a minor soccer
association in our city and coached a competitive boys'team for 10 years, travelling across
Canada the U.S. and Europe for competitive showcase tournaments.

22



lntroducing the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Council

Dr. Rod Overton (CMCC Graduate and practices in the London

area)

Fast facts; Dr. Rod Overton has been serving the London area

for 27 years with a wide variety of techniques and is actively

involved with the community as a guest speaker with various
groups, businesses, and schools. Dr. Overton has studied many

chiropractic adjusting techniques over his career, including

diversified, Talsky tonal technique, MC2, and has most recently

been witnessing great changes with OTZ chiropractic technique.

Dr. Overton's activities have been recognized by the Ontario

Chiropractic Association for his work with the Professional Service

Award in Public Relations in2011.

Question: Why are you joining the OCA Evidence-based Framework Advisory Councif?

Dr. Overton: I had no idea what chiropractic was really about when I started chiropractic

college. A good friend of ours was a chiropractor and he helped our family with some injuries'

He was a kind and gentle man with a strong passion for what he was doing. When he

suggested that I should become a chiropractor, I thought that it seemed like a good way to help
people and make a living. I didn't know that it would change my life.

I was shocked when I began to learn how much your health could benefit through chiropractic

care. During my teens, I suffered with a seemingly endless series of colds. Mononucleosis,

strep throat and pneumonia were an unpleasant part of my university experience. When I

started receiving regular chiropractic care, I stopped getting sick all the time. I still suffered the

occasional cold but not nearly as often as before. Even more importantly, I began to realize that

my new profession offered me a brand new perspective on health, and how the body works'

I hope that the work of the council will have a great effect on how the public, the government

and industry, perceives the chiropractic profession. That makes it extremely important and I'm
excited to be a part of that."

Question: As a leader in the profession, can you please share any other involvement, whether

that is volunteering or mentoring others?

Dr. Overton: I organize chiropractic events and run a volunteer chiropractic clinic at the

Salvation Army Centre of Hope that has operated for eight years. I've also given back to the

chiropractic profession as the president of the London Chiropractic Society from 1994 to 1995,

as well as from 2008 to 2012.

484

23



485
Question: Can you also share your involvement and experience with other parts of the of the
broader health system?

Dr. Overton: I really enjoy being involved in organizing chiropractic events and bringing various
speakers to London. I served as president of the London Chiropractic Society in 1994/1995 and
from 2008 - 2012. I have inspired and educated many people through presentations on various
health-related topics, at many schools, organizations and businesses. I've run a volunteer
chiropractic clinic for people in need at the Salvation Army Centre of Hope since 2011. I'm
proud that more than 20 chiropractors have been involved with the Salvation Army Centre of
Hope clinic over the years.

24



Rose Bustria
486

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
Tuesday, January 21,2020 5:41 PM

Rose Bustria

Fwd: 2020-01-21 Weekly News: OCA EHC Working Group + Board

Research + EBF Advisory Council Update + Webinars

Exec and Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 111

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www. .on.ca

CONFI DENTIALITY WARN ING :

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete allcopies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

Begin forwarded message:

From: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

Date: Janua ry 2!, 2O2O at 5:03:24 PM EST

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: 2OzO-OL-2LWeekly News: OCA EHC Working Group + Board Research + EBF

Advisory Council Update + Webinars

Reply-To: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca >

We're Here For You View this email in your browser

Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

1

I
t
brf
b
--

-



In this /ssue; 487

OCA ln the News

Exte nded call for exoression s of interest for membershio to t OCA Board

Research Committee

OCA EHC Workinq Group

New Online Medical lnvoice Form Health Providers Como letinq ODSP

Forms for Pati

OCA Aspire

Uocomino Webinars

OCA ln the News

2



"Animal chiropractic hecoming more commonplace with

Canadian pet owners." 488

SUDBURY - Sudbury chiropractor Dr. Sherrie Guillet has been treating spines

in the City of Greater Sudbury for 15 years now and some of her best clients

don't exactly walk on two feet.

"When I was in chiropractic college, there was an animal chiropractor that came

in to do a presentation on what she does, and I was really fascinated by the

stories that she told of the animals that she helped, and I thought I'd like to do

that as well," said Guillet.

The Sudbury practitioner is one of only a handful in the country who has special

certification. Click Here for the complete article and video.

For OCA's Public Statem please follow this link.

Extended Gall for expressions of interest for

membership to the

OCA Board Research Gommittee

The OCA Strategic Plan2017-2022 includes a significant focus on the role of

research in the advancement of our profession in Ontario. The Research

Committee assists the OCA Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight

responsibilities regarding all research-related activities.

We are inviting three OCA members to participate in the work of the

Board Research Commiftee.

3



Collaboration is a hallmark of our approach to advancing the profession on

behalf of our members. The Research committee will support the ocA to
amplify the work of the Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation (CCRF),

the Canadian Chiropractic Guideline lnitiative (CCGI) and others that have

research as their core mission, ensuring that OCA investments in research are

optimized to enhance care for patients in Ontario.

The Research Committee conveys its findings and recommendations to the

Board of Directors for consideration, and where required, the decision by the

Board of Directors.

Research Committee Gom position

. Up to four OCA Board Directors

. Up to three OCA members who are engaged in research and who are
not Board directors

. The OCA Chair (Ex-officio)

. Chief Executive Officer (Ex-officio)

. A non-OCA member with research expertise (NTD: Advisor - non-voting
member of the Committee)

To support the activities associated with understanding the future needs for
developing and supporting research capacity in Ontario, the following tasks will
comprise the work plan of the Research Committee:

. Review OCA strategic initiatives

. ldentify those elements within the strategic initiatives focused on
research

. ldentify how those elements within the strategic initiatives may impact
the OCA strategic plan

. Review current and future research commitments

. Prioritize and make recommendations for funded research to present to
the Board of Directors on a semi-annual basis

. Participate in planning to prioritize areas of investment for Ontario input
into the national research agenda

. ldentify priority research forums/conferences for OCA attendance

lf you are interested in becoming part of the Board Research Committee,
please send an email no later than February
1 4 lo dq ibson@chiropractic. on. ca.

In your email, please outline:

1. Why you believe this work is important.

489

4



z. Contributions you can make through previous experience.

Thank you. We will connect by phone with each member who expresses
interest.

Members of the Board Research Committee will be confirmed by end of
February 2020.

490

Join the OCA Extended Health Care (EHC)

Working Group and impact your future

OCA's 2019 Environics poll revealed four in five chiropractic patients surveyed

have private health care coverage to pay for their chiropractic care, highlighting
the significant importance of ensuring patients have access to chiropractic
coverage in their EHC plans.

Join the new OCA HC Workinq Grouo and assist the OCA in its development

and execution of its long-term EHC strategy, as a compleme
long-term strategy for Canada. The OCA is looking for up to
in practice to play a key role by advising the OCA on ad-hoc

nt to the CCA's
five OCA members
Ontario

chiropractic and EHC issues as they arise.

Given the time and complexity of developing and implementing an Ontario EHC

strategy, all working group members must commit to, at minimum, a two-
year term. Terms may be renewable for an additional year at the discretion of
the OCA.

5



Meetings will be held on a monthly basis in two-hour increments, with the
exception of the months of December and July. Our initial in-person meeting
will be held on April 1 ,2020, at our ocA office. After this, members will have
the choice of joining future meetings either by teleconference or in-person at
the OCA's office. The OCA will provide reimbursements for travel expenses
and your time.
Are you ready to join the OGA EHC Working Group?
We welcome your application to become a member of the OCA EHC
Workinq Group if you are:

491

. A registered chiropractor in Ontario in good standing

. Experienced with making EHC claims

lf you have any questions about the application or selection process, please
email esullvt@chiro practic.on.ca
Submission Deadline - Tuesday, February 11,2020

New Online Medical lnvoice Form for Health

Providers Gompleting ODSP Application Forms

for Patients

For health providers who complete the ontario Disability Support Program

(ODSP) application forms for their patients, the Ministry of Children, Community

and Social Services has established a new standardized online invoice form.

This new online invoice form contains allthe required information that is fast,

easy and secure to bill all in one place using Form 3261, in the Ontario Central

Forms Repository. Please note that having the latest version of Adobe Acrobat

Reader is required to access this form.

Full details can be found in the memo released by the Ministry and any

questions about the online invoice can be directed to ola Kolodij, Senior

6

Learn More and Apply Now.



Manager, DUA, SocialAssistant Central Services Branch a|416-212-6752 or at

ola. kolod i i@ontario. ca

492

!1-

The Benefits of Security

n
l"

q
\.,

OCAn
\-,t e

Last week we shared how OCA

Aspire integrates practice

management tools and electronic

health records. This week, we dive

deeper into how you can leverage

our new solution to elevate Your

patient care and practice while

maintaining the highest level of

patient privacy.

OCA Aspr're uses cloud-based servers that host your data with the kind of

encryption that you'd expect from your online banking'

These servers are located in a secure Canadian data centre that meets all

regulatory and industry standards, including all privacy and security

requirements outlined by PHIPA. That means your patient data is protected the

event of physical damage or loss, such as flooding or theft at your practice'

OCA Aspire 2.0 is coming soon - have you booked your demo?

:t
rl
.l
Ll

rl
-:-nt
rl
*lrl
1l
-1

I

i

7

Sign Up To Leorn More



493Upcoming Webinars

HOW TO AVOID AND

RESOLVE DISPUTES BEFORE

THEY COST YOU MONEY

(REBROADCAST)

Wed. Jan. 22,12 p.m. - I p.m.

David P. Lees, Mills & Mills LLP

A legal overview of the types of disputes a

chiropractor may be involved in

with, landlord, employee, partner, patient

and the cost of litigation.

UPDATES UNDER THE

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS

ACT

Wed. Jan. 29,'12 p.m. - 1 p.m.

Zachary Silverberg and Reshma

Kishnani, Mills and Mills LLP

There have been several recent changes

(and reversals of changes) under the

Employment Standards Act. Mills & Mills

LLP will provide an update for employers

and employees on current rights and

obligations.

Visit our Webinars On Demand web page to access our collection of previously

broadcast sessions.

Upcoming CE & Events I Webinars On Demand

-,

Register Now
Register Now

Webinars on Demand

We're here for you. Call us:

Local : 41 6-860-0070 | Toll-free: 1 -877 -327 -227 3

Update your OCA membership preferences or

unsubscribe from this list

Our mailing address is:

Ontario Chiropractic Association

70 University Avenue, Suite 201

Toronto, ON MsJ 2M4

Canada

8



Rose Bustria 494
From:
Sent:
To:
Subiect:

Jo-Ann Willson
Wednesday, February 19,2020 4:11 AM

Rose Bustria

Fwd: 2020-02-18 OCA Weekly News:Advocacy Day 2020 + Webinars

Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (415)922-6355 ext. 111

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNI NG:

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you'

Begin forwarded message:

From: OCA <OCA@chiropractic'on.ca>

Date: February 18, 2O2O at4:O6:17 PM EST

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

subject: 2o2o-o2-t8 ocA weekly News: Advocacy Day 2020 + webinars

Reply-To: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

We're Here For You View this email in your browser

Ontario
Chiropractic
Association

-I
brf
b
--I

I



495In this lssue.'

Advocacv Dav 2020

U ml Webina

Cetting diagnostic
tests can be a real
pain in the back.

{

{,*i#

O
I

*
il
t Ci'+

{

Hru,tt*

Advocacy Day 2020
Enhancing the Scope of Chiropractic Care in Ontario

OCA will be hosting Advocacy Day at Queen's Park tomorrow. During the lunch
reception and in one-on-one meetings with Members of Provincial Parliament
(MPPs), we will be advocating the call-to-action from our Red Tape Campaiqn.
We will be sharing with MPPs and political staff how reducing unnecessary
physician visits by giving chiropractors authority to order diagnostic tests, can
improve patient care while saving ontario's health system between $1s.i and
$23.7 million a year.

speaking at the ocA's Advocacy Day lunch reception will be (progressive
conservative) MPP Robin Martin, Eglington Lawrence and parliamentary

Assistant to the Minister of Health, (NDP) MPP France G6linas, Nickle-Belt and
Health Critic and (Liberal) MPP John Fraser, Ottawa South, lnterim Leader of
the Liberal Party.

Dr. Ken Brough, Board Chair and Caroline Brereton, OCA CEO will be hosting

2



the event

Look for a wrap-up of this important event in a future bulletin 496

-

Upcoming Webinars

WHEN TO INGORPORATE A

PRACTICE: GONVERTING A

SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP TO A

CORPORATION

(REBROADCAST)

Wed. Feb. 19, 12p.m. - 1 P.m.

Shayan Rashid, CPA, CA, SRJ

Ghartered Accountants

Find out how to convert a sole

proprietorship into a corporation in

Canada. Limited Liability Protection

and Lower Corporate Tax Rate are

explained thoroughly in this webinar

HOW THE WSIB IS

TRANSFORMING PREMIUM

RATE SETTING FOR ONTARIO

BUSINESSES

Wed. Feb. 26, 12p,m. - I P.m'

Janine Dyck, Vice President of

Employer Seruices, WSIB Ontario

On January 1,2020, the WSIB

ushered in a new era of enhanced

transparency and clarity in premium

rate setting for almost 300,000

businesses across Ontario. Our new

premium rate-setting model

introduces new classifications for

businesses, provides greater

foresight into future rate changes

and more insight around how Your

premium rate is set and adjusted. To

3

Register Now



ensure a smooth transition to the

new model, all premium rate

changes will be staggered over three

years

497

Visit our Webinars On Demand web page to access our collection of previously

broadcast sessions.

Upcoming CE & Events I Webinars On Demand

Register Now

Webinars on Demand

We're here for you. Gall us:

Local: 41 6-860-0070 | Toll-free: 1 -877 -327 -227 3

Update vour OCA membership preferences or

unsubscribe from this list

Our mailing address is:

Ontario Chiropractic Association

70 University Avenue, Suite 201

Toronto, ON MsJ 2M4

Canada

Add us to vour address book

+ Facebook U Twitter @ tnstagram in Linkedtn

4



Rose Bustria

498
From:
Sent:
lo:

Jo-Ann Willson
Tuesday, February 11,2020 9:17 PM

Rose Bustria

Subject: Fwd: 2020-02-11 OCA Weekly News: Advocacy Day 2020 + Practice

Opportunity 2020 + OCA Aspire + Webinars + Coronavirus 2019

Update

Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (415) 922-6355 ext. 111

Fax: (415) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CON FI DENTIALITY WARNI NG :

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

Begin forwarded message:

From: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

Date: February L2,2O2O at L2:43:56 AM GMT+2

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: 2O2O-O2-L1- OCA Weekly News: Advocacy Day 2O2O + Practice Opportunity

2O2O + OCA Aspire + Webinars + Coronavirus 2019 Update

Reply-To: OCA <OCA@chiropractic.on.ca>

We're Here For You. View this email in your browser

0ntario
Chiropractic
Association

1

-
-haf
b
b
-

-



ln this lssue,'

Advocacv Dav 2020

Practice Oooortunitv 2020

OCA Aspire

Uocomino Webinars

2019 Coronavlrus Uodate

499

rl
We want to
help 0ntario
move better,

*

;lGF
- IiiiO

#:.-

.{f
!lt..,1

Advocacy Day 2020
Enhancing the Scope of Chiropractic Gare in Ontario

ocA will be hosting Advocacy Day on wednesday, February 1g, at eueen's
Park. During the lunch reception and in one-on-one meetings with Members of
Provincial Parliament (MPPs), we will be advocating the call-to-action from our
Red Tape Campaiqn. We will be sharing with MPPs and political staff how
reducing unnecessary physician visits by giving chiropractors authority to order
diagnostic tests, can improve patient care while saving Ontario's health system
between $15 and $23.7 million a year.

speaking at the ocA's Advocacy Day lunch reception will be (Progressive
Conservative) MPP Robin Martin, Eglington Lawrence Parliamentary Assistant

2



to the Minister of Health, (NDP) MPP France G6linas, Nickle-Belt, Health Critic

and MPP John Fraser, Ottawa South, lnterim Leader of the Liberal Party

Board Chair, Dr. Ken Brough and OCA CEO, Caroline Brereton will be hosting

the event.

We will report back to you on this important event.

500

'r! (1il[{] OPPORTUNITY'20
with$e ontatio Clrrroprdcli( Associdlion

wednesday, February 1 2, 2020
at {M(c

lake tlrat jntpor t.lrtl 5tcll l{)
(oilnc(:t with lhc lloxl

tlclrct.rtiott o[ (]l riropl.)ctols!

The annual Practice nitv event is back at the CMCC campus

on Wednesday, Feb. 12,2020.

OCA remains the event's "Title Sponsor" by inviting leading chiropractors to

be part of our popular Practice Realities Panel and following speed-mentoring

session. Discussions will help new graduates navigate real-life career path

challenges and accomplishments. The speed-mentoring session will offer

students the experience and power of mentorship by connecting with

established chiropractors.

Stay tuned for complete event highlights in an upcoming issue.

This year's mentors are left to right: Dr. Alena Russo, Dr. Dwight Chapin,

Dr. Evelyn Lock, Dr. Moez Rajwani(Moderator)

3



Students will visit our booth where they can spend time with OCA team

members to learn about membership benefits and our new

OCA Aspire business solution. 501

I
n
l-

q
\./

OCA

C r
I e

Exclusive OCA Aspire News!

ln our last bulletin, we shared with you how ocA AsprTe can help you save on

practice management costs. This week, we're excited to share with you the first

of two new features for OCA Aspire 2.}-Kinduct.

With Kinduc( you will be able to upload either your own or over 5000 validated

physical therapy exercise videos to your practice.

With Kinducf, detailed 3D animation models are available to help you easily

explain injuries to your patients.

With Kinducf, a connection is provided to your patient's fitness tracker that will

enable you to send surveys and journals to their text or email accounts for their

review.

Videos, 3D animation models and fitness tracking data can be uploaded

4



remotely by you with the level of security that you expect from 9CAAspire.

Remember, OCA Aspire 2.0 is coming soon - have you booked your demo?

502Sign Up to Leorrr More

l

Upcoming Webinars

TEAMING UP: CRITIGAL

CONSIDERATIONS FOR

ASSOCIATE AGREEMENTS

(REBROADCAST)

Wed. Feb. 12, 12 p.m. - 1 P.m.

Heather Keachie, Mills & Mills LLP

Joining an established practice can

be a great way to launch Your

career. Everyone starts these

relationships intending to be

respectful and prosperous. However,

as in any business relationship, it is

prudent to put the terms of the

association down on paper. Not only

does a written agreement ensure

that all parties understand the terms,

but this negotiation helps everyone

WHEN TO INCORPORATE A

PRACTICE: GONVERTING A

SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP TO A

CORPORATION

(REBROADCAST)

Wed. Feb. 19, 12p.m. - 1 P.m.

Shayan Rashid, CPA, CA, SRJ

Ghartered Accountants

Find out how to convert a sole

proprietorship into a corporation in

Canada. Limited Liability Protection

and Lower Corporate Tax Rate are

explained thoroughly in this webinar

5

Register Now



discuss details, issues, and future

eventualities that you might not have

othenruise considered. Heather

Keachie will review the basic

structure of an associate agreement,

critical considerations to bear in mind

when negotiating, and a few practical

suggestions for common issues that

arise.

503

Visit our Webinars On Demand web page to access our collection of previously

broadcast sessions.

Upeominq CE & Events I Webinars On Demand

Register Now

Webinars on Demand

Novel Goronavirus 2019 Update

As of today, the novel coronav 2019 has suroassed 1,000 deaths in China

Locally, Ontario has tested 259 Ontarians with 8 remaining under investigation

and 3 confirmed positive.

6



As you continue to monitor on behalf of your patients, it's important to be 504
reminded, the symptoms of the novel coronavirus 2019, which can include

fever and cough, are like other respiratory infections -- including influenza. As a

result, individuals who may simply have the flu are being tested out of an

abundance of caution and in line with Ontario's vigorous detection protocols.

This means that most individuals who are tested are unlikely to be infected with

the novel coronavirus 2019.

For more information on the novel coronavirus 2019 and the health care worker

guidance document click on the button below,

Ministry of Health Link Here

We're here for You. Call us:

Local : 41 6-860-0070 | Toll-free; 1 -877 -327 -227 3

Update your OCA membership preferences or

unsubscribe from this list

Our mailing address is:

Ontario Chiropractic Association

70 University Avenue, Suite 201

Toronto, ON MsJ 2M4

Canada

Add us to vour address book

+ Facebook U Twitter @ lnstaqram in Linkedln

7



Rose Bustria

529
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Exec and Council

Jo.Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel
*Note Address Change

College of ChiropractonB of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext.111
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

Jo-Ann Willson
Thursday, January 2,2020 12:32 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: Happy New Year!

CONFI DENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other

dishibution, copying-or tiisclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail

and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: a ll ia nceforchiropractic.activehosted.com @s3.csa 1.acemsd5.com

<allianceforchiropractic.activehosted.com@s3.csa1.acemsd5.com> On Behalf Of Alliance For

Chiropractic
Sent: Thursday, January 2,2O2O t2:29 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: Happy New Year!

ALLIANCE FOR CH I ROPRACTIC
INTEGRITY - ACCOUNTABILITY . LEADERSHIP

Jo-Ann,

New Year's Greetings to you!

We at the Alliance For Chiropractic wish you and yours all the very best in the year to come!

As we look forward lo 2020, the 125th anniversary year of chiropractic, we ask you as a colleague to reflect on where we
have been the past twelve months and look beyond.

ln our opinion, the public image of chiropractic profession may have been tarnished by our lack of resolve and lack of
professionalism by some in manlging ourselves as colleagues both in the public forum and privately within our profession'

ln the interests of the public, we ask for continued demonstration of maturity and respect for the diversity that Canada

bases and prides itself on. lf you observe bullying, marginalization or intolerance towards colleagues we ask you to
document and report the behaviour. Do not engage.

1

AFC



It is our sincere hope that in2020we can all put aside our collective differences and find common ground. 530
Whether you manage and treat MSK, care in a NMSK, salutogenic, crisis models or combination thereof in an evidence-

informed framework, we believe that our common ground is that we can all agree that:

A propedy functioninq spine and neruous system is essential to optimal human health and peformance regardless of aqe
or condition.

Wthin the scientific literature, we have ample understanding of the basic sciences to support the above statement.

Our clinical sciences are developing as a profession from within and externally. Both the MSK science is developing as we
learn about the role of chiropractic in back pain and the opioid crisis, and in the non-MSK arena as we learn about how the

adjustment improves and changes cortical function. We are building our understanding and confirming what many
predecessors thought was possible but didn't have the technology at the time to prove.

The AFC believes that this is a very exciting time with abundant possibilities for the profession.

At this time, we have many choices. We can recognize the strengths and the assets we have as a profession. Alternately,
we can allow inside and outside detractors to purposefully marginalize to contain and divide chiropractic to minimize or

worse, eliminate our growth. We believe it is in the patient centric model for the public of Ontario to have continued
unencumbered and unobstructed access to chiropractic care maximized within our scope of practice.

Here are our wishes for 2020:

1. lmmediately cease interactions with the media. We have observed a biased agenda of a few designed to
decrease public opinion and trust. Communicating and colluding with the media to "eradicate" a certain type of
Chiropractor or style of practice only sullies the voice of Chiropractic. Many who have chosen to do so, do not

seem to have the foresight to see that these particular media detractors want to see the entire profession cut at
the knees, not just a certain type of practitioner. lt will only be a matter of time before they come for them too.

Report being approached. There is an agenda and it is designed to obfuscate, marginalize and distort what we do
and why we do it. lt is not in the public interest nor in the interest of fair and accurate journalism. lt serves the

interests of their agenda.

2. Be professional and include ALL researchers at summits and gatherings of the scientific minds. The
principles of science demand objectivity. The exclusion of the collective body of research reeks of a directive that

ties in with Wish #1 . There is a mass of us who resonate and collectively support the proposition statement
above. Research should focus on science not politics or opinion pieces as we move forward.

3. ln the study of ethics, it behooves one to support contradictory values. We suggest it is time to stop
supporting the people and organizations that are working to limit the profession. Whether by the research they
conduct or support, the direction they wish to see the profession move, the position statements they choose to
make, or how they support you as a practitioner in your practice. Your support, financially or otherwise, only

promotes their directives. Let them know why you choose to stop supporting them too. They need to hear from
you too.

And support those you fundamentally agree with. Like our patients in evidence- informed care, engage with and
support those who have similar values, wishes and ideals.

4. Get involved. Share your voice and solutions. Write letters to support or provide constructive feedback on
what would make things even better. Speak and connect with your colleagues. Perhaps get involved and run for

positions on boards. Be an active participant in your profession and your practicing future.

5. We ask you to reflect on your ability to change a person's life with your two hands and your education. lt is
exceptional. Don't be made to feel any other way.

6. Connect with your community in greater ways this year. Want to see Chiropractic flourish? Expand your
reach into your community and let them know more about what you do. See Wish #5.

7. Take a different perspective when communicating through your outreach media be it website, social media
or other. Can you connect with others and be even more accurate and helpful? Perhaps use references, cite

sources. Perhaps the best advise at times might be to disengage in some conversations. We ask you to pause,
reflect and consider before communicating.

The Alliance For Chiropractic stands for the growth of Chiropractic as a profession that is:
o lnclusive

o Non discriminatory
o Pro freedom of choice over a patient's self-autonomy of their body

2



a Pro Informed consent for ALL healthcare decisions
o Evidence lnformed

o Patient-Centred Care

Supportive of the above proposition statement

Respeciful of the inherent differences among us

r Professional

To our best,

Craig Hazel - Chairman

531a

a

Alliance For Chiropractic
17A-218 Silvercreek Pwy N, Suite 126
Guelph, ON N1H 8E8

Tof f free: 1 -877 -997 -9927
a I I ia n ceforch i ropractic. com

@c@@e
Sent to: ipwillson@cco.on.ca

Unsubscribe

Alliance For Chiropractic, 17A-218 Silvercreek Pwy N, Suite 126, Guelph, Ontario N1H 8E8, Canada

3



Rose Bustria ITEM 4.1.47

Jo-Ann Willson
Wednesday, January 22,2020 6:41 PM

Rose Bustria

Fwd: CCPA Communiqu6

532
From:
Sent:
lo:
Subiect:

Exec and Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 111

Fax: (415) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CON FI DENTIALITY WARN I NG :

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the
person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notifli me immediately by reply e-mail and delete all copies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: CCPA <admin@ccpaonline.ca>

Date: January 22,2O2O at 2:02:00 PM EST

To: drmizel @stcatha rineschiropractic.com
Subject: CCPA Communiqu6
Reply-To: admin@ccpaonline.ca

CANADIAN

CHIROPRACTIC

PROTECTIVE

ASS0CtATtON

CCPA Communique

1

January 2020



A message from the new CEO
533

Dr. Dean J. Wright

Change is a certainty in life. lt's as
true for companies as is it for
individuals. CCPA has undergone
some significant changes; we've
said goodbye to a valued leader and
a new corporate executive team is in
place. Though the positions have
changed, the faces are the same
and our commitment to you and the
profession is as strong as ever. We
want you to know that we are here
for you at all times, so you can focus
on providing top-quality care to your
patients. Because while that's your
calling, ours is providing protection
and support for you and our
profession.

The growth and evolution of chiropractic is dependent on the good work of
chiropractors and our partners - from caring for patients and educating a new
generation of practitioners, to undertaking important research and advocating for
and guiding the profession. We all have our work to do, and it will require our
collective effort to continue the advancement of a profession we are proud to be
part of.

The devil is in the details

A new year is a great time for a healthy dose of self-reflection. Why not reflect on
your practice while you're at it?

It's called practice for a reason. As a trained and accomplished DC, you are an
expert - but you're also learning with each new patient case because humans are
complex. When you approach patient care, you bring with you your scientific
training, manual skills, experience as a doctor and general life experience. You
apply all this to the issue in front of you - it's a pretty awesome feat when you really
think about it. As you go about your clinic hours this year, be sure to keep the
following considerations top of mind to continue learning and protecting yourself
and your patients.

Listen to your patient. Did they mention some recent or historicaltrauma?
Did they say they have some tingling in their toes? These things need to be
evaluated. Your education and training have shown you the fine line
between efficiency and a missed diagnosis.
Don't rush exams. You are looking for patterns while also keeping an eye
out for outlying symptoms and red flags. To make an optimal decision about
treatment (or to recognize when not to treat), you need information. So be
thorough when you examine patients and don't make assumptions.

a

a

2



a

534
Avoid the temptation to cut corners. Rule in and rule out you'
considerations for a diagnosis. Be aware of any valid and reliable testing
and note all your findings in your file.

And as we always say, if you're ever in doubt about a patient situation, call us

We're here to help at 1-800-668-2076.

New on the CGPA member portal

Want to know more about what our
claims team does? Have you heard
of our LicenseAssist program but
wondered what it entails? Meet our
claims team through video as they
explain our core offerings on a new
"Your Protection" page on the CCPA
member portal. Click here to check it
out.

Our records indicate you prefer receiving correspondence in English. To update your communication
preferences please contact us at admin@ccpaonline.ca.

CCPA: 802 The Queensway, Etobicoke, ON M8Z 'tN5

admin@ccpaonline.ca, 416-781-5656, (TF) 800'668-2076

Click here to change your subscription preferences.

Copyright @ 2020 Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association, all rights reserved.

3



535
ITEM 4.2

Submitted, February 19, 2020

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Advertising Committee Report to Gouncil
Wednesday, Febru ary 26, 2020

Members: Dr. Brian Budgell, Chair
Dr. Paul Groulx
Mr. Rob MacKay
Dr. Janine Taylor, non-Council member

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy & Research

Meetings

Since the last meeting of Council, the Advertising Committee has met once in person on

January 10,2020.

Recommendations

The committee has no recommendations to present to Council at this time, but has

provided a draft handbook on advertising to the Executive Committeefor its

consideration.

Committee Work

The Advertising Committee has developed a handbook to explain to members the do's

and don't's for advertising that are consistent with the standard and guideline. The

handbook is based on a review of advertising previously submitted to the committee,

taking into account those practices which were most often felt to contravene the standard

or guideline. The handbook includes criteria according to which a practitioner may claim

to treat particular diseases, and this is based on levels ofevidence for effectiveness, rather

than a proscriptive list of diseases. This work has been submitted to the Executive
Committee for its consideration.

The committee has previously presented to Council the suggestion of creating an

advertising workshop, akin to the record keeping workshop, and amending the

advertising review protocol to shift some of the workload to the member.

A previous initiative to introduce evidence-based standards for advertising has

encountered headwinds and is not now being pursued by the Advertising Committee

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank professional members Dr. Paul Groulx and Dr. Janine Taylor,
public member Mr. Rob MacKay, and support staff Mr. Joel Friedman and Ms Andrea

Szametzfor their valuable contributions to the work of the advertising committee.



Advertising Committee Report to Council: February 26,2020 2

536Respectfu lly submitted,

Dr. Brian Budgell
Chair, Advertising Committee



ITEM 4.3
Submitted February 18, 2020

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Patient Relations Committee Report to Gouncil
February 26,2020

560

Members: Ms Karoline Bourdeau Chair
Dr. Steven Lester
Ms John Papadakis
Dr. Angela Barrow, non-Council member
Dr. Nicole Thomicroft, non-Council member

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy and Research
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

l. lntroduction and Recommendations

The Patient Relations Committee met once on January 22,2020 since the last meeting of
Council.

Recommendation I

That Council approve development of a short video produced by Mr. Rolph Scharwz and
Millennium Mediafor a cost of approximately $5000 to provide an introduction to CCO and
the Partnership of Care.

The Patient Relations Committee has been working on developing video content to
accompany a future distribution of the Partnership of Care. The Committee reviewed several

samples and proposals from various vendors and concluded that the submission from Mr.
Rolph Schwarz has the most professional look, is consistent with CCO's mission, vision,
values and strategic objectives and is cost-effective. A 40 second sample will be available
for viewing at the February 26th Council meeting. The Committee's objective is to develop

this video for initial viewing at the JuneAGM. The Committee also sees this as an

opportunity to possibly develop future videos in other CCO areas.

The Committee thanks CCO Public Member Ms Sheryn Posen for putting CCO in touch
with Mr. Schwarz.

ll. Ongoing Business

The Patient Relations Committee continues to work on a number of priorities for 2020,
including:

o Developing scenarios for an upcoming newsletter on privacy issues.

o Updating the "Members of the Public" section of CCO's website, including the

inclusion of more photos of members of the public and including more links on the
homepage.

o Attending a meeting of the Citizen's Advisory Group and collecting further
information about the costs and benefits of possibly joining this group.

o Monitoring and approving funding for therapy and counselling.



Patient Relations Committee Report to Council: February 26,2020 2

lll. Acknowledgements 561

Many thanks are extended to the members of this committee Mr. John Papadakis, Dr
Steven Lester, Dr. Angela Barrow, and Dr. Nicole Thomicroft.

Many thanks also for staff support Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Mr. Joel Friedman and Ms Andrea
Szametz.

Sincerely,
Ms Karoline Bourdeau
Chair, Patient Relations



12t19t2019 Perspective on chiropractic research in Canada I Life Chiropractic College West

ITEM 7.1 581
llonle , Siudert llesourres r Facul',y & Sizlff Resoirrcas i Health Ceniof i Lib'illesi N4agazine I jcb 3oart1 Call Toll Free: 1-B0A-"18l-^4li)

#LIFE CHIROPRACTIC
COLLEGE WEST

fx']ial-<5 ;/a.ir doief ?l?bj $@s@€@

i\borii t Pfosoeciive SiLrdents t Academics t Cuarent Sludel'lts t Alumni & Friends > Coniact Us

Perspective ou chiropractic l'esearc.h in Canada

Decettber 7?. 2019 It Gnest \'tf iter Conlrneitts qre oft

By Auslin Eergquist, PhD

It is a wonderful time to be a chiropractor in Canada. The profession has witnessed a gradual increase in

utilization since the 1980s, \,vomen and diverse populations represent a greater propodion of the
profession than ever before. and research activity designeci 1() understand how chiropractic works and how to

nrake it better has never lleen more oroductive.

However, low trust from the public and allied medical prolessions remains a

ftalor barrier 10 widespread chiropractic 6onsumption. To address lhis issue,

among other concerns. lhe Canadian Chiropractic Associaiion now strongly

encourages chiropraclors Lo adopt an evidence-based practice model ilr their

palient care.

From its inception in the early 1990s. the phrase "evidence-based practice'

has meanl thal clinical decision-making should be guided ultimately by a

balance between the implicit knowledge that accumulales through clinical

experie'rce, the personalized preferences ofthe patient, and knowledge

gleaned fronr outcomes of high-qualiiy scientific research studies. However, DI' A.lstin Bergquist

in Canada, the balance has shilted in recent years. A disproportionale

emphasis has beerr placed on the imporlance o{ high-quality scientific research evidence.

Specilically, if a clinical decision lacks denror]slrated value in the form of a randomized controlled kial. the gold

siandard in scienlific research design. lhen that clinical decision is considered unsupported and falls outside

the boundaries of evidence-based practice. regardless ot lhe 'lesser quality by design" literature base that may

exist. as well as the personalized clinical reasoning or patient preferences that may have informed the decision.

The move ioward such a research-focu$ed p.actice is done wiih the best of intentions. The scier.)tiflc research

process is viewed as our most reliable method of generating knowledge unencurnbered by coniounding

variables, such as lhe n'rany forms ol bias that can systenlatiGlly hijack the lruth. However. the problem with

relying so heavily on research evidence when guiding clinical decision-making is that most research evidence

lacks the ultlmate objectivily it is designed to provide and carries a number of limitations often overlooked by its

advocates.

-THI 
[,IAGAZ!NE OF L -F CHIROPRACTJC

C3LLEGE ItJ'S1

Recent Nelvs & Updates

Does biohacking technology have a place

in the chiropractic jndusiry?

Perspeclive on chiropractic researclr in

Carrada

Exrrerience at lndia servrce lrip transforms

sludenl's approach

Life Wesl chjropractiir clrnic in Lrdia

flourislres

Li{e West research prioritizes Vitalisnl

obleciive biomarkers that give insighl to

optrrnizaljon of heallh

Categories

Acadernics

Alunrni

Alhlelics

fiareers & Outcomes

ConlnlLnrty Inlpact

Diversitv & lnch.rsion

Evenl:

FanrilV Care

https://lifewest.edu/perspective-on-chiropractic-research-in-canada/?utm_content=109424758&utm_medium=social&utm_source=facebook&hss_chan... 114



12t1512015 Perspective on chiropractic research in Canada I Life Chiropractic College West

Replicating results

Let us consider a limitation generalizable to all research. An impoilant step in ihe scienlific research process

involves the confirmation or "replicaiion" ot research findings by others within the scierrtific community- Until the

research finding is replicatecl, il is unclear whelher the {inding represerlts the lruth, ot whether it is a result ol

something unique to lhe scientists who conductecl the experiments. Unfortullaleiy, replication is rarely

Underlaken because it is not incentivized within ihe current research climate. Funding agencies, joulnals thai

publish research, and university or college faculties tl'lat determine which scientists are hired and which receive

tenure, are only interested in lvho made the initial tesearch "discovery," l.lot in who reproduced it.

However, when replication studies are underlaken, nrore oflen than any scientist would iike to admit, published

research findings are unsupported or even refuted by subseque,lt resealch evidence. The pre3sure to find

sonTething in acadenria is inrmense, and uihether done intentionally or unintentionally, research otltcolnes are

often subjectecl to the needs and desires of the scientists conducting the experilnenls. This widespread

pherromenon. known as the replication crisis, desctibes how only a fraction of published liteialure can be

reproduced, calling inlo qLtestion lhe Lttilily o{ reseatch lindings in clinical praciice. When replicalion studies

become incentivized and integraled more deeply into research cultuie, scientists will be held more accountable

{or their findings, and subsequently, the reliability of their findings will carry more utility in clinical decision-

making.

Reseerrch ftinding in Canacia

Lel Lts now consider a more nuanced limilation specific to chiropractic resealch in Canada, a portion of

provincial licensing fees colleclecl lrom every chiropractor is directed to the Canadian Chiropractic Association's

reseaach foLlndaiion. the Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundalion. The mission stalement of the

Foundation is to "fund research to improve the lives of people living with musculoskelelal pain and disability "

Accordinqly, nruch of the high-quality chircpractic research coming out o{ Canada lras taken a musculoskeletal

pain-base.i appfoach. lt is thanks to this work that ciriropractors in Canada are becoming known to'ihe public

as back pain, rreck pain and headache "experts."

Arguably, the effects ofclriropractic are broader in scope than llle nrusculoskeletal pain-based tnission ofthe

Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundalion. Patients regularly report reljef of non-muscttloskeletal pain, and

even seek preventive chiropractic care to stay heallhy. However, the burden of proof lells on the vitalistic

chiropractor io generate research evidence. Unforlunaiely, research proposals investigaiing such viialistic-

based health outcomes are unlikely to be funded by the Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation, a funding

body that receives funding frorr both mechanistic and vitalistic chiropractors.

A Catch-ze fbr Vitalisrn

582
Fe:llured

Giabal lnrpacl

Health & Weliness

lndustry News

Liie W€sl i'lews

LifeLr{res

L,ienklr i)ocs

Nl€rvolls System

ite$/s

Oirtorils

l'resideni's CrIcle

Research

Seruice 1-rips

Sludent Liie

Suslainafriliiy

l-l ncarle!JOrizBrl

Vitalisnl

Calendars

All Calendars

A,cadenic Calettciar

Events

Heallll Certter

i'rporlar'lt Daies

Off tr-;e ol Aca<it-.rr ltr: Affair:.;

The vitalistic chiropractor is caught in a Calch-z2. Their associatiorl pllshes for them to align with evidence-

based practice lhat relies heavily on researclr evidence bul tends nol to iutld research lhat represents their full

experience ln practice. The kicker is thal the vitalistic chiropracior has no say how tlleir licensirlg money is used

and is beholden to supporl the fiechanistic agenda oi the Canadian Chiropractic Research Fotlndation, ihe

epitome of oircular logic.

The problem is compounded further by the association acknowledging only research e'ricience generated by

randon]ized conlrolled trials in the development of lheir clinical practice guideli!]es. Since there has been little

research funding clirected toward vitalislic-based health outcomes. the.e are very few tandomized controlled

trials investigating these oulcomes. lmpo*antly. we should remain aware that a properly condi-lcted and

https://lifewest.eduiperspective-on-chiropractic-research-in-canada/?utm-content=109424758&utm-medium=social&utm-source=facebook&hss-chan 2/4



12t19t2019 Perspective on chiropractic research in Canada I Life Chiropractic College West

objeclive research stLtdy of 'lesser quality by design" is far more valuable than a compromised "gold standard.

At present, 'there is considerable opporlunity to improve upon research in this area and to expand the

chitopractic evidence-based scope of prachce. We must renrain cognizanl that research lttnds are lin,ited and

that vve owe it to our patients to be responsible shepherds of the lltnds available.

In{briling the'goltl standard'

Evidence-based practice has not solved what it has intended. in large part due to the disproporlionate

emphasis that has been placed on tlle irnportalrce of only "gold standard" res€arch evidence. Raiher than do

away with evidence-b'ased practice, I suppon the growing movemenl to re-adjusi the balance placed on the

original ienanls of evidence-based practice.

ln its ideal lorm, evidence.based practice is an iterative process. whereby clitrical experience and patient

prelerences inform research inqr"riry while research outcomes inform clinical reasoning. and so on. lf done

compassionately with our patient's best interesls at heart, research evidence can be a valuable additlon 10

elinical decjsion-maklng.

About .4.ustin Bergquist

Austin Bergquist, PhD, earned his cioclorate degree in Neuroscieice at the University of Alberta (iunded by

Alberta Paraplegic Foundation). He l.tas completed a post-doctoral fellowship at the Toronto Rehabilitalion

lnstitule (funded by the Canadian lnstilutes of Healih Research). He has researched novel methods of

generating fatigue-resistant muscle conlraelions through spinal reflex pathways in people lvho experience

paralysis due to spinal cord injury. and he is curreutly studying at Lite Chiropractic College West to become a

lourth-generation chiropractor.

Abor:t the Author

Social Share

583

trtrtrtr

I'olkl,v Lis Slucient (]uiek l.ir.rks

Cale ncla Is

iurporliint l.,ilks

ShJdgnt Resorirces

Ccril:tcl Liie 1,\csl

loll F r ee 1 -9t)Q -7 86-4 4 7 e

t-lcal: "t -',>1 A- 1 4A-41;A':

admissioils(aElilewest.eciu

(l9 bAs
fo*@

Stlidenl ResOurces Facliliy & Staff Resources

Research Careers

VVebnrail Calerrdilrs

\i1/intet' 2020 Olass Sclredule Conlinuing EclLrczrlion

Fall 2019 Firlals ScJrerinle COfUMEI!CEfiIFNT 201S

https://lifewest.edu/perspective-on-chiropractic-research-in-canada/?utm_content=1 09424758&utm-medium=social&uim-source=facebook&hss-chan... 314



12t19t2019 Perspective on chiropractic research in Canada I Life Chiropractic College West

CAMS Student Porial Siudent Catalog and Handbook
25001 lndustrial Bivd.

Ha1,P3t6. CA 945,45

Contact HelpDesk - Students DC Career Opportunitres

Campus Map Conlact Helpdesk - Faculty & Slaff

MSDI Residency Program

MSDI Residency Handbook

584

@2017 Life Chiropractic College West. All rights reserued.

hftps://lifewest.edu/perspective-on-chiropractic-research-in-canada/?utm_content=109424758&utm_medium=social&utm_source=facebook&hss_chan... 414



ITEM 7.2
Rose Bustria

585
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Jo-Ann Willson
Friday, January 24,2020 10:12 AM

Rose Bustria

FW: Nov 2011 Chiropractic Report "After the Storm-What Have We

Learned" - Dr Richard Brown

Exec and Council

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel
xNote Address Change

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 1'11

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other

distribution, copying-or disclosure is stricfly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail

and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: Jo-Ann Willson
Sent: Friday, January 24,2O2O 10:12 AM

To:'Harald Simon' <hfsimon@amtelecom.net>

Cc:'Kristina Peterson'<kristyp@tbaytel.net>; Dennis Mizel(drmizel@stcatharineschiropractic'com)

<drmizel @stcatharineschiropractic.com>
Subject: RE: Nov 201L Chiropractic Report "After the Storm-What Have We Learned" - Dr Richard Brown

Thank you for your further communication. ln general, if information is to be included in the Council

information package, there should be a direct relationship to CCO's public interest mandate' For

example, this article is relevant to the CCO's public interest protection in the following ways: ... The

Council information package will not be prepared until closer to the meeting, and the materials will be

published in the ordinary course. lnformation concerning the tender for software will be reported to

everyone at the same time and in the same way. I know the Quality Assurance Committee is working on

this, and I expect they will have recommendations for Council's consideration.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel
*Note Address Change

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: jpw!!!sg!.!@ss9.on,ea
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other

distribution, copying-or disctosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, please notiry me immediately by reply e-mail

and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

1



From: Ha rald Simon <hfsimon@amtelecom.net>
Sent: Friday, January L7, 2020 2:LL PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>

Subject: RE: Nov 2011 Chiropractic Report "After the Storm-What Have We Learned" - Dr Richard Brown

Thanks for your prompt reply and forwarding of Dr Brown's landmark speech for consideration in the FYI

of the Feb 26/20 Public Council Package. Your use of "but" implies the president, in his wisdom, will
reject it. That would be unfortunate at a time when the Ontario chiropractic brand is in decline in part
due to CCO advertising regulation being reactive rather than proactive. I can attest that Dr Brown is a

significant international chiropractic leader from meeting him at a ECU conference in Zurich. Please let
me know what the president's decision is.

I would also appreciate an answer to the query in my Jan 1,4120 email as to the status of the CCO tender
for software to monitor registrants' websites for keywords.

Dr Harald Simon

From : Jo-Ann Willson [mailto:jpwillson@cco,on.ca]
Sent: Thursday, January 16,2020 12:57 PM
To: Harald Simon
Cc: Ca rol ine Brereton; shawn@ rrseducation,com
Subject: RE: Nov 2011 Chiropractic Repoft "After the Storm-What Have We Learned" - Dr Richard
Brown

Thank you for forwarding this. The agenda for Council meetings is set by the President, but I will
forward it for consideration of inclusion in the FYI of the Council information package.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel
*Note Address Change

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. 111
Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

586

CONFI DENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in enor, please notiry me immediately by reply
and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

other
e-mail

Froni: Harald Simon <hfsimon@amtelecom.net>
Sent: Tuesday, January t4,2O2O 6:40 PM

To: Jo-Ann Willson <ipwillson@cco.on.ca>

cc: caroline Brereton <cbrereton@chiropractic.on.ca>; shawn@rrseducation.com
Subject: Nov 20lL Chiropractic Report "After the Storm-What Have We Learned" - Dr Richard Brown

Dear Ms Willson,

While sorting out some files, I came across this eminently germane speech by Dr Richard Brown. I would
suggest it be included in the February 26/20 Public Council Package as a classic piece of advice that
behooves everyone in the chiropractic regulatory business to be reminded of. Perhaps it would serve to
enlighten those long standing elected Council members, whose inappropriate tenure abetted by bad

2



bylaws, from over staying their usefulness after losing sight of a realistic chiropractic horizon and

stymieing new ideas. For example on page 2, software packages to search for key words in

chiropractors' websites were already in use 10 years ago. At what stage is this initiative that CCO was

looking to tender out last Year?

Please let me know what you think.

Thanks for your kind attention to this matter

Sincerely,

Dr Harald Simon

587

3



588

The Chiropractic lleport
www.chiropracticreport.com Editor: David Chapman-Smith LL.B. (Hons.) November 2011 Vol.25 No' 6

After the Storm - What Have We
Learnt?

Professional Notes
Mechanisms of Action of Manipulation
in LBP Patients

A study just published in Spine is the first
to investigate the specific mechanisms of
action of spinal manipulation in patients

with back pain, and at the same time
to show the correlation between those

and clinical improvement. Previously

many mechanisms of action have been

demonstrated, usually in asymptomatic
subjects. However the matter of how
spinal manipulation works has not been

directly linked to clinical improvement
and subjected to reliable measurement'

The study is from Julie Fritz, pr pno, Shane

Koppenhaver, er eno, Greg Kawchuk oc

nno, Jeffery Hebert Dc, PhD et al., an inter-

disciplinary team of prominent physical

therapy and chiropractic researchers in

the US and Canada. lt concludes that
the following two effects or underlying
mechanisms of action of spinal manipu-

lation measured in the trial correlate
with and may explain improved clinical

results:

a. lmmediate decrease in global stiffness

Dr Richard Brown, both a chiropractor

and lawyer with a Doctor of Chiropractic
degree from the Anglo-European Chi-

ropractic College and a Master of Laws

from the lJniversity of Cardif, is a prac'
tising chiropractor in Sttoud, Gloucester-

shire, in the United Kngdom.

He has been President of the British
Chiropractic Association (B CA) since

2009, at which time the BCA was in the

midst of a prolonged libel court case with
Simon Singh, a well-known UK author
and scientist.

At the same time the chiropractic profes-

sion in the IJK was being subjected to an

orchestrated attack from sceptics that led

to unprecedented media criticism and

718 complaints of professional miscon-

duct against many BCA members and

others. It was these two matters, the hard

fought legal battle and the unprecedented

media and regulatory attacks, that com-

prised the Storm referred to in the title
above.

In 2011 Dr Brown was electeil to the

Executive Council of the European Chi-

rop r actor s' Uni on (ECU ).

The following speech, then titled After the

Storm: Strategic Objectites in Europe'

was given by him last month at the 2011

Conference of the Chiropractic and
Osteopathic College of Australasia in

Melbourne, Australia.

In it he reflects upon the Storm andles-
sons learnt, and speaks candidly and elo'

quently about the shortcomings he sees

in the profession and what must be done

about them. His direct experience is in

Europe, but his words are of relevance to

chir opr act or s ev ery wher e.

The last issue of this Report focused
on the importance of the philosophy

of chiropractic. This issue brings you a

chiropractic leader warning against inap-
propriate exploitation of that philosophy'

and delivering an earnest call for more

consistent ethics and maturity in the

profession.

IT'HERE FIAVE BEEN SEVERAL
I defining moments in chiroPrac-

tic throughout its 1 16 year history.
Its turbulent journey from obscurity
to becoming a recognised healthcare
profession has been characterised by
infighting, conflicting ideologies and
external persecution. '1et in 2009,

events in the UK took a turn which was

to consume the British Chiropractic
Association (BCA) for two years and
force the wider profession to confront
key issues that for decades had kept it
distanced from its medical counterparts
and attracting ridicule from its critics.

Chiropractic in the UK had long faced

criticism from its nemesis, Edzard
Ernst. The world's first professor of
complementary medicine, now retired
from the University of Exeter, became

the foremost critic of chiropractic, chal-

Ienging its track record on safety, effec-

tiveness and the making of outlandish
claims. Throughout his career, Ernst
pursued a damning condemnation of
many forms of complementarY and

alternative medicine, but for reasons

that still elude us, reserved his most
poisonous venom for the chiropractic
profession.

continued on page 4 Richard Brown oc, LL.M, FEAc



589Main Article continued from page I

Yet the figure whose words were to
spark controversy and ignite a firestorm
of antipathy against the chiropractic
profession was not Ernst, but a young
scientist, documentary-maker and
author whose brand ofpop science had
made him a successfui and well-con-
nected figure. Simon Singh was some-
one who had not previously featured on
the chiropractic radar, yet his encounter
with the profession left an indelible
print on the profession not only in the
UK, but around the globe.

Co-author with Ernst of Trick or Treat-
ment; Alternative Medicine on Trial,
Singh promoted his book by writing a
piece in the UK s Guardian newspaper
in which he was critical of a patient
information leaflet produced by the
BCA called Happy Families, which
made claims of effectiveness for chiro-
practic treatment of a number of child-
hood disorders, including colic, asthma
and bedwetting.

Singh claimed that the BCA'hap-
pily promotes bogus treatments' even
though there was 'not a jot of evidence'.
The BCA was faced with a dilemma.
Did it sit by and permit an assault on
its reputation and good name, or did it
stand up for its members and challenge
the criticism? For years, chiropractic
had been castigated in a succession of
critical articles, but here was a pub-
lished article which had explicitly
named a chiropractic association and
had made defamatory comments about
it.

The BCA took advice from a leading
specialist London libel lawyer, and was
told that it had a cast-iron case. A num-
ber of meetings took place and the BCA
also sought advice from other sources,
including leading academics. Faced
with a decision to either meet the criti-
cism with silence or confront the issues
head on, the BCA wrote to Simon Singh
and demanded an apology and a retrac-
tion. He refused.

In a move largely unexpected by many,
rather than sue the newspaper, the BCA
sued Simon Singh personafly for libel.
In doing so, the BCA began one ofthe
darkest periods in its history; one that
was ultimately to cost it financially,
reputationally and politically. (In a pre-
Iiminary hearing the UK's leadinglibel
judge, Mr lustice Eady, ruled infavour
of the British Chiropractic Association
but following an appeal in the Court of
Appeal, the decision was overturned,

forcing the BCAs withdrawal from the
case and leaving it responsible for its and
Dr Singh\ legal costs.Ed.)

The action galvanised the UK and
world media. Never before had the
media focused its attention so much on
the profession, nor had been given the
opportunity to subject it to so much
vitriol.

With what they saw as one of their own
being hauled over the legal coals amidst
claims of an assault on free speech, an
army of scientists, sceptics and comedi-
ans was mobilised to disgrace, degrade
and demoiish the chiropractic profes-
sion. Cabinet ministers, BBC journalists
and erstwhile Members of Parliament
also joined the fray, determined to pitch
in and use the case to reform what they
claimed were Britaint draconian libel
laws.

In using the case as a powerful vehicle
to promote his Sense About Science
campaign, Singh's crusade mobilised a
dark force of UK sceptics who suddenly
found their raison d'etre, shifting their
attention from the fairy tales of home-
opathy to the cure-all claims of chiro-
practors. Following a call to action, an
army of PC pilots and laptop lizards
began a war which was to lead to one in
three UK chiropractors facing formal
disciplinary proceedings from its regu-
lator, the General Chiropractic Council.

Using a software package to highlight
key words in chiropractors' websites,
claims were uncovered relating to
everything from haemorrhoids to hair
loss, chlamydia to cancer. A total of 718
complaints were made to the General
Chiropractic Council (GCC), alleg-
ing that chiropractors were misleading
the public and exploiting their lack of
knowledge over health matters. The
GCC faced fitness to practice hearings
on a scale previously unknown in the
healthcare regulatory world.

Chiropractors were under assault. As
the process rumbled on, and Singh
crowed from the rooftops following a
favourable judgment in the Court of
Appeal, one in three chiropractors was
facing the misery of prolonged formal
regulatory proceedings.

The GCC itself was in an unprecedent-
ed situation. Faced with a 1500% rise in
compiaints, Investigating Committees
were assembled to determine whether
there was a case to answer. Temporary
staffwere drafted in to deal with the
workload and the solicitors appointed

Pnce 2

by the GCC to prosecute the complaints
found that all their Christmases had
come at once. To the surprise of many,
seemingly fueiled by the actions of
regulatory staffand buoyed by the com-
missioned report of Dr Gert Bronfort,
the Investigating Committee referred
most complaints to the Professional
Conduct Committee and a mass of
hearings were scheduled. As a recipient
ofthree separate allegations I can attest
to what was for many a deeply stressful
and miserable period for UK chiroprac-
tors.

Following a robust legal defence
mounted by the BCA on behalf of its
members, over 91o/o of the allegations
against chiropractors were dismissed
as being not proven. For the first time
in two long years, BCA chiropractors
could sleep a little easier and move on.

However, the genie was out of the bot-
tle. Once again, questions surfaced as
to whether chiropractors were serious,



science-based, evidence-informed healthcare professionals or'

as the media portrayed, simply profiteering, pseudomedical

quacks? For the BCA and the chiropractic profession, it was

time to reflect, learn lessons and define strategic objectives'

The UK experience highlighted a longstanding schism in

the wider chiropracticprofession between those who seek

to deliver evidence-based care and pursue a research driven

agenda, and those who seek to uphoid and promote the chi-

ropractic of yesteryear; those who cling to anunwavering
principle that the vertebral subluxation complex is the cause

of imt"tt and disease; and those who decry integrating with

mainstream healthcare on the misguided assumption that it
will sound the death knell of chiropractic as a 'separate and

distinct' profession.

Some may say that we owe Simon Singh a debt of gratitude' 
^

His newspaper article, his confrontational stance and his defi-

ance in standing up to UK libel law has all made us, at long

last, recognise *ttit, to be fair, many chiropractic researchers

have been telling us for years. Ifwe are ever going to get any-

where near being accepted by the wider healthcare commu-

nity - and, lett fice it, for us to move forward as a respected

profession we need that acceptance - we need to know who

we are, klow what we do and know why it works. It is no

longer good enough in 201 I for us to expect chiropractic to

survive on outdated dogma.

The scrutiny that chiropractic now enjoys as part of the regu-

lated framework in many countries must be matched by a

public distancing ofhistorical theories that have long since

iost support in any scientific forum and should now be con-

sigtted to the annals of history' It is right that we should not

foiget the past, but not right that we should live in it'

To move the profession forward in Europe' the European

Chiropractori'Union (ECU) has embarked on a new strategic

pro;eci called Vision 2020. Vision 2020 is about looking at

*h... *. are today and seeing where we want to be in 2020'

It is unashamedly aspirational. Through engaging with the

20 national association member countries of the ECU' we are

working to identify what we consider to be our strengths and

o.r. *.iktt.ttes, seeing what opportunities exist and being

alive to the threats to the stability and success ofthe profes-

sion.

Vision 2020 is about European chiropractors being hon-

est with themselves and taking a reaiity check. What is clear

at present is that while some European nations have it all

in terms of legislation, credibiliry integration and publicly

funded univeisity-based education, others have nothing'

There are stark contrasts between the haves and the have-nots'

To understand these contrasts is to understand attitudes and

beliefs, deeply irTgrained prejudices and political motivations'

both within and outside of the profession.

Yet as was seen in Switzerland throughout the evolution of
the chiropractic profession during the twentieth century, the

vision and tenacity of even a small number of individuals can

influence the direction of travel in the chiropractic profes-

sion. The status of Swiss chiropractic as a mainstream medical

profession, revered by the public, reimbursed by the state and

respected by medical colleagues, is testamelt to an uncom-

promising commitment to quality standards of education and

practise. ilot*uy and Denmark share similar stories, the latter

now considered the worldt most striking chiropractic success

story with qualrty education, public access to care and an unri-

valled commitment to research.

What has become immediately evident during the early stages

ofVision 2020 is that there is a need for a far clearer identity
for the European chiropractic profession. What do we stand

for?

Chiropractic, when compared to medicine and dentistry,

remains in a period of teinage angst. It demands to be listened

to, yet at timis struggles to articulate itself in a way that main-

stream healthcare will tolerate. It speaks in its own language,

yet often fails to realise that others in healthcare may not com-

prehend. It insists on acceptance, yet sometimes displays an

inflexibility that seemingly shuns the notion of true integra-

tion.

There is currently a blurred image of the profession and an

unclear scope ofpractice that results in inconsistent Percep-
tions and mixed messages. The images of chiropractic from

one European country to another could not be more different'

Scientists and subluxationists have carved up the continent

and the great divide is reflected in pockets of great success and

pockets 
"of 

abject failure. While some countries have embraced

the ,reed to focus on achieving credibility through research

and integration, the stability of others is being jeopardis-ed

by grouis wishing to stay distanced from the concept ofevi-

dence-based care and lifelong learning.

The events ofthe past two years have exposed a blind adher-

ence to outdated principles amongst a small but significant

minority of the piofessilon. Mindfirl of the adage that it's the

squeaky wheei that gets the grease, the vocalism of this group

has ensured that chiropractic is characterised by its critics as

unscientific, unsafe and slightly wacky. Claims that the ver-

tebral subluxation complex is the cause of illness and disease

have persisted despite the three UK educational establish-

menti advising th; GCC that no evidence of acceptable qual-

ity exists to supPort such claims.

So why do we find graduates of the Anglo-European College

of Chiropractic (AECC) and Welsh Institutes of Chiropractic
(WIOC) manning Subiuxation Stations in supermarkets and

shopping malls and advising their unwitting patients that

spind dJcay is the deadly conteqo"nce ofuncorrected sub-

luxation? Wtty it it that the graduates of some of the Europe's

most established chiropractic p.ogrammes decide that surface

electromyography an&similar electrical gadgetry is the default

diagnostic Gchnique and the preferred method-of securing

the compliance of vulnerable patients? Why is there a surge in

practice-building seminars promising financial reward and a

utopian work-life balance?

Sadly with the stark realisation that the cake is being sliced

ever more thinly, combined with student debt and escalat-

ing living costs, it is unsurprising that new (and not-so-new)

g.idout"* are seeking innovative ways of making a living'

inevitably, however, innovation for some means sailing closer

to the wind than ethics and professionalism permit' Cue one

sceptic feeding frenzy and a panoply of Ernst-fuelled editori-

590

als.

The idea that somehow achieving a subluxation-free world

will be the panacea for all ills has to be publicly debunked'

Moreover, cheap public denouncements of standard medical

care whilst at theiame time lauding the near-magical effects

of the spinal adjustment must stop' 
continued on poge 7

Pncr 3



Mechanisms of Action of Manipulation in LBP Patients
continued from page 1

of the lumbar spine, objectively measured at the L3 spinous
process by a mechanised instrument and a protocol developed
by Dr. Greg Kawchuck a chiropractic scientist at the University of
Alberta in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. The probe of the instru-
ment applied an increasing force from preload 5 Newtons to a
final load of 60 Newtons to the patent lying prone.

Measurements recorded were global stiffness (slope of the force
displacement curve between 5 N and 60 N) and terminal stiff-
ness (the ratio between the applied maximal force and resul-
tant maximal displacement). Patients with greater immediate
decrease in global stiffness after thrust manipulation had better
clinical results.

b. lmproved recruitment of the lumbar multifidus (LM) muscle,
with change in muscle function measured by ultrasound.

The authors describe these as preliminary results, which need
confirmation and expansion in further research, but that their
study"provides important advances in understanding the
hypothesized relationship between SMT and spinal stiffness."
Summary points are:

a. Patients. This study involved 48 adult patients with low-back
pain, with or without leg pain, but no red flags and not treated
with spinal manipulative therapy (SMT) within the past four
weeks. They received two sMT treatment sessions 3-4 days
apart. At these there was pre- and post- SMT spinal stiffness
and lumbar multifidus (LM) recruitment assessment, At a third
visit after another 3-4 days there was no treatment but further
assessments. SMT technique involved posterior-inferior thrusts
applied by a DC or PT to each side of the patient's pelvis during
each session.

b. lmprovement in LBP. The major outcome measured was
improvement on the Oswestry Disability lndex (ODl)

c. Measurements of spinal stiffness and LM recruitment.
Spinal stiffness was assessed at the L3 level"because motion at
the L3l14 segment is less likely to be painful and does not differ
fromL4/L5 motion, the level from which the LM measures were
taken." Load was applied three times at each assessment, with
values averaged.

With respect to LM recruitment,"Thickness of the LM at L4l5 on
the patient's more symptomatic side was quantified during sub-
maximal contraction using an ultrasound imaging protocol with
documented reliability. Contraction was elicited by the prone
patient holding a 1 to 2 kg weight and lifting the contralateral
arm approximately 5 cm. resulting in approximately 30o/o maxi-
malvoluntary LM contraction. lmage acquisition was performed
three times. Measures were averaged to reduce variabilityl'

d. Results. There were significant improvements in ODI scores
following each treatment session. Stiffness and LM recruitment
measurements and analysis suggested:

."The effects of SMT may be mediated by both immediate glob-
al stiffness (GS) changes and enhancement of LM recruitment':

591

. Level of initial terminal stiffness (TS) influences the ability to
improve the LM recruitment with SMT. So does the matter of
whether or not the patient falls within a clinical prediction rule
(CPR) developed by Fritz et al. and described in the paper.

A further interesting observation by Fritz, Koppenhaver, Kaw-
chuck et al. is that manipulation may be superior to mobilization
in reducing spinal stiffness. Previous studles using mobilization
"failed to identify an immediate effect of non-thrust mobiliza-
tion on stiffness'i Here the authors found immediate stiffness
reduction after manipulation and'a significant relationship
between immediate post-SMT stiffness decrease and clinical
outcome.This finding may suggest a relationship between stiff-
ness change and outcome for thrust SMT that is not present if
nonthrust mobilization techniques are employedJ'

(Fritz JM, Kopperhaven 51, Kawchuk GN, et al. (201't) pretiminary

lnvestigation of Mechanisms Underlying the Effects of Monipula-
tion, Spine 36: 1772-17 81)

Other Research
1 . Australia. LBP - A New and Better Classification of Sub-
Groups

Authors in the paper discussed above include Julie Fritz, pT, phD,

of the University of Utah and Jeffery Hebert, oc, nno, formerly of
the University of Utah but now at the School of Chiropractic and
Sports Science at Murdoch University, Perth, Australia. Hebert
has been a leader in an important new research undertaking
- development of a treatment-based classification of patients
with back pain.

This replaces traditional pathology-based classifications. lt cat-
egorizes patients into 1 of 4 sub-groups - those who should pri-
marily receive either spinal manipulation, stabilization exercise,
end-range loading exercise or traction.There are now controlled
trials showing much better results when patients are treated
according to these subgroups.

Hebert and colleagues, including Bruce Walker, DC, MpH, DrpH

also of Murdoch University and Editor for the online journal
Chiropractic and Manual Therapies, have just summarized this
new approach to classification and the evidence in support, This
is in a paper titled Sub- grouping Patients with Low-Back pain: A
Treotment-Based Approach to Classificotion published on August
23 in the online version of Sports Health: A Multidisciplinary
Approach, the officialjournal of the American Orthopaedic Soci-
ety for Sports Medicine.

It can be found at http://sph.sa gepu b.com/content/early/
2011/08/20/194173811 141 5044This is clear and concise with
excellent opening details on the prevalence and cost of LBp in
Australia, the UK and the USA. Note these challenging points:

a.The authors suggestthat"the application of spinal manipula-
tion based solely on a paradigm of biomechanical faults and,/or
spinal misalignments is inappropriate" now that subgroup
criteria have been established for patients best suited to each
of manipulation, stabilization, end-range loading exercise, and
traction.

The Chiropractic Worlcl

Prce 4



Nerrus ancl Vievns
592

b. "Manipulation is more effective than mobilization." However

"the identification of the proper patient subgroup is more

important to a successful outcome than choosing the right

manipulative technique'i

c. ln one recent trial from the University of Utah group, in which

clinical success was defined as a 50o/o improvement in Oswestry

Disability lndex score, less than half the back pain patients expe-

rienced clinical success with spinal manipulation - but success

rate increased lo 95o/o in patients meeting at least 4 of the 5

criteria for the manipulation subgroup gained from history and

physical examination.

d. These results have been supported by a further trial from

the University of Utah group, which also shows that the clinical

benefit of receiving matched treatment according to subgroup

classification remained at 6 months follow-up.

The January 201 1 issue ofThe Chiropractic Report featured the

successful new spine care program developed by Dr lan Pas-

kowski and colleagues at the Jordan Hospital in Plymouth, Mas-

sachusetts. An important aspect of that program is adaptation

and use of the classifications and clinical decision rule of Hebert

et al. as in Figure 1.

(Hebert JJ, Koppenhaver SL, and Walker BF (201 1) Sub-group-

ing Patients with Low-Back Pain: ATreatment-Based Approach

to Classificotion, Sports Health: A Multi-Disciplinary Approach.

Published online August 23,2011as doi: 10.1 177/19417381114

1s044.)

2. US and Canada. LBP- Comparative Effectiveness of Exer-

cise, Acupuncture and Spinal Manipulation

ln July 201 1 The Chiropractic Report reviewed a new Cochrane

systematic review of the evidence for SMTfor chronic LBP by

Dutch chiropractor Sydney Rubinstein, oc ptro and co-authors.

Here now is a new systematic review of the evidence of compar-

ative effectiveness of three common non-surgical approaches to

management of patients with chronic LBP - exercise, acupunc-

ture and spinal maniPulation.

Authors include Christopher Standaert, vto, from the Depart-

ments of Rehabilitation Medicine, Orthopaedic Surgery and

Neurological Surgery, University of Washington, Seattle and

Mark Erwin oc ptro, from the Division of Orthopaedic Surgery,

Toronto Western Hospital, University of Toronto, Canada'

This study, published prominently in Spine, makes clearly

the point that many of the trials included in reviews of spinal

manipulation not only involve very different skill levels but also

mobilizations and other manual treatments that are not spinal

manipulation at all. Points are:

a. There is continuing chaos in the management of patients

with chronic LBP and "a critical need to identify which treatment
options optimize clinical utility and cost-effectiveness for spe-

cific patients'l

b. For each of three commonly used treatments, namely exer-

cise, SMT and acupuncture, there are significant variations in

how they are defined, applied or practiced as well as in the skill

level and training of providers'i

c. Overall there is no strong evidence favouring any specific non-

operative treatment approach for patients with chronic LBP - as

to effectiveness or cost effectiveness.

d. There is more evidence for SMT and structured exercise than

acupuncture. Both "appear to offer equivalent benefits in terms

of pain and functional improvement for those with chronic LBP

with clinical benefits evident within 8 weeks of care. However,

the level of evidence is low'i

e. The lack of evidence of clearly superior benefit of SMT may

be a reflection of the many different approaches and skill levels

used in the trials as well as the mixture of many different sub-

groups of patients - rather than limitation in the effectiveness of

skilled manipulation for appropriate patient populations. Good

quotes on the first problem include:

. ln the trials and the reviews "what is referred to as SMT may

include high-velocity thrust techniques, manual mobilization, or

other specific techniques or even broad treatment approaches

such as osteopathy, which cloud the actual treatment effect of

specifi c manipulative techniques'i

. "...many studies of SMT use variable approaches that are

termed "manipulationi' often delivered with co-interventions or

within the framework of a specific method of practice. ln a more

defined sense, SMT is a highly specific manoeuvre that requires

considerable training and experience."

(Standaerd CJ, Friedly J, Erwin MW et al' (201 1 ) Comporotive

Effectiveness of Exercise, Acupuncture, and Spinol Manipulation for

Low Back Pain, Spine 36: 51 20-51 30. )

3. United States. SMT for the Elderly with COPD

Here is a new study from Dr. Paul Dougherty, of New York Chiro-

practic College and the University of Rochester School of Medi-

cine and Dentistry, and colleagues offering preliminary evidence

that chiropractic SMT has the potential to improve lung function

in elderly patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

(COPD). This study is a case series involving 6 residents of a long-

term care facility, the Monroe Community Hospital, and was

performed with the assistance of staff at the respiratory therapy

department.

The patents, all over age 65 and with an average ag e of 79J
years, had a course of 12 SMT sessions over a four week period

with lung function measurements recorded by a respiratory

continued on Page 8

Figure
Hebert

Fluton Bios

.0ldfrage (>50y)

. Diredional

preferenrefor

fl€xion

. lmaqinq eviden(e

oflumbarJpine

stenosis

Ertertion Eias

. Symploms distal

tothe buttod
. Symptoms

(entralize with

hrmbar extenrion

.symptoms

periphetalize

with lumbar

flexion
. Directional

preferenc{or

extension

Manlpulotion

' No symptomi

distal to knee

. Duration of

symptoms <16d
. lumbar

hypomobility
. teaFAvoidan(e

Beliefs

Questionnaire

forWork<19

' Hip internal

rotation range of

motio[ >]5

Stablllration
. Younqeraqe (<40 y)

. Averag€straight-leg

raise(>90')
. Abenant movement

plesent

. Positive prone'

inrtabilityten

ftaction
.symptoms extend

dhtal tothe

buttod(s)
.signs ofnewe root

comptesrion

. Peripheralization

with extrnsion

movement; or

positive (ontra-

lateral straight leg

rahe test

1. A Clinical Prediction Rule and Treatment Classification System' Adapted from

et al

Pncs 5



593
Advances in Research in Canada

The Canadian Chiropractic Association (CCA), led by Dr. Allan
Gotlib, Director, Research Programs, has been building impres-
sive chiropractic research capacity in Canada during the past
decade.This is in partnership with the Canadian lnstitutes
of Health Research (CIHR), the federal government's funding
agency which provides almost 5l billion in funding annually.

Canada now has more than 20 DC PhDs at leading universities
and educational institutions across the country, including its
two chiropractic colleges the Canadian Memorial Chiropractic
College (CMCC) in Toronto and the Universit6 du Qu6bec i
Trois-RiviAres (UQTR) in Quebec. Another 15 chiropractic PhD

students are set to graduate soon.

To direct this growth in research, the CCA and the CIHR have
formed and funded a Canadian Chiropractic Research Consor-

tium which brings chiropractic and other researchers and their
institutions together.The Consortium! 201 1 Symposium was
held at the University of Toronto September 23-24,2O11 titled
Advancing the Canodian Chiropractic Research Agenda with a

theme of "a transdisciplinary approach to neuromusculoskel-
etal health, injury and disease: collaborative engagement in
chiropractic research."

Opening keynote speakers were Dr. David Naylor, former Dean
of Medicine and now President, University of Toronto and Dr.

Patrick Loisel, Professor, Dalla Lana School of Public Health,
University ofToronto who has Dr. David Cassidy and Dr. Pierre

Cote among the five DC PhDs at his institution and also serves
as a professor at CMCC.

Dr. David Cassidy, a leading Canadian chiropractic researcher

currently living in Denmark but maintaining research aff lia-

tions and projects in both countries, led the final open session
devoted to conclusions drawn from the two days of the work-
shop. One central conclusion was that there were two vital cri-
teria of growing importance to gaining large government and
foundation grants for research in an increasingly competitive
environment.

The first is that research is of practical importance, that it is

seen to relate to improved healthcare delivery for patients and
improved economic and other performance of the healthcare
system. Areas discussed included reducing surgeries and wait
time for surgeries, and reducing crowding and wait times in

hospital emergency departments.

As a good example of this Dr. Deborah Kopansky-Giles, who
leads the Chiropractic Department at St. Michael's Hospital at
the University of Toronto, is part of an interdisciplinary team
that has just received a large government grant to assess the
impact of having chiropractic services introduced in the Emer-
gency Department at St. Michael's Hospital. This is to assist

with the large volume of patients with acute back pain and
other musculoskeletal disorders.

The second criterion is that funded research projects must
increasingly be collaborative and interdisciplinary. Greg
Kawchuk DC PhD, Canada Research Chair in Spinal Func-

tion, Department of PhysicalTherapy, University of Alberta,
described an excellent example of this. He is one of five prin-
cipal investigators who have just received a $2.5 million grant
from the CIHR and partner foundations for a new project titled
SafetyNet.This comprises interdisciplinary research aimed at
"building a culture of safety for spinal manipulation j'This will
include building an adverse events reporting system.

Very interestingly, this not only brings together a large net-
work of researchers from different professional groups such

as biomechanics, chiropractic, law, neurology, orthopaedics,
pediatrics, and physical therapy, but is also supported by the
regulatory bodies for the four professions that deliver spinal
manipulation in the Province of Alberta - chiropractic, medi-
cine, osteopathy and physiotherapy. Dr. Kawchuk identified
this high level of collaboration, together with evidence of past
successful collaborations, as being of key importance in gain-
ing this large research grant in competition with many others.

As was apparent to the international chiropractic community
at the WFC's Congress in Montreal in 2009, and as this sym-
posium confirmed, strong integration and partnerships with
major universities is bringing an impressive quality and quan-
tity to chiropractic and chiropractic-related research in Canada.

(From left) Canodian chiropractic researchers Jeffrey Quon oc, eno,

University of British Columbia, Pierre Cote oc, phD, lJniversity of Toronto,
Greg Kawchuk oc, phD, University of Alberta, David Cassidy oc, cno,
University of Toronto, and Patrick Loisel uo, Orthopedic Surgeon,
Professor at the Dalla Lano School of Public Health, Llniversity of
Toronto and Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College.

Bernadette Murphy oc, eno, Director, Human Neurophysiology and
Rehabilitation Laboratory, University of Ontario lnstitute of Technology,
with keynote speaker Phillip Gardiner pno, Scientific Director, Institute
of Musculoskeletol Health and Arthritis, Canadian lnstitutes of Heolth
Reseorch.

Pncp 6



Main Article continued from Page j

As we stand, the chiropractic profession continues in some

high-profile quarters to shoot itself in the foot. For example,

minority-group guidelines which advocate high-intensiry
prolonged courses of care for simple mechanical back pain.
^practice-building 

seminars which guarantee immense wealth

to their delegates through the utilisation ofrehearsed high-

pressure scripts, and warnings, even by national chiropractic 
--associations,-of 

the devastating effects of uncorrected vertebral

subluxation. Practice methods which sacrifice patient dignity
and privacy in favour ofan open plan approach to patient

."r.. A.td, perhaps saddest of all, is the promulgated view that

those who iake a differing approach to care are somehow less-

er chiropractors, who are'non-philosophical','unprincipled'
and who are pain-based rather than'wellness'based.

The time is here to engage the silent majority. For most chiro-

practors, professional Practice means keeping your head down

ind doing a good job, caring for patients and going home to

our families each evening hoping that weve made the world a

better place. The very thought of becoming involved in politi-
cal activity is an understandable anathema to most chiroprac-

tors.

Much as we like to comfort ourselves that such a silent major-

ity exists, and suPports us - silently - we have no evidence

that we have that suPPort. Silence could be perceived as a tacit

contentment with what is being done by our political leaders

but conversely it may convey a sense ofhopelessness, a feel-

ing that the direction of the profession has shifted so far away

from the science-based programmes promoted at their respec-

tive alma maters that they would rather keep themselves dis-

tanced from the current goings-on and stay focused on their
day-to-day lives.

I am saddened when I speak to chiropractors who find them-

selves constantly having to defend their profession in the face

of the media's far-too-easy discovery of embarrassing revela-

tions about their colleagues. My heart sinks when I see patient

leaflets that describe subluxation as 'the silent killerl Young

colleagues who tell me that bt practice-building seminars they

"r. 
gi*tt scripts that tell them how to shake their heads, adopt

a solemn expression and sigh, "It's bad news Mrs Jones; you

have subluxationl'

Is this really what we want chiropractic to be reduced to?

Intelligent young graduates, full of knowledge, skiil, hope and

expectation being seduced by those who style themselves as

'principled chiropractors'? What does that make the rest of us?

And are we any better if we stand by and fail to react?

Through the catalyst that was the Singh case comes the reali-

sation that we must focus on the evidence, we must pursue

research and we must be supportive of the concept of lifelong

learning through the facilitation ofgraduate education and

continuing professional development (CPD).

We must also support quality undergraduate chiropractic
institutions, particularly those affiliated with public univer-

sities; in Europe we have a growing number of such pro-

grammes: the Swiss at the University of Zurich, the Danes at

ihe University of Southern Denmark, AECC in Bournemouth
and the Welsh Institute of Chiropractic at the University of
Glamorgan. France and Spain also have established chiroprac-

tic progiammes which have attracted much interest in their
respective countries.

The ECU has set up an Education Task Force to expand the

number ofcountries offering chiropractic education and has

594
recently met with university leaders in Istanbul with a view to

setting up a programme in Turkey. Chiropractic education is

the sourie ofongoing heated debate, yet through links with
publicly funded higher educational institutions, it is gaining

legitimacy and stepping up to the plate.

Accountability requires that faculty deliver high-quality pro-

grammes and reject unproven theories of the past. Sharing

iaculty members with other healthcare programmes further
enhances the credibility of the courses and brings chiropractic
students into contact with their medical and dental counter-

parts. Contrary to the gloomy predictions of those prophesis- 
-

ing the imminent demise of the chiropractic profession should

thiy even breathe near a medical practitioner, many of today s

chiropractors seek integration and express a strong desire to

be part of the accepted medical community.

The ECU recognises that cultural accePtance ofthe chiroprac-
tic profession will be driven by a clear identity, underpinned
by sound research. It is committed to positioning chiroprac-

tors as the spinal healthcare specialists of choice, but knows

that research will ultimately be the currency of the profession'

If we fail to invest properly in research we will fail in our quest

for credibility and with it we will lose a momentum that has

been pioneered by European researchers.

Put simply, if we ignore the need for research and partnership

with others in mainstream healthcare, and fail to challenge

the charismatic evangelists among us who are often heard to

be the voice of the profession, chiropractic will remain on the

periphery and will be considered but a fringe player in the

musculoskeletal healthcare community.

In the UK, the BCA has just invested in a Research and Devel-

opment Department based at AECC. It will specifically focus

on the key question of the moment - cost effectiveness. It is
no longer acceptable to merely show that chiropractic care is

clinicaily effective; for chiropractors to be even on the horizon

when it comes to National Health Service commissioning the

profession must show that it can deliver cost-effective health-

care. Through the use of patient-reported outcome measures

it may produce data seen to be of increasing relevance.

The ECU ringfences part of its subscription for research. A
dedicated Reiearch Council distributes funds for research. But

it's not good enough just to fund research; as political leaders

we havJ a duty to shout our chiropractic researchers' achieve-

ments from the rooftops and celebrate their successes.

Through a 2010 agreement with the Chiropractic and Osteo-

pathic College of Australasia (COCA), the European Acad- 
-

emy of Chiropractic (the academic arm of the ECU) co-funds

the Chiropractic and Manual Therapies oniine journal. It is
extremely proud to do so. The agreement demonstrates a com-

mitment to drive the profession forward on an evidence-based

footing and encourage chiropractors to participate in author-
ing high-quality papers. Through the vision ofits leaders and

its eaiiorlil board, chiropractic now has a second powerful
journal which has set the bar far higher than any other previ-

ous journal in Australasia or Europe. (The profession\ other

Ieading peer-reviewed, indexed journal is of course thelournal
of Phyiiological and Manipulative Therapeutics, the oficial
scteniific ioirnal of the American Chiropractic Association and

the Nitional (Jnitersity of Health Sciences, Chicago, Illinois,

and published by Elsevier Inc' Ed.)

We must support this initiative and awareness of this open

Pecr 7



access journal should be promoted not just by those conduct-
ing research, but by all ofus in chiropractic.

We cannot stop evolution, nor should be endeavour to do so.
The enhanced profile ofchiropractic in Europe has inevitably
led to a greater degree of scrutiny. We must be answerable
to enquiries made of us and we must continue to enquire of
ourselves. Challenging our beliefs and adapting to evidence
are marks of maturity that the chiropractic profession must
embrace to move forward. Having strategic objectives in
Europe will hopefully enable the chiropractic profession to
unite behind common issues but whatever happens, a discern-
ing society will continue to support good practice and con-
demn the bad.

I'm reminded of the words of Charles Darwin, whose words
perfectly articulate the position in which we find ourselves:

"In the long history of humankind (and animal kind too) those
who haye learned to collaborate and improvise most efectively
haw prevailed".

Some may say that the BCA was foolhardy to pursue a jour-
nalist over comments made in a national newspaper. Others
supported its stance and congratulated the BCA on standing
up to what it felt was unfair criticism. Things didnt go the way
it had hoped or planned and it was left somewhat licking its
wounds.

Someone once said, "The one thing you get, when you dont
get what you want, is experiencel' The BCA gained much
experience in those two years. There has been much to reflect
on, and in a strange way the chiropractic profession may one
day look back and thank Simon Singh for making the chiro-
practic profession recognise its weaknesses and evoive from
teenage angst into adult maturity. We have been indecently
exposed and we must now seek to clothe ourselves in the
respectability that modern healthcare demands of us.

SUBSCRIPTION AND ORDER FORM
(6 bi-monthly issues) Year <ommences January

Checkone
USandCanada 1 year 5145.00 tr
(your currency) 2 years 5270.00 n
Australia 1 year A5165.00 n

2years A5290.00 n
Europe/elsewhere 1 year USSI55.00 D

2 years USS280.00 n

City- Province/State

Postal

Telephone

PLEASE CHECK ONE
nVisa

I MasterCard Expiration

n Cheque/Check enclosed

Payable to: The Chiropractic Report
203-1246Yonge Street
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M4T t W5
Tel: 41 6.484.9601 Fax: 41 6.484.9665
E-mail: TCR@chiropracticreport.com
Website: www.chiropracticreport.com

Card number-
date

PncE 8

595
Our challenge lies with ensuring that chiropractic commits
itself to practising evidence-based, research,driven healthcare.
Anything iess will sell ourselves down the river and perpetuate
the feeding frenzy of criticism witnessed in the UK.
Richard Brown DC, LL.M, FEAC

President, British Chiropractic Association
Secretary, European Chiropractors' Union
Secretary-General, European Academy of Chiropractic
Address for correspondence: British Chiropractic Association,
59 Castle Street, Reading, United Kingdom RGi 7SN
rbrown.bcaggmail.com

continued from page 5

therapist at baseline and at 2 and 4 weeks. To quote Dougherty
et al:

"Thoracic 5MT increases the functional mobility of the chest wall
by increasing the mobility of the thoracic spinal joints and their
associated rib articulations. Because improving the functional
mobility of the chest wall has been shown to benefit lung func-
tion in the elderly, applying the intervention to elderly patients
with COPD carries with it at least the potential to improve lung
function, as this case series suggests."

There was a clinically significant increase in forced expiratory
volume immediately after SMT in 4 of 6 patients that was sus-
tained at 2 weeks. This was sustained in only 1 patient at 4 weeks
- but this was the only ambulatory patient with a full set of out-
come measures at that time.Two of the others were wheel chair
dependant.

There were no adverse events from the 2'16 thoracic spinal
manipulations delivered.The authors note that more sustained
improvement may be achieved where there are higher patient
activity levels.

(Dougherty PE, Engel RM et al. (2011) Spinal MonipulativeThera-
py for Elderly Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Diseos:
A Case Series. (J Manipulative PhysiolTher 34;413-417)

4. United States. Chiropractic Management of Postsurgical
LBP

There is little published evidence concerning chiropractic spinal
manipulation for postsurgical patients, whether as to effective-
ness or safety. JMPT has just published a good case series from
Ralph Kruse. Dc, in private practice in Chicago, and Jerrilyn Cam-
bron, oc ptro, a research scientist at the National University of
Health Sciences in Chicago, which reports good results with 32
consecutive patients. Points are:

a. This was a retrospective review of 32 patients with postsurgi-
cal low back pain who received Cox flexion distraction manipu-
lation (together with adjunctive procedures) for at least 2 weeks
and had a record of pre-treatment and post-treatment pain
scores on the Numeric Pain Scale (NPS).

b. On an average number of treatments of 14 (range 6-31) the
mean or average reduction in NPS pain scores was from 6.4-2.3,
a reduction of 4.1 out of 10.

No adverse events were reported for any of these postsurgical
patients. ln summary, good results with difficult patients.

(Kruse RA, Cambron J, (201 1). Chiropractic Management of Post-
surgical Lumbar Spine Pain: A Retrospective Study of 32 Caset J

Manipulative Physiol Ther 34 ; 408-412)

@



Rose Bustria 596ITEM 7.3

Jo-Ann Willson
Friday, January 3,2020 1:36 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: CMRTO is now the College of Medical Radiation and lmaging
Technologists of Ontario!
nr-cmrito-01 -01 -2O.pdf

From:
Sent:
To:
Subiect:

Attachments:

Exec and Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel
*Note Address Change

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (41 6) 922-6355 ext. 1 1 1

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only forthe person(s) named above. Any other
distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notifo me immediately by reply e-mail

and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: CM RTO Comm unications <communications@cmrito.org>
Sent: Friday, January 3,2020 1:26 PM

Subject: FW: CMRTO is now the College of Medical Radiation and lmaging Technologists of Ontario!

The College of Medical Radiation Technologists of Ontario (CMRTO) is pleased to announce

that it is now the College of Medical Radiation and lmaging Technologists of Ontario
(cMRrTO).

The Medical Radiation and lmaging Technology Acf (MRIT Act) came into force on January 1,

2020, replacing the Medical Radiation Technology Acf (MRT Act). The MRIT Act changes the

name of the College and changes the name of the profession to medical radiation and imaging

technology to encompass the regulation of diagnostic medical sonographers by the College,
which began in2018. CMRITO thanks the Minister of Health, and the Ministry managers and

policy analysts at the Health Workforce Regulatory Oversight Branch, for working to modernize

the regulation of medical radiation and imaging technologists to protect the public of Ontario. A
full report on the implementation of the MRIT Act will be provided at the end of March 2020.

For additional information about the changes at CMRITO, please read the attached news
release, watch our short video, and visit www.cmrito.orq.

Thank you,

*Please note that the Communications email address has changed to communications@cmrito.orq. We will still receive emails
sent to our old address for the next few months. Please be sure to update your address book and add this new email address to
your safe sender list.

CMRITO Gommunications

1



@ 597
CMRITO
Rogulator of medical radiation and
lmrging tachnologiste in Ontario

College of Medical Radiation and lmaging Technologists of Ontario
300 - 375 UniversityAvenue, Toronto, ON MsG 2J5
41 6.97 5.4353 1 .800.563.5847
commu nications@cmrito.orq www.cmrito. org

This communication (including aftachments, if any) is stictly pivate and contains confidential information intended
solely for the addressee(s). Access to this communication by parties other than the intended recipient(s) is
unauthorized. Any unauthoized disclosure, copying, distibution or use of this communication is stictly prohibited. If
you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by retum email and delete this
communication (including aftachments, if any) from your system.

2



NEWS RELEASE JANUARY 1,2020r
598dl cMRtro

Yl I ff #ill"i"$ffi:'J"1,:iff e'l?lfJo

CMRTO is now the College of Medical Radiation and lmaging Technologists
of Ontario

Toronto, January 1,2020 - The College of Medical Radiation Technologists of Ontario (CMRTO) is pleased to

announce that it is now the College of Medical Radiation and lmaging Technologists of Ontario (CMRITO).

The Medicat Radiation and lmaging Technotogy Acf (MRlTAct) came into force on January 1,202A, replacing

lhe Medicat Radiation Technotogy Acf (MRT Act). The MRIT Act changes the name of the College and changes

the name of the profession to medical radiation and imaging technology lo encompass the regulation of

diagnostic medical sonographers by the College, which began in 2018.

"We are excited to conlinue our work in regulating over 11,000 medical radiation and imaging technologists

as the College of Medical Radiation and lmaging Technologists of Ontario," notes Linda Gough, CMRITO

Registrar & CEO. "Thank you to the government of Ontario for enhancing public protection and ensuring

the regulatory framework is consistent for all areas of medical radiation and imaging technology through the

Medical Radiation and lmaging Technology Act."

"The coming into force of the Medicat Radiation and tmaging Technology Act and the evolution of the CMRTO

into the College of Medical Radiation and lmaging Technologists of Ontario is a seminal moment in the

regulation of medical radiation and imaging technologists (MRlTs) in the province," notes CMRITO President

Wendy Rabbie. "Now the public can be assured that MRITs in all five specialties - radiography, radiation

therapy, nuclear medicine, magnetic resonance, and diagnostic medical sonography - are qualified to practise

and are providing safe, effective, and ethical care to Ontario residents'"

To reflect this change in name, the College has developed a new visual identity that provides additional

clarity and transparency to the public and our members. This new logo includes an updated symbol, the

acronym CMRITO, and a descriptor that explains our role as the regulator of medical radiation and imaging

technologists in the province.

Our transformation into the CMRITO marks the end of a long journey to bring diagnostic medical sonographers

into the same public protection framework as the other four specialties of medical radiation and imaging

technology. The College's Council members and staff have worked tirelessly to ensure that the College's logo,

website, and key publications like our Standards of Practice, Code of Ethics, and Quality Assurance Program

reflect this imporlant change. Further updates to other publications and resources will continue in the coming

months.



To watch a short video explaining the changes at CMR|TO, ptease click here 599
Please visit www.cmrito.org to learn more about CMRITO's lransformation and to access additional information
for the public, CMRITO members, applicants, and employers.

Have any quesiions about this? Please contact communications@cmrito.orq, or call 416.975.4353 or
1.800.563.5847.

@
CMRITO
Regulator of medical radiation and
imaging technologists in Ontario

College of Medical Radiation and lmaging Technologists of Ontario
300 - 375 University Avenue
Toronto, ON MsG 2J5
416.97 5.4353 1 .800.563.5847
www.cmrito.org



Rose Bustria ITEM 7.4
Jo-Ann Willson
Wednesday, December 11, 2019 12:51 PM

Rose Bustria

FW: FW for OCP: Governance
Eligibilities- Bylaw No. 6.pdf; Competencies - Bylaw No. 6.pdf; 13.1

Briefing Note - Executive Committee - Governance Renewal.pdf

600
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

Exec and Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.
Registrar & General Counsel
*Note Address Change

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. '111

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-mail: ipwillson@cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING:
This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the person(s) named above. Any other

distribution, copying-or disctosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail

and delete all copies including any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

From: bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca <bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>

Sent: Wednesday, December II,2OL912:47 PM

To:'Beth Ann Kenny' <bakenny@regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca>

Cc:'Na ncy Lum-Wilson' <nlumwilson @ocpinfo.com>
Subject: FW for OCP: Governance

The foltowing is being forworded on beholf of Noncy Lum-Wilson, C.E.O. ond Registrar of the Ontario

Col le ge of P h orm ocists.

Dear All,

Further to our discussions regarding competence-based elections yesterday, I am sharing with you

copies of the OCP Briefing Note on this subject which was passed in September; and our bylaws which

were passed on Monday. I would be happy to connect with anyone who is considering moving in this

direction.

Have a Happy Holiday season!

Nancy

Nancy Lum-Wilson, R.Ph., B.Sc.Phm., MBA

C.E.O. and Registrar

Adjunct Professor,

University of Toronto, Leslie Dan Faculty of Pharmacy

Executive Assistant: Stephenie Summerhill
t. 476-847 -8245 f . 4L6-847 -8283 n I u m w i I so n @ o c p i n f o. co m www. o c p i nfo. co m

1



601

Beth Ann Kenny, Executive Coordinator
Federation of Health Regulatory Colleges of Ontario (FHRCO)

301--395 Osborne St, PO Box244, Beaverton ON LOK 1A0
Email: bakennv@regulatedhea lthprofessions.on.ca
Web: www.regulatedhealthprofessions.on.ca
Phone: 416-493-407 6 / Fax: 1-866-814-6456

Confidentiality notice: This email, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and moy contain
privote, confidentiol, ond/or privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. tf you
are not the intended recipient or this information has been inoppropriotely forwarded to you, pleose contoct the sender by repty
email and destroy oll copies of the originol,

2



602
OCP By-Law No.6

Elieibility for Election

A Registrant who holds a valid Certificate of Registration as a pharmacist or as a pharmacy

technician is eligible to seek to be a candidate for election to the Board if he or she meets

the following requirements:

(a) the Registrant is not in default of payment of any fees prescribed

in the By-Laws;

(b) the Registrant is not the subject of any disciplinary or incapacity

proceeding;

(c) the Registrant has not been found to have committed an act of

professional misconduct or to be incompetent by a panel of the

Discipline Committee.

(d) the Registrant is not a registered pharmacy student or intern;

(e) the Registrant's Certificate of Registration is not subject to a term,

condition or limitation other than one prescribed by regulation;

(e)

the Registrant is not, and has not within the three (3) years

immediately preceding the election been, an employee, officer or

director of a Professional Advocacy Association' For greater

certainty, nothing in this clause will prevent a Registrant who

serves on an association or organization to which he or she has

been appointed by the Board as a representative of the College,

from running for election to be an Elected Director;

the Registrant has not been disqualified from serving on the Board

or a Committee within the six (6)years immediately preceding the

election;

(h) where the Registrant was formerly a Director, but is not as of the

date of the election a Director, it has been at least three (3) years

since he or she was a Director;

(i) the Registrant is not an adverse party in litigation against the

College, the Board, a Committee or any of the College's officers,

employees or agents;

the Registrant commits to devoting sufficient time in his or her

schedule to participating in all required Board and Committee

activities;

(f)

(i)



(k)

603
the Registrant has not, in the opinion of the Screening Committee,
engaged in conduct unbecoming a Director; and

the Registrant is not the Owner or Designated Manager of a

pharmacy that, within the six (6) years immediately preceding the
election, has undergone a re-inspection, as a result of deficiencies
noted in an initial inspection, for a third time or more after the
initial inspection.

(t)



604
OCP By-Law No.6

Director ComPetencies.

The Board shall at all times comprise Elected Directors who collectively serve, or have

experience working with, the following diverse patient populations:

(a) patients served by rural community pharmacies;

(b) patients served by urban community pharmacies;

(c) patients treated at teaching hospitals;

(d) patients treated at community hospitals;

(e) patients located in northern/remote areas;

(f) patients who identify as lndigenous;

(g) patients with mental health and addictions needs; and

(h) patients in long-term care.

The Board shall in addition at alltimes comprise Directors who collectively have the following

knowledge, skills and exPerience:

(i) experience in and understanding of the principles of protecting,

and acting in, the Public interest;

(j) experience working with diverse populations, marginalized groups

and peoPle with disabilities;

(k) experience serving on boards in an oversight capacity;

(l) experience in managing risk, including reputational risk;

(m) experience in senior leadership roles in business;

(n) experience as a human resource professional including in

occupational health and safety, organizational structures and

human resources oversight and compensation, recruiting and

succession Planning;

(o) financial and/or accounting expertise, including experience

preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements

and an understanding of generally accepted accounting principles;



605
(p) ability to navigate electronic systems to access Board and

Committee materials;

(q) legal experience or familiarity with regulated professions, including
overseeing regulations and setting standards for certification; and

(r) experience participating in, or leading, an organization in pranning
for its future, such as: conducting S.W.O.T. (strengths, weaknesses,
opportunities, and threats) a nalysis, environmental sca ns, strategy
design, planning, implementation and evaluation.



606
COUNCIL BRIEFING NOTE
MEETING DATE: SEPTEMBER 2019

FOR DECISION x FOR INFORMATION

INITIATED BY:

TOPIC:

ISSUE:

Executive Committee

Governance Renewal

Direction from Council on additional elements of the governance

renewal framework

puBllc INTEREST RATIONALE: Governance best practice supports a small governing Board

comprised of an equal number of public and professional members, with members collectively

possessing a range of governance competencies. The proposed governance renewal framework is

intended to move toward'best practice wltr the goal of strengthening the ability of the Council (Board)

to provide oversight that is transparently aligned with the mandate of the College to serve and protect

the public interest.

BAGKGROUND: At the December 2018 Council meeting, a governance renewalframework was

approved that reflects best practice with respect to governance in professional regulation with a view

to strengthening the ability of governing boards to align with their public protection mandate and

enhancing public trust in regulatory institutions and their processes.

o The four elements of the framework approved by Council in December 2O18 are asfollows:

1. Reduction in Council size
2. CouncilcomPosition
3. Separation of Council and Statutory Committees
4. CompetencY-based Council

ln June 201g the College undertook a facilitated discussion and made decisions on the next level

intentions within each principle of the governance framework to enable the drafting of by-laws to

operationalize the framework to commence at the beginning of the 202012021 Council (Board) year'

barring any legislative changes being imposed on the sector.

ANALYSIS:

ln order to further inform the drafting of bylaws Council is asked to consider and provide input into the

following elements.

. Eligibility and competency based selection of Council (Board) members 
.

. Ho-noraiia for elecied Board members and non-Councill committee members

. Lay Committee appointees including honorarium

1 The term non-Council is used as to reflect the current nomenclature of the established roles of the committee members for ease of

reference. Once the bylaws are formally changed the non-Council members will be referred to as professional committee

appointees (PCAs).



607
Eligibility and comoetency based setection of councit (Boardr members

The RHPA sets out the authority for the College to establish by-laws respecting the qualification of
candidates seeking election to Council (Board). While the current Ov-taw 1S.S) sets out eligibility
criteria, it does not address competence. To conform with best practice, in addition to the cningei
agreed by Council in June relating to representation of patient populations as opposed to registrant
geography, eligibility criteria will be expanded and desired competencies will be codified as follows.

For Consideration:

* Additional Eligibility criteria
. Less than two lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC) dispositions that

invoke a posting to the public register (caution or specified continuing education or
remediation program (SCERP)),dependent on the seriousness of the nature of the
concern.

o 3 year cooling off period since serving on the Board of Directors of the College to
ensure continual renewal (6 consecutive year maximum approved in June 2O1g)r 3 year cooling off period since serving as an officer or director of a professional
advocacy association.

o Commitment to devote time to Board activity.

* Knowledge, skills and experience - The Board is to be comprised of a diverse mix of
individuals with a complementary mixture of the knowledge, skills and experience noted below.
Not all directors are expected to have experience in every area; applicants will be required to
rate themselves on a sliding scale.

By continually assessing the level of knowledge, skills and experience of Board members, training and
development plans can be customized to enhance the skills of existing members and recruitment for
new members can be tailored to address identified gaps. (Election Framework - Attachment 1)

Public I nteresUPatient
Rights

Experience and und erstanding in the principles of protecting and acting in the
public interest

Working with diverse
populations

Experience working with diverse teams, marginalized groups, accommodating
people of various abilities

Board Experience lnvolvement in any sector; could include committee work; Board or committee
chair experience

Governance/Fiduciary Understanding of a Board member's role and good governance principles,
including:
. RiskManagement,includingreputationalrisk
. Business Acumen
. Human Resources
. Financial Literacy

Computer Literacy Able to navtgate electron ic syste MS efficiently and effectively
Regulatory / Legal
Expertise

Legal experience or familiarity with regulated professions, and the ability to
understand and/or oversee regulations and standards setting and certification

Strategic Thinking and
Planning

Demonstrated ability to think strategically; experience participating in, or
leading, an organization in planning for its future, such as: conducting
S.W.O.T. analysis, environmental scans, strategy design, planning,
implementation and evaluation



608
For consideration:

* A transparent and independent selection process
The compet,ence of Registrants applying for a Board position will be assessed by an independent

committee comprised 6f thr"" mrimueis of the Board and two external representatives. This

pio"".., aimed at increasing public trust, reflects best practice as set out in the attached

independent report prepared by Dundee Consulting - Attachment 2.

Honorarium for the elected memhers and non-council committee members

ln June the Council agreed to review and amend the compensation modelto address potential

disincentives to participation on panels of the Discipline and ICRC.

A recent survey (Attachment 3) of ontario Regulatory College bylaws indicates that, with the exception

of OCp, all Oniario freaftn r."gul"tory collegeJ pay ah honoiarium plus expenses, similar to the model

used by the Health Boards Secretariat foi public appointees. Nine of the 25 health colleges pay al
honorarium of $150/day, equal to the amount paid to public members; ten pay between $200 and

$300/day; three betweeh $gOt and $400 and three above $400/day.

For Consideration

* professional members of the Board and committees will receive a taxable honorarium for

time spent on college work and be reimbursed for expenses incurred. Time will be paid on a

full day or half day 6asis and expenses will be reimbursed in accordance with common

practice followed 
-by 

other health colleges and publicappointments.

* The dailY honorarium be set at:

o $260/day ($1gO for <3 hours) which is midpoint of other provincial

col leges. (fi nancial im pact approximately $250,000 ly ear)

Maintainino the Puhlic Voice on committees

As previously agreed by Council, due to the significant demand on the nine government appointed

puUti" r"rb"rr] they will only be appointed to committees per statute requirement. To ensure a

buOf i" voice on all otirer 
"orritt""r, 

lay committee appointees will be selected by the Board of

Directors.

For Consideration:

* Lay committee appointees will be selected using the same competency based

reiruitment and screening process as professional non-Council committee appointments.

* Lay committee members-will receive the same honorarium as professional committee appointees

RECOMMENDATION:

That Gouncil discuss and agree on the concepts presented to further inform the drafting of

Oy-laws to operationalize th-e framework effective the start of the 20201202'l Gouncil year.

NEXT STEPS:
. Enabling by-law amendments to be drafted for consideration by Council in December2019.

o The Colfeg-e will continue to liaise with AGRE Colleges and collaborate with the Ministry on

gouernande changes, continuing to keep Council informed of any developments.



Attachment I - Etection Framework 609

At the June meeting, council agreed to reduce the overall board to 20, comprised of nine (9) elected
members, (9) nine public member and two (2) deans; the minimum required under the phaimacy Act.
Elected board members will be able to serve a maximum of six (6) consecutive years. To ensure continual
renewal, one third of the elected board member seats will come up for election each year.

2020 will be a transition year in which all but two (2) existing council terms will cease and seven (7) eligible
candidates will be elected from among a list of candidates pre-screened by the independeni seteition
committee. As committed to council in June, to ensure some continuity be-tween outgoing council and
incoming board members, two of the nine seats will be reserved for current Executive Committee
members. As election is no longer based on representation of geographic or practice areas of the
profession but on the patient populations they serve the new modelinvisions all registrants voting for all
seats each year.

The initial terms of the members elected in2020 will be staggered to enable one third to come due for
election each subsequent year. Terms will be determined by number of votes received with candidates
receiving the most votes serving longer terms.

The following diagram illustrates the election cycle from 2020 onward.

Plumhtl

Pturn.bt2

Tcdnldrt

PlFmr*t I

gtum.dt2

Tcdnld.i9

8{m

77uD

7(m

PlnnnrcH f

PhrrnlchtB

Tc.tnldgtS

,twrnrdrta

PharmeddS

ItdrnlchnS

ElltthttC
Mcr$ct

t00l)

6&m

Phrrm*ktt

Ph6m!.ti8

Phnn dt0

th.mrllT

PhminS

ttl'Orhg

Phrnnrdrt 7

gft{m..kt3

Phrlnj&9

L@

Election Schedule



ITEM 7.5

COURT OF APPEAL FOR ONTARIO 610

CITATION: Ontario College of Teachers v. Bouragba, 2019 ONCA 1028
DATE: 20191231

DOCKET: C66080

Lauwers, Fairburn and Zarnett JJ.A.

BETWEEN

The Ontario College of Teachers

Plai ntiff (Responding Party/Respondent)

and

Ahmed Bouragba

Defendant (Movi ng Party/Appellant)

Ahmed Bouragba, acting in Person

Christine Lonsdale and Charlotte-Anne Malischewski, for the respondent

Heard: September 27, 2019

On appeal from the order of Justice Andra Pollak of the Superior Court of Justice,
dated September 26,2018, and from the costs decision, with reasons reported at
2018 oNSC 6481.

Lauwers J.A.:

I. OVERVIEW

t1l Mr. Bouragba brought a motion to dismiss the defamation lawsuit brought

against him by the Ontario College of Teachers, under s. 137.1 of the Courfs of

Justice Acf, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43. This is a relatively new provision designed to

C
J
c

€t\

z
(J
o
c{



Page: 2
611

permit judicial scrutiny of lawsuits allegedly brought to silence or financially

punish critics who have spoken out on matters of public interest, known as

Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation, or SLAPP. The seminal case on

s. 137.1 is 7704604 Ontario Ltd. v. Pointes Protection Association,2018 ONCA

685, 142 O.R. (3d) 161,leave to appeal granted and appeal heard and reserved

November 12,2019, [2018] S.c.c.A. No. 467. As Doherty J.A. observed in

Pointes, at para. 3: "Defamation lawsuits, perhaps because of the relatively light

burden the case law places on the plaintiff, have proved to be an ideal vehicle for

SLAPPS." Section 137.1 is a carefully designed approach to discerning whether a

lawsuit is improper as a SLAPP or is validly brought.

l2l The motion judge denied Mr. Bouragba's motion to dismiss the College's

defamation action on the ground that it was a SLAPP, finding that he had not

discharged his burden of proving that the defamation proceeding arose from an

expression that relates to a matter of public interest. Mr. Bouragba appeals.

t3l The College is the self-governing regulatory body for teachers in Ontario.

Mr. Bouragba is a member of the College and was a member of the College's

Council from July 1,2012 to October 2,2014, when he resigned.

l4l Mr. Bouragba sent several communications to past and present members

of the Council, the Attorney General of Ontario, and the Minister of Education. In

::c

oO
N

\
z
(n

c\



Page: 3
612

some of the communications he advocated for a public inquiry into a wide range

of alleged misconduct on the part of the College and people affiliated with it.

t5l The College sued, alleging that the communications were defamatory,

because they allege that the College, its Council and its leadership: are

dishonest in the performance of their mandate; fabricate complaints; collude with

their independent legal counsel and school boards; take action against members

of the profession and Council for improper reasons; assemble biased panels;

harass and discriminate against children, parents and elected Council members;

and perform their duties in bad faith.

t6l There is a history between the appellant and the College that forms part of

the context. First, the College processed a complaint about the appellant made

by Diane Lamoureux, then the Principal of an Ottawa area school attended by

Mr. Bouragba's son. The lnvestigation Committee declined to refer the complaint

to the Discipline Committee but instead cautioned the appellant. lts decision was

upheld by the Divisional Court: 2O18ONSC 6935.

l7l Second, the appellant made a complaint against three College members.

The lnvestigation Committee declined to refer the complaint to the Discipline

Committee, and its decision was upheld by the Divisional Court: 2018 ONSC

6940.

C
Jc

N

z
o)
c)



Page: 4
613

t8l Third, the appellant filed a complaint with the Human Rights Tribunal of

Ontario. All but one allegation has been dismissed:2017 HRTO 523. The hearing

on the single outstanding issue was to be heard in June 2019.

tgl Fourth, the appellant sued the College and a number of parties including

the College's Director of Corporate and Council Services, Richard Lewko,

personally. The action has been stayed: 2016 ONSC 7798. The appellant has

pursued motions to have the judge who ordered the stay recused for bias.

II. THE APPELLANT'S POSITION

110l The appellant expressed frustration in his factum and in his oral argument

with the motion judge's failure to engage with the arguments that he put fonvard.

First, he argued that the College, as a public body, is not capable of initiating a

defamation suit, relying on Niagara Peninsula Conseruation Authority v. Smith,

2017 ONSC 6973, at paras. 11,54.

t11l Second, the appellant noted that "the motion judge failed entirely to

mention any content or a subject of my three impugned communications ... [and]

also failed to mention my position as a defendant." He questioned whether the

motion judge had even read the impugned communications. His position, as

expressed in his factum before the motion judge was this:

It is beyond question that the expressions in question
relate to a matter of public interest, to wit: the
governance of the College, it is a body created by the
government of Ontario. lts action or inaction in its

:ic

o0
N
O

z

N



Page: 5
614

sphere of responsibility does affect the public welfare
(students safetY and well being).

l12l Third, the appellant pointed out that the motion judge "adopted the

plaintiffs speculation by copying it and pasting it directly into her decision with no

adequate analysis." This led the appellant to suggest that the motion judge was

not impartial.

III. THE GOVERNING PRINCIPLES CONCERNING SLAPP LITIGATION

l13l This court addressed s. 1 37.1 of the Couds of Justice Act in a group of

linked decisions, the heart of which is 1704604 Ontario Ltd. v. Pointes Protection

Association. The associated decisions were Forfress Real Developments lnc. v.

Rabidoux, 2018 ONCA 686, 426 D.L.R. (4th) 1; Platnick v. Bent, 2018 ONCA

6g7, 426 D.L.R. (4th) 60, leave to appeal granted and appeal heard and reserved

November 12,2019, t20181 s.c.c.A. No.466; Veneruzzo v. storey,2018 ONCA

6g8, 23 C.p.C. (gth) 352: Armstrong v. Corus Entertainment lnc., 2018 ONCA

6g9, 14g O.R. (3d) 54; and Abte Translations Ltd. v. Express lnternational

Translations lnc.,2018 ONCA 690,428 D.L.R. (4th) 568'

I14t ln Pointes, Doherty J.A. noted that the scheme in s. 137.1 of the Courfs of

Justice Acf has three features or steps. The first is that for the section to be

engaged, the expression must relate to a matter of public interest under

s. 137.1(3), which Provides:

::c

N

Oz
o
c\



Page: 6
61 5

(3) tAl judge shall, subject to subsection 4, dismiss the proceeding
against the person if the person satisfies the judge that the
proceeding arises from an expression made by the person that
relates to a matter of public interest.

[15] The second feature is the "merits-based hurdle." lt is set out in s.

137 .1 (4Xa), which provides:

(4) A judge shall not dismiss a proceeding under subsection (3) if the
responding party satisfies the judge that,

(a) there are grounds to believe that,

(i) the proceeding has substantial merit,
and

(ii) the moving party has no valid defence in
the proceeding; and

l16l The third feature is the "public interest hurdle." lt is found in s. 137.1(4Xb),

which provides:

(4) A judge shall not dismiss a proceeding under subsection (3) if the
responding party satisfies the judge that,

(b) the harm likely to be or have been suffered by the responding
party as a result of the moving party's expression is sufficiently
serious that the public interest in permitting the proceeding to
continue outweighs the public interest in protecting that expression.

l17l The first step in the required analysis is to identify the relevant "public

interest," if any. This requirement is intended to be based on a "broad reading" of

the meaning of "public interest" so that public discourse on matters of public

interest is not unduly discouraged: Pointes, at para.57. Doherty J.A. did not

identity an exhaustive list of topics that fall under the rubric of public interest but

:c
(g

aO
N

z
ct)

c)(\



Page: 7
616

noted that Grant v. Torstar Corp.,2009 SCC 61, [2009] 3 S.C.R. 640 provided

considerable assistance.

118l Of significance to this case, Doherty J.A. noted, at para. 47, that s. 137.1

"does not fix on the plaintiff's purpose or motive in bringing the claim as the

determining factor". Regarding the concept of public interest, he noted, at para.

65:

ln summary, the concept of "public interest" as it is used
in s. 137.1(3) is a broad one that does not take into
account the merits or manner of the expression, nor the
motive of the author. The determination of whether an

expression relates to a matter of public interest must be
made objectively, having regard to the context in which
the expression was made and the entirety of the
relevant communication. An expression may relate to
more than one matter. lf one of those matters is a
"matter of public interest", the defendant will have met
its onus under s. 137.1(3). [Emphasis added']

l19l Doherty J.A. returned to the issue of motive at para. 94, when he

contrasted the assessment of the public interest in s. 137.1(3) with the "public

interest hurdle" in s. 137.1(4Xb), which is the third step in the analysis. He said,

at para.94: "Unlike the'public interest'inquiry in s. 137.1(3), in which the quality

of the expression or the motivation of the speaker are irrelevant ..., both play an

important role in measuring the extent to which there is a public interest in

protecting that expression." He added, at para. 95:

ln addition to the quality of the expression and the

:c
a

N
O

z
LI
o
(f,(\

defendant's motivation for makinq the exoression , the



Page: 8

617
consequences of the plaintiffs claim will figure into the
weight to be given to the public interest in protecting
that expression. Evidence of actual "libel chill"
generated by the plaintiff's claim can be an important
factor in the public interest evaluation required under s.
137.1(a)(b): Able Translations Ltd., at para. 102.
[Emphasis added.]

l20l Doherty J.A. noted, at para. 96, in relation to the third or balancing step:

"Because the balancing of the competing public interests will often be

determinative of the outcome of the s. 137.1 motion, and because the analysis

contains an element of subjectivity, it is crucial that motion judges provide full

reasons for their s. 137.1(4Xb) evaluations."

IV. THE MOTION JUDGE'S REASONS

l21l The motion judge's reasons were sparse, not full. She noted, at paras. 23,

25.

The College's position is that Mr. Bouragba's
communications are related to his personal grievances
with the College. They were personal attacks on
individuals within the College.

The College submits that although it has a public
interest mandate, not all comments made about the
College are matters of public interest. Mr. Bouragba's
emails are solely related to:

(a)"his dissatisfaction with a decision of the
lnvestigation Committee which cautioned him.

:q
(!
O

Nc

z
11

Cf,
C\]



Page: I

618
(b) his dissatisfaction with three decisions of the

Investigation Committee which declined to refer
three of his complaints against members of the
College involved in his son's education.

(c) his personal belief that the College conspired with
Paul Marshall to cause teachers and members of the
Board to take steps to remove his son from school in
Ottawa.

(d) his personal belief that the College fabricates
complaints in order to retaliate against him and other
former members of the College council;

(e)his personal belief that staff lied because they were
mistaken about the date on which Paul Marshall first
commenced providing legal services as independent
legal counsel to panels."

l22l The motion judge concluded, at para. 28

Applying the test in Grant v. Torstar Corp-, 2009 SCC
61 (S.C.C.), I find that Mr. Bouragba's private disputes
with the college are not matters inviting public attention,
affecting the welfare of citizens, or which are the subject
of any controversy other than with Mr. Bouragba' I

agree with the submissions of the College that the
communications relate to private grievances. I find that
Mr. Bouragba has not satisfied his burden under
s. 137.1(3). lt is therefore not necessary for the Court to
consider the other criteria set out in s. 137 -1 of the CJA.

l13l The motion judge's costs endorsement was very brief and did not describe

the "detailed submissions" she considered. Nor did she refer to s. 1 37.1 (8), which

provides:

(8) lf a judge does not dismiss a proceeding under this section, the

responding party is not entitled to costs on the motion, unless the

C:
C

Nc

z

(f,
N



Page: 10

619
judge determines that such an award is appropriate in the
circumstances.

V. THE PRINCIPLES APPLIED

l24l lt is surely right, as the motion judge paraphrased the College saying: "The

College submits that although it has a public interest mandate, not all comments

made about the College are matters of public interest." The difficulty is with her

adoption of the College's argument that the appellant's emails are "solely related"

to his "personal grievances" with the College. They were not.

l25l The College's statement of claim refers to three communications in

particular. The first is an email to Michael Salvatori, Registrar of the College,

copied to past and present members of the Council on June 4, 2015. The

statement of claim does not quote the first sentence of the communication, which

states: "Please find attached some documents and a request for a public inquiry

to investigate the College's conduct and faith."

126l ln the email the appellant cited his own personal experience to explain his

loss of confidence in the College. He went on to cite other situations in which the

College misbehaved, in his opinion, which did not involve him.

I27l The second communication was a letter sent by the appellant and a

colleague to the Attorney General dated June 5,2016. The letter states:

We address this letter to you as the new Attorney
General of Ontario in a request to review the

C
-Jc(!
(-)

a\j

z

<)
N



Page: 11

620
investigation and discipline processes and decisions at
the Ontario College of Teachers.

Despite the Report and Recommendations of the Chief
Justice Patrick Lasage [sic] in 2012, there continues to
be lack of transparency and accountability in the
manner the College investigates complaints.

I28l The writers state:

A Public Inquiry is requested to explore the influence
exercised by school boards over the investigation and

discipline process and decisions made by the
lnvestigation and Discipline Committees of the College
over the last five years, as a systemic issue for which
the College is not under any scrutiny, since it enjoys
immunity from any oversight in Ontario.

l2gl This letter to the Attorney General must be set in context, since the

appellant and his colleague (whom the College did not sue) sent a follow up letter

on June 30, 2016, to which they attached a brief entitled: "Reasons for a Public

lnquiry into the Ontario College of Teachers". The brief was detailed and made a

number of complaints. lt called for a public inquiry to "examine and investigate

the following issues in protecting the Public lnterest," and then listed: the manner

in which public appointments to the Public Interest Committee of the College and

to College Council are made; the preferential treatment of school board employer

complaints over complaints by the public or members of the College; and conflict

of interest and other concerns, because there is no whistleblower policy. The

brief ended with a list of "fl]egislative issues requiring review of the OCT Act,

1996 and its Bylaws".

=:c
O
€
N
C

z
U

O



Page: 12 621

t30l The third communication was an email dated July 18,2016 inviting council

members to witness a discipline hearing. The email complained that the "College

falsified the teacher's complain [sic] against his vice-principal" and invited Council

members to attend the hearing so that they could see how the hearing unfolded,

in order to enhance "transparency according to college's mission".

l31l Although the motion judge adverted to the requirement to view the

communications objectively, she did not properly apply the test. Viewed

objectively, and divorced from any consideration of the merits or manner of

expression and the motive of the speaker, the communications could not be

reasonably said to relate solely to "private grievances". The motion judge's

finding to this effect was a palpable and overriding error.

l32l The finding also appears to have been impermissibly tainted by a

consideration of the appellant's motive. As noted at the outset, at the first

threshold step of the analysis, in assessing whether the expression is a matter of

public interest under s. 137.1(3) of the Courfs of Justice Acf, the court is not to

consider the motivations of the allegedly defamatory speaker. Motivations do

play a role in the third step relating to the "public interest hurdle". However, in this

case the motion judge appears to have taken the appellant's motivations into

account in concluding, at step one, that the appellant was expressing "private

grievances," so that the public interest element had not been satisfied. The

:c
{!

Nc

L.,/z

(3
C\



Page: 13

622
motion judge made the same error criticized by this court in Levant v. Day,2019

ONCA 244, 145 O.R. (3d) 442, at paras. 11-12.

t33] Moreover, the test is meant to set a low bar, as Doherty J.A. noted in

Pointes, at para. 65: "An expression may relate to more than one matter." Even

so, he added: "lf one of those matters is a 'matter of public interest', the

defendant will have met its onus under s. 137.1(3)." ln my view, the motion judge

misapprehended the test under s. 137.1 as explicated in Pornfes. The appellant's

communications are mixed, but many elements manifestly engage the public

interest. Whether those elements are sutficient to attract the protection of s.

137.1 must be assessed further at the second step, the "merits-based hurdle,"

and at the third step, the "public interest hurdle."

t34l However, the motion judge stopped her analysis at the first step,

concluding that Mr. Bouragba did not satisfy his burden to establish that the

communications relate to a matter of public interest. The motion judge did not

proceed to the second and third steps of the Pointes analysis. I would be

reluctant to carry forward the reasoning process required by s. 137.1 on appeal

without full argument on the "merits-based hurdle" and the "public interest

hurdle," and in the absence of careful analysis by a motion judge.

t35l The appellant's criticisms of the adequacy of the motion judge's reasons

are understandable. Most importantly, the reasons glossed over the appellant's

-
J
C
(s

N
O

\
zc
o)
O
N



Page: 14

623
arguments. In R. v. walker, [2008] 2 S.c.R. 245, 2008 Scc 34, Binnie J. stated,

at para 20: "Reasons are sufficient if they are responsive to the case's live issues

and the parties' key arguments." He noted that: "Their sufficiency should be

measured not in the abstract, but as they respond to the substance of what was

in issue."

[36] As Mclachlin c.J. stated in R. v. R.E.M., [2008] 3 s.c.R. 3 at para.64, "a

trial judge is not obliged to discuss all of the evidence on any given point,

provided the reasons show that he or she grappled with the substance of the live

issues on the trial." The purposes for good reasons were set out by L'Heureux-

Dub6 J. in Baker v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and lmmigration), 119991 2

S.C.R. 817, at para. 39:

Reasons... foster better decision making by ensuring
that issues and reasoning are well articulated and,
therefore, more carefully thought out. The process of
writing reasons for decision by itself may be a
guarantee of a better decision. Reasons also allow
parties to see that the applicable issues have been
carefully considered, and are invaluable if a decision is
to be appealed, questioned, or considered on judicial
review: ...Those affected may be more likely to feel they
were treated fairly and appropriately if reasons are
given (internal citations omitted).

See generally R. v. Sheppard,2002 Scc 26,12004 1 S.c.R. 869, per Binnie J.,

at para. 55; and Vancouver lnternational Airport Authority v. Public Seruice

Alliance of Canada,2010 F.c.A. 158, [201 1] 4 F.c.R. 42s, per Stratas J.A., at

-:g
$

e
N

\
Oz

O



Pase: 15 624

para. 16. See also Ctifford v. Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System,

2009 ONCA 670; 98 O.R. (3d) 210.

t37l Although the motion judge's reasons inadequately addressed the

appellant's arguments, there is no basis for the appellant's suggestion that the

motion judge showed bias. An allegation of bias is serious and is not to be made

lighly. As Robertson J.A. observed in Murray v. New Brunswick Police

Commission, 389 N.B.R. (2d) 372, at para. 10, unfortunately, self-represented

litigants sometimes operate, like Mr. Bouragba, "on the mistaken assumption that

if he or she is unsuccessful on any ruling it is because of bias on the part of the

decision-maker." This was an unwarranted allegation.

VI. DISPOSITION

l38l I would allow the appeal, set aside the judgment and the order for costs,

and remit the appellant's motion to the Superior Court to be heard by a different

judge.

Released: "P.L." December 31,2019

"P. Lauwers J.A."
"l agree. Fairburn J.A."

"f agree. B. Zarnett J.A."

C
Jc

N
O

z
rt

N



Chapter 3
ITEM 7.6

625

Reports on
Va I ue-for- M oney Aud its

Ourvalue-for-money (VFM) audits examine how

well government ministries, organizations in the

broader public sector, agencies of the Crown and

Crown-controlled corporations manage their pro-

grams and activities. These audits are conducted

under subsection 12(2) of the Auditor General

Acf, which requires that the Auditor General, an

independent officer of the Legislative Assembly of

Ontario, report on any cases where we have found

money spent without due regard for economy and

efficiency, or where appropriate procedures were

not in place to measure and report on the effect-

iveness of service delivery. Where relevant, such

audits also include compliance issues. In essence,

VFM audits delve into the underlying operations of

the ministry program or organization being audited

to assess both their cost-effectiveness and the level

of service they deliver to the public. This chapter

contains the conclusions, observations and recom-

mendations for the VFM audits conducted in the

past audit year.

The ministry programs and activities and the

organizations in the broader public sector audited

this year were selected by the Office's senior man-

agement on the basis of selection criteria including

the financial impact of a program or organization,

its significance to the Legislative Assembly, related

issues of public sensitivity and safety, and the

results of past audits and related follow-up work.

We conducted our work and reported on the

results of our examination in accordance with the

Canadian Standard on Assurance Engagements-

Direct Engagements issued by the Auditing and

Assurance Standards Board of the Chartered Pro-

fessional Accountants of Canada. These standards

involve conducting the tests and other procedures

that we consider necessary, including obtaining

advice from external experts when appropriate to

obtain a reasonable level of assurance.

Our Office applies Canadian Standards on

Quality Control and, as a result, maintains a com-

prehensive quality control system that includes

documented policies and procedures with respect to

compliance with the code of professional conduct,

professional standards and applicable legal and

regulatory requirements. We have complied with

the independence and other ethical requirements

of the Code of Professional Conduct issued bythe

Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario,

which are founded on fundamental principles of

inte grity, objectiviry professional competence and

due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.

Before beginning an audit, our staff conduct in-

depth research into the area to be audited and meet

with representatives of the auditee to discuss the

focus of the audit, including our audit objectives and

criteria. During the audit, staff rnaintain an ongoing

dialogue with the auditee to review the progress of

the audit and ensure open communications. At the

conclusion of the audit fieldwork, significant issues

are discussed with the auditee and a draft audit

report is prepared. Senior audit staff then meet with

senior management from the auditee to discuss the

draft report and the management responses to our

65



@
recommendations, In the case of organizations in
the broader public sector, discussions are also held
with senior management of the funding ministry.

Once the content and responses for eachVFM
audit report are finalized, the VFM audit reports
are incorporated as sections ofthis chapter ofthe
Annual Report.

626

il



627Ministry of Health

Although patients visit hospitals in order to address

health concerns and receive health-care services,

there are some instances where patients can be

unintentionally harmed as a result of the care pro-

vided during their visit.

Potient sofety refers to reducing the risk of

patient harm through policies and procedures that

hospitals design, implement and follow. Patient

safety incidents-such as hospital-acquired infec-

tions and medication errors-can be caused by

poorly designed systems and processes and unsafe

human acts in the delivery of hospital care.

As of April 7,20L9, there were 141 public

hospitals in Ontario, operating on a total of

224 sites.These include 123 acute-care hospitals,

where patients primarily receive active short-term

treatment; eight chronic-care and rehabilitation

hospitals for patients with long-term needs; four

specialty psychiatric hospitals; and six hospitals

that provide a variety of out-patient and rehabilita-

tion services. In this report we focused on patient

safety in acute-care hospitals, and we use the word

"hospitals" to refer only to acute-care hospitals.

Under the PublicHospitals Act, L990, hospitals

are required to investigate patient safery incidents

and to take steps to prevent similar incidents from

occurring in the future. Non-governmental organ-

Acute-Care HosPital
Patient Safety and
Drug Administration

izations, such as Accreditation Canada, also inspect

and accredit hospitals to assess whether they com-

ply with standards that focus on patient safety.

Public hospitals in Ontario are corporations

accountable to their own boards and directly

responsible for their own day-to-day management.

Hospitals are required by law to monitor and report

on various patient safety indicators, and to comply

with relevant standards and legislation.

Hospital data collected by the Canadian Insti-

tute for Health Information shows that each year,

among the more than 1 million patient discharges

from Ontario acute-care hospitals, on average

approximately 62000 patients were harmed during

the hospital stay. B etwee n 2074 / 15 and 2017 / !8,

near$ six ofevery 100 patients experienced harm

while in hospital. This is the second-highest rate of

hospital patient harm in Canada, after Nova Scotia'

Public concern with the safety of health care has

increased in recent years due to grov/ing research

on the impact that medical errors and hospital-

acquired infections have on patients and on the

health-care system.

While the vast majority of patients in Ontario

receive safe care in hospital, and the acute-care

hospitals we visited are committed to patient

safery our audit found that more can be done to

improve patient safety. Current laws and practices

in Ontario make it difficult for hospitals to address

concerns with the safety of care provided by some

nurses and doctors. Staff survey results at Ontario

67



@
628

hospitals varied significantly, raring Ontario hos-
pital patient safety practices from excellent to poor
and failing, and many hospitals did not fully comply
with required patient safety practices.

Among our significant findings:
. Current practices in Ontario put confiden-

tiality about nurses' poor performance
ahead of patient safety. Non-disclosure

arrangements negotiated by unions with
hospitals can result in potential new employ-
ers not being made aware of a nurses, poor
past performance. Because of concerns
about potential civil legal actions, during an
employment reference check hospitals may
not freely share with potenrial employers a
nurse's complete and truthful employment
and performance history. We found that
such practices can mislead hiring hospitals
and pose an increased risk to patient safety.

For instance, on October 16, 2018, one
hospital fired a nurse for a very serious
breach of mandatory patient care standards
resulting in a patient's death. The hospital
reported the termination a few days later to
the College of Nurses of Ontario. However,
as of July 37, 2OI9 , the College had not yet
completed its investigation. The termination
was treated as a resignation and the nurse
currentlyworks for another hospital. Some
jurisdictions in the United States have specific
legislation in place that protects hospitals
from liability associated with any civil legal
action for disclosing a complete and truthful
record about a current or former nurse to a
prospective employer.

o Nurses who hospitals have found lack com-
petence and who have been terminated or
banned continue to pose a risk to patient
safety. We reviewed a sample of nurses who
were terminated for lack of competence

and/or inappropriate conduct, and agency
nurses that were banned, in the past seven
years in nine of the 13 hospitals we visited.
(Agency nurses who are found incompetent

may be banned by a hospital.) Aftcr their
first termination or banning, 15 of the nurses
subsequentlyworked at another hospital or
for another agency. We noted that four of
them were either subsequently terminated
or banned again for lack of competence. For
example, one nurse who currentlyworks as

an agency nurse was, between May 2016 and
March 2019, terminated from naro hospitals
and also banned from a third hospital for lack
of competence.

. Information about nurses available to pro-
spective employers limits the employers,
ability to assess past performance issues.
The Regulated Health Professions Act limits the
information the College of Nurses of Ontario
is able to share with hospitals and with any
other member of the public with respect to
reports received about nurses terminated by
other hospitals. Hospitals have also informed
us that if they contact the College to obtain
information about a prospective nurse
employee, they are usually referred to the
nurse's public profile, which does not have
information on ongoing investigations and
may have incomplete information. Therefore,
when hospitals or agencies hire these nurses
they do not have access to a complete record
of their past employment history and per-

formance issues.

r As noted in our 20L6 audit of Large Com-
munity Hospital Operations, hospitals are
not able to quickly and cost-effectively
terminate physicians who hospitals
have found lack competence. In our 2016
audig we recommended that the Ministy
evaluate this problem. However, in our
current audit, we found that this problem
still persists. For instance, the disciplining
of one physician who a hospital found to
have practice issues took about four years

and cost the hospital over 9560,000. An
ongoing disciplinary process against this
same physician at a second and third hospital,



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety i ;trati o n \r
629

where the physician currentlyworks, has so

far cost the two hospitals over $L million. In

defending themselves, physicians mostly do

not personally incur legal fees; rather, their

legal costs are indirectly paid by taxpayers

through the liability insurance reimburse-

ment program through which the Ministry

reimburses physicians for enrolling in the

Canadian Medical Protective Association that

provides lawyers to represent physicians. We

noted that in2ol6/17,the Ministryof Health

reimbursed physicians $256 million for costs

of the Medical Liability Protection Reimburse-

ment Program.ln2ol7/ 18, the amountwas

$326.4 million, an increase of $7 A.4 million,

or 27.5o/o.

o Patient safety culture at different hospitals

varies significantly, from excellent to poor

and failing. We obtained the most recent

staff survey results from all 123 acute-care

hospitals in Ontario, completed between 2014

and2Ol9, and found that as many as nine in

10 staff at some hospitals graded their hospi-

tal as '\rery good" or "excellent" with respect

to patient safety. However, at other hospitals,

as many as one in three staff graded their

hospital as "poor" or "failing."
o Patient safety "never-events" have

occurred at six of the hospitals we visited.

Health Quality Ontario and the Canadian

Patient Safety Institute have identified 15

patient safety "never-events"-incidents that

could cause serious patient harm or death

and that are preventable using organizational

checks and balances. According to these

organizations, these events should never

occur in hospitals. Yet we found that since

2015, 10 out ofthe 15 never-events have

occurred a total of 2\4 times in six out of the

L3 hospitals that we audited. However, we

found that none of the six hospitals set any

targets in their quality improvement plans to

eliminate the occurrence of these events. One

hospital we audited, Humber River Hospital,

estimated that by reducing the occurrence of
pressure ulcers-including serious pressure

ulcers, one of the most common never-

events-by about half, the hospital could save

between $1.8 million to $3.7 million over two

years. We also found that unlike hospitals in

Saskatchewan and Nova Scotia, which are

required to report never-events to their health

ministries, Ontario hospitals are not required

to track or report never-events to Health

Quality Ontario, Local Health Integration

Networks or the Ministry.
. Between 2014 and 2019, over half of hos-

pitals did not fully comply with required

patient safety practices. We obtained from

114 acute-care hospitals their most recent

Accreditation Canada report betwe en 2014

and 2019 and found that 18 hospitals did not

complywith five or more required practices

that are central to quality and patient safety.

For example, Accreditation Canada found

that some hospitals did not have strategies in

place to help prevent patient falls and pres-

sure injuries, while other hospitals did not

meet the required communication practice to

ensure that information is transferred when

patients move between care units within

the hospital. Washing and sterilization of

reusable surgical tools and medical devices

is an area where hospitals did not fully meet

a significant number of high-priority criteria

for infection prevention. If these practices

are not complied with, a hospital is required

to submit evidence of corrective actions

to Accreditation Canada. Nevertheless, as

Accreditation Canada conducts its visits every

four years, it is unknown for how long prior to

the visit hospitals did not have these required

patient safety practices in place.

. Hospitalpharmacies do notfullycomply
with their own standards for the sterile

preparation and mixing of hazardous

chemotherapy and non-hazardous intra-
venous medications, but compliance is



@
improving. In 2013, 1,202 hospital patients at
four hospitals in Ontario-Windsor, London,

Lakeridge and Peterborough-were infused

with the wrong concentration of chemother-

apy medication. In response to this incident,

the College started annual inspections of
hospital pharmacies in2074 to assess rheir
compliance with standards aimed at ensuring
patient safety. Yet in 2018, hospital pharma-

cies on average fully met less than half of the
50 standards, which relate to the sterile prep-

aration and mixing of intravenous medica-

tions. In response to the College's requirement

for improvement, early inspection results from
2019 shared with us by the College showed

that pharmacies' compliance has improved.

However, on ourvisits to five hospitals, we
found that some hospitals are not properly

cleaning and disinfecting their sterile-rooms

and the equipment used in the preparation

and mixing of intravenous medications.
. Hospitals do not always follow best prac-

tices for medication administration. From
2OL2to 2018, hospitals in Ontario reported to
the Canadian Institute for Health Information
154 critical patient safety incidents involving
administration of medications. Thirty-nine of
these incidents resulted in a patient's death.

We found that three of the hospitals we vis-

ited did not always complywith best practices

for the administration of high-risk medica-

tions, such as using an independent double-
check to verify medication and dosage,

witnessing patients taking and swallowing
medications, or confirming the identities of
patients. Our expert told us that not following
these best practices increases the likelihood
ofpatient harm and/or death.

. Hospitals do not always followbest prac-
tices for nursing shift changes that could
reduce the risk of medication errors. We

found that six out of the 13 hospitals we

visited did not always follow patient safety

best practices for nursing shift changes,

630
which recommends, if possible, conducting
shift changes at the patient's bedside and

involving the patient and the family (with the
consent ofthe patient) in the process. In this

way, the patient and/or family can identify
any missing information or miscommunica-
tion between the nurses during shift change

that could, for example, lead to medication

administration errors causing patient harm.
r Hospital staff may not be washing their

hands as frequently as reported. Although
in 20IB / 79, hand-washing compliance before

patient contact and after patient contact

reported by hospitals was about 90o/o and

93010, respectively, we found that these

results may be inflated due to the way they
are observed and recorded. One hospital

study found that hospital staff washed their
hands 2.5 times more oftenwhen theysaw

an auditor observing and recording their
hand-washing rate than when an auditor was

not identifiable. Another study found that
while the hand-washing compliance rate as

observed by the auditor was 84ol0, the rate

as observed by covert observation auditors
was actually 500/0. Hospital-acquired infec-

tions such as C. dfficile are commonly spread

via the hands of health-care workers. One

hospital estimated that patients who acquired

C. dfficilewhile in its hospital required addi-
tional ffeatment costing an average of $9,000
per patient, or $1.6 million overall. In the past

five years, 12,208 hospital-acquiredC. dif-

ficile infections were reported in Ontario, an

average ofabout 2,44Opeople eachyear. This

suggests the additional treatment costs to the
provincial health-care system as a result of
these infections are substantial.

This report contains 22 recommendations,

with 38 action items, to address our audit findings.
Appendix S lists our recommendations, and shows

the stakeholders they are addressed to.



Overall Conclusion

Our audit concluded that the hospitals we visited

have effective processes in place to investigate

and learn from patient safety incidents' However,

the Ministry and hospitals are not doing all that

could be done to improve patient safety. Nurses

that hospitals have found lack competence and

who have been terminated or banned are rehired

at other hospitals and/ot agencies and continue to

pose a risk to patient safery because confidentiality

about nurses'poor performance is put ahead of

patient safety. Hospitals are not able to quickly and

cost-effectively deal with physicians who hospitals

find lack competence and harm patients. Hospitals

do not always complywith some required patient

safety practices and standards. For example, staff

do not wash their hands as frequently as required,

which contributes to the spread of hospital-

acquired infections among patients, and best prac-

tices are not always followed when medications

are administered to patients and during nurse shift

changes, which contributes to medication admin-

istration errors. Hospital pharmacies also do not

fully complywith their or"m standards for the sterile

preparation and mixing of hazardous chemother-

apy and non-hazardous intravenous medications'

Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Arlnrinistration !f

surgery checklists, infection control and risk

631assessment.

Hospitals are also required to create and

share an annual Quality Improvement Plan that

provides measurable targets and have a Quality

Committee at the board level, making a strong

statement about the permanence of quality as

an organizational strate gy. Most importantly,

hospitals routinely undertake comprehensive

reviews of patient safety and critical incidents,

which is an important part of quality improve-

ment efforts in hospitals. While significant

foundational progress has been made, Ontario

hospitals recognize that there is still more to do.

The recommendations included in the

Auditor General's 2019 report provide an

opportunity for hospital leadership to reflect

on what's needed within their organizations to

further improve patient safety. In addition to

existing work, the OHA will continue to share

best practices, support hospital boards as they

work to identify areas of improvement within

their organizations, and work closely with the

Ministry of Health and other patient safety

stakeholder organizations as changes are made

to improve safety and quality system-wide'

The Ontario Hospital Association (OHA) appre-

ciates the Auditor General's work to enhance

patient safety. Patient safety remains the most

important priority for Ontario hospitals, and

every effort is made to ensure that patients and

clients receive the highest-quality care possible'

Over the past decade, Ontario hospitals

have been seeking to embed a culture of safety

and qualitywithin their organizations. Hos-

pitals have worked closely with Accreditation

Canada and others to implement best practices

on quality and safety. This includes making

required changes to high-priority areas like

organizational culture, incident disclosure

and management, medication reconciliation,

The Ministry of Health (Ministry) appreciates

the comprehensive audit conducted by the

Auditor General and welcomes the recommen-

dations in the report. The safety of Ontario's

patients is of utmost concern to the Ministry,

and it is committed to a safe and reliable pub-

licly funded hospital system'

The safety of Ontario's patients is a respon-

sibility shared by providers, organizations,

health system associations and the Minisry.

Although the Ministry recognizes that there

continues to be a need for improvements, steps

have been taken to strengthen patient safety in

health-care institutions across the province.



@
Ontario Health has a clear mandate to pro-

vide leadership on patient safery through the
public reporting ofpatient safety data and the
development of clinical and quality standards
for patient care and safety.

Key investments in quality improvement
have also led to the delivery of safer, more
reliable care in hospitals across the province.
For instance, the Ministry has supported the
implementation of the National Surgical euality
Improvement Program-Ontario.

Ontario hospitals that participated in the
program reported better outcomes, shorter
patient hospital stays and fewer surgical com-
plications. As of March 2019, the province saw a
27 0/o redtcnon in post-surgical infections among
participating hospitals. This program also led
to a 510/o reduction in the rate of post-surgical
urinary tract infections.

Performance on key patient safety indicators
has also improved. According to 20I7/LB data
published by the Canadian Institute for Health
Information, Ontario performs as well or better
than the Canadian average on obstetric trauma,
worsened pressure ulcers in long-term care,
falls in the last 30 days in long-term care, and
potentially inappropriate medication prescribed
to seniors.

632
The Ministrywill continue to identifyoppor-

tunities for improvement in partnership with
front-line providers and support institutions
across the province as theywork to deliver safe
and reliable to care.

2.1, 0verview of Hospital
Patient Safety

Patient safety practices are the set ofpolicies and
procedures hospitals have in place to reduce the
risk of patient harm. Incidents of patient harm can
be organized into the four types listed in Figure l.

2.1.1 Hospital Patient Harm Statistics

Canada

Conducted in 2OO 4, the C anadian Advers e Ev ents
Study remains the most comprehensive study of
patient safety in Canada to date. This founda-
tional study of patient safety across 20 hospitals
in Canada, four of which are located in Ontario,
found thar7.So/o (182500) of all (2.5 million)
hospital patients admitted annually to hospitals in
Canada were unintentionally harmed by the care

2.0 Background

Fisure 1: FourTypes of Patient Harm lncidents and Examples of Each
Source of data: Canadian lnstitute for Health lnformation and Canadian patient Safety lnstitute

Type Example
7. Health-Cary'Medication-Related Incidents

Harm related to general care provided andlor medication administered
during a hospital stay.

A nurse administers the wrong medication to
a patient.

2. Hospital-Acquired lnfections
lnfections acquired during a hospital stay, including those related to or
following a medical or surgical procedure.

A patient acquires a blood infection while
receiving medication intravenously (directly
into the vein).

3. Patient Accidents

ln-hospital injuries (e.g., fractures, dislocations, burns) due to an accident,
not directly related to medical or surgical procedures.

An elderly patient slips and falls in the
hallway, resulting in a hip fracture.

4. Procedure-Related lncidents
Surgical and medical procedure errors and abnormal reactions to or

A sponge or instrument is mistakenly left
inside the patient following a surgery.

complications from, surgical or medical procedures.



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug At
| - :.-: ^r-^+i^ n rq

Figure 2: Hospital Patient Harm Rate in lnternational

J u risdictions and Canada

Prepared by the office of the Auditor General of ontario

United States 7.7 2013

United States 13.5 2010

Spain 8.4 2006

Australia 8.3 2006

Canada 7.5 2004

they received in hospitals. The result for these

patients was longer hospital stays and, in some

cases, disability. The study also found that in one

year, benareen 9,000 and 24,000 deaths caused by

patient safety incidents could have been prevented'

A more recent 2016 study, MeasuringPatient Harm

inCansdianHospitals, found that on any given

day, more than 1,600 hospital beds across Canada

are occupied by a patient who suffered harm that

extended their hospital stay. As seen in Figure 2,

Canada's patient harm rate is similar to the rates

reported in other international jurisdictions, such

as the United States, Australia and Spain.

0ntario

Between April 2014 and March 20L8, Ontario

acute-care hospitals reported to the Canadian

Institute for Health Information, a not-for-profit

organization that provides essential information

on Canada's health systems and the health of

Canadians, almost 27O,OOO individual prevent-

able patient harm incidents. One of the most

common types of incidents is infections. In

Figures 3 and 4 we compare Ontario's results to

the other provinces' and territories'results for the

years2014/15-2016/77. Figure 3 compares the

average number ofhospital discharges per year

with at least one occurrence of patient harm, and

Figure 4 shows the annual rate of occurrences of

patient harm per L00 hospital discharges.

Ontario has the highest average number of dis-

charges and the highest average number ofdischar-

633
ges with at least one occurrence of harm in Uanaoa.

Comparatively, the province's 5.80/o rate of hospital

harm is the second-highest in Canada.

2.1.2 Hospital Patient Safety Governance

Structure

Ontario hospitals are corpomtions accountable to

their own boards and directly responsible for their

oil/n day-to-day management. Under the Excellent

Carefor AllAct, 2070 (Act), hospitals are required to:

r establish a service quality committee of the

board, responsible for monitoring and report-

ing to the board on the overall quality of

services and safety of care provided;

r develop annual quality improvement plans,

which outline how a hospitalwill improve the

quality of care it provides in the coming year;

. conduct regular surveys of patients and staff

to assess patient safety and quality of care

culture; and

r investigate all patient safety incidents and

take steps to prevent similar incidents from

occurring in the future.

Governance

Under the Public Hospitals Act, L990 , and the Fsccel-

lent C are for All Act, 207 0, hospitals must establish

governance and reporting structures to monitor and

address patient safety concerns. Appendix 1 shows

an example ofthe governance structure and required

committees for Ontario hospitals, and describes their

key responsibilities.

Depending on the hospital's size, the complexity

ofoffered care services and the hospital's resources,

hospitals could establish additional internal sub-

committees and working groups to address patient

safety issues.

Each hospital is required to enter into a Service

Accountability Agreement with its Local Health

Integration Nenarork. This agreement outlines

a hospital's accountability and performance

expectations and includes measurement and

Patient Harm

Rate (%)

Year Study

PublishedGountry



@ 634
Fi$ure 3: Provincial and Territorial Average Acute-Care Hospital Discharges perYearwith at Least 0ne Occurrence

of Harm, 20L4 / L5-20t6 / t7
Source of data: Canadian lnstitute for Heahh lnformation

Average # of
Discharges perYear

Average # of Discharges
per Year with at Least

1 0ccurence of Harm

Rate of Discharges with
Harm (o/o)Province/Terrltory*

Nova Scotia 89,458 5,770 6.5

0ntario 1,150,194 66,951 5.8

Newfoundland and Labrador 52,165 2,867 5.5

Manitoba 125,868 6,554 5.2

British Columbia 4t2,049 21,033 5.1

New Brunswick 80,817 4,133 5.1

Alberta 384,487 18,666 4.9

Prince Edward lsland t4,243 579 4.t
Saskatchewan 134,338 4,798 3.6

Yukon 3,170 100 3.2

Northwest Tenitories 4,804 L1.t 2.3

Nunavut 7,754 34 1.9

* Data from Quebec is excluded due to methodological issues.

Figure 4: Provincial and Territorial Annual Rate of 0ccurrences of Harm per 100 Acute-Care Hospital Discharges,

2014/t5-2016/17
Source of data: Canadian lnstitute for Health lnformation

a 2Qt4-20t5
s* 2015-2016

2016-2017

7

6

5

4

3

2

0
NS ON MB NL NB

* Patient harm data is not available for Nunavut for 2016/17.

SK YT NT NU*AB BC PE



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safeiy ancl Drug ^ r---l--a^r--*l^* \r
635

evaluation requirements for the health services

that it provides. On February 26,20119, the Ontario

Minister of Health announced the creation of a

central agency called Ontario Health to oversee

the province's health-care system. The 14 Local

Health Integration Networks and six provincial

health agencies, including Cancer Care Ontario and

eHealth Ontario, will be integrated into Ontario

Health. Transition to Ontario Health began in

spring 2079 andwill continue until full integration

is reached. In this report, our recommendations are

addressed to the Ministry of Health. Ontario Health

may take on responsibility for implementation of

these recommendations in the near future.

2.1.3 Patient Safety Standards and

Best Practices

To support the overall objective of promoting

patient safety and preventing patient harm,

hospitals follow patient safety standards and best

practices developed by several different federal,

provincial and not-for-profit organizations. Some

standards and best practices pertain to specific

areas ofcare, such as surgery, or to specific depart-

ments within the hospital, such as the hospital

pharmacy. Other risk areas pertain to the hospital

as a whole, such as infection prevention and con-

trol. These risk-specific standards and best practices

are shown inAppendix 2. Other legislated require-

ments applyto the hospital as a whole, such as

establishing a quality committee to monitor the

overall quality of services provided, and surveying

staff and patients with respect to the quality of care'

These organization-wide requirements are shown

inAppendix 3.

One of the main organizations that promotes

patient safety best practices is Accreditation

Canada. Every four years, this non-governmental,

not-for-profit organization visits and accredits all

741 (I23 acute-care) hospitals in Ontario, as well

as other health-care facilities, against national stan-

dards. The visits are conducted to assess hospitals'

compliance with all applicable standards and the

required practices in six patient safety areas.'I-he

required practices in these six patient safety areas

are summarized in APPendix 4.

Depending on the size and complexity of the

hospital, Accreditation Canada's on-site visit at

an Ontario hospital may last from two to six days,

with an average visit of four days. During the visit,

surveyors use direct observation and interaction

with patients, families and health-care providers to

gather evidence about the quality and safety of care

and services.

In Appendix 5, we list other key organizations

involved in setting and promoting patient safety

best practices and standards.

2.1.4 Reporting 0n Hospital Patient Harm

Hospitals report various patient safety statistics

to different organizations, both government and

not-for-profit. Some of the reporting is mandatory,

whereas other information is reported voluntarily'

Figure 5 lists the mandatory reporting of patient

safety information by hospitals. Figure 6 lists the

voluntary reporting of patient safety information

by hospitals.

2.1.5 Nurses Deliver Most Hospital

Patient Care

About 182,000 nurses provide care in Ontario, of

whom about 89,000 work in hospitals (74,000 in

acute-care hospitals). Nurses comprise the largest

single component of hospital staff and provide

hands-on care to patients at their bedside by admin-

istering medications, managing intravenous lines,

observing and monitoring patients' conditions and

behaviour, maintaining patient records and com-

municating with other members of the health-care

team.

Most nurses are employees of the hospital. How-

ever, at times of nurse shortages' some hospitals

recruit additional temporary nurses from external

agencies. These nurses are not employees ofthe

hospital, and the hospital pays the agencies for the



@
Figure 5: Mandatory Reporting of Patient Safety Information by Hospitals
Prepared by the 0ffice of the Auditor ceneral of ontario

636
Reported To lnformation ReportedRequlred By

Ministry of
Health/Health

Quality 0ntario

Public Hospitals Act,

1990 (Regulation 965)
Publicly Reportable Patient Safety lndicators
. Hospital-acquved Clostridi u m diffici le rale
. Rate of ventilator-associated pneumonia
. GentraFline infection rate
. Rate of hospital-acq uired Methicill in-resistant Sta phylococcus

aureus bacteremia
. Va ncomycin+esistant Enterococci inf ection rate
. Hospital Standardized Mortality Ratio: actual deaths compared to

expected deaths
. Surgical Site lnfection Prevention for hip and knee joint

replacement surgeries
. Hand Hygiene Compliance
. Surgical Checklist Compliance

Local Health

lntegration Network/
Ministry of Health

Hospital Seruice

Accountability Agreement
Contractual Performance 0bligations
. Hospital-acq uued C I ostri d i u m d i ff i ci le rale
. Hospital Standardized Mortality Ratio
. Rate of ventilator-associated pneumonia
. CentraFline infection rate
. Rate of hospitaFacquired Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus

aureusbacleremia

Health Quality
0ntario

Excellent Care for All
Act,2010

Quality lmprovement Plans (QlPs)

Annual plans include mandatory, recommended and other
indicators, including:
. workplace violence incidents
. medication reconciliation at discharge
. medication reconciliation at admission
. physical restraints in mental health
. antimicrobial-free days

Local Health

lntegration Network/
Ministry of Health

Hospital Seruice

Accountability Agreement
Quality-Based Procedures
. Cataract surgery complications
. Mortality rate from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
. Mortality rate and hospital readmission associated with congestive

heart failure
. Post-hip fracture surgery refractures and mortality rate
. Post-hip/knee replacement readmission and moralig rate
. Stroke patient rate of readmission

Public Health Ontario Health Protection and
Promotion Act, 1990

Hospital lnfections

Statistics on various infections

Health Canada Bill C-12 Protecting

Canadians from
Unsafe Drugs Act
(Vanessa's Law)

Drug Reactions

Serious adverse drug reaction (e.g., allergies) that involves a therapeutic
product, or a medical device incident that involves a therapeutic product

Canadian lnstitute for Ministry of
Healthlnformation Healthdirective

Critical I ncident Reporting

Medication and intravenous errors that result in death or serious harm

Canadian lnstitute for Public Hospitals Act,
Health lnformation 1990

HospitalHarm

Reported as part of Discharge Abstract Database. Number of occurrences
of patient harm-31 types of harm (infections, bed sores, objecb left inside
patients, etc.)



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Adnrinistration If

637
Figure 6: Voluntary Reporting of Patient safe$ lnformation by Hospitals

Prepared by the Office of the Auditor General of ontario

Desglption (Current Reportin$)Report To

American College of Surgeons and

Health Quality 0ntario

National Surgical Quality lmprovement Pro$ra m-0ntario*

Surgical safety: Statistics on su

the patient, Post-operative com

rgical problems such as site infections, leaving items inside

plications and death and othersurgery+elated incidents

lnstitute for Safe Medication

Practices Canada Medication incidents

Canadian Medication Incident Reportin$ and Prcvention System

Canadian lnstitute for

Health lnformation

National System for lncident Reporting

Medication and radiation treatment incidents

Healthcare lnsurance ReciProcal

of Canada

lncidents Resulting in Litigati0n

As hospital's insurance provider, has access to incident cases. Develops and distributes

risk mitisation strates/ plans

Canadian Patient Safety

lnstitute (CPSI)

Patient SafetY lncidents

Hospitals may share patient safety incident information with the CPSI so they can develop

best practices and other documents

* The program is made up of 46 0ntario hospital sites representing up to 80% of all adult surgeries in the province.

hours worked by the agency nurses. Nursing agen-

cies are unregulated, and many agencies operate in

Ontario. lr-2O1l7 (the latest available information),

they employed about 4,600 nurses.

Personal support workers also provide hands-

on care to hospital patients; however, this care is

restricted to assisting patients with activities of

daily living such as feeding, changing, bathing

and mobility assistance. Under specific conditions,

personal support workers are allowed to administer

medications, but the procedure must be delegated

and overseen by a nurse and,/or be a routine activ-

ity for the patient.

2.L.6 College of Nurses of Ontario

Nurses working in Ontario must be registered

by the College of Nurses of Ontario. The College

regulates the nursing profession in Ontario and

is responsible for disciplining nurses who are

found to have committed an act of professional

misconduct. Between 2014 and 2018, the College

revoked the licences of 37 nurses' The College

maintains a publicly available database that con-

tains disciplinary decisions posted by the College

and information self-reported by nurses, such as

their place of emPloYment.

2.L.7 Physicians

There are about 32000 physicians in Ontario' To

practise medicine in Ontario, physicians must be

members of the College of Physicians and Sur-

geons of Ontario, which regulates the practice of

medicine to protect and serve the public interest'

In a hospital, physicians are generally responsible

for diagnosing diseases and health conditions,

prescribing medication, performing medical

procedures, including surgeries, and monitoring

patients'health. Physicians report to the hospital's

Chief of Staff. Hospitals consider physicians to be

independent contractors, and grant them hospital

privileges that give them the right to use hospital

facilities and equipment to treat patients, without

being hospital employees. Ahospital's Board of

Directors is responsible for appointing, disciplining

and terminating PhYsicians.



3.0 Audit Objective and Scope

@

The objective of our audit was to assess whether
acute-care hospitals achieve patient safety by:

I ensuring that staffhave processes in place
that support the safe and appropriate use of
equipment, procedures and medication in
delivering medical care to patients;

r implementing effective processes and systems
to identify and reduce the risk of patient
harm; and

r identifying, reporting and responding to
incidents of patient harm (including learning
from past incidents and taking steps to pre-
vent them from recurring).

In planning for our work, we identified the audit
criteria (see Appendix 6) we would use to address
our audit objective. These criteria were established
based on a review of applicable legislation, policies
and procedures, internal and external studies, and
best practices. Senior management at the Ministry
of Health and the hospitals we visited reviewed and
agreed with the suitability of our objectives and
associated criteria.

We conducted our audit between Decem-
ber 2018 and September 2OL9.We obtained writ-
ten representation from the Ministry of Health
(Ministry) and hospital management that, effective
November 74,2019, theyhad provided us with
all the information they were aware of that could
significantly affect the findings or the conclusions
of this report.

Our audit workwas conducted at hospitals of
various sizes in regions across the province. See

Appendix 7 for alist of the hospitals we visited as

part of the audit, and the areas of the hospitals we
focused on during the visits.

To gain a fuller perspective of patient safety,
we also consulted with many stakeholders, and
reviewed relevantjournals, reports and other
related documentation. In addition to visiting the
hospitals described above, our audit team:

638
. interviewed relevant stakeholder groups,

including Public Health Ontario, Health eual-
ity Ontario, the Canadian patient Safety Insti-
tute, the Institute for Safe Medication practices

Canada, the Ontario Nurses Association, the
Ontario Hospital Association, the patient

Ombudsman and Accreditation Canada;
. met with Dr. Ross Baker, lead researcher of

the landmark 2OO4 Canadian Adverse Events
Study: the incidence of adverse events among
ho spital p atients in Canada;

. met with the Deputy Chief Coroner of
Ontario, Dr. Reuven Jhirad, to discuss prov-
incial perspectives and statistics on deaths
resulting from patient harm incidents;

r performed multiple walkthroughs at one
Toronto-area hospital and at two peel-area

hospitals to gain an understanding of relevant
hospital departments and processes in advance
of our fieldwork;

o reviewed many patient safety journal articles
and research papers from severaljurisdic-
tions, including Canada, the United States
and the United Kingdom;

. reviewed all publicly available statistics on
patient harm in Ontario and co-ordinated a
request through the Canadian Institute for
Health Information for additional non-public
statistics; and

r obtained and reviewed the most recent safety
reports from all Ontario hospitals, including:
. hospital accreditation (assessment against

required patient safety practices) ;
r patient safety staffsurvey (stafffeedback

on how safe the care is at their hospital);
r risk assessment (high-risk areas based on

liabiliry claims against the hospital);
. hospital pharmacy inspection (annual

assessment against standards); and
r other third-party assessments of hospital

laboratories, medical testing facilities and
medical equipment sterilization facilities.



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety ancl Drug Aclnrinistration \f

During our hospitals visits, we reviewed patient

files, medication documentation, hospital policies,

incident investigation files, human resource files,

and board and committee meeting minutes. Our

audit work on nurses related to only the nine hos-

pitals we visited with respect to human resources.

We also engaged a consultant with expertise in the

field of medication safety and nursing patient safety

best practices to assist us on this audit.

Our audit focused on five areas relating to patient

safery as shown in Figure 7. Our findings address

these areas.

4.1 Focus on Patient Safe$ Not
Consistent between HosPitals

As defined by the World Health Organization,

"qualify of care" is "the extent to which health-care

services provided to individuals and patient popula-

tions improve desired health outcomes. In order

to achieve this, health care must be safe, effective,

timely, efficient, equitable and people-centred."

Patient safety is therefore included as a dimension

in quality of care.

We found that "patient safety''is not explicitly

stated in the mission, vision and core values for

most hospitals that we visited in a way that would

foreground the phrase as the foundation for the

organizational culture of these hospitals.

We expected that patient safety and quality of

care would be one of the key priorities that would

be clearly stated in each hospital's mission, vision

and core values. However, when we reviewed the

mission, vision and core values of the 13 hospitals

we audited, we found that not all of them made

a clear and direct reference to patient safety and

quality of care. The other hospitals mention qualiry

excellence and compassion-but not specifi cally

patient safety.

We also found that Ontario hospital survey

results show that staff ratings on overall patient

639

safety at hospitals vary significantly, from excellent

to poor and failing.

4.1.1 Staff Survey Results Show Patient

Safety Culture at Different Hospitals Varies

from Excellent to Poor

According to the Canadian Patient Safety Institute,

workplace culture influences patient safety both

directlyby determining accepted practice and

indirectly by acting as a barrier or enabler to the

adoption of behaviours that promote patient safety.

Under the Excellent Care for AII Act, 2070 , hospi-

tals are required to survey staff and patients with

respect to the quality and safety of care provided at

the hospital. As part of their four-year accreditation

cycle, hospitals use the mandatory patient safety

culture survey provided by Accreditation Canada.

We obtained the most recent surveys results

from all 123 acute-care hospitals in Ontario,

completed between iot+ and,2o79, andfound

that as many as nine in 10 staff at some hospitals

graded their hospital as "very good" or "excellent"

with respect to patient safety. However, at other

hospitals, as many as one in three staff graded their

hospital as "poor" or "failing."

Figure S lists the five hospitals where staff gave

the best overall assessment of patient safety culture

at their hospital and the five hospitals with the high-

est proportion of surveyed staff who graded their

hospital as poor or failing with respect to patient

safety. The five hospitals with the best overall

patient safety culture were all smaller hospitals with

less than 250 surveyed staff. Figure 9 shows five

large hospitals (those w itt' 499 or more surveyed

staff) with the best overall staff assessment of

patient safety. In Appendix 9, we include the survey

results for all723 acute-care hospitals.

4.0 Detailed Audit
0bservations



@
640Figure 7: Five Patient Safety Areas of Audit Focus

Prepared by the ofiice of the Auditor General of ontario

Quality

Safety culture and communication
(Section 4.1)

External hospital accreditation
(Section 4.4)

Hospital overcrowding
(Section 4.10)

Human Resources

Nurse performance
(Section 4.2)

Physician performance
(Section 4.3)

Patient Safety Medication Administration

Medication administration
(Section 4.5)

Medication dispensing systems
(Section 4.6)

lnfection Prevention

lnfection prevention
(Section 4.7)

Surgical instruments
(Section 4.9)

Figure 8: Five Acute-Gare Hospitals with Best 0verall and Worst Overall Patient Safeg Culture Staff Survey
Results, 2014-2019
Source of data: 0ntario Hospitals

Best

Services de Sant6 de Chapleau Health Services 2016

2016 82

74

Hanover and District Hospital 20L7 113

St. Francis Memorial Hospital

Renfrew Victoria Hospital 2017 228

HOpital NotreDame Hospital 20t7 60

Worst

Brant Community Healthcare System 2017

London Health Sciences Centre 2016 502

Southlake Regional Health Centre 20t4 503

Joseph Brant Hospital 2078 530

Humber River Hospital

3

3

2

2

3

33

24

22

15

8

16

t4

18

39

38

34

42

89

81

84

80

28462

38

42

36

82

Pharmacy

Cleaning and sterile
medication mixing
(Section 4.8)

Survey #ofStaff
Year Surveyedllospltal

Overall Grade on Patlent Safety {o/o}

Note: Survey results based on staff perceptions at a point in time.

2016 995 4T 38 2I



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Administration \r
Figure 9: Five Large Acute-Care Hospitals with Best Overall Patient Safety Culture Staff Survey Results,

2014-2019
Source of data: ontario Hospitals

Woodstock Hospital 2076 499 70 26 4 100

641

Survey #ofStaff
Year SurveyedHospital

0verall Grade on Patient Safety (%)

The Hospital For Sick Children 20t6 2,014 70 27 3 100

Sinai Health System 2015 75t 68 29 3 100

University of Ottawa Heart lnstitute 20L7 658 66 30 4 100

Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre 20L6 r,434 66 30 4 100

RECOMMENDATION 1

Note: Survey results based on staff perceptions at a point in time.

To further emphasize patient safety as a founda-

tion for hospitals' organizational culture, we

recommend that hospitals explicitly incorporate

the words "patient safety''in their mission,

vision, and/or as one oftheircorevalues, and

communicate this to their staff, ensuring that

related actions demonstrate this emphasis.

Ontario hospitals are governed by independent

hospital boards, which provide guidance on

an organization's mission, vision and values.

Ontario hospitals will review this recommenda-

tion at the board level to determine whether

improvements are needed to elevate the culture

of safety within their organization.

4. 1.2 Patient Safety " Never-Events"

Occurred at Six Hospitals We Visited

In 2015, Health Quality Ontario (HQO) and the

Canadian Patient Safety Institute identified 15

patient safety "never-events," which are defined as

patient safety incidents that result in serious patient

harm or death and that are preventable using

organizational checks and balances. Identifying

and preventing these safety events was identified

as a priority by a patient safety consortium of more

than 50 Canadian health-care organizations in

2014. According to broad stakeholder consensus,

"never events" are preventable and should never

occur in hospitals. An organizational culture that

minimizes or eliminates never-events could foster a

reduction in other preventable patient harms.

Between the2015/76 and2OIB/79 fiscal years,

10 out of the L5 never-events occurred a total of

214 times in six of the 13 hospitals we visited that

tracked these incidents. Figure l0 describes the

never-events and their overall frequency of occur-

rence at these six hospitals. Data was not available

or never-events did not occur at the other seven

hospitals we visited. Figure 11 shows our compila-

tion and summary of the number of never-events

that occurred at each of the six hospitals we visited

where never-events occurred between 2O75/16 and

2018/79.

4.1.3 Patient Safety Never-Events Not

lncluded in Quality lmprovement Plans

and Hospitals Have Not Set Targets to

Eliminate Them

Preventing never-events has been identified by

Health Quality Ontario and the Canadian Patient

Safety Institute as a patient safety priority because

these incidents are preventable and can have ser-

ious consequences for patients. For instance, at one



@
Figure 10: Never-Events and Their Frequency of Occurrence at Six Visited Acute-Care Hospitals,

2015/I6-20L8/L9
Source of data: ontario Hospitals

642

Patient Safe$ Hever-Events Frequency

L Serious pressure ulcer acquired after admission to hospital tt1,
2. Patient under strict observation leaves a secured area without the knowledge of staff 26

3. Unintended foreign object left in a patient following a procedure 26

4. Wrong tissue, biological implant or blood product given to a patient 24
5. Patient suicide, or attempted suicide that resulted in serious harm, while a patient was under suicide

prevention watch
It

6. Surgery on the wrong body part or the wrong patient, or conducting the wrong surgical procedure 10

7. Patient death or serious harm due to a failure to inquire whether a patient has a known allergy to
medication, or due to administration of a medication where a patient's allergy was known

2

8. Patient death or serious harm as a result of failure to identify and treat metabolic disturbancesl 2

9. Patient death or serious harm as a result of one of five pharmaceutical events2 t
10. Patient death or serious harm as a result of transport of a frail patient, or patient with dementia, where

patient was left in an unsafe environment
t

Iotal

Note: lhe hospitals visited did not report any ofthese five never-events:

' patient death or serious harm arising from the use of improperly sterilized instruments or equipment provided by the health care facility;

' patient death or serious harm due to the administration of the wrong inhalation or insufflation gas;
. patient death or serious harm due to uncontrolled movement of a ferromagnetic object in an MRI area;
. patient death or serious harm due to an accidental burn; or
. infant abducted, or discharged to the wrong person.

1. lvetabolic disturbances are changes in the body's chemical processes that can cause serious lif+threatening health problems.

2. The five pharmaceutical never+vents:
. wrong-route administration of chemotherapy agents;
. intravenous administration of a concentrated potassium solution;
. inadvertent injection of epinephrine intended for topical use;

' overdose of hydromorphone by administration of a higher+oncentration solution than intended; and

' neuromuscular blockage without sedation, airway control and ventilation capability (this was the type of event which occuned at one of the hospitals we
visited (Hamilton); the patient was given the wrong drug and needed to be resuscitated).

hospital, a surgerywas performed on the wrong
knee, and in another hospital, a sponge was left
inside the patient after a surgery.

We found that none of the six hospitals set

targets in their Quality Improvement Plans to mini
mize or eliminate the occurrence of these events.

TWo other hospitals we visited included one of the
never-events-serious pressure ulcer acquired after
admission to hospital-in their Quality Improve-

ment Plans for 20lB/79. No never-events were

reported at these hospitals.

Figu re 1 1 : 0ccurrence of N ever-Events at Six Visited

Acute-Ca re Hospitals, 2015 / 16 -2018 / tg
Source of data: Ontario Hospitals

Hospital 1 7I
Hospital 2 66

Hospital 3 37

Hospital 4 18

Hospital 5 L7

Hospital 6 5

# of Never-fventsHospital

lotal .. 211



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Adnrinistration \f

4.L.4 Hospitals Not Required to Track and

Report Patient Safety Never- Events

We found that hospitals are not required to track

or report never-events to Health Quality Ontario or

the Ministry of Health. Such information could be

analyzedto determine the reasons for these events

in Ontario, the cost that these events add to the

health-care system and the systemic best practices

to adopt to avoid these events. For instance, one

hospital we audited (Humber River Hospital) esti-

mated that by reducing the occurrence of pressure

ulcers-including serious pressure ulcers, one of

the most common never-events-by about half,

the hospital could save between $1.8 million to

$3.7 million over two years.

We noted that hospitals in Saskatchewan and

Nova Scotia are required to track and report never-

events to their respective health ministries.

To determine and reduce the impact of never-

events on patient safery and the health-care sys-

tem, we recommend that the Ministry of Health:

. workwith internal and external partners to

leverage an existing system that can accumu-

late and trackhospital never-event data;

. upon implementation and rollout comple-

tion of this system, analyze the frequency of

never-events occurring at Ontario hospitals,

estimating their cost to the health-care sys-

tem; and

. partner with hospitals and best practice

organizations/stakeholder groups to develop

a plan to prevent them from happening.

The Ministry welcomes this recommendation

as it supports patient safety across the health

system. The Ministry will assess opportunities

to leverage existing data collection tools to sup-

port the capture ofhospital never-events and

identify evidence-based approaches to address

frequency of never events and assess the health-

care system cost imPacts.

To minimize the occurrence of serious prevent-

able patient safety incidents, we recommend

that hospitals:

r enhance patient safety practices to eliminate

the occurrence of never-events;

. set a formal target to eliminate the occur-

rence ofnever-events and include this target

in their Quality Improvement Plans; and

r track and report never-events to the Ministry

of Health.

Ontario hospitals are committed to enhancing

patient safetypractices and will workwith their

boards to determine whether never-events should

be added to future QualitylmprovementPlans.

4.1.5 Lessons Learned from Patient Safety

lncidents Are Not Shared between Hospitals

Und er the P ublic H o sp itals Act, L9 9 0, ho spitals are

required to investigate patient safety incidents

and take steps to prevent similar incidents from

occurring in the future. Overall, we found that the

hospitals we visited were committed to the object-

ive of learning from incidents occurring at their

own sites and improving the safety and quality of

patient care.

We noted that the Ontario Hospital Association

provides patient safety resources and facilitates

peer learning among its members, and that stake-

holder groups, such as the Institute for Safe Medi-

cation Practices Canada, issue safety bulletins to

flag new risk areas and identified best practices.

Currently, hospitals do not share lessons learned

from investigating specific patient safety incidents.

This increases the risk that a patient could experi-

ence an incident at Hospital A, and another Patient

could subsequently experience a similar incident

643
, nrcovilvtENDAT|0N 3

RECOMMENDATION 2



@
af a neighhorrring Hospital B. Hospital A does not
share lessons learned with Hospital B in order to
help prevent the same type of incident.

To bener enable hospitals to prevent similar
patient safety incidents, including never-events
from recurring at different hospitals, we recom-
mend that the Ministry of Health work with
the Ontario Hospital Association and applic-
able stakeholder groups to establish a forum
where hospitals can share their knowledge and
lessons learned from patient safety incident
investigations.

All health-care providers have a role in
improving patient safety. The Ministry of
Health supports this recommendation and will
work with the Ontario Hospital Association
and other health system partners like Ontario
Health, the Canadian Patient Safety Institute,
and the Canadian Medical Protecrive Associa-
tion to examine the feasibility of having a

shared knowledge platform for patient safety
incident investigations.

4.2 Some Nurses Found by
Hospitals to Lack Competence
Pose an 0ngoing Risk to
Patient Safety

Nursing is a profession that requires a high level of
trust. For most hospital patients, the nursing staff are

the main providers of direct care. Although the vast
majority of nurses provide safe care to their patients,

there are rare exceptions that can impact patient
safety. As nurses are the hospitals'frontline care-

givers, with responsibility for vulnerable patients,

including the old and the veryyoung, a lack of
competence in nurses can lead to serious harm. yet

the laws and regulations that protect nurses'profes-

sional status in these instances could limit hospitals'

644
ability to know when they arc hiring a nurse with a
history of serious professional incompetence and/ or
misconduct. These limitations are discussed further
in Section 4.2.2.

Recent events in Ontario demonstrate the risk
to patient safety when a health-care facility hires a
nurse without having access to their relevant work
history. A former nurse who between 2OO7 and 2074
killed eight of her long-term care patients was ter-
minated twice for poor performance, but long-term-
care facilities and nursing agencies kept rehiring
her. She was enabled to keep working and harming
her patients because the current system, a combina-
tion of laws, institutional practices and employer-

employee arrangements, protects the personal and
professional interests of health-care professionals.

If a hospital finds that a nurse's lack of com-
petence has caused a patient harm, as part of the
progressive disciplinary process the nurse would
first be provided with an opportunity to address

the competence issues by completing and passing

a learning plan. Only if the nurse fails to com-
plete the plan would the hospital then consider
termination. In some cases, the nurse would have
more than one chance to successfully complete the
learning plan. Hospitals and other organizations
that employ nurses are required to report all ter-

minated nurses to the College of Nurses of Ontario
when the termination is for reasons of professional
misconduct, incompetence or incapacity (for
example, intoxication).

We noted that some nurses found to lack compe-
tence and who have been terminated by hospitals
have been associated with repeated incidents
impacting patient safety. Hospitals that rehire them
are limited in the information regarding past poor
performance that they can obtain from the College
of Nurses of Ontario and from past employers.

RECOMMENDATION 4



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Administration \f

4.2.1 Hospitals We Visited Rehired Nurses

Terminated Elsewhere Who Continued t0

Show lneompetence

Although the great majority of nurses at the hospi-

tals that we visited have not faced any disciplinary

actions, the hospitals have terminated some nurses

for lack of competence andlor misconduct. As

mentioned in Section 2.1.5, there are about 74,OOO

nurses working in acute-care hospitals in Ontario.

Of more than 12000 nurses employed at the nine

hospitals where we conducted our work, we found

that 104 nurses were terminated for lack of compe-

tence and,/or inappropriate conduct over the past

seven years. Of these 104 nurses, we found 62 who

are still active and working (see Figure 12). The

remaining 42 no longer practise as nurses, are not

employed, have retired, work in another industry

or have let their licences lapse. We also obtained

from the three hospitals we visited that use agency

nurses the names of 82 agency nurses who were

banned from these hospitals.

We cross-referenced the names of the 62 termin-

ated nurses between the hospitals that we visited.

Eight of these nurses were subsequently rehired or

worked through an agency at one of the hospitals

we visited. The other 54 nurses continue to work as

nurses elsewhere. We found that two of the eight

nurses continued to harm patients and were again

terminated or banned for lack of competence. For

instance, one nurse made multiple errors, and

a hospital terminated her after finding that she

645

Figure !2:Testing of NurseTermination Cases Related to Competency and Practice lssues

Prepared by the Office of the Auditor General of ontario

+ The number of cases may be incomplete due to lack of tracking of these cases-most hospitals rely on manual processes and store information in hard copies'

104* nurses terminated due to
competency and/or inappropriate c0nduct

between 2013 and 2019'

62 nurses are working at various hospitals,

long-term-care homes, home-care and nursing

agencies and other health-care-related

facilities,

42 individuals no longer work as nurses.

54 nurses work at organizations that we did

not visit (other hospitals, long-term-care

homes, home-care and nursing agencies, and

other health-care-related facilities)' These

nurses were not tested to see if they

continued to have competency issues.

8 nurses moved between t hosPitals

we visited,

5 nurses had no further disciplinary
issues related to patient safety.

2 nurses continued to have competency

issues at their new jobs and were

terminated,

1 nurse was terminated for not disclosing

an active College of Nurses of 0ntario case

about texting a minor regarding narcotics.

some of which are archived'



@
646

82 agency nurses were banned from
the 3 hospitals that we visited that use
agency nurses.

75 banned nurse names did not appear on
one or more banned lists at the 3 hospitals
that we visited that use agency nurses.

7 banned agency nurse names appeared
on one or more banned lists at the
3 hospitals that we visited that use
agency nurses.

2 agency nurses were banned for
competency and practice issues.

5 agency nurses were banned; however,
a lack of information about these
nurses prevented us from knowing the
specific reasons why.

Flgure 13: Testing of Banned Agency Nurse Cases
Prepared by the office of the Auditor General of Ontario

lacked basic nursing skills and knowledge, as well
as critical thinking. This nurse then was hired by
another hospital after not disclosing that she was
terminated from the first hospital. The hospital
then noted that this nurse lacked critical thinking
skills, failed to recognize unsafe practices, failed
to recognize or respond appropriately to a serious
change in a patient's condition and lacked under-
standing of medication administration (including
insulin). This nurse was rhen terminated by the
second hospital. Currently, this nurse works as a
nurse at a long-term-care home.

We also cross-referenced the names of the
82 banned agencynurses (see Figure L3) from
the three hospitals that we visited that use agency
nurses. We found that the names of seven banned
agency nurses appeared on multiple lists orwere
terminated by the hospitals we visited, We found
that two of the seven banned agency nurses were
banned for lack of competence at multiple hospitals.
This illustrates thatwhen one hospital banned an
agency nurse, this did not prevent the nurse from
working at other hospitals, and this information was
not shared by the agencies or the hospitals involved.

Figure 14 presents our observations on the work
history of four nurses working at agencies or in a
long-term-care home who have been terminated or
banned by hospitals more than two times for lack of
competence but continue to work.

4.2.2 Li m ited I nformation Avaiia bie
to Prospective Employers 0f Nurses
lmpacts Their Ability to be Aware of Past
Performance lssues

We inquired why terminated nurses who continued
to show incompetence were able to be rehired,
either as employees or as agency nurses, by some

of the hospitals we visited. The College of Nurses of
Ontario informed us that the Regulated Heo.Ith pro-

fessions Actlimits the information it is able to share
with hospitals and any member of the public with
respect to nurses terminated and reported by other
hospitals to the College. Hospitals also informed us
that if they contact the College to obtain informa-
tion about a prospective nurse employee, they are

usuallyreferred to the nurse's public profile, which
does not have information on ongoing investigations



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Adnrinistratiot \![

Fif,ure 14: Work History Examples of NursesTerminated or Banned byAcute-Care Hospitals for Lack of

Competence Who Were StillWorking in Hospitals

Prepared by the office of the Auditor General of ontario

Nurse 1 (Agency) Fired (Hospital) May 2016 Medication administration and clinical decision-making

errors. Over four months, failed to complete and pass a

learning plan.

Banned (Agency) Dec 2018 Lack of critical thinking and knowledge gaps.

Fired (Hospital) Mar 2019 Medication administration errors. Lack of critical thinking and

knowledge gaps. Over three months, failed to complete a

learning plan

647

Nurse
(Current Employer)

Disclpllnary Action
(Employer) Date Cause forTermlnation/Bannlng

Nurse 2
(Longterm-care home)

Fired (Hospital) MaY 2016 Unsafe delivery of care and lack of basic nursing skills.

Fired (Hospital) SeP 2016 Unsafe delivery of care and lack of basic nursing skills'

Nurse 3x (Agency) Banned (Agency) Aug 2018 Medication administration errors.

Banned (Agency) Jan 2019 Medication administration errors'

Nurse 4* (Agency) Banned (Agency) Sep 2015 Medication administration errors.

Banned (Agency) Aug 2018 Practice issues (refused to help surgical patients resulting in

understaffing of the surgcal unit, which could lead to unsafe

delivery of care for surgical patient).

Note: Agency nurses are not hospital employees, and therefore hospitals cannot discipline them. lnstead, hospitals request that agencies not send them

specifiJnurses. The names of these nur..s ire tr..ked on informal lists that hospitals refer to as 'banned lists." Hospitals d0 not share these lists among

themselves, and therefore a nurse banned in one hospital could work in other hospitals.

Hospitals store very limited information on agency nurses, as most of the information, including formal documents, is kept at the staffing agency. As a result,

we ieviewed only ; list of agency nurses banned from the three hospitals that actively use agency nurses and the reasons for which these agency nurses were

placed on the banned lists. We did not review agency records.

* These nurses were banned by two different hospitals'

and may have incomplete information. Therefore,

when hospitals or agencies hire these nurses they do

not have access to a complete record of their poor

past emplolmrent history.

The College informed us that over the past five

years, on average, organizations that employ nurses

in Ontario have submitted to the College each year

about 730 reports about nurses'professional mis-

conduct, incompetence or incapacity (for example,

intoxication). About 350 of the reports submitted

each year (49o/o) pertain to nurses employed by

hospitals. The other S2o/ohavebeen submitted by

other organizations that employ nurses, such as

long-term-care homes.

Reports received by the College are individually

screened for risk and are responded to in one or

more ways, including meeting with the nurse,

providing a written notice directing the nurse to

take remedial action and, in some cases, initiating

a formal investigation. From 2OL4to 2018, between

260/o and 47o/o of allreports received in the year

resulted in a formal investigation. Depending on

the nature and/ or public risk of the reported issue,

some investigations can take months or even years

to resolve.

We found that the hospitals we visited reported

all of the 62 terminated nurses in our sample to

the College. As of July 3L,2OL9, there were no

records publicly posted by the College relating

to these nurses. There are several reasons why

issues reported to the College do not appear on a

nurse's public profile. For example, there may be an

ongoing investigation, as was the case for Nurse 1

in Figure 1.4, or the College may take another cor-

rective action, such as meeting with the nurse to

arrange remedial steps, as occurred with Nurse 2.



@ 648
In another example, one of the fired nurses

failed on three separate occasions to complete and
pass a learning plan; this nurse was found by the
hospital to be unfit to practise and lacking the abil-
ity to perform a nurse's responsibilities, after the
nurses was found to not know how to provide com-
petent care during childbirth. This nurse currently
works through an agency. The College of Nurses

informed us that it is investigating this incident
and assessing this nurse's competency gaps. How-
ever, none of this information is available online
for prospective employers, and throughout the
process, this nurse is able to continue working. We

checked this individual's College profile, and it only
indicated the timeline of their employment with no
mention of termination or any performance issues.

To enable nurses'prospective employers to
obtain a more complete record of nurses'

employment history and performance and make
well-informed hiring decisions, we recommend

that the Ministry of Health have the Ontario
Hospital Association work with the College of
Nurses of Ontario and other regulatory stake-

holders to:

r identifu Baps in the current information
available to prospective employers regarding
past performance issues and terminations;
and

r take steps to address gaps identified.

The Ministry of Health is working with the health
sector to address gaps in information-sharing

between colleges and health system partners.

As part of continuing to improve transpar-

ency and increase information-sharing between

employers and the health regulatory colleges,

the College of Nurses of Ontario (College) and
the Ministryhave worked to add information
about a nurse's employers from the past three
years on the College's public register so that

employers have a reliable way to obtain employ-
ment information about nurses.

The College has also worked to include all
current employers on the public register. Since

many nurses have more than one employer,

this will provide a more accurate picture of a
nurse's employment.

Work is currently under way to link
information in better ways. The College has

proactively partnered with nurse employers

to establish an Employer Reference Group to
identify areas to support employers'needs
relating to nursing regulation.

4.2.3 N u rses' Self-Reported Employment
History on the College of Nurses of Ontario
Public Database Not Complete

Nurses can be licensed and can practise in multiple
jurisdictions. However, we found that in Canada,

there is currently no centralized system to which all
provincial nursing regulatory bodies like the Col-

lege of Nurses of Ontario can report their disciplin-
ary actions. In the United States, regulatory bodies

from each state are required to report all their
disciplinary actions within 30 days to the National
Practitioner Data Banh a hospital-accessible data-

base operated by the federal government. Hospitals

in the United States can check whether nurses

they hire are listed in this database for disciplinary
actions. There is also a second public database

operated by the National Council of State Boards

of Nursing (NCSBN), which tracks disciplinary
actions from every state (except Michigan) and also

shows the jurisdictions where each nurse holds or
has held a licence. Hospitals from around the world
can check whether nurses they hire are listed in this
database for disciplinary action.

In Ontario, nurses are required to self-report to
the College of Nurses of Ontario any nursing licence
they hold in any otherjurisdiction, other profes-

sional designations they hold, their place(s) of
employment, whether they have been investigated

by a regulatory body for any misconduct in other

RECOMMENDATION 5



Acute-0are Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Adnlinistratio* f!|

jurisdictions and whether they have been convicted

of (or charged with) a crime.

We took a sample of 200 nurses from the

182,000 registered in Ontario and matched the

information found in the College database with

the US National Council of State Boards of Nursing

database and the Michigan Board of Nursing. Five

of the 200 nurses reported that Ontario was the

only place where they held a licence; however, we

found that these five nurses were also licensed in

other jurisdictions, such as Michigan. Another four

nurses reported that they held a licence in Ontario

and one US state, but we found that these four

nurses also held licences in at least one additional

state. The College's public profile for these nurses

therefore is incomplete.

For example, one Ontario hospital was unaware

of the work history of one nurse who we found was

involved in a number of errors relating to medica-

tion administration and delivery of patient care,

and who, on April 2,20\9, resigned in the midst

of disciplinary proceedings at the hospital. This

nurse previously had a licence revoked in 2018 in

Texas after the hospital filed a report to the nursing

board that the nurse was "lacking fitness to practice

nursing with reasonable skill and safety." This same

nurse was arrested in 2015 in Texas and pleaded

guilty to charges in January 2017. When the

Ontario hospital hired this nurse, it was unaware

of any of these things. Disclosure to the college of

registration of disciplinary actions in otherjurisdic-

tions remains a self-reporting duty for nurses.

Hospital and agency hiring decisions are mostly

based on information found in resumds. The Long-

Term Care Homes Public Inquiry found that nurse

Elizabeth Wettlaufer, who subsequently confessed

and was convicted in the deaths of eight patients'

did not include in her resum6 her employment at

Geraldton District Hospital in 1995, from which

she was fired for stealing narcotics for herself- Her

College of Nurses of Ontario public record was also

clean when on April 2I,2074, another employer,

a long-term-care home, conducted a search. This

employer found her acceptable and hired her. In

201,4, the College of Nurses would post only current

employer information on the nurse's profile. So,

even though the long-term-care home checked the

profile for the employee it was considering, it could

locate only the current employer: there was no

employment historY to be seen.

We have noted that the College tried to resolve

this issue before the public inquiry into the safety

of long-term-care residents in Ontario published

its report on July 31,2019.In March 2019, the Col-

lege changed the nurse profile template to show

not only a nurse's current employer, but a nurse's

employment history as well. However, the College

left it up to each individual nurse to update their

own employment history. Despite these changes,

we have noted that there are nurses in our sample

whose self-reported employment history on their

College profile omits hospitals where they were

terminated for patient safety reasons.

In order for hospitals that hire nurses to have

access to the complete record of nurses' past

places of employment and disciplinary history,

we recommend that hospitals:

I use the National Council of State Boards

of Nursing public database to determine

whether nurses they hire and employ have

faced disciplinary actions in the United

States; and

r if the hospital uses agency nurses, require

nursing agencies to confirm these nurses

have been screened through this database.

Ontario hospitals will review this recommenda-

tion and are committed to workingwith the

Ontario Hospital Association and the College of

Nurses of Ontario to identify opportunities to

enhance the information available to employers

in making hiring decisions.

649

RECOMMENDATION 6



REEOMMENDATION 7

@
650

To help ensure thatwhen hospitals hire nurses
they have access to their full disciplinary record,
we recommend that the Ministry of Health
request that the Ontario Hospital Association

and the College of Nurses of Ontario work
together with their provincial and territorial
counterparts to:
. explore a national system for provincial

and territorial nursing regulatory bodies to
report their disciplinary actions; and

. put in place an effective process that will
ensure that all places of past employ-

ment and disciplinary records from other
jurisdictions for each nurse are in its data-
base, including records from US nursing
databases.

The Regulated Heakh Professions Act, 1991,

requires every Ontario nurse to file a report
in writing with the Executive Director of the
College of Nurses of Ontario if there has been a

finding of professional misconduct or incompe-
tence made against the nurse by another body
that governs a profession iruide or outside of
Ontario unless doing so would violate a publica-
tion ban. The report must be filed as soon as rea-
sonably practical after the nurse receives notice
of the finding made against her or him. The
Ministrywill workwith the College of Nurses

of Ontario to ensure that this requirement is
communicated to nurses and will workwith the
College to explore best practices involving the
sharing of information between provincial and
territorial nursing regulators.

4.2.4 Nurses' Past Poor Performance Not
Shared with Potential New Employers

We found that the potential risk of civil legal
actions could prevent hospitals from disclosing a

complete employment historyrecord of a nurse to
their potential new employer. As a result, during
an employment reference check, hospitals may
not freely share with potential employers a nurse's

detailed work history record-for instance, that a
nurse lacked competence and failed to complete a
learning plan on several aftempts. Only information
about employment dates, hours worked and the role
the employee held or holds in the hospital is usually
shared with potential employers. Other important
performance information remains confidential.

We found that jurisdictions in the United Stares,

such as New Jersey, have specific legislation in
place that protects hospitals and other health-care
providers from liability associated with any civil
legal action for disclosing a complete and truthful
record about a current or former nurse to a pro-
spective employer.

This legislation was enacted after these jurisdic-
tions faced a similar situation to Elizabeth Wettlau-
fer's murders. After Charles Cullen was convicted of
murdering at least 29 patients in multiple facilities,
Iack of transparency and information-sharing
between health-care providers was identified as

a weakness in the system. As a response, in 2005,
New Jersey enacted this law to protect hospitals
from liability for providing honest job evaluations
and work histories to prospective employers.

Similar legislation does not exist in any Canadian
jurisdiction. We have noted as well that other US

states, such as Pennsylvania, North Carolina and
Texas, have similar laws that extend legal protection
to all employers and notjust health-care providers.

To better inform employers in their hiring deci-
sions and protect patients from the risk of harm,
we recommend that the Ministry of Health
assess for applicability in Ontario the actions
taken by US states to protect hospitals and other
health-care providers from liability associated

with any civil action for disclosing a complete
and truthful record about a current or former
nurse to a prospective employer.

RECOMMENDATION 8



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Adnrinistration \f

The Ministry will assess the actions taken by US

states and Canadian provinces to protect hos-

pitals and other health-care providers from any

civil action for disclosing a complete and truthful

record about a current or former nurse to a pro-

spective employer for applicability in Ontario.

4.2.5 Non-disclosu re Arrangements Ca n

Conceal Nurses' Poor Performance Records

from Potential EmPloYers

Almost all Ontario nurses are unionized, although

agency nurses are not unionized. A nurse facing

disciplinary action can approach his or her union

for help. The union would then represent the nurse

and try to negotiate with the hospital the most

favourable disciplinary outcome for the nurse. For

instance, the union could ask the hospital to treat

the termination as a resignation or negotiate a non-

disclosure arrangement; the nurse's disciplinary

history would then be kept hidden in the confiden-

tial records of the hospital the nurse has departed

from until the College of Nurses of Ontario com-

pletes its disciplinary investigation, if the College

chooses to undertake one.

We found that this practice can prevent hospitals

from knowing about a nurse's past performance to

use in their hiring decisions in order to minimize

potential harm to Patients.
For instance, on October 76,2078, one hospital

fired a nurse for a very serious breach of mandatory

patient care standards, which resulted in a patient

death. The union negotiated that the firing be

treated as a resignation, and this nurse currently

works for another hospital. The hospital that fired

this nurse reported the termination a few days

later to the College. However, as of July 37,2019,

this nurse's College public record was clean' As

explained in Section 4.2.2, there could be several

reasons why a reported nurse mayhave a clean Col-

lege public record.

In another case in October 20L5, another hospi-

tal terminated a nurse for texting a young patient,

treated by the nurse in the emergency department

about illegal substances, and reported the nurse to

the College. The union, however, neSotiated that

the termination be treated as a resignation' In Janu-

ary 2O77, after working for just over a year through

a nursing agency, the nurse was hired by another

hospital. Had the hospital that terminated the nurse

provided a truthful reference, the second hospital,

which hired the nurse, would have known that the

nurse falsely stated on the job application that they

had never been reported to the College and that

there was not a pending College investigation. The

second hospital terminated the nurse in Decem-

ber 2Ol7,about 11 months later, when it found out

that the College had suspended the nurse's licence

for three months after completing its disciplinary

process. This disciplinary process tookjust over two

years while the nurse continued to work.

In the interest ofpatient safety and in order for

hospitals and agencies to hire nurses fully aware

of their past employment and performance his-

tory we recommend that the Ministry of Health

explore means to:

. enable hospitals and agencies to provide and

receive truthful references and information

to make informed nursing hiring decisions;

and

. require these organizations to disclose such

information when it is requested by a pro-

spective employer.

\rVhile the recommendationpertains to labour

relations between the employer and unions, the

Regulated Heatth Profasioru Act, 1991, may have

a supportive role in enabling sharing of informa-

tionbetweenthe College of Nurses of Ontario

and employers. The Act provides a regulation that

permits the government to Prescribe purposes

651

RECOMMENDATION 9



@
for which disclosures can be made under clauses

36(1)(d.1) and (d.2) fromtheCollegeof Nurses
of Ontario to public hospitals or other n arned/
described persons of certain information stem-
ming from its investigations. The Ministrywill
examine this opportunity.

4.2.61n Most Cases l-lospitals Do Not
Conduct Periodic Criminal Record Checks of
Currently Employed Nurses

Our 2018 follow-up report found that only three
hospitals that we audited as part of our 2016 Large
Community Hospital Operations audit (Trillium
Health Partners, Windsor Regional Hospital and
Rouge Valley Health System) currently conduct, or
will soon start conducting, periodic criminal record
checks of their nurses. The other hospitals that we
visited as part of this audit do not. Our 2016 audit
of Large Community Hospital Operations found
that some hospitals did not conduct initial andl
or periodic background checks. We noted that the
Ontario Hospital Association produced a document
in July 2077 to guide hospitals when developing a
criminal reference check program or enhancing an
existing program.

So that hospitals can make optimally informed
hiring and staffing decisions, we recommend
that the Ministry of Health require all hospitals
in Ontario to:
I perform criminal record checks before hiring

nurses and other health-care employees; and
r periodically update checks for existing staff.

Under the Long-Term Care Homa Act and its
regulations, the Ministry outlines criminal
record check requirements for long-term-care
home employees. The Ministrywill explore the
possibility of similar requirements for hospital
employees.

4.3 Disciplining Physicians
ls Difficult and Costly-Legat
Costs Are lndirectly Subsidized
by Taxpayers

652

The Public Hospitak Act, 1990 (Act) governs import-
ant elements of the physician-hospital relationship.
In our 2016 audit of Large Community Hospital
Operations, we reported that hospitals were
not able to resolve human resources issues with
physicians quickly because of the comprehensive
legal process that the hospitals are required to
follow under the Act. We recommended that the
Ministry evaluate this problem. However, we found
that hospitals still are not able to quickly and cost-
effectively deal with physicians that hospitals find
may have practice issues, lack competence and may
pose patient safety concerns.

Once a competency and/or practice issue has
been identified, hospitals must work through a
lengthy process to determine whether the phys-
ician's privileges can be revoked, restricted or not
renewed. While the disciplinary process is ongoing,
physicians can continue to work, even at multiple
hospitals, unless the hospital puts an emergency
stop to a physician's work due to an immediate risk
to patient safety. As part of our audit, we reviewed
a sample of disciplinary proceedings to determine
their duration and cost to the hospitals. We present
our findings in Figure 15.

In defending themselves, physicians mostly do
not personally incur legal fees; rather, their legal
costs are indirectly paid by taxpayers through a lia-
bility insurance reimbursement program. Through
this program, the Ministry reimburses physicians
for enrolling either in the Canadian Medical
Protective Association, a not-for-profit association
that provides lawyers to represent physicians, or
in any other organization they choose to purchase
medical liability protection from. Disciplinary cases

can take several years and cost hospitals hundreds
of thousands of dollars in their own legal fees and
other costs.

RECOMMENDATION 10



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Adnrinistration I!!|

653Figure lb: Costs lncurred by Hospitals to Discipline Physicians and Duration of Process

Prepared by the office of the Auditor General of 0ntario

Physician 1- 3.5 562000 Privileges not

renewed

Multiple complaints about patient treatment and

misdiagnosis.

Duratlon of
Dlscipllnary
Process
(Years)

Cost

lncurred by

Hospital ($) Outcome CausePhysiclan

3 901,000 0ngoing Failed to disclose privileges not renewed at another

hospital. Numerous staff and patient complaints about

patient treatment incl uding patients in critica I condition

within the emergency dePartment.

1 145,000 0ngoing Between 2009 and 2019, numerous complaints about

patient treatment including refusal to treat a patient;

delayed diagnosis led to patient paralYsis.

Physician 2 4 310,000 Privileges revoked lnteracted with patients in an inappropriate manner.

Concerns due to prolonged absence from clinical work.

Physician 3 4.5 202,OOO Privileges restricted Hospital concerns that there were quality of care and

patient safety issues related to physician performing

complex surgical procedures. A review identified that the

physician committed serious errors in judgment during

three surgeries.

* One hospital did not renew physician l,s privileges. physician I is also involved in two separate ongoing disciplinary proceedings at two other hospitals'

We noted that in 2\76/17,the Ministryof Health

reimbursed physicians $256 million for costs of the

Medical Liability Protection Reimbursement Pro-

gram. In 2017/tl,the amount was $326.4 million,

anincrease of $70.4 million, or27.5o/o.

To enable hospitals to take timely action to

improve patient safety, we recommend that the

Ministry of Health explore means to make it
easier and less costly for hospitals and ultim-

ately the taxpayer to address physician human

resources issues, especially in cases when doc-

tors may have harmed patients.

When harm to a patient occurs, hospitals,

employers and health regulatory colleges have

mechanisms in place to address concerns and

to take action in a timely manner. Disciplinary

action against health-care providers is but one

way of preventing reoccurrence and is often an

extreme measure that is linked to risk of harm.

There are other less costly and more timelyways

of addressing concerns, which may include

mediation and alternative dispute mechanisms

among others.

Following the release of the 2019 Arbitration

Award regarding the dispute over physician com-

pensation between the provincial government

and the Ontario MedicalAssociation (OMA)'

the Ministry is committed to investigating the

recommendation from the Auditor General of

Ontario's 20L6 Large CommunityHospital Oper-

ations audit to review the physician appointment

and appeal processes for hospitals and phys-

icians under the Public Hospitals Act.

As part of this review, the Ministrywill also

explore opportunities to make it easier and less

costly for hospitals to address physician human

resource issues, especially in cases when doctors

may have harmed patients.

RECOMMENDATION 11



@
!,4 Hgspital Accreclitation Reports
Highlight Gaps in Compliance

4.4.1 Eighteen Hospitals Did Not Fulty
Comply with Five or More Required patient

Safety Practices

We obtained the most recentAccreditation Canada

report from 114 acute-care hospitals. Some of these
reports include the inspection and accreditation
results for more than one hospital. We found that,
between 2074 and2}79,78 hospitals did not com-
plywith five or more required practices that are

central to quality and patient safety. The required
six practice areas against which Accreditation
Canada assesses each hospital are listed in Appen-
dix 4. As shown in Figure 16,748 practices in the
six practice areas deemed central to the quality
and safety of care were not complied with at 18 out
of 71,4 hospitals. For example, in the area of risk
assessment, some hospitals did not have strategies
in place to help prevent patient falls and pressure

injuries, which increases the risk of these types
of patient harm. Other hospitals did not meet the
communication area required practice to ensure
that information is transferred when patients move
between care units within the hospital, increasing

654
the risk of unsafc transitions of care. If these practi-
ces are not complied with, a hospital is required to
submit evidence of corrective actions to Accredit-
ation Canada. We noted thatAccreditation Canada
conducts its visits every four years, so it is unknown
for how long prior to the visit hospitals did not have
these required practices in place.

4.4.213 Hospitals Did Not Meet between
5% and lLolo of High-Priority Patient
Safety Criteria

We found that L3 out of the L14 hospitals did not
meet between 5olo and !1% of their high-priority
patient safety criteria when assessed. Accreditation
Canada assesses each hospital against a number
of criteria that it uses to measure the hospital,s
compliance with standards that contribute to high-
qualiry safe and effectively managed care.

The number of applicable criteria varies
according to the size of the hospital and rhe range
and complexity of health services it provides.

For instance, about 700 high-priority criteria in
total could be used to assess a small rural hospital,
whereas 1,200 or more could be used to assess a
large hospital.

Figure 16: Unmet Required Practices in Six Patient Safety Areas at 18 Acute-Care Hospitals, 2}t4-2}tg
Source of data: ontario Hospitals

Safety Culture . Patient safety incident management
. Reporting and analysis of patient safety

4

Patient SafeSArea Examples of Required practices

lnstances of
Reguired Practices

Unmet

Effective Communication . Medication reconciliation as a strategic priority

. Use of two identifiers to identiry patients
78

Safe Use and Storage

of Medication

. lnfusion pumps training and safety 16

. Monitoring and responsible usage of antibiotic medication

Safe Environment . Management of patient flow to help prevent overcrowding in emergency
department

. Preventative maintenance program

5

lnfection Prevention . Hand hygiene compliance 3
Assessment of Patient

Safety Risks

. Falls prevention strategy

. Pressure ulcer prevention
42

Total

strate$/

148



Acute-Care Hospital Patient safety ancl DrLrg Adnrinistration I![

High-priority criteria relate to safety, ethics, risk

management and quality improvement, and have

an impact on patient safety. These criteria weigh

heavily in determining whether a hospital meets

the accreditation standards.

Figure 17 shows the number of unmet criteria at

each of the 13 hospitals, as well as some of the key

patient safety concerns identified by Accreditation

Canada. If high-priority criteria are not met' a

hospital is required to submit evidence of corrective

actions to Accreditation Canada.

4.4.3 Highest Rate of Patient Safety

Concerns with Medication Management and

Emergency Services

Accreditation Canada groups the various criteria

into two main categories of patient safety standards

against which it assesses hospitals' compliance:

r hospital-wide standards, which address

patient safety throughout the hospital-
these include governance, leadership,

infection-prevention-and-control medication

management; and

r service-specific standards, which apply to

specific services provided, such as the emer-

gency department and diagnostic imaging.

We found that as a group, the L14 hospitals

did not meet 1,7 07 high-priority criteria relating

to patient safety standards in the above two cat-

egories. Figure L8 shows the instances when the

114 hospitals did not complywith the hospital-wide

and service-specific standards that make up the

high-priority criteria. Most of the instances when

the 114 hospitals did not meet the criteria were in

the areas of medication management, leadership,

emergency department operations and reprocess-

ing of reusable medical devices, which are also

referred to in this report as "reusable surgical tools

and medical devices."

4.4.4 Prevention of Falls an 0ngoing Patient

Safety Concern

We found that all of the L3 hospitals we visited had

processes in place to assess patients who are admit-

ted to hospital for their risk of falling. Assessing this

risk is an important patient safety practice, since

a patient fall could result in a hip fracture, a head

injury, and in some cases, death.

Depending on a patient's identified risk of fall-

ing while in hospital, staff use additional measures

to reduce this risk, such as bed exit alarms, which

notify the nurse when a patient leaves the bed.

Hospitals informed us that although these addi

tional measures reduce the risk of patient falls,

patient falls can still occur. For example, even

when a hospital has a falls prevention process in

place, a patient could still choose to leave their bed

without notifying their nurse and be at increased

risk of falling.

To improve patient safety, we recommend that

the Ministry of Health:

. review the Accreditation Canada hospital

reports and identify areas where hospitals

may consistently not be meeting required

patient safety practices and high-priority

criteria; and

r follow up with hospitals in respect of prob-

lem areas to confirm that actions are taken to

correct deficiencies.

Patient safety is an important dimension of

qualrty. Ontario Health's mandate includes

holding health-care providers accountable for

health system performance and quality. Moving

forward, the Ministrywill request that Ontario

Health address this recommendation as part of

its mandate.

655

. RECOMMENDATION 12



@ 656
Figure 17: Unmet Hi$h-PriorityAccreditation Criteria at 13 Acute Ontario Hospitals
Source of data: ontario Hospitals

Hdpital NotreDame

Hospital

76 fl Dec 10,2015 . Medication storage and administration, including
chemotherapy storage and preparation

. Medical equipment stored in dirty areas

# of Unmet

Hlgh-Priod$
Criterla

o/o of All
Hlgh-Priodty Accreditation

Criterla Date Patlent Safety ConcemsHospital

Haliburton

Highlands Health

Services

39 10 May 28,2075 . No analysis or trends of patient safety incidens
. No action plans to prevent/reduce patient safety

incidents

Hornepayne

Community

Hospital

45 7 Nov 29,20L8 . No Quality Committee

. outdated safety plan

. Private rooms not secure and unsafe

Kirkland and

District Hospital

51 7 Jul20,20L6 . Separation of similar-sounding medication names

not consistently done

Lady Dunn Health

Centre

4T 6 Nov 30,2017 . Pressure ulcers (bedsores) prevention notformalized
and not tracked

. Lessons learned from patient safety investigations
not shared with frontline staff

St. Joseph's

General Hospital

Elliot Lake

60 6 0c123,20L7 . Lack of integrated Quality lmprovement plan

The Alexandra

Hospital

35 5 Sep 30, 2015 . High risk of contamination of sterilized medical
instru ments: decontami nation area not sufficiently
isolated from clean storage area

. No quality management program in place for
cleaning and sterilization of medical and surgical

tools

Riverside Health

Care Facilities

4t 5 Oct 23, 2015 . Chemotherapeutic intravenous medication storage

and preparation concerns

North Shore Health

Network

36 5 Jul 5,2018 . No patient safety benchmarks and set goals to
measure success toward targets

Englehart and

District Hospital

26 5 Jun 26, 2015 . Unsafe storage of medical supplies

Campbellford

Memorial Hospital

37 5 Dec 20,20t7 . Lack of proper area to clean medical equipment,
dirty equipment is washed next to sterile and clean
area

. Quality lmprovement Plan initiatives not
communicated to front{ine staff

North of Superior

Healthcare Group

42 5 Oct 4, 2016 No proactive approach to identiry risks to patient

safety in emergency department

No falls prevention strategy in place

4LMlCs Group of
Health Services

5 Mar 16, 2018 . Quality lmprovement Plan initiatives not
communicated to front-line staff

. No monitoring 0f patients who are receiving a new

dosage of narcotics or sedatives



AeLrte-Care HLrspital Pat!ent Safety anri tlrug Aclnrinistra:ticn f,fl

657
Figure 18: Total lnstances of Unmet Hi$h-Priority

Criteria al ll4 Ontafi o Acute-Care Hospitals,

20L4-20t9
Source of data: ontario Hospitals

Medication management

Leadership 127

lnfection prevention and control 51

Governance 120

Service-Specif ic $tandards*

Emergency dePartment 209

Reprocessing of reusable medical devices 173

Perioperative services and invasive 169
procedures

Medicine seruices 115

Diagnostic imaging seruices 110

Ambulatory care seruices 59

0bstetric services 72

Mental health services 50

ln-patient services 62

Critical care 45

Community-based mental health seruices 29
and supports

21 other service categories 135

Total tt707

* Not all services are provided by every hospital

4"5 Best Practices f1'lot

Always Foffawed fCIr

!Wedieaticn Admi nistratien

4"5"1 $*ospitals Not Always Foll*wing Best

Fra*tlees to Prevent Medleatie n-Related

Fati*nt $afetY Ineidents

According to the Canadian Patient Safety Institute,

more than 500/o of hospital patients have at least

one discrepancy between the medications they take

at home and those ordered for them on admission

to the hospital. Many of these discrepancies in the

medications patients are given have the potential to

harm them.

Medication reconciliation is a patient safety

best practice, to ensure that medications that were

added, changed or discontinued while a patient

was in a hospital are carefully evaluated against

the medication that the patient was already taking

at home. This reduces the possibility that medica-

tions the patient is on will be omitted, duplicated or

ordered incorrectlywhen the patient is admitted or

discharged from a hosPital.

For instance, two weeks before being admitted

to a hospital, a patient received from a family doc-

tor a prescription for a narcotic pain medication'

On discharge, the hospital prescribed the same nar-

cotic, but the patient now had access to and started

to take more than what was required. Shortly after

that, the patient was readmitted to the hospital for

a narcotic overdose.

Research by the Canadian Patient Safety

Institute indicates that medication reconciliation

is the most cost-effective way to prevent potential

medication-related patient safety incidents, which,

if not prevented, result in an average of $4,000

in additional health-care costs per incident and

endanger lives.

For 20I8/I9, Health Quality Ontario recom-

mended that hospitals focus on conducting medica-

tion reconciliation for patients that they discharge

and add this to their Quality Improvement Plans'

This is not a mandatory requirement, and only

78 hospitals included it in their 2OIB/19 Quality

Improvement Plans. Based on information reported

by these 78 hospitals to Health Quality Ontario, on

average they completed medication reconciliation

for only 76 outof every 100 patients where rec-

onciliation at discharge was required' This means

that, on average, about24out ofevery 100 patients

discharged from the hospital did not have a medica-

tion reconciliation completed at discharge'

Hospitals that we visited informed us that medi-

cation reconciliation is a labour-intensive process

and that is why sometimes they are not able to com-

plete all the required reconciliations. Reconciling

medication for patients who take a large number

of medications and purchase them from several

181

,Unmst

lnstances



@
658

pharmacies can take more than 24 hours, as the
hospital has to contact each pharmacy to compile
the patient's medication history.

We also found that some important information
was not recorded during the medication reconcilia-
tion process at each of the five hospitals we visited,
and that some lrospitals do nor report their compli_
ance rate because they have outdated computer
systems that do not allow them to track the compli_
ance rate.

We visited five hospitals to review their medica_
tion reconciliation process. Three of the hospitals
reporr their compliance rate to Health Quality
Ontario and two do not. The compliance rates at
discharge for the rhree reporting hospitals were
TOOo/o,95o/o and only 20o/o.

At each of the five hospitals, we reviewed
10 completed medication reconciliations to assess

howthey are performed and documented. We
found that each hospital documents the reconcilia_
tions differently, and at four of the five hospitals
we found at least one reconciliation that was mis-
sing some important information. In total, 20 out
of the 50 completed medication reconciliations
we reviewed were missing information such as
patients' medication history, medication dosage
and quantityprescribed on discharge, and the time
of the last dose taken. Without this information, on
release from hospital patients may not be instructed
to take their medication appropriately in order to
prevent harm.

So that hospitals fully complete medication
reconciliation to reduce the risk to discharged
patients and that they have all the necessary
patient information to properly investigate any
incidents with patients'dosages or drug inter-
actions that might occur and trigger hospital
readmission, we recommend that hospitals
reinforce with staff the imporrance of the medi-
cation reconciliation documentation processes
so that all the necessary information is consist-
ently documented.

Ontario hospitals support documentation of
medication reconciliation being consistently
more complete, comprehensive and accurate

To reduce the risk of medication errors and
readmissions to hospital, we recommend that
the Ministry of Health:
. require hospitals to complete medication

reconciliation for all patients;
. require hospitals to include medication

reconciliation in their euality Improvement
Plans; and

r in conjunction with relevant hospitals,
review their IT system needs to be able to
track necessary medication reconciliation
information and take action for improve-
mentwhere needed.

The Ministry of Health supports this recommen-
dation and will support:
. Ontario Health in reviewing and assessing

how medication errors are reported in hospi-
tals and explore ways to strengthen report-
ing mechanisms;

. Ontario Health in evaluating how to make
medication incident reporting within hospi-
tals part of their Qualitylmprovement plans;

and
r hospitals with their review of their IT

systems and help explore opportunities to
enhance tracking systems for medication
reconciliation.

4"5.2 Best Practices f0r Safe Administration
of Medication Not Consistenily Followed at
Some Hospitals

We found rhat some hospitals do not always comply
with policies and best practices for the administra-
tion of high-risk medications, such as using an

RECOMMENDATION 14

RECOMMENDATION 13



Acute-0are Hospital Patient Safety and Drug,Adnrinistration llf

FiSure 19: Reported Critical Patient Safety lncidents lnvolving Medication in All Ontario Hospitals 0ccurring

between October 2011 and December 2018
Source of data: Canadian lnstitute for Healthcare lnformation National System for lncident Reporting

659

Category 20t2r 20L3 2OL4 2015 2016 2Ol7 2018 Total %Total

Severe Harm 23 24 10 t2 61327 75115

10 7 4 7 5 0 6 2539
Death

Total 37 30 28 t7 t7 6

l. Year 20t2 includes data hospitals started to report in october 2011'

2. The rise in incidents in 201g is due to an increase both in incidents occurring in 2018 and in incidents that occurred earlier but were not reported until 2018'

100154192

independent double-check to verify medication

and dosage; witnessing patients taking and swal-

lowing medications; or confirming the identities of

patients.

According to the Canadian Institute for Health

Information, events associated with medication

are among the most frequent of all harmful events

possible in a hospital. Medication errors can be

classified into prescribing errors; dispensing

errors; and administration errors, when what the

patient actually received differs from what was

intended. Medication errors that are discovered

only after the patient has taken the medication

are rypically the most serious of the three types

of errors. The 2004 Canadian patient safety study

estimated that one out of nine adults will poten-

tially be given the wrong medication or wrong

medication dosage in hosPitals'

In 20L1, the Ministry of Health began requiring

hospitals to report patient safety incidents causing

serious harm or death involving medications to the

Canadian Institute for Health Information. Figure 19

shows the list of these incidents compiled from late

2011 through to the end of2018.

Our expert told us that it is leading practice (and

an Accreditation Canada requirement) for hospitals

to implement a policywhere designated high-risk

medications require an independent double-check

before they are administered to the patient, as

errors involving high-risk medications increase the

likelihood of patient harm or death.

At three hospitals, we observed nine instances

where nurses did not comply with medication

administration best practices in 15 situations

observed. There are usually four times during the

daywhen patients could receive their scheduled

medication: morning, afternoon, evening/din-

ner and bedtime. At each hospital we visited, we

observed a nurse administering medication to five

patients during one of the scheduled times. At

two hospitals on five occasions, the nurses did not

request another nurse to double-check the name

and amount of high-risk medication given to the

patients. At one hospital, in two instances, the

nurse did not wait to witness the patients actually

take and swallow their medications. In one of

those instances, the medication was a narcotic that

could be pocketed in the mouth to be then taken

out, stored and used later to overdose. At another

hospital, the nurse did not confirm the identifica-

tion of two patients before administering medica-

tions to them.

To improve patient safety, we recommend that

hospitals reinforce with nurses necessary medi-

cation administration processes to ensure that:

r independent double-checks of high-risk

medications are done to verify that correct

medication and dosage are administered;

. nurses witness patients taking and swal-

lowing high-risk medications; and

. nurses use two unique identifiers to confirm

the identity of patients before administering

medication to them.

RECOMMENDATION 15



@ 660

Ontario hospitals will review existing policies

and processes for the administration of all medi-
cations to determine whether best practices are

being followed to improve patient safety.

4"5.3 Best Practices Not Always Followed for
Nursing Shift Changes

We found that six out of the 13 hospitals we visited
did not always follow patient safety best practices

for nursing shift changes at the patient's bedside.
Nursing shift changes were not assessed at Women,s

College Hospital, as it is an ambulatory care facil-
ity that does not provide in-patient care, so nurses

work day shifts only at this hospital.
Nurses usually work 12-hour shifts, although

shifts can also be shorter. During shift changes,

which usually occur at 7 a.m. and 7 p.m., the
nurse whose shift is ending provides the incoming
nurse with an update on the patient's condition,
medication and/or treatment, as well as other
patient-care specifi cs.

According to our expert, the best practice, if
possible-based on the patient's condition-is to
conduct nurse shift changes at the patient's bedside
and involve the patient and the family, with the
consent ofthe patient, in the process, rather than
completing the shift change away from the patient
at the nurses'station. In this way, the patient and
possibly family are engaged in the care process

and can identify any missing information or mis-
communication between the nurses during shift
change that could lead to patient safety incidents.
We found, however, that this practice was followed
by only six out of the 13 hospitals we observed for
nursing shift changes.

condition, the practice of making nursing shift
changes at the patients'bedside and where pos-

sible involving the patients and their families,
with the consent of the patients, in the process.

Ontario hospitals support the review of current
practices to ensure safe transfer of information
between care providers. Ontario hospitals will
determine what supports are needed to engage

patients, where possible, to enhance nursing
shift changes.

4.6 Hospital Systems for
Dispensing Medication Vary from
Fully Manual to Fully Automated

After a medication is prescribed for a patienr,
the order must be reviewed by a pharmacist, pre-
pared and dispensed at the pharmacy, and then
delivered to the patient's unit to be administered
by a nurse. While all hospitals we visited have
controls in place over this process, we noted that
hospitals vary widely in the level of automation
in this process. See Appendix L0 for elements of
automation that can impact medication dispensing
and administration.

We noted that hospitals in Ontario are moving
toward automating medication management but
are at different stages of implementation, from fully
manual to fullyautomated systems.

Two of the hospitals we visited have fully
manual systems in at least one of their hospital
sites. TWo other hospitals we visited had fully
automated systems. The remaining hospitals are at
varying stages of implementation between manual
and automated systems.

To minimize patient safety incidents due to
missing information or miscommunication, we
recommend hospitals adopg based on patient

Pharmacy Staff Performing Manual Processes

Could Be Better Utilized

One hospital we visited was facing a shortage of
pharmacy technicians, and its pharmacy depart-
ment operated with manual processes. This hospital

RECOMMENDATION 16



Acute-care Hospitat patient safety and Drug Actnrinistration I@

informed us that its pharmacy technicians were

doing manual tasks that could be automated such

as labelling and packaging medication and drawing

medication into syringes for a single use'

With pharmacy technicians occupied by these

tasks, this hospital assigned medication reconcilia-

tion to nurses, who are alreadybusywith patient

assignments. Best practice confirms that medication

reconciliation can be safely and effectively per-

formed by pharmacy technicians and pharmacists

in collaboration with the prescriber' This hospital

reported that in 20L6, as many as 2oo/o of all

reported medication incidents in a month were due

to medication reconciliation errors'

To improve patient safetywith resPect to medi-

cation administration and where a compelling

business case for cost-effectiveness can be made,

we recommend that the Ministryworkwith

hospitals toward the automation of pharmacy-

related tasks.

The Ministry acknowledges that there may be

opportunities to improve how hospitals use

automation to drive efficiency and safety in

their local pharmacy operations' The Ministry

will encourage hospitals, as part of their annual

capital planning process' to consider the cost-

effectiveness of moving toward the automation

of pharmacy-related tasks.

4.7 Some HosPitals Have Poor
Compliance with lnfection
Prev6ntion Best Practices
and Standards

661

4. 7. I lnfection 0utbreak lnvesti$ati0ns

Found Key Prevention Practices Lacking at

10 Hospitals

We found that some hospitals have not consistently

followed infection prevention best practices and

standards. Ten hospitals contacted Public Health

Ontario to help them deal with recent or recurring

infection outbreaks. We obtained the resulting

Public Health Ontario reports, fot 2076 to 2018,

from each hospital detailing the type and extent of

each outbreak.

Outbreaks ranged from a large-scale outbreak

affecting over 100 patients at one hospital, to

repeated smaller outbreaks at another hospital with a

consistently higher infection rate than peer hospitals'

In reports prepared for each hospital between

2016 and 2018, Public Health Ontario identified

that the 10 hospitals had low compliance with

a number of infection prevention best practices

established by the Provincial Infectious Diseases

Advisory Committee described in Appendix 5'

For example:

. Eight of the 10 hospitals had either cluttered

rooms, making them more difficult to clean;

damaged furniture that served as a reservoir

for microorganisms; or damaged equipment

thatwas corroded, leaking fluids and visibly

soiled.

r Eight of the L0 hospitals had limited screen-

ing of patients for specific resistant bacteria'

r Five of the 10 hospitals did not have sufficient

processes in place to monitor and prevent the

spread of infections or did not have enough

dedicated staff to support infection preven-

tion processes according to best practices'

. Common observations in the affected areas at

all 10 hospitals included poor hand hygiene'

use of incorrect cleaning solutions and inad-

equate Protective equiPment'

i REC0MMENDAII0N 17



@
662

TWo of the 10 hospitals had outbreaks of Clos_
tridium dfficile (C. dfficite), a bacterium that can
cause diarrhea, severe abdominal pain and poten_
tially life-threatening infections.

In two studies onC. dfficile, The Ottawa
Hospital found that the average length of stay for
patients who acquiredC. dfficilewhile in hospital
was 34 days, more than four times longer than for
patients who did not acquire this infection (eight
days). The hospital also estimated that patients
who acquire d C. dfficile while in hospital required
additional treaunent costing an average of$9,000
per patient. In the past five years, !2,208 hospital_
acquired C. dfficile infections were reported in
Ontario, an average of about 2,440people each year.

This suggests the additional treatment costs
to the provincial health-care system as a result of
these infections are substantial.

In its reports ro the 10 hospitals, public Health
Ontario made recommendations on how to improve
infection prevention processes. We followed up
with these 10 hospitals and found that these
hospitals have not yet fully implemented all of the
recommendations.

As of May 3I, 2OI9, 197 173o7o1of the 263
recommendations to the hospitals had been fully
implemented. The hospitals are still working
toward implementing the remainingTl (27o/o)

recommendations such as to update their policies
and procedures, provide training to staff, evaluate
processes for infection prevention, and allocate
resources (money and staffing) more effectively.

4"7"2 Reported Frequency of Handwashing
by Hospital Staff Could tse 0verstated

As previously discussed, public Health Ontario
identified poor hand hygiene compliance as a
contributing factor when reviewing infection out_
breaks. Hospital-acquired infections such as C. dif_

ficile are commonly spread by the contact route via
the hands ofhealth-care workers. Therefore, hand
hygiene, either through the use ofalcohol-based
hand rub or soap and water, is one of the main pre_

ventive measures used to prevent and control the
spread of these infections. As handwashing is a sim_
ple, quick and low-cost action to do, the prevalence
of handwashing in a hospital speaks to the strengrh
of the patient safety culture in that hospital.

Best practices developed by the provincial Infec_
tious Diseases Advisory Committee require hospital
staff to wash their hands at several key moments
when caring for patients, including before initial
contact with the patient and the patient,s environ_
ment; before putting on gloves when performing
an invasive procedure; before administering
medication to a patient; immediately after remov_
ing gloves; and after contact with a patient and the
patient's environment.

As part of our special audit report prevention

and Control of Hospital-acquired Infecrrons (2008),
we examined the Ministry's hand hygiene pilot pro_
gram. The objective of this program was to observe
hospital staff to assess how often they followed
hand hygiene best practices by washing their hands
before and after patient contact.

In our 2008 audit we found that handwashing
compliance of hospital staff ranged from only 40Zo
to 75o/o at the 10 participating hospitals. physician

compliance increased from only IBo/o atthe start of
the pilot to 2$o/o by the end. Nurse compliance rose
from only 44o/o to 600/o.

Since 2008, as reported by Health euality
Ontario, hospitals have reported improvement
in hand hygiene compliance rates. Hand hygiene
compliance before patient contact rose from SJ.3o/o

in 2008/ 09 to 89.7o/o in 2078/ 79. Hand hygiene
compliance after patient contact rose from 69.0o/o to
92.8o/o over the same period.

Although reported rates have increased over this
period, some hospitals have indicated that reported
hand hygiene compliance is likely overstated, due
to the method used to assess compliance. Since hos_
pital staff are physically observed by a hand hygiene
auditor who records whether or not they wash
their hands, staff are often aware they are being
observed and wash their hands more often when
the auditor is present. For example:



. In2o!4,the University Health Network

published a studythat found that hospital

staff washed their hands 2.5 times more often

when an auditor was visible (3.75 times per

hour) than when an auditor was notvisible

(1.48 times per hour). The study found that

the compliance rate increased after the audit-

or's arrival, suggesting that the presence of the

auditor triggered the increase in hand hygiene.

I In 2016, Sunnybrook Hospital published a

study and found thatwhile the hand hygiene

compliance rate as observed by the auditor

was 8470, the rate as observed by covert

observation auditors was actually 50%. The

study also found that handwashing by med-

ical residents (trainees) dropped ftom 7 9 -5o/o

to 18.9o/owhen their supervising physician

did not wash his or her hands.

The Sunnybrook residents' study, in particular,

demonstrates how modelling desirable behaviour can

encourage and sustain patient safety culture down

the line among the people working at a hospital.

We note that some hospitals have introduced

additional methods of assessing and encouraging

hand hygiene compliance:

r Sunnybrook Hospital has started using elec-

tronically monitored hand hygiene pumps in

some units. These pumps are equippedwith

a sensor that counts hand hygiene events and

gives each unit a compliance rate against a pre-

determined number of hand hygiene opportun-

ities based on the type of unit, and the number

ofcare providers, visitors and patients.

r University Health Network has introduced

electronic monitoring systems in some units,

which use electronic badges worn by staff to

produce real-time prompts for staff to use soap

or alcohol-based hand rub dispensers when

theymove in and out of rooms in the hospital.

. Women's College Hospital has distributed

survey cards to patients and asked them to

observe and record the hand hygiene com-

pliance of their health-care providers. The

results are forwarded to providers on a regu-

Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safeiy ancl Drug Adnrinistration \@

lar basis; this process allowed patients to play

a more active role in their own health care.

663

To improve the accuracy of reported hand

hygiene compliance, while at the same time

encouraging hand hygiene, we recommend

that the Ontario Hospital Association work

with hospitals to evaluate and further the

adoption of additional methods to assess and

monitor hand hygiene, such as electronically

monitored hand hygiene pumps and monitor-

ing systems, and asking patients to observe and

record the hand hygiene compliance of their

health-care providers.

Ontario hospitals take hand hygiene compliance

very seriously as it is the single most effective

way to reduce the risk of health care-associated

infections. Ontario hospitals agree with enhan-

cing observation and monitoring methods and

will examine strategies to improve hand hygiene

compliance within their organizations.

4.8 Some Hospital Pharmacies
Did Not Fully Comply with Training
and Cleaning Standards for
Sterile-Rooms

Some patients receive their medications, such as

antibiotics, chemotherapeutic agents and pain

medication, by injection directly into their veins.

Hospital pharmacies have restricted access areas,

called "sterile-rooms," where intravenous medica-

tion is prepared and mixed using clean and disin-

fected equipment.

Air in sterile-rooms is continuously filtered

to remove particles. Pharmacy staff who work in

sterile-rooms must wear masks, gloves and gowns.

Cleaning and disinfecting personnel are responsible

for cleaning the equipment used in the mixing and

preparation of intravenous medications, and for

cleaning floors and walls in sterile-rooms.

] RECOMMENDATION 18



@
664

4.8.1 Sterile Preparation and Mixing of
Hazardous {Chemotherapy) and Non-
hazardous lntravenous Medications

We found that hospital pharmacies do nor always
fully comply with standards pertaining to the sterile
preparation and mixing of hazardous (chemother-

apy) and non-hazardous intravenous medications.

The Ontario College of Pharmacists is the
registering and regulatory body for the profession

of pharmacy in Ontario. In 2013, 1,202 hospital
patients at four hospitals in Ontario (Windsor, Lon-
don, Lakeridge and Peterborough) were infused
with the wrong concentration of chemotherapy
medication. Following this chemotherapy under-
dosing incident, in2014 the College started annual
inspections of hospital pharmacies to assess their
compliance with 102 standards aimed at ensuring
patient safery. Fifty of the 102 standards relate dir-
ectly to the sterile preparation of injectable medi-
cations such as for chemotherapy and antibiotics.

The National Association of Pharmacy Regula-

tory Authorities, a voluntary association of prov-
incial and territorial pharmacy regulatory bodies,

developed these standards, which were adopted by
the Ontario College of Pharmacists.

Wc analyzcd all 163 inspections completed by
the College in 2018, including 122 inspections of
sterile preparation and mixing of medications, and
found that hospital pharmacies on average fully met
less than half of the 50 standards relating to the ster-

ile preparation and mixing of intravenous medica-
tions such as for chemotherapy and antibiotics. On
average, hospital pharmacies did not comply at all
with about 100/o of the 50 standards. For instance,

10%o of the 122 hospital pharmacies did not train
staff on how to prepare and mix intravenous medi-

cations correctly, and 260/o of the 122 hospitals did
not train their staff on how to clean and disinfect the
sterile-room and the equipment used in preparing
and mixing intravenous medications. Figure 20
shows how many of the 102 standards relate to the
eight main hospital pharmacy operating areas, and
the pharmacies'2018 average compliance rate with
the standards pertaining to each area.

Our expert told us that sterile preparation and
mixing of intravenous medications is a high-risk
activity. For instance, patients can be harmed or even

die if their intravenous medication has been contam-
inated with bacteria during mixing and preparation
or if the medication has been mixed incorrectly and,

Figure 20: Hospital Pharmacies, Average compliance Rate with standards, 201g
Source of data: ontario College of pharmacists

#of
Standards

(Out of 102)

Average Compliance Rate ofAll 163 Hospltal
Pharmacles* (%)

Standard Categories

Sterile preparation and mixing of hazardous intravenous

medications (chemotherapy) 25 43 45 t2

Sterile preparation and mixing of non-hazardous intravenous

medications (antibiotics, narcotics, etc.)
25 48 43 9

Safe and secure medication storage (including narcotics)
throughout the hospital 10 80.3 t9.2 0.5

Safe packaging handling, storage, distribution and monitoring
of medications L7 79 2t

Medication physician prescription review and processing 8 85 15

Safe and secure storage of narcotics within the pha rmacy 5 68 32
Non-sterile preparation and mixing of medication 4 61 39

* ontario hospitals may have more than one site; however, not all sites have a pharmacy.

8 57 430ther areas (record retention, auditability and traceability)

Total



for example, is the wrong dose or has the wrong

ingredients.

In September 2OI6,the College mandated that

by January L,2OI9, hospital pharmacies must be in

full compliance with all50 standards pertaining to

the sterile preparation and mixing of intravenous

medications. Inspection results from 91 hospital

pharmacies completed by July I,2079, shared with

us by the College, showed that pharmacies' compli-

ance with the standards has improved. Sixty-four

percent of the 91 inspected pharmacies met the

standards pertaining to the sterile preparation

and mixing of inffavenous hazardous medica-

tions, such as for chemotherapy, and 70% of the

gL pharmacies met the standards pertaining to the

sterile preparation and mixing of intravenous non-

hazardous medications, such as antibiotics.

4.8.2 Sterile-Rooms Are Not Cleaned in

Accordance with Best Practices

As mentioned, hospital pharmacies have restricted

access areas, called "sterile-rooms," where intra-

venous medications are prepared and mixed using

clean and disinfected equiPment.

We visited five hospitals between May and

July 2019 and observed that in four hospitals,

pharmacy and housekeeping staff did not follow

standards and best practices when cleaning sterile-

rooms and the equipment used in the preparation

of intravenous medications. For example, one

hospital was using the wrong cleaning agent to

disinfect the equipment. At another hospital,

housekeeping staff did not proper$ gown prior

to entering the sterile restricted area, and they

cleaned the floors using the same mops used to

clean other areas. (Mops should be for restricted

use in only the sterile-room.) ByJanuary 7,2OL9,

hospitals were supposed to have trained all of their

cleaning and disinfecting personnel on how to

properly clean sterile-rooms. However, we found

that two hospitals we visited had not yet conducted

the required training.

Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Adnrinistration I@|

665
So that sterile-rooms and the equipment used

in the mixing and preparation of intravenous

medications are cleaned according to required

standards, we recommend that hospitals:

o provide their pharmacy and housekeeping

staff with proper training on how to conduct

the cleaning; and

o monitor the cleaning to ensure proper

processes are being followed.

Ontario hospitals will continue to workwith
the Ontario College of Pharmacists to imple-

ment strategies to ensure proper practices are

put in place for cleaning of sterile-rooms and

equipment.

4.9 lnspection Process for
Gleaning Reusable Surgical Tools
Not Optimal

4.9.L lmproper Cleaning of Reusable

SurgicalTools Can Delay Surgeries and

lmpact Patients

Hospitals commonly reuse surgical tools, such as

scalpels, and medical equipment, such as colon-

oscopy scopes, on patients, after they have been

thoroughly washed and sterilized. When cleaning

and sterilizing reusable surgical tools and med-

ical equipment, hospitals are required to follow

standards developed by the Canadian Standards

Association (CSA) and Manufacturer's Instructions

for USE (MIFU). Properwashing and sterilization of

surgical tools and medical equipment ensures that

they can be safely reused on other patients.

As shown in Figure 18, washing and steriliza-

tion of reusable surgical tools and medical devices

is the second-highest service area of hospitals' non-

compliance with high-priority criteria for patient

safery according to Accreditation Canada.

RECOMMENDATION 19



@
Improper cleaning and sterilization can potcn-

tially result in surgical-site infections for patients. It
can also cause delays or cancellations of surgeries,
as the surgical team waits for a complete set of
properlywashed and sterilized surgical tools to
arrive. For example, in spring 2019, over a two-
month period, one hospital cancelled and resched-

uled 62 surgeries (elective complex orthopedic
surgeries) after becoming aware that specialized

surgical tools that are used for some complex ortho-
pedic surgeries may not have achieved sterilization.

Approximately every four years, as part of its
hospital visits, Accreditation Canada reviews the
processes hospitals have in place to clean and steril-
ize reusable surgical tools and equipment. Hospi
tals' compliance with patient safety best practices or
the CSA standards in this area is not verified by any
other organization. In contrast, the Ontario College
of Pharmacists inspects hospital pharmacies annu-
ally to assess compliance with relevant standards
from the National Association of pharmacy Regula-
tory Authorities.

Each hospital is therefore responsible to monitor
its own compliance with cleaning and sterilization
standards. Some hospitals hire experrs to do this
work. We compared the expert reports from three
hospitals with Accreditation Canada reports and
found that the experts identified more instances of
non-compliance with Accreditation Canada criteria.

For example, between April 30 and May 5,2017,
Accreditation Canada identified that one hospital
did not complywith four criteria. Nine months
later, the expert found that this hospital did not
complywith L0 Accreditation Canada criteria and
two CSA standards. We noted that during hospital
visits Accreditation Canada assesses hospitals,
policies and procedures in many areas, including
cleaning and sterilization, but it does not perform
detailed checks for compliance with CSA standards.

To improve hospitals'compliance with the
Canadian Standards Association's standards
pertaining to the washing and sterilization of
surgical tools and medical equipment, we rec-

ommend that hospitals have their washing and
sterilization of surgical tools and medical equip-
ment inspected internally on an annual basis.

Ontario hospitals will review strategies to
improve compliance with the Canadian Stan-

dards Association's standards pertaining to the
washing and sterilization of surgical tools and
medical equipment.

4.9.2 Management of 0utsourcing
Contracts for Sterilization of Reusable
Surgical Tools and Medical Equipment
Has lmproved

Most hospitals in Ontario wash and sterilize their
own reusable surgical tools and medical equipment
in-house. Four hospitals have outsourced this work
to a private company, SteriPro. The company is the
only private company in Canada that offers washing
and sterilization services of this kind.

Three hospitals we visited contracted with this
third-parry provider for sterilizing medical equip-
ment. We found that the three hospitals did not
have processes in place to ensure the contract was
managed effectively. Specifically, the lackof key
performance indicators prevented the hospitals
from reliably assessing the third-party provider's
performance. For example:

. One hospital entered into a contract with the
third-party provider in 2011. The contract
included key performance indicators such as

requirements for availability of instruments
and timely delivery. These indicators were not
enforced until2014.

666RECOMMENDATION 20

I r'



o Another hospital entered into an agreement

in2072, although the key performance indi-

cators were not put in place until2015.
o The third hospital entered into a contract

with the third-partyprovider in 2015. The

hospital has informally used key performance

indicators to track performance and quality

issues; however, we noted that the agreement

does not include specific indicators. This

hospital informed us that it will negotiate

indicators to be included in the next contract,

due as a renewal in2O20.

A fourth hospital that entered into an agreement

with a third-party provider in 20lL decided in 2015

to bring sterilization back in-house. This hospital

noted that due to the lack ofpublished key per-

formance measures and industrybenchmarks, it is

difficult to evaluate sterilization practices and drive

improvement. The hospital developed a framework

that built on established guidelines and included

service standards, key performance indicators

and targets to evaluate surgical tools and medical

device cleaning and sterilization processes. The

framework, published in a health-related journal,

includes 25 service standards and 10 key perform-

ance indicators.

In order for contracts with private providers of

sterilization services to be managed effectively

by hospitals, we recommend that hospitals:

r include all the necessary service standards

and performance indicators in these con-

tracts; and

. on a regularbasis, assess the private service

provider's compliance with all contract terms

Where the use of external providers for steril-

ization services exists, Ontario hospitals will
closely review existing processes and contracts

to ensure that the quality and safety of care is

not compromised.

Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug,Adnrinistration I@

4.10 Hospital 0vercrowding Limits
Availability of Beds to Critically
lll Patients

Overall, between April 2003 and the end of

March 2018, according to Statistics Canada and

Ministry data, the number of acute-care hospital

beds in Ontario decreased from 1.5 beds to 1'3 beds

per 1,000 people.

We obtained data from the Minisry for the 25

acute-care hospitals with the highest overcrowding

over the 12-month period ending February 2019.

Over the year, these hospitals were at L10%o of

capacity on average, while on some days in winter

months one hospital exceeded 1200/o of capacity.

Critically ill patients depend on receiving timely

and appropriate care. In 2013, the Ministry issued

a policy statement directing emergency medical

services, hospitals and other stakeholders to work

together to ensure that "no patient with a life or

limb threatening condition shall be refused care."

CritiCall, a Ministry-funded organization, is a

24-hour medical emergency referral service that

Ontario's hospital-based physicians can call when a

critically ill patient requires an assessment and,/or

transfer to a more specialized facility with resources

beyond what is available at their hospital to care

for a life-or-limb patient. CritiCall, on behalf of the

referring hospitals, co-ordinates inter-facility trans-

port of a life-orlimb patient.

According to Criticall, from April 2016 to the

end of March 2019, 784 life- or-limb patients were

denied inter-facility transfer to the closest hospital

that could provide the appropriate level of care,

because the hospital had no bed available to receive

the patient. Some of these patients were denied

inter-facility transfer more than once. Ten of these

patients died while CritiCall was trying to facilitate

inter-facility transfer to another hospital that could

provide appropriate care, after at least one hospital

had denied the patient's transfer because no beds

were available.

In addition to these critically ill patients, we found

that in the same period about 5,356 non-critically ill

667

RECOMMENDATION 21



@
668

patients were denied inter-facility transfers due to a

lackof available beds (some multiple times). Given

that these patients were not critically ill, there was

less urgency for them to transfer to another hospital;

however, these denied transfers further illustrate
instances where available beds were lacking in the

hospital system.

In August 2019, CritiCall issued a proposal for a
province-wide "command centre" initiative, which
would collect and analyze, in real-time, the patient
bed flow of each acute-care hospital in Ontario.
This would help CritiCall identifyhospitals with
free beds so that it could manage the transfer of
life-or-limb, urgent and emergency patients more

effectively. In recent years, hospitals such as Hum-
ber fuver Hospital have begun to create hospital-
based command centres. Humber River Hospital
feeds real-time data to artificial intelligence that
analyzes the data and provides the command centre
staff with information that they can use to monitor
and manage patient flow in the hospital. In June

2018, Humber River Hospital found that since

implementing the command centre, the informa-
tion provided to staff has enabled rooms to be

cleaned more quickly and beds to be managed more
efficiently. As a result, the time a patient in the
emergency department waits for a hospital bed had
been reduced by 330/0.

So that patients with a life- or limb-threatening
condition receive timely care from the closest

hospital, we recommend that the Ministry of
Health leverage learned lessons from hospitals

that utilize "command centres" and workwith
CritiCall toward the development of a provincial
bed command centre.

The Ministry will work with CritiCall to explore
the potential of a provincial bed command
centre, including lessons learned from Humber
River Hospital Command Centre.

RECOMMENDATION 22



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Administration \@

Appendix 1: Acute-Gare Hospital Governance Structure fol Patient Safety

Prepared by the 0ffice of the Auditor General of 0ntario

669
Board of Directorsl

Medical Advisory Committee4
Required by

Public Hospitals Act, 1990

President and

Chief Executive 0fficer (CE0)3

Quality Committee2
Required by

Excellent Care fot Ail Act, 2010

Vice-President, Quality of Care

and Performanceo

Committee for Reviewing Critical lncidentss

Required bY

Public Hospitals Act, 1990

Quali$ of Care Committee (optional)i

under Quality of Care Infornation
Prctection Act

Lead Clinicia ns/Program Directors8
The clinical leadership

of an organization critical to
development and implementation

of improvement initiations

Note: This governance and reporting structure specifically pertains to the hospitals' patient safety responsibilities under the Excellent Care for All Act, 2010.

1. Board of Directors: Has the ultimate authority and responsibility for the administration of the hospital and is also responsible for overseeing quality of care

within the hospital.

2. Quality Committee: oversees preparation of the Hospital's annual Quality lmprovement Plan (QlP), reports to the Board on quality of care issues at the hospital

and on the implementation progress of the Quality lmprovement Plan.

3. president and CEO: Responsible for putting in place systems to improve quality of care in the hospital. Must establish a system for reviewing and disclosing

critical incidents in the hospital, for implementing measures to avoid or reduce the risk of recurrence and for providing aggregated critical incident data to

the hospital's Quality Commiftee at least twice a year. Ihe CEO is also responsible for reporting to the College of Physicians and Surgeons of ontario any

disciplinary action tiken with respect to physicians. Ensures the Board has the information required to understand the QIP and develops and provides progress

reports to the Board on QlP.

4. Medical Advisory Committee: Monitors and approves initiatives for improving the quality of care provided to patients and promotes the standards of medical

care in the hospital. Assists and advises the Board and the cEo in appointment and granting of hospital privileges to the professional staff (physicians,

dentistry and midwifery), and provides general supervision over the practice of professional staff. Reports to the Board and Quality Committee any systemic or

recurring quality of care issues it identifies to the Board and the Quality Committee.

5. Committee for Reviewing Critical lncidents: lnvestigates critical incidents, and develops recommendations on how to improve and preventfuture incidents'

6. Vic*president, of Quality of Care and performance (VP of Quality): Responsible for the planning, development and implementation of programs and initiatives

to enhance patient experience in the hospital'

7. Quality of Care Commiftee: A special committee established to evaluate the provision of health care, which may include conducting reviews of critical incidents

and which includes restrictions on disclosures from legal proceedings and most other disclosures'

g. Lead Clinicians/Clinical Directors/program Directors: Act as the link between front-line staff, Quality Committees and the VP of Quality by reporting on progress

on quality and patient safety initiatives in the organization. lnvolved in QIP development and implementation.



@ 670
Appendix 2: Risk-Specific Patient Safety Standards and Best Practices

Prepared by the office of the Auditor General of ontario

Hospital Depadment/
Rlsk Area Patient Safety Standards and Best Practlces 0rganizations Following Standards/ Practices

Medication

administration

Best practices to guide nurses on how to safely

administer medication to patients
College of Nurses of Ontario

Best practices to prevent medication enors lnstitute for Safe Medication Practices Canada

Cleaning and sterilizing To ensure the sterilization of surgical tools and

surgical tools medical equipment is done according to standards

Canadian Standards Association

Provincial I nfectious Disease Advisory Committee

lhe sterilization department should meet certain
standards for employees' safety

1S09001 (facility standards)

Hospital pharmacy Various standards to ensure the pharmacy

department operates in a safe manner
Ontario College of Pharmacists

Housekeeping Follow provincial standards on cleaning and

disinfecti n g health-care facilities
Provincial lnfectious Disease Advisory Committee

lnfection prevention

and control

Follow provincial standards on screening of, isolation Provincial lnfectious Disease Advisory Committee
of and surveillance processes for micreorganisms public Health 0ntario

Surgical safety Various best practices to prevent complications
from surgeries, e.9., foreign body left inside
patients and surgical site infections.

National Surgical Qual ity I m provement Program



Acuie-care Hospitat patient safety and Drug Administration I@

671

Prepared by the office of the Auditor General of Ontario

Appendix 3: Organ ization-Wide Patient Safety Requirements

Patient Safe$ Requirements0rganizational Focus

Oversight of Patient safetY

Reporting patient safety incidents
addressed investigated and Prevented

to report patient safety incidents so that they can be

in the future.

The board of governors is required to have a Quality Committee, responsible for

overseeingthe qualitY and safety of care provided to patients.

Hospitalstaff
appropriatelY

are expected

Survey of hospital staff and patients Hospitals are required to survey patients

and safety of care, and to incorporate su

and staff regularly to assess the quality

rvey results in annual Quality lmprovement

Plans.



ry
E

Source of data: Accreditation Canada

Note: Each required practice is assessed by Accreditation canada using applicable standards.

lnfection Prevention

. The hospital tracks
infections, and
identifies outbreaks
and trends.

. The hospital evaluates
the cleaning,
disinfecting and
sterilizing of medical
devices/equipment
and measures its
effectiveness.

. The hospital measures
its compliance with
accepted hand hygiene
practices.

Safe Physical Environment

. To deal with emergency
overcrowding, the
hospital evaluates
patient-flow data to
prevent patient
overcrowding.

. The hospital develops
a targeted patient
safety plan, and
annual education on
patient safety is made
available to executives,
staff and volunteers.

Safe Use and Storage of
Medication

. The hospital evaluates
and limits the
availability of high-risk
medications in patient
r00ms.

. Staff receive appropri-
ate training for
administering
medications.

. The hospital monitors
and responsibly
manages the use of
antibiotic medications.

Effective Communication

. Patientspecific
identifiers are used to
confirm that patients
receive the care,
procedure and
medication intended
for them.

. A medication
reconciliation process
is in place to collect
accurate and complete
information about
patients' medications
and utilize this
information during
transitions of care from
home to hospital,

. A safe surgery
checklist is used to
initiate, guide and
formalize communica-
tion among the staff
conducting a surgical
procedure.

PATIENTSAFEWAREAS

Safety Cufture

. Hospital leadership
and staff share
commitment to
preventing, reporting
and learning from
patient safety incident.

. A process is in place to
report, investigate,
analyze and disclose
patient safety incidents
and make recommen-
dations for improve
ment.

. Staff are accountable
for provided quality of
care.

672

Assessment of Patient
Safety Risks

. To minimize injury from
falls, a documented
and co-ordinated
approach for falls
prevention is
implemented and
evaluated.

. The hospital has a
strategy in place to
track and prevent
pressure injuries (bed
sores).



Prepared by the Office of the Auditor General of ontario

Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Adnrinistration \@|

673
Appendix 5: Other Patient Safe$ Stakeholdet Organizations

FunctionOrganizatlon

Canadian lnstitute for Health

lnformation

An i ndependent not-for-prof it orga nization that provides essential information on Canada's

health systems and the health of Canadians.

A not-for-profit organization established by Health Canada in 2003' Ihe lnstitute works with
Canadian Patient SafetY

lnstitute hospitals, govern ments and health-care Providers to improve Patient safety'

College of Nurses of 0ntario A regulating body for Registered Nurses (RNs), Registered Practical Nurses (RPNs) and Nurse

Practitioners (NPs) in Ontario.

College of PhYsicians and Registering and regulating body for physicians and surgeons practicing medicine in 0ntario

Surgeons of Ontario

Health QualitY Ontario A government of ontario agency that advises

the evidence to support high-quality care and

the government and health+are providers on

improvements in quality, and monitors and

reports to the public on the quality of health care provided in Ontario.

A national not-forprofit organization committed to the advancement of medication safety in
lnstitute for Safe Medication

Practices Canada all health-care settings.

Ontario College of Pharmacists Registering and regulating body forth

pharmacies within the province meet

e profession of pharmacy in Ontario, lt ensures that

certain standards of operation and are accredited by

the college.

A not-for-prof it orga n ization serving Ontario's hospitals to bu ild a better health sYstem.
Ontario HosPital Association

Ontario Medical Association A not-for-profit organization representing the politica l, clinical and economic interests of the

rovince's medical Profession'p

Ontario Nurses Association The union representing registered nurses and health{are p rofessionals, as well as nursing

student afliliates, across the province.

Provincial lnfectious Disease

Advisory Committee infection prevention and control.
A multidisciplinary committee of health+are professionals with expertise and experience in

Public Health Ontario A government of ontario agency that

infection surueillance, prevention and

scientific evidence and technical advice onprovides

controls in hospitals.



@
Appendix 6: Audit Criteria

Prepared by the office of the Auditor General of 0ntario 674
1. Effective and cost€fficient hiring and disciplinary

by doctors, nurses and hospital staff.

processes are in place to ensure that safe, competent care is delivered

2. Effective processes are in place to prevent, report, investigate, disclose and learn from patient safety incidents, incl uding
patient falls, medication errors, proced u rerelated errors and hospitaFacquired infections.

3. Effective and cost-efficient processes are in place to ensure that surgical tools and medical devices are properly cleaned,
sterilized and handled, and are available when needed.

4. Effective processes are in place t0 ensure that hospital areas are cleaned and disinfected properly.
5. Effective processes are in place to ensure that

by the right method.
patients receive the right dose of the right medication at the right time and

6. Effective processes are in place

administered to patients,
t0 ensure that high-risk medications are securely stored and accounted for, and safely



Acute-Care Hospital Patient Safety and Drug Administration I@

Appendix 7: Hospitals Visited and Patient Safety Areas Examined

Prepared by the office of the Auditor General of ontario 675

llilrliir,trt

I it:irlr)t !il,IrJ,,

Patient Safety Area Examined

I ri(,r,lili,rrt liil,r;lr,i;liii,lrt

lilti,t{tjrliliilri l'\ililliii!,iiiii;1iii,)il ilit,tillt,t,}/Hospital Name (Type)* (o)rrill\',

Halton Healthcare (large communi$)

Hamilton Health Sciences

(acute teaching)

Humber River Hospital

(large community)

Nipigon Memorial Hospital

(small community)

Pembroke Regional

(medium community)

Thunder Bay Regional Health Sciences

Centre (acute teaching)

The ottawa Hospital (acute teaching)

Women's College Hospital -
Ambulatory Care

Chatham-Kent Health Alliance

(medium communitY)

Grand River Hospital

(large community)

Northumberland Hills Hospital

(medium community)

Stratford General Hospital

(medium community)

St. Thomas Elgin General Hospital

(medium community)

Note: During the audit planning stage, we conducted walKhroughs at Trillium Health Partners (THP), which was one of the hospitals audited in our 2016 report

on Large Hospital Operations. ln this audit, we limited our audit work at Trillium to Human Resources.

* These are the funding categories for hospitals we visited:

. Acute teaching: Approved as a teaching hospital by the Ministry.

. Small community: Acute inpatienvday surgery activity <4,000 weighted cases per year. Weighted cases based on five years of data.

. Medium community: Acute inpatient/day surgery activity between 4,000 and 12,000 weighted cases per year.

. Large community: Acute inpatient/day surgery activity >12,000 weighted cases per year.



@
676

Appendix 8: Recommendations and Responsible Organizations
Prepared by the oflice ofthe Auditor General of 0ntario

To further emphasize patient safety as a foundation for
hospitals' organizationa I cu lture, we recom mend that
hospitals explicitly incorporate the words "patient safety"
in their mission, vision, and/or as one of their core values,

and communicate this to their staff, ensuring that related

actions demonstrate this emphasis.

L.

(lead)

0ntario
Hospitals

Ontarlo
Hospltal
Association

College of
Nurses of
0ntario

Ministry
of HealthRecommendation

2. To determine and reduce the impact of nevercvents on
patient safety and the health-care system, we recommend

that the Ministry of Health:

. work with internal and external partners to leverage an
existing system that can accumulate and track hospital
never-event data;

. upon implementation and rollout completion of this
system, analyze the frequency of never-events occurring
at Ontario hospitals, estimating their cost to the health-
care system; and

. partner with hospitals and best practice organizations/
stakeholder groups to develop a plan to prevent them
from happening.

(lead)

3 To minimize the occurrence of serious preventable patient

safety incideng, we recommend that hospitals:
. enhance patient safety practices to eliminate the

occurrence of neverevents;

. set a formal target to eliminate the occurrence of
neveFevents and include this target in their Quality
lmprovement Plans; and

. track and report never-events to the Ministry of Health.

(lead)

4. To better enable hospitals to prevent similar patient safety
incidents, including never-events, from recuning at different
hospitals, we recommend that the Ministry of Health work
with the Ontario Hospital Association and applicabte
stakeholder groups to establish a forum where hospitals
can share their knowledge and lessons learned from patient

safety incident investigations.

(lead)

5. To enable nurses' prospective employers to obtain a

more complete record of nurses' employment history and
performance and make welFinformed hiring decisions, we
recommend that the Ministry of Health have the Ontario

Hospital Association work with the College of Nurses of
0ntario and other regulatory stakeholders to:

. identify gaps in the current information available to
prospective employers rega rd ing past performa nce

issues and terminations; and

. take steps to address gaps identified.

(lead)



Acute-Care Hospitat patient safety and Drug Adnrinistration I@

6. ln order for hospitals that hire nurses to have access to the

complete record of nurses' past places of employment and

disciplinary history, we recommend that hospitals:

' use the National Council of State Boards of Nursing

public database to determine whether nurses they

hire and employ have faced disciplinary actions in the

United States; and

. if the hospital uses agency nurses, require nursing

agencies to confirm these nurses have been screened

677

(lead)

0ntario
Hospitals

0ntado
Hospital
Association

Gollege of
Nurses of
0ntario

Ministry
of Health

Recommendation

through this database.

7. Io help ensure that when hospitals hire nurses they have

access to their full disciplinary record, we recommend that

the Ministry of Health request that the ontario Hospital

Association and the College of Nurses of Ontario work

together with their provincial and tenitorial counterparts to:

. explore a national system for provincial and territorial

nursing regulatory bodies to report their disciplinary

actions; and

. put in place an effective process that will ensure that all

places of past employment and disciplinary records from

otherjurisdictions for each nurse are in its database'

including records from US nursing databases.

To better inform employers in their hiring decisions and

protect patients from the risk of harm, we recommend that

the Ministry of Health assess for applicability in ontario the

actions taken by us states to protect hospitals and other

health+are providers from liability associated with any civil

action for disclosing a complete and truthful record about a

(lead)

8.

(lead)

or former nurse to a prospective employwer'current

9. ln the interest of patient safety and in order for hospitals

and agencies to hire nurses fully aware of their past

employment and performance history, we recommend that

the Ministry of Health explore means t0:

. enable hospitals and agencies to provide and receive

truthful references and information to make informed

nursing hiring decisions; and

. require these organizations to disclose such information

(lead)

a prospective emPloYerwhen it is requested bY

10. So that hospitals can make optimally informed hiring and

staffing decisions, we recommend that the Ministry of

Health require all hospitals in Ontario to:

. perform criminal record checks before hiring nurses and

other health-care emPloYees; and

(lead)

. periodically update checks for existing staff'



@

n. To enable hospitals to take timely action to improve patient
safety, we recommend that the Ministry of Health explore
means t0 make it easier and less costly for hospitals
and ultimately the taxpayerto address physician human
resources issues, especially in cases when doctors may
have harmed patients,

678

(lead)

0ntario
Hospitals

0ntado
Hospital
Assoclation

College of
Nurses of
0ntario

Ministry
of Health

Recommendation

t2. To

of
improve patient safety, we recommend that the Ministry
Health:

. review the Accreditation Canada hospital reports and
identiff areas where hospitals may consistently not
be meeting required patient safety practices and high_
priority criteria; and

. follow up with hospitals in respect of problem areas to

(lead)

confirm that actions are taken to correct deficiencies.
13. So that hospitals fully complete medication reconciliation

t0 reduce the risk to discharged patients and that they have
all the necessary patient information to properly investigate
any incidents with patients'dosages or drug interactions
that might occur and trigger hospital readmission,
we recommend that hospitals reinforce with staff the
importance of the medication reconciliation documentation
processes so that all the necessary information is
consistently documented.

(lead)

14. To reduce the risk of medication errors and readmissions to
hospital, we recommend that the Ministry of Health:
. require hospitals to complete medication reconciliation

for all patients;

. require hospitals to include medication reconciliation in
their Quality lmprovement plans; and

. in conjunction with relevant hospitals, review their lT
system needs to be able to track necessary medication
reconciliation information and take action for
improvement where needed.

(lead)

15. To improve patient safety, we recommend that hospitals
reinforce with nurses necessary med ication administration
processes to ensure that:
. independent doublechecks of high+isk medications are

done to verifl that correct medication and dosage are
administered;

. nurses witness patients taking and swallowing high_risk
medications; and

(lead)

. nurses use two unique
of patients before adm

identifiers to confirm the identity
inistering medication to them.

16

consent ofthe patients, in the pr0cess.

To minimize patient safety incidents due to missing
information or miscommunication, we recommend hospitals
adopt, based on patient condition, the practice of making
nursing shift changes at the patients, bedside and where
possible involving the patients and their families, with the

(lead)



t7. To improve patient safety with respect to medication

administration and where a compelling business case

for cost-effectiveness can be made, we recommend that

the Ministry work with hospitals toward the automation of

pharmacy+elated tasks.

Aeute-Care Hospital Patieni Safety ancl Drug Aclnrinistration \@

679
(lead)

0ntario
Hospitals

0ntario
Hospital
Association

College of
Nurses of
Ontado

Ministry
of HealthRecommendatisn

18 To improve the accuracy of reported hand hygiene

compliance, while at the same time encouraging hand

hygiene, we recommend that the ontario Hospital

Association work with hospitals to evaluate and further the

adoption of additional methods to assess and monitor hand

hygiene, such as electronically monitored hand hygiene

pumps and monitoring systems, and asking patients t0

observe and record the hand hygiene compliance of their

(lead)

health{are providers.

19. So that sterile+ooms and the equipment used in the mixing

and preparation of intravenous medications are cleaned

according to required standards, we recommend that

hospitals:

. provide their pharmacy and housekeeping staff with

proper training on how to conduct the cleaning; and

. monitor the cleaning to ensure proper processes are

(lead)

being followed.

20. To improve hospitals' compliance with the Canadian

Standards Association's standa rds perta i ni ng to the

washing and sterilization of surgical tools and medical

equipment, we recommend that hospitals have their

washing and sterilization of surgical tools and medical

(lead)

equipme nt inspected internally on an annual basis'

2t. ln order for contracts with private providers of sterilization

seruices to be managed effectively by hospitals, we

recommend that hosPitals:

. include all the necessary service standards and

performance indicators in these contracts; and

. on a regular basis, assess the private service provide/s

(lead)

compliance with all contract terms.

22 So that patients with a life or limb-threatening condition

receive timely care from the closest hospital, we

recommend the Ministry of Health leverage learned lessons

from hospitals that utilize "command centres" and work

with CritiCall toward the development of a provincial bed

command centre.

(lead)



@ 680

33 13 100

Source of data: ontario Hospitals

Hamilton Health Sciences Teaching t,744 54

Appendix 9: 0verall Patient Safety Gulture Staff Survey Results att2SAcute-
Care Hospitals, 20t4-20t9

#of Staff
FundlngCategory* SurveyedHospital

Health Sciences North Teaching 580 4t 39 20 100
Kingston Health Sciences Centre Teaching 810 47 39 15 100

London Health Sciences Centre Teaching 502 38 38 24 100
Montfort Hospital Teaching 339 70 23 7 100
Sinai Health System Teaching 75r 68 29 3 100
St. Joseph's Health Care London Teaching n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
St. Joseph's Healthcare Hamilton Teaching 2,244 58 34 9 100

Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre Teaching t,434 66 30 4 100
The 0ttawa Hospital Teaching 2,594 58 35 7 100
Thunder Bay Regional Health Sciences

Centre
Teaching 46t 48 39 13 100

Unity Health Toronto Teaching n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
University Health Network Teaching n/a n/a n/a n/a nla
University of Ottawa Heart lnstitute Teaching 658 66 30 4 100
Bluewater Health Large community 296 56 34 10 100
Brant Community Healthcare System Large community 462 28 39 33 100
Grand River Hospital l-arge community 968 56 35 10 100
Grey Bruce Health Seruices Large community 503 63 31 6 100

Guelph General Hospital Large community 474 56 34 10 100

Halton Healthcare Seruices Large community 628 53 34 13 100
Humber River Hospital Large community 995 41 38 2L 100
Joseph Brant Hospital Large community 530 36 42 22 100
Lakeridge Health Large community 519 55 35 Lt 100

Mackenzie Health l-arge community 359 52 35 13 100

Markham-Stouffu ille Hospita I lnrge community 515 58 34 8 100

Niagara Health System Large community 883 53 34 13 100
North Bay Regional Health Centre Large community 307 4t 44 16 100
North York General Hospital Large community 477 65 28 6 100
Peterborough Regional Health Centre Large community 552 44 44 13 100

Queensway-Cadeton Hospital Large community 439 51 39 10 100

Quinte Healthcare Corporation Large community 433 47 38 15 100
Royal Victoria Regional Health Centre Large community 1,949 46 39 15 100
Sault Area Hospital Large community 449 52 35 L4 100
Southlake Regional Health Centre hrge community 503 42 34 24 100

St. Mary's General Hospital large communig 295 42 31 27 100



Aeute-Care Hospital Faiient Safety and Drug Adnlinistration \@!

681

The Scarborough Network Large community n/a nla n/a n/a n/a

# ofStaff
FundingCategory' SurveYedHospital

0verall Grade on Patient Safety {%)

Toronto East Health Network Large community 578 53 30 t7 100

Trillium Health Partners Large community 3,392 61 34 1005

William Osler Health System Large community 715 52 38 10010

Windsor Regional Hospital Large community 589 61 33 5 100

Brockville General Hospital Medium community 233 42 4t t7 100

Cambridge Memorial HosPital Medium community 364 49 40 tt 100

Chatham-Kent Health Alliance Medium community 364 37 46 17 100

Collingwood General and Marine

Hospital
Medium community 203 49 37 t4 100

Cornwall Community HosPital Medium communi$ 343 54 34 12 100

Georgian Bay General HosPital Medium community t97 42 42 t7 100

Headwaters Health Care Centre Medium community 239 53 35 13 100

Muskoka Algonquin Healthcare Medium community 224 49 38 13 100

Norfolk General Hospital Medium communitY 181 46 39 100T4

Northumberland Hills HosPital Medium community 252 59 33 1009

0rillia Soldiers' Memorial Hospital Medium community n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Pembroke Regional Hospital Medium community 223 52 40 1009

Perth and Smiths Falls District Hospital Medium community 2Lg 79 20 t 100

Ross Memorial Hospital Medium community 25t 49 38 13 100

St Thomas-Elgin General Hospital Medium community 203 59 28 13 100

Stratford General HosPital Medium community 2I4 59 37 4 100

Strathroy Middlesex General Hospital Medium community t46 64 31 5 100

Timmins and District Hospital Medium community 352 49 39 10012

West Pany Sound Health Centre Medium community 165 60 30 10010

Woodstock General HosPital Trust Medium community 499 70 26 4 100

Alexandra Hospital Small 29 79 T7 3 100

Alexandra Marine and General Hospital Small n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Almonte General Hospital Small 150 67 26 7 100

Anson General Hospital Small 56 52 36 13 100

Arnprior Regional Health Small 63 48 44 1008

Atikokan General HosPital Small 74 70 27 3 100

Bingham Memorial HosPital Small 61 56 39 1005

Campbellford Memorial HosPital Small 74 59 31 10 100

Carleton Place and District Memorial 
Small 65 63 29 8 100

Hospital

Casey House Hospice Small n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Clinton Public Hospital Small 28 50 43 7 100

Deep River and District HosPital Small 49 51 16 33 100

Dryden Regional Health Centre Small 93 68 27 5 100

Englehart and District HosPital Small 31 77 19 3 100



@ 682

Erie Shores HealthCare Small 196 50 31 n 100

# ofStaff
FundingGategory' SurveyedHospital

0verall Grade on Patient Safeg (oA)

Espanola General Hospital Small 42 83 t7 0 100
Four Counties Health Services

Corporation
Small 37 57 35 8 100

Geraldton District Hospital Small 84 70 25 5 100
Glengarry Memorial Hospital Small 105 72 2I 7 100
Groves Memorial Community Hospital Small r29 43 44 13 100
Haldimand War Memorial Hospital Small r22 76 20 4 100
Haliburton Highlands Health Services

Corporation
Small 149 57 34 9 100

Hanover and District Hospital Small 113 81 16 3 100
Hawkesbury and District General

Hospital
Small 234 45 42 13 100

Hornepayne Community Hospital Small n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Kemptville District Hospital Small 100 64 31 5 100
Kirkland and District Hospital Small 73 77 22 1 100
Lady Dunn Health Centre Small 43 60 33 7 100
Lady Minto Hospital Small 88 48 43 9 100
Lakeof-theWoods District Hospital Smail 153 40 45 15 100
Lennox and Addingon County General

Hospital
Small 110 77 16 6 100

Listowel Memorial Hospital Small n/a n/a n/a nla n/a
Manitoulin Health Centre Small 87 74 24 2 L00
Mattawa General Hospital Small r2t 74 24 2 too
Nipigon District Memorial Hospital Small n/a n/a nla n/a n/a
North of Superior Healthcare Group Small 77 73 15 12 100
North Shore Health Network Small 88 77 15 8 100
North Wellingon Health Care Small Itt 67 31 3 100
Notre Dame Hospital Small 60 82 15 3 100
Red Lake Margaret Cochenour Memorial

Hospital
Small 50 72 26 2 t00

Renfrew Victoria Hospital Small 228 80 18 2 t00
Riverside Health Care Facilities lnc Small t07 47 43 10 100
Sant6 Manitouwadge Health Small n/a n/a n/a n/a Va
Seaforth Community Hospital Small 29 72 28 0 100
Sensenbrenner Hospital Small tt7 47 38 15 100
Services de Sant6 de Chapleau Health

Services
Small 74 89 8 3 100

Sioux Lookout Meno Ya Win Health

Centre
Small 174 66 29 5 100

Smooth Rock Falls Hospital Small 54 80 19 2 100
South Bruce Grey Health Centre Small 161 53 34 t4 100



Crey Areas ITEM 7.7
SML

Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc
Sarleters & Solicltors

A COMMENTARY ON LECAL ISSUES AFFECTINC PROFESSIONAL RECULATION

The Trouble with Awards https : //www.the globeandmail. com/opinion/article-
everyone-turns-to-lawyers-for-metoo-advice-but-the-
legal-community/.

by Erica Richler
January 2020 -No.242 These circumstances bring discredit to the regulator.

More importantly, the ability of the regulator to
perform its primary public protection functions is

compromised. Harmed clients, colleagues and other
witnesses may be reluctant to come forward because

of the public accolades previously bestowed on the
practitioner. Apparent conflicts of interest may arise

as those involved in the recognition of the practitioner
may not be seen as impartial in an investigation of
that same person. Public confidence in the process or
the appropriateness of the outcome could be

undermined.

683

Awards season has arrived in North American
popular culture. Some critics argue that such

recognitions are flawed for numerous reasons

including the use of non-inclusive selection criteria
and providing a platform for celebrities to speak out
on issues outside of their expertise.

Regulators often also bestow awards to leaders or
members of the profession who inspire by their
dedication, altruism or talent. Such recognition can

encourage the profession to aspire to excellence. It
can also remind the profession that the regulator does

not just enforce minimum standards, but also fosters

superior performance. The broader pride in the
profession that can result from such

acknowledgements can counter-balance the

discouragement that many practitioners face and

which can negatively affect both their performance

and attitude. Properly structured awards criteria can

actually promote values such as diversity and

advances within the profession.

However, these benefits need to be balanced against

the risks. One risk from regulatory awards arises

where the recipient later requires an investigation,
discipline or other enforcement measures. There have

been a number of media reports of such situations
including a best teacher of the year recipient accused

of sexual abuse, and a lawyer/politician who received

a prominent award, later alleged to have sexually
harassed women for decades. See, for example:
http s : //www. ctrrnews. calworld/teacher-of-the-year-
accused-of-sex-acts-with-student- 1.4706767 and

Additional risks exist. The time, energy and cost of
the awards process are not available for core

regulatory activities. Registration applications,
investigations and discipline activities may be

delayed to the extent that staff, Board and committee
members take time to prepare for and attend the

events. The amount of time committed to such an

occasion may be surprising, especially if it takes the

form ofa gala event.

Public perception can also be an issue. Awards and

recognitions are often seen as a professional

association activity. Self-congratulatory functions can

confuse members of the public and even the
profession as to the public protection role of the

regulator.

Regulators who confer awards to practitioners should
constantly evaluate whether the public interest

benefits outweigh the risks. There is a strong case to

be made that this activity should be left to a separate

FOR MORE INFORMATION
This newsletter is published by Sieinecke Maciura LeBlanc, a law firm practising in the field of professional regulation. lf you are not receiving 9 gopy and would like one,

please contact: Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc, 401 Bay Street, Suite 2308, P.O. Box 23, Toronto, ON MsH 2Y4,Iel:416'599-2200 Fax: 416-593-7867'

E-Mail: info@smllaw.com

WANT TO REPRINT AN ARTICLE
A number of readers have asked to reprint articles in their own newsletters. Our policy is that readers may reprint an article as long as credit is given to both the newsletter

and the firm. Please send us a copv of the issue of the newsletter which contains a reorint from Grev Areas.



professional association. A candid debate should be
held as to the real reason why those in favour of
continuing with the awards like them.

Regulators who decide to continue with this activity
might consider some or all of the following
safeguards:

The public interest purpose of the award
should be clearly articulated.
All communications related to the award,
including its name, should promote that public
interest purpose.

The criteria and process for selecting award
recipients should be transparent and should
reflect the public protection values of the
regulator.
There should be a rigorous screening of award
candidates.

There should be consideration as to whether
the event can be downscaled so as to use an
appropriate level of resources.

The selection and administration of the award should
be separated as much as possible from the regulatory
functions of the regulator. Ideally a separate awards
committee or group, which does not involve
compliance and enforcement staff or committee
members, is ideal. It is even preferable that as few
Board members as possible participate.

Should a concern about the conduct of an awards
recipient arise, specific measures should be taken to
avoid even a perception of a conflict of interest. For
example, those involved in the acknowledgement
should, as much as is possible, not be involved in the
investigation, screening or adjudication of the
concern.

684 SML

Regulators should include explicit terms and
conditions for the award that include the possibility of
rescinding the award should the recipient, in the past
or future, engage in conduct incompatible with the
values of the regulator.

At first glance it may seem that acknowledging
outstanding contributions by members of the
profession is innocuous. However, further reflection
may identify substantial risks to regulators who grant
awards to practitioners.

Crey Areas Steinecke Maciura LeBlanc
Barristen I Solicitors

A COMMENTARY ON LECAL ISSUES AFFECTINC PROFESSIONAL RECULATION

a

a

a

a

Paqe I 2



Rose Bustria ITEM 7.8

Jo-Ann Willson
Thursday, December 19,2019 6:51 PM

Rose Bustria

Fwd:Vavilov decision

685
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Exec and Council.

Jo-Ann Willson, B.Sc., M.S.W., LL.B.

Registrar & General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden St., Suite 800

Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7

Tel: (416) 922-6355 ext. l-11

Fax: (416) 925-9610
E-ma il : ipwi llson @cco.on.ca
Web Site: www.cco.on.ca

CONFI DENTIALITY WARN I NG:

This e-mail including any attachments may contain confidential information and is intended only for the

person(s) named above. Any other distribution, copying or disclosure is strictly prohibited. lf you have

received this e-mail in error, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and delete allcopies including

any attachments without reading it or making a copy. Thank you.

Begin forwarded message

From: Rebecca Jones <rjones@litigate.com>

Date: December 19, 2019 at 4:32:37 PM EST

To: Jo-Ann Willson <jpwillson @cco'on.ca>
Cc: Kelly Hayden <khayden@litigate'com>

Su bject: Vavilov decision

HiJo-Ann,

lf you haven't Seen it yet, this morning the Supreme Court of Canada released a

significant administrafive law decision about the tricky issue of standard of review

You can read the Case Law in Brief summary by clicking here.

We also just published a short blog post which you can read by clickinq here.

Speak to you soonl

Rebecca Jones*

T 416-865-3055
F 416-865-9010
rjones@litigate.com

I

trHff



130 Adelaide St W
Suite 2600
Toronto. ON
Canada M5H 3P5
www.litigate. cont

':rr., r't.ii.tr,,.. .,r'.t j i-!:.r1, i,t.t..t..l, ,,,t:jlrir:i.tLrjl;r:rrt.tt.i: il:: ,,.iit:tit-.|,,.,..ii,.r.r j:trr
i!i:r!r"1!r ,j,.j ttlf|:,..,:.i, ll'r..,r::i,t.i.irll! i..|rrr: L lti. .,,,,

|!r'..r,1:r.r,.,rrrr,lr.rr.lt,i'rrrr!;t.t,r:r':il:t:,.\.ri.!.1:tr |;,: i,.|l ,,.rt.f.rLr,r, !i,r.,tLli,,:,.
'i tr i (,, lil,r i I ll

686

2



SUPREME COURT OF CANADA 687 disppnrktepnfrance.i.s.

Gase Law in Brief: The Standard ot Review (taken from
Vavilov in the "Administrative Law Trilogy")
Judgments of Decembe r 1!,l!19 [ 9!-qppq4 ILot the Federal Court of Appeal
Neulral citations: 2019 SCC 65 and 2019 SCC 66

The Supreme Court has changed how courts took at administrative (non-court) decisions, to

make the taw clearer and more predictable'

Decisions made by governments, or those acting on their behalf, are called "administrative decisions." They are

part of ,,administralirie law." Most legal decisions that affect people are administrative decisions, not court ones.

An administrative decision can be anything from a letter from a benefits agency, to a town by-law, to a decision

by a tribunal. Administrative decision-maflrs often aren't judges or lawyers. Their decisions usually don't look

like court decisions. But judges and courts have a role. Under the Constitution, courts can make sure

administrative decision-makeri follow the rules. They do this through a process called 'Judicial review"'

When a court looks at an administrative decision, it applies a certain "standard of review"'The standard of review

is the legal approach to analyzing the decision. Which standard applies depends on what kind of decision it is.

But there was a lot of debatoabout which standard of review applied in which situation. There was also debate

about how each standard should be applied.

The majority of judges at the Supreme Court confirmed there are two standards of review when a court looks at

ad minislratVe d-eciiions. These are "reasonableness" and "correctness'''

,,Reasonableness" and "correctness" may sound like normal everyday words. But they have special meanings

in law. A',reasonable" decision is based on a logical chain of reasoning. lt has to make sense in light of the law

and the facts. A "correct" decision is the only right answer in light of the law and the facts.

The majority set out a new way for courts to decide whether they need to ask if a decision is "reasonable," or

whethei it needs to ask if it is "correct." lt also gave courts guidance for looking at "reasonableness."

The majority said that the default (usual) standard of review should be "reasonableness." This means a court

has to look at whether the decision is "reasonable." There can be more than one "reasonable" outcome' Courts

have to accept any decision that's "reasonable." They have to accept it even if they would have decided

something Oitiereni themselves. lf a decision isn't "reasonable," a court should normally send it back to the

decision-maker for another look. The decision-maker may come to the same result, or something different.

Rarely, a court may just decide to replace the decision-maker's outcome with its own'

The majority said there are some cases where decision-makers don't have to give reasons' But people need to

understand the decisions that apply to them. So it's usually important for decision-makers to explain why they

made the decision theY did.

The majority said there are two exceptions where the standard won't be "reasonableness." The first exception is

where lawmakers specifically say something different. There are two ways they can do this. The first is by saying

in a law which standard appties. The seco-nd is giving a right of appeal to a court. An appeal is different than

judicial review, so differeni standards apply. These are called "appellate" standards. They are the same
'standards 

courts use to decide appeals from lower court decisions. An "appellate" standard ends up being a
,,correctness" standard if a decision is about the law or the decision-maker's power to decide the question'

The second exception where the standard won't be "reasonableness" is for the rule of law. The rule of law is the

principle that everyone should follow the same basic legal rules in society. This includes constitutional questions.

it includes g"ner"i questions of law that affect the legal system as a whole. lt also includes cases where powers

of two administrative bodies overlap. For all of these, courts have to ask whether the decision is "correct"'There

can only be one "correct" decision. lf a decision isn't "correct," the court will always change it without sending it

back to the decision-maker.

The Supreme Court creates "precedents" that other courts have to follow. lt is the only court that can overturn

these precedents. But this is rare. ln most cases, the Court interprets laws or decides what to do when something isn't

clear. ln this case, the Court overturned (changed) some of its past precedents. Precedents are important because they

make the law certain and predictable. But soml of the precedents on standard of review weren't doing that. The majority

ovefiurned those precedents to make the law clearer and more predictable.

...cont'd



Breakdown:

Chief Justice Richard.Wagn.e.f and Justices MichaelM.q].d-a.V.ef, Cl6ment.Q.A.$_Qp..n, Suzanne.e6lg, Russell
_B.fgwn, Malcolm RgWe, and Sheilah M.a.r:tin set out the new approach
Justices Rosalie Silberman Ahella and Andromache KAfa.Kg.tq.anj.q, said administrative decision-makers
should be given more deference and that the majority's approach gave judges too much room to
substitute their own decisions for those of experts

Cases in Brief for lndividual Decisions:

. .c..an?d.a..Minls_ter.p.L.Q!!!zensh!p._a_nd.lnnlsr.a.tjp_il.v,.y..a.ujlp_v_,201e scc 65. Be.U..Qa.n_a.d.a.y,.QanadA..A!!p_rney_genp.r?.t),2019 SCC 66 (two appeats)

a

a

68S

Cases in Brief are prepared by communications staff of the Supreme Court of Canada to hetp the public better
understand Court decisrrcns, They do not form part of the Court's reasons for judgment and are not for use in
legal proceedings.



Public Law

0
o

Margaret Robbins
416-865-2893
mrobbins@litigate. com

Rebecca Jones
4 I 6-865-3055
rjones@litigate.com

December 1s,2o1s 689
All I Want for Christmas Is a New
Standard of Review: The Supreme
Court Changes Course on the
Standard of Review for
Administrative Decisions

In the season of giving the Supreme Court of Canada has given
lawyers and legal scholars the greatest gift of all: a new
approach to the standard of review.

A much anticipated trilogy of cases was released today, finally
ending all of the speculation on what would change and what
would stay the same in the review of administrative decisions in
Canada. The Supreme Court, in Canada (Minister of
Citizenship and lmmigration) v Vavilov charted a new course
for the standard of review, which was then applied in two
appeals heard together as Bell Canada v Canada (Attorney
General).

The Vaviloy case was an appeal from the Federal Court of
Appeal which had quashed a Canadian Registrar of
Citizenship's decision to deny citizenship to two children of
foreign nationals working for a foreign intelligence service
under cover of Canadian identities.

While the facts of the Vavilov case are themselves interesting,
the Court used the case as an opportunity to address what has
become the hallmark issue of Canadian administrative law:
what to do about the standard of review.

The majority decision brings a new approach to standard of
review of administrative decisions. The Court provided
coherence and predictability to the standard of review, and in
the process reduced the amount of time that will be spent
arguing about the standard of review instead of the merits of
any case. Under the new analysis, the presumption will be that
a reasonableness standard of review applies. That presumption
can be rebutted either where the legislature makes a design
choice that suggests a different standard or where the rule of
law requires a correctness standard.

When considering the legislative design, the Court will look to
whether the legislature itself prescribes a different standard
than reasonableness and will also consider any statutory

Lenczner
Slaghttr



Public Law 2

appeal mechanism in the legislation. This means that appeal
provisions (depending on their wording) will be viewed as intent
from the legislature that an appellate standard of review
applies. ln practice, this shift will open a large swath of
administrative decisions to review on a correctness standard
which had previously been categorized as reasonableness
reviews.

The second category of cases where the presumption of 690
reasonableness will be rebutted are cases properly considered
on a correctness standard even under the prior regime,
including constitutional questions and general questions of law
central to the legal system. Notably, the Court has done away
with pure questions of jurisdiction and replaced it instead with
consideration of j u risd ictional bou ndaries between
administrative bodies, harkening back to the issues addressed
by the three dissenting decisions West Fraser Mills Ltd v
Workers' Compensation Appeal Tribunal and Workers'
Compensation Board of British Columbia, released last year.

The majority also provided guidance on the application of the
reasonableness standard, including helpful direction on how a
reviewing court should review the internal coherence of a
decision and consideration of the decision as a whole.

Having set the new course in Vavilov, the majority determined
that the Registrar's decision should be considered on a
reasonableness standard, and concluded that it was
unreasonable.

ln Bell, the majority applied the Vavilov approach to a decision
of the CRTC. The appeal in that case had been brought under
a statutory appeal provision which permitted an appeal on a
question of law or jurisdiction. The Court held that a
correctness standard applied and the decision of the CRTC
was quashed.

Both cases included a substantive dissent from Justice
Karakatsanis and Justice Abella. While the dissenting Justices
agreed that reasonableness should be the presumptive
standard, they took issue with the expanded scope of
correctness review. Justices Karakatsanis and Abella describe
the majority as creating a fundamentally new view of
administrative law in Canada by overturning the status quo
without sufficient regard for precedent.

The Court has provided welcome clarity on what has been a
thorny issue in Canadian administrative law. That said, we
won't know the true impact of the majority's decision until lower
courts have an opportunity to apply it. Only when courts begin
to apply the decision will its simplicity be borne out or its fault

Lenczner
Slaghttr



Public Law

tines become evident. 691
For the moment, both cases are sure to make good holiday
reading as we look fonrard to seeing how litigants and the
Courts navigate the new approach to the standard of review.

Lenczner
Slaght

3

TI



RESEARCH
n & Manual 27:3O

ITEM 7.9

At-risk advertising by Australian
chi ropractors a nd physiothera pists
J. Keith Simpsor@

:o
I Ch€ak.f.o.r
l $pdalq8.

692

Abstract

Background: Society expects professionals to promote their businesses in an ethical manner, refraining from

misleading or deceptive marketing due to the potential to harm members of the community. ln Australia this

expectation resides in the Australian registration board advertising guidelines or the Health Practitioner Regulation

National Law. Registration board data indicate there are many health care professionals failing to meet these

expectations. The aims of this research were to determine the frequency, type and nature of at-risk advertising by

Australian chiropractors and physiotherapists and whetherthere is a correlation between professional association

membership and advertising guideline compliance'

Method: A cross sectional audit examining practitioner advertising was performed on representative samples of

Australian chiropractors and physiotherapists. Two auditors examined advertising by 380 physiotherapists and 359

chiropractors for material potentially in breach of the regulatory authorities' advertising guidelines. The advertising

appeared on practitioner websites and linked Facebook pages.

Results: Two-hundred and fifty-eighl (72%l audited chiropractors and 231 (61%) audited physiotherapists had

breaches of the Advertising Guidelines on theirwebsites and linked Facebook pages. The frequency of breaches by

chiropractors was higher. The type and nature of the breaches by chiropractors was potentially more harmful.

Membership in a professional association influenced neither the frequency nor the severity of breaches with

chiropractors.

Discussion: Advertising breaches were common in both samples even though regulators and professional

associations provide practitioners with explicit information on how to comply with advertising guidelines. Breaches

by chiropractors were more numerous and more serious due to their greater potential to lead consumers to make

inappropriate and potentially harmful healthcare decisions'

Keywords: Chiropractor, Physiotherapist, Advertising breaches, Misleading and deceptive conduct

Background highlighted the potential harm to consumers when health

Advertising by health professionals is an integral part of care providers publish false advertising [1, 2]. Although

practise. providing consumers with ethical accurate the regulatory authorities' annual reports provide the

advertising assists with making informed health relate6 numbers of advertising complaints made for each

decisions. profession, they contain no details about the frequency,

Chiropractors and physiotherapists are amongst type and nature of the complaints'

Australia,s 15 regulated health professions. All must abide This research examined advertising by a representative

by the same advertising guidelines. The guidelines sample of Australian chiropractors and physiotherapists'

stipulate what constitutes unacceptable advertising. Practitioner websites and linked Facebook pages were

Unacceptableadvertisingincludesadvertisingthatisfalse, audited' lt reports on the frequency, type and nature of

misleading or deceptive or likely to deceive. Unacceptable advertising at risk of being non-compliant with the

advertising has the potential to cause harm. Recenl advertising guidelines' ln addition, this research

Australian court cases have determined

er there is a correlation between professional association
Correspondence: k.simpson@murdoch.edu.au

Murdoch University, School of Chiropractic, South Street, Murdoch

6150, Australia

membership and advertising guideline compliance

@ The Author(s). 2019 Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0

lnternational License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bV/4.O/1, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and

reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate creditto the original author(s) and the source, provide a

link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain

Open Access

IBMC



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2OL9l27:30 Page 2 ol t7

693
fiil;:1X1":ffit",#,$//creativecommons.ors,/publicdomain/zero/!.0ll 

appties to the data made available in this

Advertising and the National law in Australia Since 2010 all determined that the misleading and deceptive conduct
registered Australian health care providers have had provisions are concerned with the public at large, or as it
uniform nationwide legislation - The National Law (NL). is sometimes referred to, the "target audience". Members
The NL outlines the regulatory obligations for advertising of the "target audience" include:
a regulated health service. Obligations include: advertising the astute and the gullible, the intelligent and the not
must not be false, misleading or deceptive or likely to be so intelligent, the well-educated as well as the poorly
misleading or deceptive and must not include educated, men and women of various ages pursuing a
testimonials; any claims made must be able to be variety of vocations. ... all persons exposed to the
substantiated; offers of gifts, discounts or other conduct should be considered although conduct which
inducements must come with terms; advertising must is only likely to mislead or deceive an extraordinarily
neither create and unreasonable expectation of beneficial stupid person would not fall within the ambit of the
treatment nor directly or indirectly encourage the provisions [6]'
indiscriminate or unnecessary use of regulated health
services [3]. The courts will consider whether a reasonably significant

Under the NL, the definition of a regulated health number of potential purchasers would be likely to be

service is very broad and is not restricted to direct clinical misled or deceived' lntent is not a necessary element for

services. Uniform Advertising Guidelines (AG) are in place conduct to breach the misleading conduct provisions.

for each of the 15 regulated health professions governe6 Conduct may be regarded as misleading or deceptive even

byitsown Board.Abreach of advertisingprovisionsof the if the originator of the conduct did not intend to mislead

NL is a criminal offence punishable by fine. Other or deceive members of the target audience. The test is

enforcement approaches include the respective Board objective. The factor is conduct taken at face value [7].

placing restrictions on an individual's registration and
their ability to practise. Legislative authorities in other
countries including the United States of America, canada, 1l*: :""toliance 

and enforcement strategy:

and the United Kingdom have also legalised 
'o""f ilic 

u; ilT'H:.lflT-i:il practitioner Reguration Agency

il::'l ;ffi,fi",l]:illl::,;:l,H;: 
s m ar regu at ons 

n::n:*r;::*"f;*';m;*Xfltl!i;
the establishment of a dedicated Advertising Compliance

Understanding misleading or deceptive or likely to be Team which works closely with the Legal Team and the

misleading or deceptive Policy and Communications Team. To assist in their

Before considering the regulatory authorities, compliance decision making, AHPRA utilise experts to evaluate

and enforcement strategy, it is appropriate to consider advertising claims'

one of the most challenging aspects of the AG, namely AHPRA considers that education and engagement are

what is meant by misleading or deceptive. The effective tools as part of its strategy to achieve behaviour

Chiropractic Board of Australia (CBA) advises that change and compliance with the regulations. AHPRA has

misleading someone may include lying to them, leadin, developed advertising education tools accessible via the

them to a wrong conclusion, creating a false impression, AHPRA website under the heading: Check, Correct,

leaving out important information, or making false or Comply. This section of the website includes numerous

inaccurate claims [4]. And the CBA correctly points out, examples of non-compliant advertising common to all

"the ways which advertising can be false, misleading or professions and examples specific to chiropractors. ln

deceptive are almost limitless', [4]. Additionally, silence addition, the National Boards consider that some words

may constitute misleading or deceptive conduct where have a greater capacity to mislead or deceive when used

there is a duty to reveal relevant facts [5]. The courts have in advertising and recommend that advertisers be

determined that people who are misled are almost by cautious when using them. The "words to be wary [ofl:
definition deceived as well. Regarding the phrase 'likely to cure, safe, effective, and can help/ improve/treat or

mislead': there is no requirement to prove that a person effectively treats" [8]' ln addition, the Chiropractic Board

was misled or deceived, rather, the sufficient test is of Australia has issued position statements on Paediatric

whether there is a real and not remote chance to mislead. Care [9] and on Care of the Pregnant Patient [10] which

As far as who is misled or deceived, the courts have



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2079l,27:30

deal with inappropriate claims of benefit and

antivaccination advice.

ln response to a recognised need to reduce non-

compliant advertising AHPRA announced a pilot audit of

chiropractic and dentist advertising commencing in the

2019 registration period. This step marks a shift from

reactive enforcement to proactive enforcement and is

expected to improve compliance across the entire sector.

The data generated by AHPRA will inform a review of the

compliance strategy, identify profession-specific

differences in compliance rates, inform future strategic

directions and ensure sustainable change [11].

Conduct notifications & advertising breaches: the

Australian scene

ln Australia there are 657,62'l' registered health

practitioners across 15 professions' The 5167 registered

chiropractors make up 0.8% of the total health

practitioner registrant base, while the 28,885 registered

physiotherapists make up 4.5% of the base [12].
Advertising complaints are considered separately from

conduct complaints. AHPRA Annual Reports covering the

period 2OL3-2OI7 [12-15] demonstrate the growing

challenge of regulatory control of practitioner advertising.

(Table 1).

A clear picture exists regarding conduct complaints

against chiropractors and physiotherapists in Australia

[16] and where the complaints come from [17] providing

regulatory bodies with valuable information for

developing preventive strategies. Recent research

demonstrates that the Australian chiropractic profession

generates a disproportionate number of professional

conduct complaints. Professional conduct refers to:

procedures, treatment, communication, assessment,

diagnosis and other professional conduct issues

(advertising and titles), sexual boundaries, honesty in

fees, interpersonal behaviour, records and reports.

Chiropractors have a higher rate of conduct complaints

than psychologists, optometrists, podiatrists, nurses,

physiotherapists or occupational therapists per 100

practitioners [1S]. Only dentists and medical practitioners

generate more complaints per 100 practitioners [18]. The

chiropractic conduct complaints are 6 times higher than

those of physiotherapists and 3 times higher than those of

osteopaths [16].
The reactive nature of AHPRA's approach has obvious

limitations. Spittal, Bismark and Studdert [19] suggest that

Table 1 Advertising ComPlaints bv Profession: 2OI3-20I7

694
a predictive proactive approach to identify practitioners at

risk of becoming the subject of repeated patient

complaints would assist medicolegal agencies such as

malpractice insurers, medical boards and complaints

handling bodies in fulfilling their role of protecting the

public. Spittal et al. have developed an algorithm for

predicting a doctor's risk of conduct complaints. Dubbed

the PRONE (Predicted Risk of New Event) score, their

algorithm may be adaptable to other health care

professions such as chiropractors and physiotherapists

l1sl.
A less clear picture exists regarding advertising

complaints. Regulatory authority reports confirm that

Australian chiropractors and physiotherapists are the

subject of significant numbers of advertising complaints

11.2-!51. ln 2016 these matters were noticed by the

Australian Health Minister's Advisory Council which issued

a 'please explain' notice to the Chiropractic Board of

Australia (CBA) t201. ln response, the CBA acknowledged

the unacceptable false advertising practices of some

chiropractors, stating:

There is no evidence chiropractic care benefits babies

or can treat them for medical conditions and there is

not enough evidence to suggest it [chiropractic] can

achieve general wellness or treat various organic

diseases and infections.

it [CBA] was concerned about a number of
practitioners who were falsely advertising that

chiropractic care for spinal problems could also treat a

range of other ailments [21].

Emphasising the need for concern, a 20L8 high profile

Australian case establishes that serious breaches do occur

and that misleading advertising by health practitioners

can harm members of the community [2]. Until now no

research has been conducted into the frequency, type and

nature of advertising breaches by chiropractors or

physiotherapists in Australia.

Objectives

This research had two objectives: 1) to determine the

frequency, type and nature of Australian advertising

guideline breaches by Australian chiropractors and

physiotherapists and 2) to determine if there is a

correlation between compliance with advertising

guidelines and professional association membership.
Chiropractic 186 120 6Ot't62 15 Physiotherapy 28 25 44 903b8

Page 3 of 17

Advertising Compla ints 2013/14 2OL4/ts 2oLs/t6 2Or6lL7 2OL7/t8

Total s47 300 1013 1895 1043



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2OI9\ 27:30

Explanatory Notes: aNo explanation could be found for the spike in advertising
complaints against chiropractors bAccording to the physiotherapy Board of
Australia (PBA) the 1300% increase in advertising complaints over the previous
year was due to the lodgement of bulk complaints by several organisations about
suspected advertising breaches [49]. The PBA funher stated that the vast
majority of the 903 advertising complaints did not require action [50]

Methods
This study was a cross-sectional audit of chiropractors,
and physiotherapists' online marketing material
examining practitioner compliance with advertising
guidelines. The audit was conducted over a 4-week period
between July 15, 201,8 and August 15, 2018.

ln Australia, chiropractors and physiotherapists are
registered by separate regulatory boards - CBA and pBA -
under the umbrella of a National Health practitioner
Regulation Scheme. There were SZ84 registered
chiropractors and 31,995 registered physiotherapists
across Australia as at 30 June 2018. Sample size was
calculated using Table 1 in Krejcie and Morgan l22l and
confirmed using the National Statistical Service online
calculator using a 95% confidence level and 5% confidence
interval [23]. For the chiropractic population of 5284 a

sample size of 359 was required while for the
physiotherapist population of 31,995 a sample size of 380
was required.

Advertising appearing on the websites and associated
Facebook pages of 359 chiropractors and 380
physiotherapists was audited. Because of the prevalence
of group private practice (in 2016, 54.L% of chiropractors
and 28.1% of physiotherapists were in group private
practice 124, 251) 151 chiropractor websites and 72
physiotherapist websites and linked Facebook pages were
inspected to obtain data on 359 chiropractors and 3g0
physiothera pists.

Data collection

Two auditors collected the data. Both auditors have been
registered chiropractors for over 30 years and have
extensive experience in professional regulation
compliance and enforcement matters. Each auditor
collected data for % of each sample (=179 chiropractors,
190 physiotherapists) with minimal overlap. When
overlap occurred, there was agreement on numbers and
categories of breaches. lf a question arose regarding how
to classify a particular aspect of a practitioner's
advertising, the auditors discussed the matter and
reached a consensus. These points were a guide:

!Where breaches in multiple categories were found
only one example per practitioner per category was

recorded.

! Where multiple breaches were found in a single

category, only one example was recorded.

! The auditors were careful to attribute breaches to
individual practitioners where it was clear the
utterance applied to an individual, and to attribute
the breach to all practitioners where the utterance
reasonably applied to all practitioners in the
practice.
. Example: Use of association membership as
postnominals or a specialisation claim was
attributed only to the individual practitioner.
. Example: A claim made on a home page or FAe
section was attributed to all practitioners in the
practice.

! lf a claim could be allocated into more than one
category, it was registered in the category deemed
to have the greatest potential for harm. For

example, the claim:

lf you're a frequent flyer, make the best of it and
remember to come in for your chiropractic
adjustments often.

is a misleading unsubstantiated claim breach and a

breach of the "encourages inappropriate,
indiscriminate, unnecessary or excessive" use
category. The greatest potential for harm would be by
encouraging inappropriate or excessive use of a health
service therefore this example was only counted as a

breach of that category. (Please refer to Breach
Categories below for details of how breaches were
classified).

Locating and auditing practitioner websites & linked facebook
pages

A three-step process was followed to locate practitioner
websites and linked Facebook pages.

Step 1.

Practitioner lists were created using the appropriate
Board's search engine: 359 chiropractors and 380
physiotherapists. The lists were compiled by entering the
letter A in the Board's "Check your health practitioner is

registered" search field. This retrieved a list of all
registrants with a surname beginning with A. Every 5th
name was used to compile the list. The same procedure
was used with each letter of the alphabet until the
required number of names was retrieved.

Step 2.

Page 4 of 17

695



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2019127:3O

The practitioner's practice was located using a web

search either for the practitioner by name or by suburb' lf
the web search for the practitioner by name located their

practice website, the audit began. lf the search failed to

locate the practitioner's website, a second web search

using postcode, suburb name and practitioner name was

conducted. Typically, these approaches located the

practitioner's website. ln the limited number of cases

where a practitioner's website could not be located, the

next name on the practitioner list was used' lt is estimated

that less than 10% of practitioners' names resulted in a

negative search.

Step 3.

The practitioner's website and associated Facebook

page were audited. Typically, practitioner websites

included these sections, each of which was audited:

! Home page

!About/Meet the Team

! What is chiropractic/physiotherapy?

! Frequently Asked Questions !

Conditions treated

! Blog postsHow it
works/Researchr ! !

Testimonials ! Facebook

. Videos

. Reviews

. lnfo & Ads

" Photos

Association membership

Membership in a professional association was determined

by using the "locate a chiropractor" search engine for both

the Chiropractors Association of Australia and

Chiropractic Australia. The "Find a Physio" search engine

of the Australian Physiotherapy Association (APA) proved

unreliable and the APA would not assist with membership

details, so this aspect of the research was abandoned'2

Breach categories

The Guidelines For Advertising Regulated Health Services

(AG) t26l were jointly developed and are used by all

National Boards under section 39 ofThe National Law. The

guidelines were developed to help practitioners and

others understand their obligations when advertising a

regulated health service. Before March 2014 when the AG

were revised, Section 5 of the 20!4 AG (9S) was entitled

"What is unacceptable advertising?" 13,271' This section

described examples of unacceptable advertising providing

practitioners with a clear indication of what the boards

considered objectionable advertising practices. ln other

words, advertising at-risk of breaching the AG. For this

research, $5 provided the criteria against which to audit

practitioner advertising.

ln addition, the AG contain statements on the

substantiation of claims, specialization claims, advertising

titles, qualifications or memberships, and using scientific

information in advertising.

After considering the explanatory notes within the 2014

and subsequent AG, 32 categories of unacceptable

advertising emerged. To assist with coding breaches, the

$5 category "Mislead, either directly, or by implication,

use of emphasis, comparison, contrast or omission" was

subdivided into 9 classes (c1-c9) and classified as Major or

Minor based on information provided within the AG and

explanatory notes. (Table 2).

Recording and data analYsis

The raw data was recorded onto separate Excel

spreadsheets for each profession. Data captured included:

practice URL; practice location by State; practitioner

name(s); and breaches. NVivo 12, a qualitative data

analysis software package, was used to organise and

analyse the breaches data for both professions'

Breaches were identified by the corresponding letter or

number from the 2O!4 AG 95 + Table 2. When a

contravening statement was located it was copied and

pasted into the Excel spreadsheet. The following example

was recorded as a breach of 'b' - "encourage (directly or

indirectly) inappropriate, indiscriminate, unnecessary or

excessive use of health services" by a chiropractor'

lf you're a frequent flyer, make the best of it and

remember to come in for your chiropractic

adjustments often.

Results

No practitioners from either profession emerged from the

Northern Territory during the sampling process.

Practitioner webpages were audited from all other

Australian jurisdictions.

Breaches by the numbers

Seventy-two percent (259) of audited chiropractors and

6t% (232) of audited physiotherapists had breaches in

one or more categories. Chiropractors had breaches in 11'

Page 5 of 17

696



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2Ot9) Z7:3O

of the 15 categories with the most frequent being
misleading representations such as unsubstantiated
claims and misuse of the scientific literature.
Physiotherapists had breaches in 6 of the 15 categories
with the most frequent being testimonials and misleading
representations such as displaying association
membership as postnominals or specialisation claims.
There were no breaches in categories E, E, i, and n by
either category of practitioner (Fig. 1). Two hundred and
five chiropractors (57%) made misleading claims on their
website or linked Facebook page and 78 physiotherapists
(20%l did so. Of the 326 misleading claims made by
chiropractors 23L (7t%) were considered major
misleading claims based on the criteria outlined in
Methods. Physiotherapists made no major misleading
claims (Fig. 2). The results from each $5 breach category
with de-identified examples from practitioner websites
and Facebook pages appear in Tables 3,4,5, and 6.

Association membership and AG compliance

There are 2 voluntary professional chiropractic
associations within Australia: The Australian Chiropractors
Association and Chiropractic Australia. At the time of the
audit, the Australian Chiropractors Association (CAA) and
Chiropractic Australia (CA) advised that 62% of the
chiropractic population were members of a professional
association nationally [CAA & CA personal communication
10 August 20181. Overall, 55.0% (19S) of the chiropractic
dataset were members of a chiropractic professional

association. Amongst these, 72.3Y" (142) had a breach,
whereas 70.7yo(!!4) of non-members had a breach. A chi-
square test was performed using Microsoft Excel@ to
determine whether there was any difference in numbers
of breaches between association members and non-
members. The chi-square statistic is 0.036 and the p value
is .85. At p < .05 this indicates no significant

Page 6 of 17

697



PageT ol L7
Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2019) 27:30

698
Claims: Major or Minor Misleading ClassesTable 2 Misleading

Minor: Unlikely to harm Major: Likely to harm
Category

c1

Association membership presented

as postnominals.

c2

Use of the title Dr. without professional

clarification.

c3

Use of Doctor of Chiropractic or Dc

without holding the qualification

but having graduated with a

chiropractic qualification from an

accredited chiropractic program.

c4

Specialisation claim'

c5

Claims to affect Positioning of an

unborn child."

c6

Misuse of the literature'

c7

Failure to mention possible adverse

outcomes.

c8

Making unsubstantiated claims.

Persons displaying association membership

in this way are presumably abiding by their

association's code of ethics when dealing

with clients so the potential for harm is

lessened.

Relatively unlikely that a member of the public

would be misled into thinking a chiropractor

using the title Dr. is also a medical practitioner'

Unlikely to mislead the target audience because

members of the public would be unlikely to know

the distinction although if they misrepresent their

academic qualifications they may do so in other

areas,

Practitioners using this designation presumably

have a special interest in a particular area however

this does not necessarily mean qualifications that

would deem them 'specialists' and hence the

public may be misled.

A practice which has won a business award may

be more likely to comply with required practice

standards and is therefore less likely to mislead

Any advertisement claiming or implying that a

technique can affect an obstetric breech

presentation is misleading and potentially

harmful.

High likelihood of misleading the target audience

because almost inevitablY the advertiser omits critical

information from the literature cited or fails to

provide a balanced report ofthe literature.

Failure to mention possible adverse outcomes has

a relatively high chance of misleading the target

audience into believing that a form of treatment is

free from possible adverse outcomes.

An advertiser must have reasonable grounds for

making a claim of effectiveness.b

c9

Misrepresenting awards. Eg.

Presenting a business award as though

it is a clinical award. patients in clinical practice areas.

Explanatory Note:
.The cBA published clear advice on advertising care of pregnant patients in its March 2016 statement on advertising:

Chiropractors are not trained to apply any direct treatment to an unborn child and should not deliver any treatment to the unborn child' chiropractic care must not be

represented or provided as treatment to the unborn child as an obstetric breech correction technique [51]. bThe courts have shown that determining what constitutes

reasonable grounds is not left to the discretion of the advertiser. Rather, reasonable grounds in the

viewofthecourtsequatesto,,sufficientscientificknowledge"[52]. advertising had a greater potential to cause harm'

Membership of a professional chiropractic association did

difference between numbers of breaches by members not appear to increase compliance by chiropractors. No

versus those by non-members. Association membership physiotherapist had at-risk advertising classified as a

did not influence the advertising compliance of registered major misleading breach. Physiotherapist breaches were

chiropractors. confined to minor misleading breaches: displaying

association membership as postnominals and using

Discussion testimonials.

These data demonstrate that within the samples audited, previous research has examined conduct breaches by

neither profession exhibited a high level of compliance these professions and claims made in chiropractic patient

with the advertising guidelines. As a group, chiropractors brochures and on chiropractic college web sites. Within

had more at-risk advertising and the nature of the at-risk Australia, research in 2018 indicated that both professions



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (ZlLgl27:3O

had conduct breaches with chiropractors having G times
more complaints than physiotherapists [16]. Ryan, Too
and Bismark found that only a small percentage of the
professions' members are the subject of conduct

complaints against Australian registered health care
providers to determine who typically makes complaints.
They found 670/o of complaints were made by patients or
relatives. The rest were made by fellow practitioners

Page 8 of 17

699

complaints t161. Bismark et al. analysed 43,256

o: makes unfounded claims

m: causes reader to believe their
health may suffer with/without

using the health service

l: uses fear inducing language

k: omits warning statements

oo
oo
d)
oo
o
Go

co

i: fails to disclose health risks

h: leads to inappropriate self-
diagnosis

chiropractors

f: claims superiority

d: uses testimonials

c: misleads

b: encourages excessive use

a: creates unrealistic expectatlons

0 
e"r""nt or p2r%ctitioners wf,3 breached ttoregulations 

80

Fig. 1 Types of Breaches by Category of practitioner



SimpsonChiropractic&ManualTherapies (2079127:3O

Chiropractors Physiotherapists

Fig. 2 Number of Minor and Major misleading claims by category of practitioner

Page 9 of 17

350

300

.E

$ zso
u0
.Et
! zoo

E

3 rso
.9
GI

E roo
g
IJ

700

r Major

, Minor

50

0

Table 3 All Breaches by Chiropractors (Number and % ) with Examples

section 5 of the 2014 AG (55)

Category
Chiropractors with Example
Breaches: Number & (%)

(a) Create unwarranted and

unrealistic expectations about
service effectiveness

(b) Encourage (directly or
indirectly) inappropriate,

indiscriminate, unnecessary or
excessive use of health services;

(c) Mislead, either directly, or by
implication, use of emphasis,
comparison, contrast or
omission
(d) Use testimonials or purported
testimonials

(e) compare professions without
evidence

7s (zt%l

42 (r2%l

20s (s7%J

80 (220/"1

Research has shown chiropractic to be an effective form of health care for back
pain, neck pain, headaches, reflux, bedwetting, ear aches, otitis media, leg pains,
headaches, migraine, visual disturbances, dizziness, breathing difficulties, asthma,
constipation and dysmenorrheal [sic].
Wellness Care. Once your condition has stabilised you then have a choice of
continuing Chiropractic care with a focus on preventing the initial condition
returning and new conditions appearing. By having regular check-ups and
adjustments we can help you maintain and achieve your ideal level of health. Most
patients find that periodic chiropractic check-ups help keep them in tip-top shape.
Those who are active, have stressful jobs, or want to be their very best, find that a
schedule of preventative visits are helpful in the maintenance of good health.
Given the frequency and variety of misleading claims uncovered, examples are
presented in table form. (Table 5: Minor Misleading Claims & Table 6: Major
Misleading Claims)

Thanks'Chiropractor', I was dead in bed for 3 days and thanks to you I was back
on my feet within few daysl Strongly recommend.
Example of a visual testimonial:

j

;1,,

!i
i

no breaches found



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2019) 27:30

(f). Clalm or lmply that u prdctil.iuiler' 5 (1.4%)

provides superior services to those
provided by other registered health

practitioners

(g) exaggerate recovery time; no breaches found

3 (0.8%)

no breaches found

(h) Lead Audience to Self-Diagnosis

(i) Abuse the trust of or exploit a lack

of knowledge by the target audience

(unconscionable conduct)

(l) Contain language that could

cause undue fear or distress

s8 (16%)

(m) Contain any information or 16 (5%l
material likely to make a Person
believe his or her health or
wellbeing may suffer from not
taking or undertaking the health

service

(n) misrepresent price information no breaches found

(o) Unfounded Claims: a practitioner 9 (3%)

has an exclusive or unique skill or
remedy, or that a Product is

'exclusive' or contains a 'secret

ingredient'

(o)4. Claim or imply that results I (O.3%l

are always effective

Traditional chiropractic v3 Neurostructurol corroction, Traditional chiro aka band-

aid care ...

links to videos encouraging viewers to perform each of Contracted leg length

test; cervical range of motion test; carpal tunnel test; and a spinal health test'

A LITTLE SECRET: Don't let symptoms, or the absence of them, be your guide as

to how you are doing. Many cancer patients never have a symptom until the first

tumor is detected. By then, for many, it is already too late'

As a short-term solution to overwhelming physical, chemical or emotional stress,

spinal joint dysfunction is a brilliant coping strategy. Yet, when this stress response

doesn't resolve in a timely manner, or the stress is chronic, it may lead to other

con sequences. Do you have undetected spinal joint dysfunctions? Find out!

lntegrative Diagnosis is the only complete system for the diagnosis and

conservative treatment of muscle, nerve and joint problems ... Iunlike other

chiropractorsl we can accurately and quickly diagnose what is causing your lower

back pain.

"every adjustment has a positive effect on the brain"

701 Page 10 of 17

Table 3 All Breaches by Chiropractors ( Number and %) with Examples (Continued)

Section 5 of the 2014 AG (55)

Category

Chiropractorswith ExampleBreaches:

Number & (%)

(j, k & p) Combined: Failure to
disclose risks, warn of material

risks, omit warning statements

32(s%l

no breaches

no breaches

no breaches

How safe is chiropractic: lf the vertebrae are misaligned, the nerves will

lack the ability to carry messages that in turn can affect how well our

body functions. This can cause problems in the digestive system, anxiety,

uneasiness, depression, headaches or ear infections to name a few' A

clear example is of an ear infection which can be caused by a bone that is

out of alignment. Commonly, migraines, neck pain, back pain or foot pain

can be treated or prevented by chiropractic care. Studies have also

proved that it can improve blood pressure in patients who have

hypertension.

(q) provide a patient or client with

an unsolicited appointment time

not requested bY the Patient or

client

(r) promote tobacco products,

smoking, alcohol, or any other

addictive substances or products

known to affect health adverselY

(s) be vulgar, sensational, contrary

to accepted standards of propriety

or likely to bring a health

profession into disrepute, for
example, because the advertising is

sexist.

Examples are direct quotes from practitioner advertisements

(1,1,.9%1, em ployers (1rO.L%), su bj ects themselves (5'4%l'

and other agencies (6.7%) lL7l.

Elsewhere, at the turn of the twenty-first century,

patient brochures from the largest State, Provincial, and

National Chiropractic Associations and Research Agencies

in Canada and the USA were found to contain many



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2079127:3O

unsubstantiated, potentially harmful claims [28, 29]. More
recently, researchers examined World Wide Web claims
by chiropractors, amongst others, in Australian, New

Zealand, Canada and the United Kingdom and found
unsubstantiated, potentially harmful claims to be

abundant [30, 31]. These studies provide a clear picture

about the volume and distribution of unsubstantiated
claims, conduct and advertising complaints and the
instigators of complaints.

AHPRA's annual reports only provide the number of
advertising complaints broken down by profession. The

rate of advertising compliance and the types of at-risk
advertising within the professions is unknown. This

appears to be the first study to examine the extent and

the nature of practitioner advertising breaches in a

representative sample of Australian chiropractors and
physiotherapists using advertising guidelines as a

standard.
The chiropractic findings are of major concern for two

reasons, the first being public safety. Society expects and

accepts that professionals advertise their services to assist

consumers in making informed choices. To meet societal

expectations and legal obligations, advertising must be

socially responsible, truthful, appropriate and not
misleading or deceptive. Advertising that fails to meet
these expectations has the potential to harm. To assist

practitioners in fulfilling their obligations, regulators
formulated specific rules about advertising of health
services to protect the rights of consumers however the
data indicate that both professions and chiropractors in
particular are not fulfilling their obligations.

The second reason is the high percentage of
chiropractors advertising in an unacceptable manner. This

raises questions about the profession's culture and

understanding of its obligations under the social contract.
It is beyond the scope of this paper to examine this;
however, this topic has been the subject of papers by

observers both within the profession and external to it
over several decades [32-41]. The consensus is, although
the profession has many of the trappings of a mainstream
healthcare provider, (legislative recognition, high

utilization rates, growing global footprint etc.), it is lacking

in other key areas such as civic professionalism and
upholding the social contract, both of which are critical
components within health care 142, 431. This research

reinforces that position.

ln this electronic age most health care providers have a

web presence and increasingly use social media in their
practices in response to consumer demand [44-46]. With
the rising use of electronic communication comes

increased risk of misleading and deceptive advertising by

practitioners. The principal role of health practitioner
regulatory authorities is to protect the public from harm.

Traditionally regulatory authorities have been reactive
to complaints; however, there is an argument to be made

for increased public protection by the authorities
becoming proactive. Recent experience by the College of
Chiropractors of British Columbia (CCBC) demonstrates
that auditing practice websites and linked Facebook pages

is a simple, comprehensive and cost-effective way of
identifying breaches and achieving compliance with its

Efficacy Claims

Page LL of 17

702



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2OI9) 27:30 Page L2 oI L7

703Table 4

Breaches

Physiothera pists

(Number and

with Examples

AII

by

%l

Section 5 of the 2014 AG (55) Category Physiotherapistswith Example

Breaches: Number & (%)

(a) Create unwarranted and unrealistic expectations about

service effectiveness

(b) Encourage (directly or indirectly) inappropriate,

indiscriminate, unnecessary or excessive use of health

services;

(c) Mislead, either directly, or by implication, use of
emphasis, comparison, contrast or omission

(d) Use testimonials or purported testimonials

(e) compare professions without evidence

(f). Claim or imply that a practitioner provides superior

services to those provided by other registered health

practitioners

(g) exaggerate recovery time;

(h) Lead Audience to Self-Diagnosis

(i) Abuse the trust of or exploit a lack of knowledge by the

target audience (unconscionable conduct)

(l) Contain language that could cause undue fear or

distress

(m) Contain any information or material likely to make a

person believe his or her health or wellbeing may suffer

from not taking or undertaking the health service

(n) misrepresent price information

(o) Unfounded Claims: a practitioner has an exclusive or unique

skill or remedy, or that a product is 'exclusive' or contains a

'secret ingredient'
(o)4. Claim or imply that results are always effective

(j, k & p) Combined: Failure to disclose risks, warn of
material risks, omit warning statements

(q) provide a patient or client with an unsolicited appointment

time not requested by the patient or client

(r) promote tobacco products, smoking, alcohol, or any other

addictive substances or products known to affect health

adversely
(s) be vulgar, sensational, contrary to accepted standards of
propriety or likely to bring a health profession into disrepute, for
example, because the advertising is sexist.

2(O.s3%l

8(2%l

78l2o%l

L79 (47%l

no breaches found

sL(LL%)

no breaches found

no breaches found

no breaches found

no breaches found

no breaches found

no breaches found

no breaches found

8(2%l

no breaches found

no breaches

no breaches

no breaches

Your physiotherapist will use a combination of joint

mobilization, stretching, manual therapy, electrotherapy,

ultrasound and structured exercise programs to get you

back to 100% health.

Book your Free lnitial Assessment today lwithout terms

or conditionsl

Given the frequency and variety of misleading claims

uncovered, examples are presented in table form. (Table

5: Minor Misleading Claims & Table 6: Major Misleading

Claims)

I started going to 'Suburb' Physio last year after
getting some terrible neck pain from a combination of
bad sitting posture at worl! and a heavy training

schedule. Bob and Jane have done an amazing job at

relieving my neck pain! Bob gave me a comprehensive

assessment and really took the time to understand

what was causing my pain. He gave me exercises to
help strengthen the affected muscles and to prevent

further injury.

'Y' Physiotherapy is Australia's leading physiotherapy

clinic for swimmers.

we will find out what the problem is and treat to fix it.

We can help you, no matter what your goal is



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2OL9l2730

Examples are direct quotes from practitioner advertisements

Policy [advertising policy]. The CCBC's 1200 registrants
had 1 months' notice of an upcoming audit of webpages
and social media. Within 2 weeks of commencement of
the audit procedure, 97% of the practitioners notified of a
potential breach had voluntarily complied with the CCBC's

directive [a7]. The CCBC recognizes its audit does not
capture all registrant advertising because only just over
70% of registrants have a web presence and only 50%
have associated social media pages. However, those
registrants who rely on printed material have generated
no recent advertising complaints and therefore do not
appear to pose the same risk to the public. The CCBC

expects that the web
Table 5 Examples of Minor Misleading Claims as They Appeared on Practitioner's Websites"

Page 13 of 17

704

Misleading Claim Category Chiropractors Physiotherapists

Misrepresenting awards

Misrepresenting Qualification

Association membership
presented as postnominals

Specialization claim

Use of the title Dr. without professional

clarification

'X' Chiropractic: The Award Winning Spine Experts.b

John Chiropractor DC..

Mary Chiropractor BSc, Dg MCM.d

. a specialist chiropractor for more than a decade.

67 of breaches found. No example required.
See explanation below.r

No examples found.

No examples found.

Bob Physiotherapist B Appsc (Physio) MAPA."

. specialising in the diagnosis and treatment of
musculoskeletal dysfunction and sports
injuries

No examples found.

Explanatory Notes: aThese are quotes from practitioners'
webpages bThis was a small business award unrelated to spinal
expertise
cJohn Chiropractor did not graduate with a Doctor of Chiropractic, rather he graduated with a double degree (Bachelor/Master or double Bachelor) in chiropractic dThe

letters MCAA mean: Member Chiropractors Association of Australia
€The letters MAPA mean: Member Australian Physiotherapy Association. Membership also appears as APAM rlf practitioners choose to adopt the title ,Dr, in their
advertising, and they are not registered medical practitioners, then (whether or not they hold a Doctorate degree or phD) they should make it clear that they do not
hold registration as medical practitioners [261. Eg. Dr. Walter t_in (Chiropractor)

page audit will also have a positive effect on non-
webpresent practitioner behaviour. IE-mail to CCBC

(info@chirobc.com) November 2L, 20L81.

It is conceivable a greater understanding of advertising
practices by each profession will encourage practitioners
to comply and provide regulators, educators, professional
associations with an in-depth understanding of the
number and nature of breaches. Perhaps the CBA's and
AHPRA's enhanced Advertising compliance and
enforcement strategy for the National Scheme I!L, 481
will have a positive effect on compliance.

Study strengths and limitations



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2OL9l27:.30

A key strength of this study is its comprehensiveness.

Using representative samples, advertising by 739

practitioners was audited on 2L4 websites plus associated

Facebook pages. Staff profiles, frequently asked question

PaCe L4 ol 17

705
guidelines. Both auditors are conversant with the

musculoskeletal medicine literature and are confident

that the physiotherapist audit data are accurate.

Comparability of individual auditor's findings could be a

Table 6 Examples of Major Misleading Claims as They Appeared on Chiropractors'Websites"'b

Misleading Claim Category Chiropractors

Webster technique or claims to affect
positioning of an unborn foetus.

Making unsubstantiated claims.

Failure to mention adverse outcomes 1. There is ample evidence that chiropractic care is safe for children and NoT A sHRED of

evidence that it is harmful or dangerous'

1. ln relation to the treatment of neck and back pain, studies have shown that a

course ofchiropractic care was 250 times safer than a course of anti-inflammatory drugs.'

2. Studies show that mothers under chiropractic care, delivering the first baby, have

25%reduced labour time in comparison to women without care and even 31% shorter labour

time in case of pregnancy after the first child'd

3. An Australian study indicates that women consulting with chiropractors during

pregnancyare less likely to require a caesarean section after onset of labour or to have a

premature birth."4. chiropractic care may help with: asthma & allergies, reflux & colic, blood

pressure & more. r

1. However, a realignment method, known as the webster Techniqu e, has a 92% success rate

in optimal foetal Positioning.

1. lf I had cancer or any illness, l'd rather remove my subluxations, so my nervous system is

functioning atIOO%.lt would be many times worse if I had cancer and a nervous system that

isn't working well.

Misuse of the literature

Explanatory Notes: aThere were no Major Misleading Claims

by physiotherapists bThese are direct quotes from

chiropractors' webpages

"This is a commonly seen overreach referenced to Dabbs et al. [52]. Dabbs et al. state "NsAlDs are the most common conventional first-line treatment for most

musculoskeletal neck pain". Dabbs et al. inappropriately reference this to Dillin's 1992 153l paper which focuses on the scientific design and concepts of drug

management of cervical disk disorders in which steroids, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medicines, narcotics, antidepressants and muscle relaxants were discussed.

Nowhere in the Dillin paper does it state that NSAIDS are the most common conventional first line treatment for most musculoskeletal neck pain. Dabbs et al' confirm

they were unable to find an estimate of the number of patients who are treated with NsAlDs specifically for neck pain of musculoskeletal origin but somehow conclude

,,This review ofthe literature found that NSAID treatment for neck pain has a significantly greater risk of serious complications or a death than the use of cervical

manipulation,,. The number 250 cited by many chiropractors never appears in the Dabbs et al. paper dThis is a common claim by chiropractors' The figures are

referenced to one poorly conducted, uncontrolled and un-replicated study by J. Fallon reported in 2 publications in 1990 and 1991 [54, 55] "This is an example of

selective reporting. This is referenced to a paper highlighting the incidence of adverse birth outcomes and alternative medicine use by steel et al. [561. Although the

chiropractor,s claim is accurate, important information was omitted. Steel et al. also noted: women under chiropractic care during pregnancy are more likely to

experience emotional distress and are also more likelyto have an instrumental childbirth

This is an example of claims supported by out of date research, This claim is referenced to the Winsor Autopsies, published in 1921 [571

sections, video presentations, and educational materials limitation. This was minimized because each auditor

were scrutinised, When scientific publications were performed % the audits in each profession's sample using

referenced within the advertising they were sourced and a comprehensive breach template developed from the

reviewed for accuracy. The audit was conducted using a AGs and associated explanatory notes/examples. While

detailed tem plate based on 33 categories of ina ppropriate there was no formal check of the reliability of the a uditors'

advertising. The template was prepared using examples

provided within registration board advertising guidelines.

The study had limitations

Confirmation bias is frequently a problem with this type of
rcscarch. Both auditors are registered chiropractors with

careers involving chiropractic guideline compliance

matters and consumer law. This could have made them

more sensitive to breaches by chiropractors and, due to
their comparative lack of experience with physiotherapist

compliance matters, less sensitive to compliance breaches

by physiotherapists. While the auditing may have been

strengthened by having a physiotherapist conduct the

physiotherapy audit, both professions work in

musculoskeletal medicine and have the same advertising

findings, an informal check emerged when the data was

being inputted into NVivo. Due to the number of group

practices, there were about 10 instances in which both

auditors had examined the same website for a different
group member. ln all instances the breach allocation was

thc samc.

Clustering of practitioners due to group practices may

skew the results. Locating webpages for 380

physiotherapists required 72 praclice websites versus 141

for 359 chiropractors which indicates that the number of
physiotherapists per group practice is larger than the

number of chiropractors per group practice. While a larger

sample from each profession would reduce the possibility

of skewed results due to group practice clustering, this

limitation can largely be discounted because of the



Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2OIgl 27:3O

distinction between the physiotherapy results and
chiropractic results as depicted in Figs. ! and 2.

An additional limitation is underreporting of breaches
amongst chiropractors. lt was not uncommon to find
multiple breaches within a single category on a
practitioner's website but only one example was
recorded. Similarly, many breaches could be indexed into
multiple categories however only the category with the
greatest harm potential was used. This was in keeping
with the aim of the research, namely to determine what
percentage of each profession had websites containing
AG breaches with examples included for explanatory
purposes.

Conclusions

Advertising by health care professionals is an accepted
part of practice. lt informs the public about the profession
and the professional enabling the public to make better
health care choices. Advertising by the 15 Australian
registered health care professions is regulated by a
registration board and AHpRA governed by specific
advertising guidelines and the National Law. The main
objective of this study was to examine advertising by
chiropractors and physiotherapists to determine the
frequency and nature of advertising guideline breaches.
While both professions had advertising that breached the
guidelines, breaches by chiropractors were more frequent
and more serious.

The study highlights areas for future research. Given
that chiropractors are over-represented in both conduct
and advertising breaches is there a nexus between the
two? Are chiropractors who breach advertising guidelines
more likely to generate conduct breaches? Are there
alternate compliance measures that would be more
effective for chiropractors? ls there something in the
professional development of chiropractors and
physiotherapists that makes them prone to breaching
advertising guidelines? AHpRA, professional associations
and educational bodies may find the data from this audit
helpful in designing further research and developing
interventions that raise compliance by chiropractors and
physiotherapists and protect the public from harm.

Endnotes
lwhere references were used on the website to

substantiate claims, these were sourced, and the accuracy
of the claims assessed.

2Both the National Australian physiotherapy Association
and Western Australian ApA State Branch were contacted
by email and telephone requesting assistance by JKS.
Neither would assist on member privacy grounds.

Acknowtedsemen., 706
Dr. Jo-Anne Maire is acknowledged and thanked for invaluable
assistance with study design, data collection, data analysis and copy
editing. David Cheifetz LLM, LLB is acknowledged and thanked for
reviewing the draft manuscript and advising on statutory regulation of
the professions.

Page 15 of 17

Funding

Not applicable. No funding was obtained or required for this research.

Availability of data and materials
The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available
from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' contributions
J Keith Simpson is the sole author ofthis paper. The author read and
approved the final manuscript.
man uscript

Ethics approval and consent to participate
Not applicable, No ethics approval was required for this research.

Consent for publication Not
applicable.

Competing interests
The author declares that he has no competing interests.

Publisher/s Note
springer Nature remains neutrar with regard to jurisdictionar craims in
published maps and institutional affiliations,

Received: 29 August 2018 Accepted: 26 March 2019

Published online: l3 June 2019

References

3.

4.

Cormack, L. Nurofen must pay $6 million penalty after final appeal
rejected. The Sydney morning herald 2017 [cited 2019 19 March];
Av-ailable from: https://www.smh.com.au/business/consumer-
affairs/nurofen-must-pay-6million-penalty_after_final-appeal_rejected_
20170405-gve15i.html.
Millbank J, Luca KD, Lyell A, Alder G. Health care complaints
commission v Limboro [201g] NSWCATOD 117. New South Wales: CBA;
2018.
CBA. Chiropractic Board ofAustralia: guidelines for advertising of
regulated health services. 2014 [cited 2018 13 Decembe4; nvailable
from : https:// www.chiropracticboard.gov.au/codes_guidelines.aspx.
CBA. Advertising for chiropractors. Frequently asked luestions. 2016
lcited 2018 19 Augustl; Available from:
https://www.chiropracticboard.gov.au/ Codes_guidelines/FAe.aspx.
CoA, Australian Consumer Law, Avoiding unfair business practices. A
guide for small businesses and legal practitioners: Commonwealth of
Australia;2016.
Taco Company of Australia tnc v Tact Bell pry Ltd (1982) ATPR 40_303.
1982, Federal Court ofAustralia.
Svantesson D. Some observations on the regulation of misleading or
deceptive cond uct. N ationa I Legal Eagle. 2OO7 tI3(Il :I7 _ZO.
AHPRA. Words to be wary about. 2017 lcited 2018 19 August];
Available from: https://www.ahpra.gov.au/publications/idvertising-
resources/whathealth-practitioners-and_healthcare_providers_need_to_
know.aspx.

9. CBA. Position statement on paediatric care. ZO17 [cited 2018 19
Augustl; Available from: https://www.chiropracticboard.gov.au/Codes_
guidelines/ FAey'position-statements/paediatric_care.aspx.

10. CBA. Statement on Advertising: Care of pregnant patienis. 2016 [cited
2018 19 Augustl; Available from:
http://www.chiropracticboard.gov.au/News/ ZO16_03_07_statement-
on-advertising.aspx.

5.

6.

7.

8.



Page 16 of 17

Simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2019) 27:30

707
11. CBA. National Scheme news: Chiropractors to be asked about

advertising compliance as part of 2018 renewal' Chiropractic Board of

Australia Newsletter lssue 2018 [cited 2018 4 December]; Available

from: httPs://
www.cniiopiacticboard.gov'au/News/Newsletters/November-2018'
aspx#comPliance,

12'AHPRA.AHPRAAnnualRep2oT6l1rT'lcited201819August];Available-- 
from: http://www.ahpra.gov'au/annualreport/2017/index'html'

13.AHPRA.AnnualReport:REGULAT|NGHEALTHPractitioners-Managing-- 
nlsk to the PUBLIC. 2013/14 [cited 2018 19 August]; Available from:

httPs://www.
ahpra.gov.au/puUlications/Annual-reports/Annual-report-archive'aspx'

14. AHPRA. Annual Report 2014/15'2074175 [cited 2018 19.August];-' 
nu.'t.Ut" ttom: https://www ahpra'gov'au/Publications/Annual-

reports/Annual-reportarchive aspx

rS. nipnn. nnpRAAnnual Report 2015/16' 2015/16 [cited 2018 19

Augustl; Available from:

ntt-ps://www.ahpra.gov.au/Publications/Annual-reports/ 
Annual-

report-archive.asPx.

16. Ryan AT, San Too L, Bismark MM' complaints about chiropractors'-- 
ortaop.ii,t, and physiotherapists: a retrospective cohort study of

heahh, perfortance, and conduct concerns' Chiropr Man Ther'

2oI8;26(7):t2'
17. aismark M, Tibble H, Moore J, Morris JM, Paterson R' Fletcher M'

Studdert D, Eyes and ears on patient safety: sources of notifications

about the health, performance, and conduct of health practitioners' J

patient Sat. 2018; https://doi'oreh}'1097 /PrS'0000000000000544'

18. Sibbritt D, Kaye M, Millbank i, Stuhmcke A' Wardle J' Karpin I' How are
- 

complementary health professions regulated in Australia? An

examination
of complementary health professions in the national registration and

accreditation scheme. Complement Ther Med' 2O78;37 :6-72'

19. Spittal MJ, Bismark MM, Studdert DM' The PRONE score: an algorithm

for predicting doctors' risks of formal patient complaints using

,ouiinely T4dcollected administrative data' BMJ Qual Saf' 2015;74'

20. Davey, M. Health minister demands answers after claims of false

adveitising by chiropractors' 2016 lcited 2018 15 Decemberl; Wed 3

Feb 2016 19'02 AEDT:[Available from:

https://www'theguardian'com/australia-news/2016/ feb/03/answers-

demanded-aft er-claims-of-false-advertising-by-chiropractors'

21. Davey, M. Chiropractors using'unacceptable' false adv-ertising' says

Uoard. zOf O [cited 2018 15 December]; Mon 7 Mar ZO75 77 '39

AEDT: [AvailaLle f rom: https://www'theguardian'com/australia-

news/zOt6/mar/07/ chiropractors-using-unacceptable-false-

advertising-saYs-board'
22. Krejcie nV, Vlorgan DW. Determining sample size for research

activities. Educ Psychol Meas' 1970;30(3):607-10'

23.Nss.Nationalstatisticalservice.SampleSizeCalculator.[cited201815
JulY l;Available from:
nttp://abs.gov.au/websitedbs/D3310114'nsf/home/Sample
+Size+Calculator.

24. DoH. The National Health Workforce Dataset (NHWDS)

PHYSIOTHERAPY 2016, D'o' Health, Editor' 2016'

25. DoH. The National Health Workforce Dataset (NHWDS) Chiropractor

Practitioners 2016, D.o' Health, Editor' 2016'

26. AHPRA. Guidelines for advertising regulated health services 2014

Icited
2018 19 Augustl; Available from:

https://www'ahpra.gov.au/Publications/ Advertising-

resources/Legislation-guidelines/Advertising-guidelines'aspx'

27. P}A'Physiotherapy Board of Australia : Guidelines for advertising of

regulated health services' 2014 [cited 2018 13 December]; Available

frJm: https://www'physiotherapyboard'gov'au/Codes-Guidelines'aspx'
28. Grod l, Sikorski D, Keating J' Unsubstantiated claims in patient

brochures from the largest state, provincial' and National Chiropractic

Associations and research agencies' J Manip Physiol Ther'

20O7;24:574-9.
29. Sikor;ki D, Grod J' The unsubstantiated web site claims of chiropractic

colleges in Canada and the United States' J Chiropr Educ'

2003;77(2\:173-9

30. Ernst E, Gilbey A. Chiropractic claims in the English-speaking world' NZ

Med J. 2010;123(7372):3644'
31. Bismark M, Tibble H, Moore JS, Morris JM, Paterson R' Fletcher M'

Studdert D. Selling falsehoods? A cross-sectional study of Canadian

nriutop.tftv, honreopathy, chiropractic and acupunct-ure clinic website

claims ielating to allergy and asthma' BMJ open' 2016;6(12)'

32. Wardwell Wl' A marginal professional role: the chiropractor' Soc

Forces. 1952;30:339-48.

33. Wardwell W. Chiropractors: challengers of medical domination' Res

Sociol Health Care. 1981;2:207-50'

34. Wardwell Wl. Chiropractic's unique evolution and its future status' J

Can Chiropr Assoc. 1996;40(1):34-9'

35. Sternbergo. Boys in plight: acasestudyof chiropracticstudents

confronting a medically-oriented society: New York: University; 1969'

36. Smith-Cunien S. A profession of one's own' Organized Medicine's

opposition to chiropractic' Lanham: University Press of America; 1998'

37. KaptchukTJ, Eisenberg DM' Chiropractic: origins' controversies' and

contributions. Arch lntern Med 1998;158(20\:2275-24

38. Meeker W, Haldeman S' Chiropractic: a profession at the crossroads of

mainstream and alternative medicine' Ann lntern Med' 2002;136:216-

27.

39. 
-hapman-Smith 

D. The Chiropractic Profession' lts E-ducation' Practice'

Research and Future Directions DeMoines: NCMIC Group lnc'; 2000'

40. Simpson JK. The five eras of chiropractic & the future of chiropractic as
- 

ia"n tnrorsll the eyes of a participant observer' Chiropr Man Therap'

2072;2O(Ll.

41. Strahinjevich B, Simpson JK' The schism in chiropractic through the

"y", 
of , 1st year chiropractic student Chiropr Man The r' 2O18;26(7\:2'

42. S;llivan w. Medicine underthreat: professionalism and professional

identity. CMAJ. 2000;162(5):673-5

43. Cruess R, Cruess S. Expeciations and obligations' Professionalism and

medicine's social contract with society' Perspect Biol Med'

2008;s1(4):s79-98.
44. Hawn C. Take two aspirin and tweet me in the morning: how twitter'

Facebook,andothersocialmediaarereshapinghealthcare.HealthAff.
2009;28(2):361-8.

+S. e.gnon i<,'S.bus C. Professionalism in a digital age: opportunities and

considerations for using social media in health care' Phys Ther'

2015;9s(3):406-14.
46. Von Muhlen M, Ohno-Machado L' Reviewing social media use by

clinicians' J Am Med lnform Assoc' 2O!2;L9(51:777-87'

47. CCBC. College of Chiropractors of Bc: Update on lmplementation of the

Efficacy Claims Policy. 2018 [cited 2018 5 December]; Available from:

http://www'chirobc'com/update-on-implementation-of-the-efficacy-
claims-PolicY/.

qs.Alipna'ResponsibleAdvertisinginHealthCare:KeepingPeopleSafe.

Advertising compliance and enforcement strategy for the National

Scheme. 20t7 lcited 2018 19 August]; Available from:

https://www'ahpra.gov.au/ publications/advertising-

resources/legislation-guidelines'aspx'
49. PBA, Physiotherapy Board of Australia: Annual report summary

2016/17. [cited 2018 19 August] Available from:.

https://www.ahpra.gov'au/ annualreport/2017/downloads'html'

50. PBA. Physiotherapy Board of Australia Newsletter Decembet 2077

lssue 19 lcited 2018 18 September]; [Available from: https://www'

physiotherapyboard'gov'au/News/Newsletters/December-2017'aspx'

51. GlaxoSmithKline Australia Pty Ltd v Reckitt Benckiser (Australia) Pty
- 

iiri,"d (No 2) t2o1sl FcA 1.2018, Federal court ofAustralia'

52. Dabbs V, Lauretti WJ' A risk assessment of cervical manipulation vs'

NSAIDS for the treatment of neck pain' J Manip Physiol Ther'

1995;18(8):530-6.
53. Dillin W, Uppal G. Analysis of medications used in the-treatment of

cervical disk degeneration' orthop Clin North Am' 1992;23P],:azI'

54. Fallon JM, Chiropractic and pregnancy: a partnership for the future' ICA

lnt Rev ChiroPr' 1990;46(6):39-42'

55. Fallon JM' The effect of chiropractic treatment on pregnancy and

labour: a comprehensive study Proceedings of the World Federation of

Chiropractic' ln: Proceedings of the World Federation of Chiropractic:

World Federation of Chiropractic; 1991' p' 24-3L

55. Steel A, Adams J, Sibbritt D, Broom A, Frawley J' Gallois C' Relationship

between complementary and alternative medicine use and incidence



simpson Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2019) 27:30

of adverse birth outcomes: an examination of a nationally
representative sample of 1835 Australian women. Midwifery.
zal4;30(l2l:tl5745.

57. Winsor H. Sympathetic segmental disturbances ll. The evidence of the
association, in dissected cadavers, of visceral disease with vertebrae
deformities of the same sympathetic segments. The Medical Times.
192 1; 49(Novemb etl'.267 -7 L.

Page L7 ol L7

708

Ready to submlt your research? choose BMc and benefit from:

. fast convenlent onllne submisslon

r thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
. rapld publlcation on acceptance

. support for research data, including large and complex data types

. gold Open Access whlch fosters wider collaboratlon and increased citations

. maxlmum visiblllty for your research: over 100M website views p6r year

At 3MC, resosrch ls alweyc ln progrcss.

L€ern mo16 biomedcentral,com/submlssions rBMC



Gouncil Member Terms as at February 21,20201

I Please advise Ms Rose Bustria a.s.a.p. if you aware of aware of any discrepancies.
2 CCO requires at least 6 public -embers to be properly constituted.
3 Ms Posen moving to British Columbia in late Spring 2020 (orderin council will be revoked)

|TEM 7.10 709
Date of Expiry of Current
Term

April2020
A 2021

2022
2022

April2020

April2022
April202l
April2020
April2023

7 2020
17 2020
I 2020

June 30 2022
July 1,20203
November 27,2021

Date Re-elected/
Reappointed

NA
NA
NA
NA
April2014

2017
NA
NA
NA
April2017

2020

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Date First
Elected/Appointed

April2017
April20l8
April2019
April20l9
May 20ll

April2019
April2018
April2017
April2014

September 8,2014
Iuly 17,2017
N4ay 16,2019
June 3 2019
November 2 2018
November 2 2018

District

5 (Central West)
4 (Central)
4 (Central)
2 (Eastern)
6 (Western)

4 (Central)
5 (Central West)
I (Northern)
7 (Academic)

Smiths Falls
Toronto
Burlington
Scarborough

Name

Dr. Peter
Dr. Brian
Dr. Janet D'Arcy

Dr. Cliff Hardick

Dr. Steven Lester
Dr. Dennis Mizel
Dr. Kristina Peterson
Dr. David Starmer

2

Ms Allan
Ms Karoline Bourdeau
Ms Gravelle
Mr John
Ms Posen
Mr. Rob
Vacant


	cover page.pdf
	Duties and Objects of Colleges
	17mission, vision, values and  objectives.pdf
	CCO Code of Conduct
	Rules of Order of the Council
	List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
	cover pagePublic.pdf
	Electronic Public Information Package For

	20Feb26CounA(Public).pdf
	AGENDA
	(Public) 0F
	Wednesday, February 26, 2020 (8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m.)  1F
	59 Hayden Street, Suite 800,
	Toronto, M4Y 0E7
	Council Room
	Breakfast – 7:45 a.m. – 8:30 a.m. (Members’ Lounge)
	Photo Day 2F
	Invited Guests
	Beaconsfield, Government Relations Consultants, Presenting at 1:00 a.m.
	Karen Jones, Paliare Roland (available at 1:45 p.m.)
	Odette Soriano, Paliare Roland (available at 2:15 p.m.)
	Attendees
	Council members
	Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
	Mr. Joel Friedman, Director of Policy and Research
	Ms Andrea Szametz, Recording Secretary




